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BayernLB Group
at a glance
Income statement (IFRS)
EUR million
Net interest income
Risk provisions in the credit business
Net interest income after risk provisions

1 Jan-31 Dec 2013

1 Jan-31 Dec 2012

Change in %

1,919
– 653
1,266

1,907
– 459
1,448

0.7
42.5
– 12.6

Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial investments
Income from interests in companies
measured at equity
Administrative expenses
Expenses for bank levies
Other income and expenses
Gains or losses on restructuring
Profit before taxes

289
271
– 27
74

260
299
3
3

11.0
– 9.3
–
>100

40
– 1,533
– 51
89
– 164
253

– 38
– 1,639
– 53
421
– 62
642

–
– 6.5
– 3.8
– 78.9
>100
– 60.6

Cost/income ratio (CIR)
Return on equity (RoE)

57.7 %
1.7 %

57.4 %
5.2 %

0.3 pp1
-3.5 pp1

EUR million

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

Total assets

255,601

286,864

– 10.9

Business volume

298,525

330,330

– 9.6

Credit volume

193,573

207,771

– 6.8

Total deposits

157,374

161,340

– 2.5

52,964

60,319

– 12.2

4,984

6,346

– 21.5

14,879

14,903

– 0.2

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

13.8
17.0
87.6

13.0
17.3
100.4

6.4
– 2.0
– 12.8

15.8 %
19.4 %
15.2 %

12.9 %
17.3 %
11.6 %

2.9 pp1
2.1 pp1
3.6 pp1

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

8,568

9,932

-13.7

Long-term

Short-term

Pfandbriefs2

A+

F1+

AAA

Baa1

Prime-2

Aaa

Balance sheet (IFRS)

Securitised liabilities
Subordinated capital
Equity

Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG)
EUR million
Core capital
Own funds
Risk positions under the Solvency Ordinance
Core capital ratio
Own funds ratio (overall ratio)
Core tier 1 ratio (according to EBA)

Employees
Number of employees

Current ratings
Fitch Ratings
Moody’s Investors Service
1 Percentage points
2 Applies to public-sector Pfandbriefs and mortgage Pfandbriefs

Corporate profile
BayernLB is one of the leading commercial banks for large and Mittelstand customers in Germany
and a strong, regionally focused corporate and real estate lender with a balanced risk profile.
As a member of the Sparkassen Finanzgruppe, BayernLB is a close partner of the savings banks
in Bavaria, providing them with a wide range of products while also acting as central bank
for the Association. Retail customers are mainly served by BayernLB’s Deutsche Kreditbank AG
(DKB) subsidiary.

Large German and selected international companies with a German connection
BayernLB prides itself on its successful and long-term relationships with German and international
customers. On the domestic front, these include DAX, MDAX and family-owned companies
with annual sales of at least EUR 1 billion which operate from their home market in Germany.
International companies with a significant connection to Germany are likewise served. The Bank’s
core competencies are traditional credit financing such as working capital, capex and trade
financing. And when its customers do business abroad, they count on BayernLB’s recognised
expertise for all their needs, be it currency and interest rate hedging, traditional trade finance.
project and export finance, etc. In addition, BayernLB helps its customers to tap capital markets
for their financing needs, whether by traditional bonds or German Schuldschein note loans.

Middle-market (Mittelstand) companies
BayernLB is the bank for German Mittelstand companies, especially in the economic powerhouses
of Bavaria and North Rhine-Westphalia. Thanks to the high quality of its products and advisory
services, good personal business relationships and years of experience it has established a profile
as a reliable partner to these customers. With its extensive know-how, BayernLB helps Mittelstand companies export to new markets – every step of the way. BayernLB is also extremely well
positioned in the subsidised loan market. As a long-term partner, BayernLB offers products that
go far beyond traditional credit financing, tailoring them to the needs of its customers in the
areas of export and trade finance, documentary business, interest and currency management,
derivatives, payment services and leasing.

Savings banks
For BayernLB, the savings banks are both important customers and sales partners and thus form
one of the key pillars of its business model. BayernLB and the Bavarian savings banks, which
are also long-standing and reliable co-owners of BayernLB, are linked together in a preferred
partnership. The BayernLB Group acts as a central service provider for the savings banks, performing
tasks which would otherwise be too costly for each of them to do alone. It supplies them with
tailored products and services for both their own business and their end customers, to include
payment services, assistance in securities, investment and cross-border transactions, syndicated
and subsidised loans, and foreign notes and precious metals activities. For savings banks
outside Bavaria, BayernLB offers a range of products in selected product segments. One of the
ways that BayernLB provides savings banks with added value is by supplementing their own
product lines. In addition, funding from the savings banks is an important source of refinancing
for BayernLB and for strengthening the liquidity reserve fund.

Real Estate
BayernLB’s real estate business provides services and long-term financing for commercial real estate. In
regional terms, the Real Estate division’s focus is on Germany and selectively serving German customers
abroad. Rounding out these target customers are international companies with a connection to Germany.
In the commercial real estate area, products include financing for real estate assets and portfolios, project
developments and housing developers. In the area of managed real estate, the Bank provides financing
concepts primarily for hotels, logistics centres, hospitals, clinics and care homes for the elderly. The Real
Estate division also arranges syndicated loans with the savings banks and other partners.
Moreover, it works in close partnership with BayernLB’s real estate subsidiaries (Real I. S. AG, LBImmoWert,
BayernImmo and BayernFM) to offer customers an even more comprehensive one-stop shop.

Public sector
In its public-sector business, BayernLB focuses particularly on expanding its market share in its home market
of Bavaria and intensifying sales in close partnership with the Bavarian savings banks. It provides a wide range
of customised financing and investment solutions to governments, local authorities and public institutions.
The BayernLB Group stands out in this segment thanks to its long-standing experience and its expertise in
public-private partnership projects and the renewable energy sector. Liquidity management is another significant
service for these customers.

Retail customers
Thanks to its subsidiary Deutsche Kreditbank (DKB), “your bank on the web”, BayernLB already boasts around
2.7 million retail customers. And the number keeps growing. In addition to its online banking operations,
DKB is active in growing markets like environmental technology, health services and education & research.
Target customers also include business clients and customers from the infrastructure sector, particularly in
the eastern half of Germany.
BayernLB’s legal mandate to promote residential construction and urban development on a non-competitive
basis is conducted by BayernLabo. It will continually strengthen this position, thanks in part to opportunities
arising from the economic stimulus packages introduced in Germany.
BayernLB also serves retail customers indirectly through its partnership with the Bavarian savings banks, for
whom it provides an extensive range of retail banking products and services.

Non-Core Unit
Following the conclusion of the EU state aid proceedings, BayernLB has now shifted its focus clearly onto its
core business. Core activities are being systematically segregated from the Bank’s non-core activities in order to
document even more clearly the performance of the new BayernLB. This involves combining all the remaining
loan and securities portfolios in the Restructuring Unit (RU) with the Bank’s available-for-sale equity stakes in
a new “Non-Core Unit” (NCU).
The strict demarcation of core from non-core business will also be reflected in the Bank’s financial reporting.
This will make it much easier to identify which of the BayernLB Group’s earnings and expenses are from its
core business and which are from the NCU.
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Foreword
Ladies and gentlemen,
dear customers and business partners,
In 2013 the BayernLB Group performed solidly in its current core businesses
while winding down key peripheral activities and building up additional
reserves. The core capital ratio as defined by the European Banking Authority
(EBA) at year-end was a record 15.2 percent, an increase of 3.6 percentage
points on the previous year. This is all the more remarkable given the fact
we have paid back more than EUR 1.6 billion to the Free State of Bavaria
since November 2012 following the conclusion of the EU state aid proceedings. Based on fully-loaded Basel III standards, our Bank had a core tier
1 ratio of 12.6 percent as at 31 January 2014, which compares favourably
with peers. With this capital base, we are confident we can meet the
commercial and regulatory challenges of the future. It also gives us the
foundation to be a reliable and stable partner to our customers and to
continue to drive forward the customer-focused business model.

Focus on customer business –
transformation largely complete
BayernLB mainly improved its capital ratios by freeing up capital through
winding down non-core business, which continued at a fast pace last
year. Our Bank sold, for example, its stakes in Lufthansa AG, GBW AG and
SaarLB. In the fourth quarter we also sold off key holdings in fund company
KGAL and the private banking business of the Luxembourg subsidiary
LBLux to Banque de Luxembourg. After the transactions of the previous
years, BayernLB divested itself of about 50 direct and indirect holdings
in 2013 alone and thereby reduced its portfolio – with the exception of
Hungarian-based MKB Bank and a number of smaller companies – to
a volume suitable for its business model. As a result of this and other
measures to focus the Bank over the course of the year, the Group’s total
assets fell significantly by a good EUR 31 billion to EUR 255.6 billion as
at 31 December 2013. Headcount across the Group fell by more than
1,300 to about 8,500.
Almost five years since the crisis BayernLB is a different bank. This is
especially evident from the rapid and far-reaching reduction in the size
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of the ABS portfolio. As a result of repayments and sales, its volume shrank
by more than a quarter to only about EUR 7.0 billion in 2013, and then
fell further to EUR 6.9 billion at the end of February 2014. Over the past
five years, the portfolio has been cut by almost EUR 14 billion, around
two thirds. Since 2008, the holdings of asset-backed securities have been
hedged by a guarantee from the Free State of Bavaria. Under this agreement, BayernLB has paid premiums and made other payments totalling
EUR 1.3 billion and is currently paying around EUR 200 million per year.
We have not, however, needed to make use of this protection yet. The
Bank is still bearing all realised losses from the ABS portfolio and charging
them against earnings as part of the agreement’s first-loss amount of
EUR 1.2 billion. Based on current estimates the first loss will be utilised
by the end of the first half of this year, and therefore much later than
originally anticipated. One reason for this has been the improved market
environment, particularly the private housing market in the US.
After a four-year transformation process, the strengths of the new BayernLB
are now evident. The core business, a fundamental pillar for the Group,
posted solid growth in 2013 despite low interest rates and German companies’
aversion to capital spending. Customer relationships with companies, the real
estate sector, savings banks, the public sector and retail customers brought
in earnings of over EUR 1.9 billion and were above target. Earnings from
core activities before taxes and restructuring expenses amounted to EUR 586
million. BayernLB has set aside a one-off EUR 135 million of restructuring
expenses to cover the ongoing reduction of around 450 full-time positions
at BayernLB core bank (not including subsidiaries) by 2017 and so is investing
in achieving a cost base which is sustainable over the long term. In the
previous year the core business produced a pre-tax profit of EUR 830 million,
though this was significantly boosted by one-off earnings well in excess of
EUR 500 million from the sale of equity interests and repurchase of issues.
In 2013 our Bank’s profitable core business also generated earnings which
more than offset the charges from non-core activities and the costs of
restructuring the Bank. The BayernLB Group ended FY 2013 with profit
before taxes of EUR 253 million. The peripheral activities pooled within
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the Non-Core Unit produced a loss before taxes of EUR 198 million (FY 2012:
loss before taxes of EUR 187 million), with a major share of this charge
coming from MKB’s loss of EUR 409 million (FY 2012: loss of EUR 308 million).
When comparing the past year’s figure with the Group’s net income for
the previous year of EUR 642 million, it should be borne in mind that
financial year 2012 also included gains from one-off items and financial
year 2013, the huge costs of transformation.
MKB’s performance had a much greater impact on BayernLB’s separate
financial statements under the German Commercial Code (HGB). Because
of charges incurred by the Hungarian subsidiary, there was a loss for the
year of EUR 475 million (FY 2012: EUR 28 million). No distributions on
silent partner contributions and profit participation certificates were made.
However, HGB performance is of minor importance in respect of further
capital payments to the Free State of Bavaria in connection with the
concluded state aid proceedings. The most important factor in obtaining
approval from the supervisory authorities is the capital base.

Implementation of the conditions
under the EU state aid proceedings
We are continuing to rigorously implement the list of conditions agreed
in the concluded state aid proceedings with the European Commission.
This includes the winding down of equity investments, which is already
well under way, and the reduction of peripheral activities, while allowing
the core business to grow. In addition, BayernLB continued to return more
of the capital injection it received in the form of state aid back to the Free
State of Bavaria in 2013. Since November 2012, it has transferred a total
of EUR 931 million out of the nearly EUR 5 billion it must repay by 2019. If
the fees for the ABS guarantee agreement and replenishment of the silent
partner contributions are added, the Bank has transferred in excess of
EUR 1.6 billion back to the Free State of Bavaria. As a result of the capital
increase carried out by the Bavarian savings banks in mid 2013, their share
in BayernLB, which is held through the Association of Bavarian Savings
Banks, rose to around 25 percent. The share of the Free State of Bavaria
now stands at about 75 percent. The new ownership structure reflects
the close ties and relationship between the savings banks and BayernLB.

Further core business growth for 2014
BayernLB will continue to expand its customer-focused core business
during the course of financial year 2014. The Bank should benefit from the
economic revival now evident in its core market of Germany. Earnings
will continue, however, to be affected by the low interest-rate environment
which looks set to continue for the foreseeable future. Moreover, Europe’s
financial sector will also face significant challenges in the shape of the
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asset quality review currently being conducted by the European Central
Bank and the following stress tests. Thanks to its comfortable capital base
and robust business model, BayernLB has the stability to successfully
deal with the fallout from these developments in 2014, in addition to any
negative impact from legacy assets and other charges.
2013 was another important year for BayernLB in its transformation which
is now well advanced. We have a mature business model, which is focused
on Bavaria and Germany, and cut ourselves free from major peripheral
activities. This gives us a solid position in the market, which will benefit
us and in particular our customers in 2014. We would like to take this
opportunity to thank our customers most warmly for their loyalty and
fruitful partnership. And special thanks must of course also go to the staff
at BayernLB for their hard work and strong commitment to our Bank.

Sincerely,
The Board of Management of BayernLB

Gerd Haeusler,
CEO
until 31 March 2014

Dr Johannes-Jörg Riegler,
CEO
from 1 April 2014

Marcus Kramer,
Member of the Board
of Management

Stephan Winkelmeier,
Member of the Board
of Management

Michael Bücker,
Member of the Board
of Management

Dr Markus Wiegelmann,
Member of the Board
of Management
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Dr Edgar Zoller,
Deputy CEO
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The Board
of Management
Allocation of tasks as at 31 March 2014

Gerd Haeusler
CEO
until 31 March 2014
Corporate Center
Markets
Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Dr Johannes-Jörg Riegler
Member of the Board of Management
since 1 March 2014
CEO
from 1 April 2014

Dr Edgar Zoller
Deputy CEO
Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association
Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt

Marcus Kramer
Member of the Board of Management
CRO
Risk Office
Restructuring Unit
Group Compliance
Banque LBLux S. A.
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Stephan Winkelmeier
Member of the Board of Management
until 31 March 2014
COO
Operating Office
MKB Bank Zrt.

Michael Bücker
Member of the Board of Management
Corporates, Mittelstand &
Financial Institutions

Dr Markus Wiegelmann
Member of the Board of Management
since 1 January 2014
CFO
Financial Office

Nils Niermann
Member of the Board of Management
until 17 October 2013
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Report by the
Supervisory Board
In 2013 banks in Germany faced tough times and stiff competition in a
still unforgiving environment. As Europe’s financial institutions are
closely interconnected, the country’s own financial system was exposed
once again to the risk of default and contagion as the European debt
crisis continued to threaten financial stability. To mitigate future problems,
further work was carried out on creating a single supervisory mechanism,
including a restructuring and resolution framework, and the new CRD IV/
CRR regulations. The German banking system was also plagued by
structurally weak earnings due to rock-bottom interest rates and fierce
competition caused by overcapacity.
BayernLB, too, had to fight hard to maintain its position in a generally
challenging market environment. It buttressed its capital base, adopted
supervisory requirements and implemented a wide range of measures in
the reporting period. It also forged ahead with its transformation partly
as a result of the formal conclusion of the European Commission’s state
aid proceedings in 2012. With effect from 1 July 2013, the Board of
Administration was converted into the Supervisory Board with a stronger
presence of external members. Michael Schneider was elected chairman at
its constituent meeting. Besides creating a new committee for BayernLabo
affairs, the Board also responded to the expected changes in the German
Banking Act and established from its members a nominating committee
and a compensation committee. The amendments to the Landesbank Act
and the Statutes needed for these changes were made in advance.
In the rest of the report on the work of the supervisory body, for ease
of presentation, reference will only be made to the “Supervisory Board”.
This shall be deemed to apply equally to the Board of Administration
(1 January to 30 June 2013).
Throughout the course of the year, the Supervisory Board regularly advised
the Board of Management and monitored its management of the business.
The Board of Management provided the Supervisory Board and all committees
formed from among its members with regular, up-to-date and comprehensive
verbal and written reports on the Bank’s business policy and general issues
related to corporate planning, particularly financial, investment and
human resource planning. The Board of Management also supplied the
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Supervisory Board with regular, comprehensive and up-to-date information
on the Bank’s performance, focusing especially on earnings, expenses, risks,
liquidity and capital status, the Bank’s profitability, legal and business
relations with associates, and material events and business transactions,
particularly in the case of associates.
In addition, the Supervisory Board looked at the plethora of legal and
regulatory requirements and their potential impact on BayernLB and its
subsidiaries. The Supervisory Board also had extensive discussions with
the Board of Management on the Bank’s strategy and its implementation,
particularly the transformation process and resulting downsizing of the
Bank to meet the European Commission’s conditions. In connection with the
winding down of non-core activities within BayernLB, the Supervisory Board
devoted much of its attention to the sale of the holdings in GBW AG,
SaarLB and the disposal of Bulgaria’s Unionbank (subsidiary of BayernLB
subsidiary MKB) before giving its approval. In its meetings the Board was also
kept up to date on the implementation of the measures to reduce BayernLB’s
cost base over the long term and adapt infrastructure to the significant
decrease in total assets. Furthermore, BayernLB kept the Supervisory
Board informed on the major legal disputes the Bank is involved in.
As the macroeconomic situation in Hungary remained unsettled in 2013,
the Supervisory Board was kept regularly informed of the current status
of the subsidiary MKB, which is part of the non-core business. Due to the
extraordinary negative impact of the measures implemented by the
Hungarian government since 2010 (non-earnings related bank levy and
the Foreign Currency Loan Repayment Law), increasingly tough capital
requirements imposed by the Hungarian banking supervisory authority
and poor economic growth in the country, MKB Bank Zrt. needed a
capital injection once again in 2013. The Supervisory Board approved this
measure and looked in detail at the possibility of spinning off MKB’s
high-risk commercial real estate portfolio into a separate company.
In 2013 four meetings were held under the chairmanship of State
Minister Dr Markus Söder and a further five under the chairmanship of
Michael Schneider. The Board of Administration meetings were held
on 7 February 2013, 8 April 2013, 15 April 2013 and 13 May 2013; the
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Supervisory Board meetings took place on 4 July 2013, 17 October 2013,
21 November 2013, 2 December 2013 and 16 December 2013.
The committee chairpersons regularly reported on the work of their
respective committees over the course of the reporting period to a full
session of the Board. With effect from 4 July 2013, Michael Schneider took
over from Alexander Mettenheimer as chairman of the Risk Committee
of the Supervisory Board.
The Risk Committee was involved in all major issues relating to the risk
strategy drafted and approved by the Board of Management and then
approved by the Risk Committee, and all aspects of BayernLB’s risk
situation at both the Group and Bank level. It discussed and approved
the Group-wide risk strategies and decided on all loans requiring approval
by the Supervisory Board. It also examined the reports by the Board of
Management on sub-portfolio strategies, risk trends and especially
risk-bearing capacity.
In 2013 the Risk Committee was briefed on the progress of the Restructuring
Unit (in particular the ABS portfolio), the 2012 participations report, and
the implementation status of various internal projects from a risk standpoint.
The Committee regularly exchanged views with the auditors on certain
aspects of its work and had lively discussions with the Board of Management
on current issues. The Risk Committee held six meetings in 2013.
The Audit Committee, under its chairman Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau,
mainly dealt with the monitoring of the accounting process and the
effectiveness of the internal control system, the internal auditing system
and the system used for risk management. It also discussed in detail the
monitoring of the audit of the annual financial statements and of the
consolidated financial statements and the review and monitoring of the
independence of the auditors, particularly the additional services performed
by the auditors for the Bank. In 2013 the Audit Committee received updates
on the work and audit results of Internal Audit and Group Compliance.
It also considered assessments on the threats from money laundering and
financial crime and what the focuses of the audit of the 2013 Annual
Report should be in accordance with section 30 of the German Banking Act.
The Audit Committee held four meetings in 2013.
The BayernLabo Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating
Committee held their constituent meetings in the reporting period. The
Nominating Committee held four further meetings in 2013. The main area
of discussion was forthcoming appointments to the Board of Management.
The CEO (chairman of the Board of Management) promptly informed the
chairman and deputy chairmen of the Supervisory Board about any events
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that were of material significance in assessing the Bank’s situation and performance. The Supervisory Board chairman then briefed the full Board at its
next meeting. The regulatory requirements governing the reporting by the
Board of Management of irregularities identified by Internal Audit were met.
At their various meetings the Supervisory Board and respective committees
passed the resolutions required by law and under the Statutes and Rules of
Procedure. In addition, important issues and pending decisions were also
discussed in regular meetings between the chairmen of the Supervisory
Board and Board of Management. Almost all meetings were held in person,
in some cases with some members participating via conference call.
Resolutions between meetings were passed using a circulation procedure.

Corporate governance
The BayernLB Corporate Governance Principles set out the regulations on
corporate management and corporate supervision that apply to BayernLB
on the basis of binding and in-house regulations.
In its meeting of 11 April 2014, the Supervisory Board discussed compliance
with these corporate governance principles in 2013. Mindful of the Bayerische
Landesbank Act and BayernLB‘s statutes, the Board of Management, the
Supervisory Board and the General Meeting agreed that they were aware of
no evidence that these principles had not been observed in financial year 2013.

Board members
On 1 July 2013 the following changes were made to the composition of
the Supervisory Board in connection with the restructuring of the boards.
Michael Schneider was appointed the new chairman. Dr Hans Schleicher,
Dr Ulrich Klein and Prof. Dr Bernd Rudolph were made members. Walter
Strohmaier was elected the new deputy chairman.
Dr Markus Söder, State Minister of Finance, and Joachim Herrmann, State
Minister of the Interior, stepped down. Alexander Mettenheimer and
Martin Zeil also stood down.
Dr Dr Axel Diekmann’s term on the Board ended on 31 October 2013.
Jakob Kreidl stood down on 3 March 2014.
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the departing Board members
for their constructive contribution and services to the Bank over their
terms of office.
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The following changes took place to the Board of Management in 2013.
Jan-Christian Dreesen stepped down from the Board with effect from
31 January 2013; Michael Bücker was appointed to succeed him on
1 February 2013. With effect with 17 October 2013, Nils Niermann stood
down from the Board, and the Supervisory Board in its meeting on
2 December 2013 appointed Dr Markus Wiegelmann to the Bank’s Board
of Management with effect from 1 January 2014. As Gerd Haeusler is
stepping down as CEO, the Supervisory Board in this meeting appointed
Dr Johannes-Jörg Riegler as a member of the Board with effect from
1 March 2014 and as CEO, effective from 1 April 2014.

Audit and approval of the 2013 annual accounts
Deloitte & Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft conducted the
audit of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial
statements of the Bank, the management report and the Group management
report, and the annual financial statements and management report of
BayernLabo, a legally dependent institution of the Bank. BayernLB’s
Supervisory Board duly verified the independence of the auditors before
recommending their approval by the General Meeting.
Unqualified opinions were granted upon completion of the audit in all
cases. The BayernLabo and Audit Committees discussed each of the
documents forming part of the annual and consolidated financial statements
in conjunction with the auditors’ audit report and with the auditors
themselves. The committee chairmen reported the results of this discussion
to the Supervisory Board in its meeting today.
In its meeting of 7 April 2014, the BayernLabo Committee adopted
BayernLabo’s annual financial statements submitted by the Board of
Management.
In its meeting today, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee,
and after examining the auditors’ reports and the annual and consolidated
financial statements documentation and discussing these in detail with
the auditors, the Supervisory Board approved the findings of the audit
and, following the final outcome of the audit, concluded that it had
no reservations.
Furthermore, in its meeting today, the Supervisory Board adopted
the Bank’s annual accounts submitted by the Board of Management and
approved the management report; it also approved the consolidated
financial statements and Group management report.

12
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The Supervisory Board also proposed to the General Meeting that the Board
of Management be discharged. The General Meeting gave its approval to
these proposals in its meeting today.

A thank you to the customers, the Board of Management
and the staff
The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of BayernLB’s customers
and business partners for their loyalty over this past financial year. It also
thanks the members of the Board of Management and all of BayernLB’s
staff for their work over the past year and for their commitment under
extremely challenging conditions. One notable success was the improvement
in BayernLB’s already solid capital base. This is of prime concern not just
for the forthcoming asset quality review by the European Central Bank,
but is also a condition governing future repayments to the Free State of
Bavaria that was laid down in the state aid proceedings of the European
Commission. Since November 2012, approximately EUR 1.6 billion has
been paid back to the Bank’s owners.
The Supervisory Board would also like to wish the Bank another very
successful year in tackling the key tasks for 2014, particularly the challenges
in further implementing the EU conditions and reducing costs across the
Group. The Supervisory Board is confident that the new BayernLB will
bolster its strong position in the German banking market and continue to
move along the successful path it has chosen for the foreseeable future.
Munich, 11 April 2014
The Supervisory Board

Michael Schneider
Chairman
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In Profile:
Customers and
Customer Relationships
Behind the dry figures of this annual report are the dedication and expertise that our
employees have invested in a large number of projects. We would like to present some
of these projects to you on the next few pages.

14
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valued
Close to the people. Closer to the people.Your Savings Bank. And that in
a nutshell is what customer proximity and focus mean for Sparkasse
Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim, a savings bank that can trace its origins
back to 1824. Over the succeeding 190 years, one dictum has rung ever
more loud and clear: customers should have expert service they can fully
trust every step of the way through life. Thomas Munding, chairman of
the Board of Directors of Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim: “We
know and understand our retail and business customers. This very close
cooperation designed to foster a long-term relationship is at the heart of
what we do.”

Sparkasse Memmingen-LindauMindelheim’s Board of Directors:
Chairman Thomas Munding (l.)
with fellow board members
Bernd Fischer (r.) and Harald Post

16
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partnership
BayernLB’s partnership with the savings banks in Bavaria has significantly
intensified at all levels in recent years. The best example of this is the
partnership between Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim and BayernLB.
Both understand and complement each other through and through. The
savings bank’s insight into their customers’ needs and know-how gleaned
“at the coal face” are a perfect mix with BayernLB’s expertise in special
areas. Günter Hofmann, a regional director in BayernLB’s Savings Banks &
Association division: “The main winners are the Mittelstand customers
in Bavaria. They benefit enormously from our partnership.”

Günter Hofmann, a regional
director in BayernLB’s Savings
Banks & Association division
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Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim sets
the tone for an economic powerhouse of a region

Knowing and understanding customers
The strength of a region’s economy can be gleaned from a
slew of figures. The employment rate or buoyancy of the
real estate market are but two. And that is where the
cities and regions of Memmingen, Lindau and Mindelheim
excel. For there, in the administrative district of Swabia,
almost full employment is the order of the day. And
many want to make it their permanent home.
And another thing makes the region(s) stand out: the
innovation of their entrepreneurs and companies. The
renowned “Bavarian founder prize” recognises outstanding entrepreneurial dedication and exemplary
achievements in developing innovative and viable

Group picture with relationship managers

business ideas. Three winners of the past three years

Günter Hofmann (l.) from BayernLB and the Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-

also happen to be three household names from the

Mindelheim Board of Directors work closely together in a relationship of
mutual trust: Bernd Fischer (2nd from l.), Harald Post and Thomas Munding (r.).

region. And all are corporate customers of Sparkasse
Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim.

Close ties are the trump card

heart of what we do,” says Thomas Munding. His view
is shared by fellow board member Bernd Fischer, in
charge of corporate customers. At the savings bank it is

Of course this “avalanche of prizes” is very much wel-

all about having a direct dialogue with the customers:

comed by Thomas Munding, chairman of the Sparkasse

“The decision makers live in the region. Proximity,

Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim Board of Directors.

being seen as one of the locals, and the ability to talk

“It is exactly these strong, often family-run Mittelstand

face-to-face are the main ingredients of success.” Fischer

companies and the range of the other businesses in the

believes the perception of savings banks has changed

region that Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim

in recent years. “We have become an extremely strong

gives all the support it can offer. Our mission is to

brand. No one else has their feet so firmly on the ground

provide people with expert service they can trust and

or can offer the same quality or long-term thinking.

count on for the long term, whether they are corporate

And our regional knowledge is second to none.”

or retail customers.”
Just how intensive and trusting the customer relationThe trump card is the close ties which have developed.

ships are, Harald Post, board member and head of the

“Our savings bank has deep roots. We know and

“concrete gold” real estate division inter alia, is in a

understand our customers. This very close cooperation

very good position to attest: “We are there for our

designed to foster a long-term relationship is at the

customers at all stages of their lives and across family

18
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generations, often from their first savings account to

openness and clarity”. For the chairman, most important

the mortgage and then all over again with their

of all is how the bank presents itself to the outside

children’s savings account. This creates stable relation-

world. “Customers see us as a strong, compact unit,

ships, even when things aren’t going so well for them.”

and that’s the only way to go!”

It goes without saying that this personal touch is
complemented by expertise. Post: “Our customers can

It is an observation which Hofmann has no hesitation in

be assured of the fact that the savings bank staff they

backing up. “Customers have a very keen sixth sense,”

deal with are dedicated, highly qualified and experts

says the regional director of BayernLB’s Savings Banks &

in their field. We see ourselves here as a proactive

Association division. “They know instantly if a financial

sparring partner.”

partner is a snug fit in terms of its image and expertise.”
Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim and BayernLB

A partnership which is powering ahead

have been pulling this off for years.” Hofmann believes

Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim not only

both partners complement each other perfectly: “The

counts on the business skills of its customers, it also sets

savings bank on the ground opens doors with its

a good example. “Our solid capital ratios, good cost/

customer knowledge and know-how, and BayernLB

income ratios and last but not least our operating results

brings in its expertise in specific areas. This has created

tell customers that we are good businessmen too,”

an excellent partnership which continues to grow.”

says Munding. For the board chairman, it is important
of course to be “on the same wavelength” as corporate

Going by what both “drivers” of this alliance have to

customers. Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim

say, the savings bank and BayernLB will be working in

has regularly received the “BayernStar” from the

tandem for some time to come. “We are happy to

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks for its business

intensify our collaboration in financing and investing,”

know-how. The award is similar to the region’s

says Hofmann. “Working together has paid dividends

“founder prize for companies”.

and has been great news for our customers too.”
Munding wants to keep up the pace, but has yet another

The savings bank takes its mission to supply the Mittel-

goal in his sights: “The Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe

stand with credit very seriously. For high-volume deals

undoubtedly has the framework in place to give its

like project finance, syndicated loans or international

customers even more support in business abroad. We

transactions, BayernLB is the partner of first choice.

must pool our expertise even more, adapt structures

Fischer: “In recent years we have staked out some very

and raise customers’ awareness of our expertise.

fertile common ground with the Landesbank and have

Once we do, even more success will follow.

an excellent working relationship. It is a relationship
which, according to Munding, draws on “outstanding
performance and fast decision making, but also

Sparkasse Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim in figures_
} “Städtische Sparkasse Memmingen” is founded in 1824. Former Kreis- und Stadtsparkasse
Memmingen merges with Kreis- und Stadtsparkasse Mindelheim in 1977. Stadt- und
Memmingen-Lindau-Mindelheim

Kreissparkasse Lindau Institut is added on 1 January 2001. } Total assets: EUR 3.366 billion
} Deposits: EUR 2.673 billion } Customer loans: EUR 2.233 billion } 55 branches, 14 self-service
locations, and 110,000 current accounts } Employees: 868 (including 84 trainees)
(as at 31 Dec 2013)
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stylistic
There are two things that make the rental apartments of residential property
firm Akelius rather special. Firstly, they are mostly located in places the
company calls “cities with soul”. Secondly, Akelius has developed a “First
Class” standard that is uniform the world over and outfitted, as the name
suggests, with fixtures that are both exquisite and cutting-edge. According
to CEO Pål Ahlsén, the company’s qualitative growth is built on three pillars:
“Our activities are shaped by a long-term focus, stability and security.”

Pål Ahlsén,
CEO Akelius
Fastigheter AB

20
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device
BayernLB’s business relationship with Akelius has grown steadily since it
was established a little less than three years ago. “The chemistry was right
from the very beginning,” says Peter Meindl, the relationship manager for
Akelius. BayernLB’s real estate team was also convinced by Akelius’s financial
concept. Peter Meindl: “Akelius generates its returns through value preservation and long-term orientation. Earnings are reinvested in the company.”
This clear and sustainable strategy is complemented by a talent: the happy
knack for patient “cherry picking”.

Peter Meindl,
Relationship Manager in
BayernLB’s Real Estate division
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Residential property firm Akelius
benefits from the huge demand for
affordable premium apartments

Living
with soul

“We always strive to provide quality, and that is
sacrosanct. Not good quality, not upper quality, but
premium quality. Our internationalness combined
with our high quality standard represents our unique
selling point among major residential property firms,”
says Pål Ahlsén, who has been CEO of Akelius for the last
four years and with the company for ten. Akelius currently
focuses on two countries and two cities worldwide:
Germany, London, Toronto and Sweden, where the
company, which was founded by Roger Akelius in 1994,
has its roots. This also means four countries and four
currencies: the krona, euro, sterling and Canadian dollar.

A 200-page book entitled “Akelius Living” details
element for element, colour for colour, size for size
what the uniform global fittings standard “First Class”
developed in 2009 actually involves. And that is anything but standard, in fact; rather it is living at its
finest. The kitchens, for example, come from German
manufacturers, the tiles from Italy, the parquet flooring
from a supplier in Sweden – and this is the case in all
“First Class” apartments. Over time, almost every unit
in Akelius’s portfolio – currently 43,000 – are to be
raised to premium level with this brand label. In the
last three years alone, 10,000 residential properties
worldwide have received the “First Class” polish, 4,000
of them in Germany.

For Pål Ahlsén, this is in part a question of solidity:
“One issue, for example, is minimising risk. We diversify
currency risks, have access to a larger circle of domestic
banks and are also less susceptible to property bubbles
and crises in general.” Patience, care and selectiveness
in the continued expansion of the property exposure
also help keep risks to a minimum.
One of the traits that can confidently be ascribed to
Akelius is that of being especially choosy. “We only
buy properties in locations that we have identified as
‘cities with soul’. These stand out by virtue of their high
quality of life, for example offering parks and water,
significant economic and financial vitality, educational
institutions, a broad range of cultural and gastronomic
opportunities and demographic stability,” explains
Pål Ahlsén. The music lover puts it in a nutshell: “These
are locations that strike the right chord!”

BayernLB as strategic partner in Germany
In Germany, where Akelius has operated since 2006
and currently has a portfolio of 16,000 apartments,
Hamburg, Berlin, Cologne and Munich have earned
the soubriquet “cities with soul”. Cities such as
Wiesbaden, Leipzig and Dresden, meanwhile, are
on the watch list. As principal bank, BayernLB is
partner number one for these regions.
“We follow a rigorous cherry-picking approach, not
acquiring entire portfolios but individual properties
that we are absolutely confident will be profitable,”
Akelius property on Neuer Pferdemarkt in Hamburg.

stresses Pål Ahlsén, “even though this ‘art of waiting’

A city with soul: Hamburg is one of the lively German cities with a high quality

takes a lot of time and energy.”

of life where Akelius operates.
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“Akelius First Class” is the premium standard that the company applies when fitting out its residential properties.
It stands for a uniform interior worldwide – a unique selling point for Akelius in the face of international competition.

This is accompanied by a philosophy of giving these

low level,” says Meindl. It was not long, therefore,

‘cherries’ a long, long time to mature. “Our activities

before BayernLB’s Real Estate division and the German

are shaped by a long-term focus, stability and security,”

Akelius GmbH concluded their first partnership, initially

says Pål Ahlsén. The company generates returns and

on a small scale. Since then the business relationship

qualitative growth through maturity, value preservation

has become not only more extensive, but also deeper

and stability, and the proceeds are not paid out but

and more personal. Peter Meindl: “Today we provide

retained as equity capital to provide the foundation for

Akelius with a secured credit facility for investments in

new growth opportunities.

Germany, which the company is free to use as it sees fit.”

“We have immense faith in the expertise
of the Bank’s staff”

That is a clear statement, just like this declaration from

BayernLB has been supporting this strategy since 2011.

Germany alone this year in order to continue on our

BayernLB relationship manager Peter Meindl and Akelius

growth path.” Pål Ahlsén relies on BayernLB as principal

CEO Pål Ahlsén first got to know – and appreciate – each

bank: “We have immense faith in the expertise of the

other at the Akelius Bankers’ Meeting in Stockholm. “We

Bank’s staff; they understand our business model and

had a look behind the scenes and were impressed by

our needs. We are therefore delighted that we can

the concept’s measurable success, with its rigorous

continue to count on the know-how and creativity of

focus on quality. While rental incomes and the number

BayernLB’s real estate experts in the future. We rate their

of residential properties were rising constantly, at the

support and advice as ‘First Class’.” The perfect fit.

Pål Ahlsén: “We want to invest around EUR 300m in

same time vacancy rates were falling to an extremely

AKELIUS GROUP in figures_ } Parent company: Akelius Fastigheter AB, Sweden’s largest
private residential property firm, founded in 1994 } Founder: Roger Akelius } Investment markets:
Sweden (25,000 properties), Germany (16,000), Toronto (1,000) and London (1,000). } Active in
Germany since 2006, registered office Akelius GmbH in Berlin (90 staff) } Special feature: Akelius
University: To date, more than 50% of staff have completed an internal MBA there. Practice-oriented
course of study with stays in four countries: Sweden, the US, Cyprus and Germany. Course content:
real estate management, calculation techniques, business English, presentation techniques, etc.
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home
The Baugenossenschaft Kulmbach und Umgebung eG (housing cooperative
for Kulmbach and the surrounding area) owns almost 1,400 apartments
and commercial properties in the town and district of Kulmbach. Founded
in 1920, the cooperative has one of the longest heritages of any entrepreneurial social housing institution in Upper Franconia. Managing Director
Udo Petzoldt believes the very close and personal links to members and
tenants is characteristic: “Tenancies of thirty years or more are not uncommon.
You get to know one other.”

Udo Petzoldt,
Managing Director
of Kulmbach housing
cooperative

24
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work
As a body charged with implementing government housing policy, BayernLabo
promotes housing development in the Free State of Bavaria in the interests
of its citizens. The housing companies are its partners. The Kulmbach
housing cooperative is currently making use of subsidised loans to modernise
its properties. For Roland Fraunholz of BayernLabo, this example shows
just how sustainable, social and beneficial these subsidised interest rate
loans from KfW and BayernLabo are, particularly for low-income tenants.

Roland Fraunholz,
Team Leader
Apartment
Construction,
BayernLabo
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Young and old under one roof: multi-generational living is one of
the future challenges facing the Kulmbach housing cooperative

Developing (dream)
living spaces
Kulmbach in Upper Franconia is a town of many views.

Petzoldt. “Tenancies of thirty years or more are not

The views of the mighty Plassenburg Castle, for example,

uncommon. You get to know one other.”

one of Germany’s most imposing castles, not to mention
those down from its ramparts. And everyone has a

That is certainly a plus point. But it is also a sticking point,

view on the local culinary delicacies: Kulmbach, a town

because even though the tenant base is a cross-section

of 26,000 inhabitants at the confluence of the Red

of almost all sections of the population, there is still an

Main and White Main rivers, is home to an excellent

obvious demographic trend: more and more older people

bratwurst and – above all – its world-famous beer.

and fewer and fewer younger ones.

Finally, taking the long view is one of the characteristics

“We set store by colourful living”

exhibited by Udo Petzoldt. He manages the Kulmbach

“Older residents play a considerable role in shaping

housing cooperative, the biggest landlord in the town

the face of our housing cooperative. Over the coming

of Kulmbach. With the solid foundation of more than

years we will develop housing tailored to their needs,”

90 years’ experience, the Kulmbach housing cooperative

says Udo Petzoldt. In other words, that means tailored

has built more than 2,000 homes and commercial units.

primarily to the needs of the elderly and disabled. This

The cooperative today owns nearly 1,400 homes. “We

includes having properties on the ground floor, but also

provide reasonably priced housing in extremely good,

establishing partnerships with social care providers.

central locations and advocate very close, personal

These set up at the housing cooperative’s sites, which

links to our 1,700 members and tenants,” says Udo

are generally like mini-districts. Such partnerships

Plassenburg Castle provides a wonderful view over the town of Kulmbach. The outlook for
tenants of the Kulmbach housing cooperative is also rosy: The cooperative will continue to
invest heavily in the quality of housing provided by its properties in the future.
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modernised. This project also involves the implementation
of energy-efficiency measures and the construction of
a further 24 balconies.

Best-possible terms act as a brake on rents

they pay a usage charge and automatically acquire

One key aspect for Udo Petzoldt is the nature and extent

a lifelong right of occupancy. Through their usage

of the partnership with BayernLabo: “Our dealings

charges, the members secure the existence and

are extremely cooperative. This applies both to new

value of their property – earnings flow back into

projects and to discussions on optimising existing

the cooperative and guarantee reasonably priced,

agreements. We always find a sympathetic ear and

comfortable housing over the long term. The

never get the sense we are bothering them with our

cooperative’s main task is to support its members

numerous queries. On the contrary, we always get a

by providing affordable housing. In other words,

courteous and friendly response.”

the focus of business activity is not on achieving
returns but on ensuring the long-term satisfaction

While Roland Fraunholz of BayernLabo is of course

of its members.

delighted to receive such fulsome praise, he feels such
an approach goes without saying: “Our customers can
rest assured that we will support them as part of our

ensure that elderly or disabled tenants can receive

duty to create and develop housing in Bavaria.” The

efficient, cost-effective care. Udo Petzoldt: “We plan for

specialist expertise of BayernLabo – as a body charged

close cooperation: where desired, we ensure that each

with implementing government housing policy – helps

group of people can live independently in their own

in particular to identify special targeted subsidy pro-

four walls for as long as possible.”

grammes, some of which benefit from additional interest
rate subsidies from BayernLabo and are therefore offered

With reference to the long view, however, Udo Petzoldt

at attractive terms. Roland Fraunholz: “BayernLabo

believes there is another aspect to the concept: “We

places great emphasis on an appropriate use of capital

definitely want to avoid creating ghettos in the districts.

that takes account both of the company and of require-

That’s why we set great store by ’colourful living’:

ments from a funding law and banking perspective.”

While the ground floors are occupied by older people,
families and single people are given priority on the

When it comes to using capital, Udo Petzoldt unsurpri-

floors above.

singly looks for long-term security at acceptable terms.
“Best-possible terms effectively act as a brake on rents.”

Udo Petzoldt knows that he can rely on the support

The strict conditions and requirements associated with

and expertise of BayernLabo when financing projects

using subsidised loans also have a positive impact on

such as this one. BayernLabo is currently helping the

the Management Board of the Kulmbach housing co-

Kulmbach housing cooperative modernise its properties.

operative: “They motivate us to carry out detailed and

In one building complex (which also houses the co-

accurate calculations when planning projects and how

operative’s offices), 32 homes are being equipped with

funds are to be used. Only by following this meticulous

energy-optimised heating systems and new windows,

approach can we secure the long-term survival of our

while a large doctor’s surgery is also being built on the

cooperative – for the benefit of our tenants.”

ground floor. A second major project will see 56 homes

The Kulmbach housing cooperative in figures_
} Founded: 11 December 1920 } Members: 1,731 } Apartments: 1,345 } Buildings: 225 } Garages: 303
(as at 31 December 2013)
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pace
Bausparkasse Mainz (Mainz building society) is a profitable institution that
specialises primarily in the areas of home loan savings and construction
financing. For Bausparkasse Mainz’s Treasury department, actively managing
interest rate risks is a part of their “daily bread” – as is implementing
regulatory requirements. The clearing obligation introduced as part of the
European Markets Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR) represents a turning
point in derivatives trading and clearing. Joachim Flasnöcker, Treasurer of
Bausparkasse Mainz: “Our goal was to comply with the new EMIR requirements in the most efficient and cost effective way possible. The price/
performance ratio was also a key factor in choosing a clearing broker.”

Joachim Flasnöcker,
Treasurer of
Bausparkasse Mainz
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setter
BayernLB has been marketing extensive EMIR services since 2012 – and
acquired Bausparkasse Mainz as a pilot customer. “We help our customers
to fulfil the clearing obligation using LCH.Clearnet and EurexOTC Clear IRS
as central counterparties. At the same time, we also take care of their
reporting obligation by reporting transactions to a trade repository,” says
Stefan Schramm, deputy head of Institutional Sales at BayernLB. The Bank
acts as a clearing broker and clears interest rate contracts on the systems
of a central counterparty. Christian Beinert, also from Institutional Sales:
“This service is the final link in BayernLB’s range of services all along the
value added chain for interest rate derivatives.”

(from left) Christian Beinert
and Stefan Schramm from the
Institutional Sales department
with Silvio Kiesewalter, Fixed
Income Sales department, both
of which are part of BayernLB’s
Markets business area.
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“We at Bausparkasse Mainz have
been able to maintain our own
customer focus because we did not
have to significantly raise the prices
of our products and were able to
keep them attractive.”
Joachim Flasnöcker on why they chose BayernLB as a clearing broker

Bausparkasse Mainz uses BayernLB as a broker for its clearing operations

Implementing EMIR
side by side
The word “Emir” comes from Arabic, and one of its

thus spared the technically daunting need to link up with

meanings is “order”. This is fitting, since the G20 summit

a clearing house themselves” explains Stefan Schramm,

in Pittsburgh in 2009 sent a very clear signal to the

deputy head of Institutional Sales in BayernLB’s Markets

financial world. Following the collapse of Lehman

business area. Stefan Schramm’s colleague Christian

Brothers in 2008 and the resulting market turmoil, this

Beinert believes it makes sense for the Bank to pour

conference laid the foundations for regulating global

such energy into EMIR: “This service is the final link in

OTC derivatives markets. OTC (over the counter)

BayernLB’s range of services all along the value added

derivatives are derivatives which are not traded on an

chain for interest rate derivatives.” It also enables

exchange. In the European economic area, the basis

customers to continue actively managing their interest

for implementing the G20’s directive is EMIR. The main

rate risks.”

features of the European Markets Infrastructure Regulation are a clearing obligation, a reporting obligation
and, for transactions still conducted on a bilateral

A big name in home loan savings
and construction financing

basis, risk mitigation techniques. The “order” from EMIR

Bausparkasse Mainz is one of BayernLB’s EMIR pilot

is thus greater transparency and fewer risks.

customers. It is a profitable institution that stands out
from competitors by concentrating on providing

BayernLB started getting ready for EMIR at an early stage.

excellent service to its customers and intermediaries,

In 2011 it became a member of LCH.Clearnet, a London-

backed up by intelligent and safe product solutions.

based clearing house which is one of the largest in

The main target group of Bausparkasse Mainz is retail

Europe. In the “central counterparty – BayernLB –

customers. The institution offers them complete

customer” business relationship, the Bank acts as clearing

financing solutions to buy, build, renovate or refinance

broker for its customers and helps them to fulfil their

residential property. In addition to the major business

clearing obligations. “That means that we clear interest

areas of home loan savings and construction financing,

rate contracts on LCH.Clearnet’s systems. Customers are

it is also active in the sale of liability products and real
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estate and insurance brokerage, the latter via inter-

price/performance ratio was crucial. The price model, with

insurance. Bausparkasse Mainz also attracted attention

relatively low annual fixed costs and a variable compo-

recently through the establishment of a brokerage

nent based on usage, was attractive. It enabled us at

business and a website for home loan savings.

Bausparkasse Mainz to maintain our own customer focus
because we did not have to significantly raise the prices

“We are a small, flexible company with close ties to

of our products and were able to keep them attractive.”

our customers, efficient communication channels, flat
hierarchies and quick problem-solving processes. Our

Christian Beinert of BayernLB sees this assessment as

services reflect what is particularly important to people

confirmation that client clearing was the right path to

nowadays: security and predictability,” says Joachim

take. “We are taking a leading role in the client clearing

Flasnöcker of Bausparkasse Mainz. Flasnöcker is respon-

market with our cost model. Customers can also rely on

sible for investor relations, project work related to the

receiving comprehensive support from our front and

Treasury, the execution of refinancing transactions and

back office.” This aspect is also important to Stefan

the investment of surplus liquidity in assets. “We ensure

Schramm: “We are able to solve even complex problems

that Bausparkasse Mainz remains solvent at all times

because the product experts from our Treasury product

by means of sufficient liquidity buffers, adequate

area work closely with downstream units. This expertise

capitalisation, appropriate diversification of our sources

and clout ensure that customers receive measurable

of funding, and compliance with the varied regulatory

added value.”

requirements,” explains the Treasury expert.
BayernLB’s newest offer to provide clearing not only

In-depth expertise, attractive price model

on LCH.Clearnet but also on EurexOTC Clear IRS should

The business relationship between Bausparkasse Mainz

also offer measurable added value. Joachim Flasnöcker:

and BayernLB began in 1988, with the first refinancing

“Competition between clearing houses can only be

transaction executed a year later. Since then, the partner-

good for financial counterparties that are subject to

ship has also extended to other financial products. “We

EMIR’s clearing obligation. It allows them to choose

are pleased that the relationship is based on trust and

based on the general or specific situation – and thereby

treatment as equals. BayernLB’s relationship managers

weigh and make use of the features and advantages of

and product experts are highly competent and find

the different clearing houses, such as their liquidity or

individual solutions quickly, even when the requirements

collateral costs for market participants.”

are very demanding. We were therefore not surprised
that BayernLB started providing us with information on
EMIR regularly, intensively and via several channels as
far back as 2012,” says Flasnöcker. Once the regulatory
environment had been defined, Bausparkasse Mainz
chose BayernLB as a clearing broker. “We were convinced
by two things. First, BayernLB presented itself as
solution-focused and competent with its EMIR service.
It advised us to implement and use the service quickly

As one of these market participants, Bausparkasse Mainz
regards itself as well positioned for the future. Joachim
Flasnöcker: “Like other financial service providers, we
have to deal with the challenges presented by long-term
low interest rates, rising costs imposed by regulatory
requirements and a changing sales environment. But
we will manage them to the best of our ability and are
therefore looking to the future with confidence.”

in a way that preserved resources. Second, the

Bausparkasse Mainz AG in figures_ } Established on 15 September 1930
} 800 office and field staff } Total assets: EUR 2.5bn } Main business areas: Home loan savings and
complete construction financing for retail customers in Germany, financial investment and real
estate brokerage } Recent awards: “Beliebteste Bausparkasse” (most popular building society)
in 2013 (Euro am Sonntag newspaper, Deutsches Kundeninstitut (German customer institute)),
“TOP-Bausparkasse 2013” (TOP building society 2013) (n-tv)
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media
The transformation of the Augsburg media group Pressedruck epitomises
our media world: founded 70 years ago as a traditional newspaper publisher,
the company now brings together a wide range of media and countless
related services under one roof. It is a vibrant organism that still has a
regional daily newspaper at its heart. And this is a heart which, according
to CEO Andreas Scherer, will keep on beating strongly in the future:
“Ultimately, a daily newspaper gives people what they crave: information,
but also a strong sense of identity and ‘home’.”

(From the left) Edgar Benkler, Commercial
Director, Managing Partner Alexandra
Holland, and Andreas Scherer, CEO and
Management Spokesman
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expertise
It’s not that far from Augsburg to Munich, either geographically or in terms
of mindset. This is evidenced by the partnership between the Pressedruck
media group and BayernLB, which is characterised by mutual trust and
respect. The Bank recently supported the media group in its acquisition of
the remaining 49 % of the shares of Südkurier GmbH (Südkurier). For this
Mittelstand customer of BayernLB, the transaction marked an important
step towards economically responsible, sustainable growth – and towards
safeguarding its long-term future in a volatile market environment.

Stefan Bauer, Financing Expert in
BayernLB’s Corporate Finance
department, and Alfons Prechtl,
Mittelstand Relationship Manager
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How the Pressedruck media group is responding to the
transformation of the increasingly complex media world

Only quality
earns money
Are newspapers yesterday’s news? No, the newspaper-

acquisition of these two strong, solid and well-performing

only era is yesterday’s news. The same is true at

media companies gives our group the necessary scale,

Pressedruck. This traditional Augsburg company

enabling us to further improve our profitability and

(founded in 1945) is now a broad-based, cross-media

secure our long-term future in a volatile market environ-

and future-oriented organisation whose output en-

ment,” says Andreas Scherer.

compasses several daily newspapers including digital
editions, weekly publications, local radio and TV

Talking of a “volatile market environment”, not all experts

programming and production, internet and logistics

are convinced the daily newspaper has a secure future.

services, call centres, a postal service, brochure

Andreas Scherer is vehement, though: “We firmly

distribution and business publishing.

believe that the regional daily newspaper has a future,
both in print and online. Ultimately, a daily newspaper

“In this age of the internet and digital media, readers

gives people what they crave: information, but also a

and advertising customers want to, and indeed have to,

strong sense of identity and ‘home’.” Identity and a

communicate efficiently and successfully beyond the

sense of home appear to be very pronounced in

printed newspaper,” says Andreas Scherer, CEO and

Augsburg, Constance and Würzburg. Pressedruck’s

Management Spokesman, explaining the idea and

daily newspapers have for many years seen some of

rationale behind the approach. This is the (only) way the

the most stable circulation figures in Germany, while

Pressedruck media group can offer media packages

its regional online news portals are also growing.

with appropriate services at its locations as complete
solutions from a single source. As Scherer puts it: “Our

The management of the Pressedruck media group

aim is to bring people together in a profitable way in

believes there are two crucial factors in ensuring that

the regions in which we operate.”

this performance continues. First, tomorrow’s regional

Adapting to the increasingly complex
media world

daily newspapers must adapt successfully to the changes
taking place in the increasingly complex media world.
A media world in which the internet encroaches into

These regions have recently increased in number. This

more and more areas of life – with massive consequences

is primarily attributable to the newspaper publishing

for journalistic content and advertising formats. In the

business, which remains the family company’s most

digital sector, Pressedruck recently installed its first

profitable business area. Augsburger Allgemeine (one

paywall – which proved a success. The positive response

of the biggest regional subscription newspapers) and

tallies with nationwide research indicating that more

the stakes in Allgäuer Zeitung (Kempten) and Nordkurier

and more internet and mobile users are prepared to

(Neubrandenburg) were supplemented by two further

pay for online journalistic content.

local flagship publications via the takeovers of the
Würzburg media group Main-Post in 2011 and the

This ties up with the second “key to survival”: According

Südkurier media house in Constance in 2013. “The

to Alexandra Holland, Managing Partner of the
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“Our aim is to bring people together
in a profitable way in the regions in
which we operate.”
Andreas Scherer

Pressedruck media group, readers and users must

commitment to the Mittelstand and is a firm believer in

be offered not just journalism but quality journalism.

the impact and benefit of a media mix as consistently

Alexandra Holland: “Despite the economic pressure

developed by Pressedruck in its capacity as a full-service

the newspaper companies are under, regional daily

provider.”

newspapers must focus on their strengths and cannot
abandon them. They must continue to offer high-class

This is a commitment that from Pressedruck’s point of

journalism that is close to the people and their home.”

view is also lived out in day-to-day business operations.

Personal contact is vitally important

“Personal contact with the Bank’s staff is vitally important to us – it ensures that our requirements in terms

BayernLB is also shares a commitment to this “home

of customised concepts and timeframes are taken

strength”. It is perhaps no coincidence, therefore,

seriously. The short decision-making paths from and to

that the Bank and the Pressedruck media group have

BayernLB ensured there was never any threat to the

become increasingly close in recent years. Mittelstand

transactions being completed, even when working to

Relationship Manager Alfons Prechtl and Financing Expert

tight time schedules.”

Stefan Bauer are the Bank’s “faces” for the Augsburg
There it is once again: the “proximity” factor, which is

media company.

obviously every bit as important between companies
“Since we first supported it with its acquisition of Main-

and bank partners as it is between newspaper editors

Post, our dealings with the media group have been

and readers or radio presenters and listeners.

characterised by trust, reliability and mutual respect,”
says Alfons Prechtl. For Stefan Bauer, “the engagement
and expertise inherent in the partnership are additional
success factors that led us to finance the Südkurier
takeover.” In Alfons Prechtl’s view, supporting this
growth is simply a logical step: “BayernLB has a clear

The Pressedruck media group_ } Founded in 1945 by Curt Frenzel
} 3,600 employees } Media and services: Print (Augsburger Allgemeine, Main-Post, Südkurier
and holdings) including online editions, radio and TV (rt1.media group, including hitradio.rt1
and rt1.tv), internet service provider Newsfactory, call centre specialist Dialog-Factory, logistics
service provider Logistic-Factory, postal service Logistic-Mail-Factory, direct distribution group
Direktwerbung Bayern, specialist publisher vmm wirtschaftsverlag.
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pulling
Only those who change remain – on the market or on the tracks. Over the
past 20 years since the German railway reform in 1994, Deutsche Bahn
has completely reinvented itself. Germany’s national railway operator has
become an international mobility and logistics company that aims to leave
competitors worldwide in its wake with its high-speed services. This is also
the goal set out in the DB2020 strategy. Dr Richard Lutz, CFO of Deutsche
Bahn AG, explains: “We want to reconcile economic, social and environmental concerns on a lasting basis and be a money-making market leader
by 2020. This will pave the way to sustainable economic success and
acceptance by society.”

Dr Richard Lutz,
CFO of Deutsche Bahn AG
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power
According to Michael Bücker, Deutsche Bahn’s vision for the future is a perfect
match for BayernLB’s expertise: “Our Corporates business area provides
companies expert support and long-term solutions for ensuring their
future viability.” But it is not just the future outlook that gives confidence
to the man in charge of BayernLB’s business with major corporations –
the past also looks encouraging: “As a Deutsche Bahn core bank, we are
building on a business relationship that is based on trust and has grown
over many years. We have supported the company in achieving profitable
growth, and we are committed to continuing this intensive, very personal
partnership at the same premium level of quality.”

Michael Bücker,
BayernLB Board of Management
member responsible for Corporates,
Mittelstand & Financial Institutions
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Deutsche Bahn is aiming to become the world’s leading mobility
and logistics group. And BayernLB is on board.

The sustainable railway
Acceleration from a fairly leisurely pace to the 300 kilo-

be successful, you have to push all three of these elements

metres per hour tempo of one of its ICE high-speed trains:

at the same time. As we continue our growth course,

this could describe Deutsche Bahn’s performance over

it is hugely important to ensure the company achieves

the past two decades. The new company was established

adequate profitability and financial stability,” he says,

under private law in 1994 following the railway reform.

outlining the economic objective. He stresses that

Two loss-making state-owned railways – Bundesbahn

the focus is on exploiting market opportunities and

(in West Germany) and Reichsbahn (in East Germany) –

developing the business in a consistent and sustainable

became one profitable, customer-focused company.

manner, while ensuring a high level of quality.

Initially, Deutsche Bahn instituted a shift to an entrepreneurial style of operating and undertook a financial

Environmental protection as a selling point

restructuring to ensure the competitiveness and viability

The CFO of Deutsche Bahn believes this growth must go

of its business areas. At the same time, it also expanded

hand in hand with a clear commitment to thinking and

and became more international. One important mile-

acting in an environmentally friendly way. “Ultimately,”

stone was the acquisition of the international logistics

he says, “economic prosperity is still primarily based

company Schenker and the British passenger transport

on the consumption of oil and other non-renewable

company Arriva. Today, Deutsche Bahn runs a European

resources in order to manufacture and transport goods.”

and global network in the transportation and logistics

Oil is becoming scarcer and fossil fuels harm the en-

business and holds leading positions in all of its major

vironment through the emission of the greenhouse gas

markets. Through Arriva, Deutsche Bahn operates

CO2. In a society that is less and less accepting of business

regional and city transport systems in 14 European

models that harm the environment and in which

countries and in Eastern Europe it is the leading

environmentally friendly attributes are a major factor

international company in this field.

in purchasing decisions, Deutsche Bahn – as the largest
energy consumer in Germany – wants to set a green

A very respectable performance to mark the anniversary

example. In fact, it is already doing so.

of the railway reform. But this is just an intermediate
stop on the way to a bigger destination, according to

Dr Lutz: “By shifting traffic to rail transportation and con-

Deutsche Bahn’s management, which announced the

necting all types of transport to the very environmentally

DB2020 strategy. An ambitious vision is behind the

friendly railways, we are working to make an important

strategy: “We want to become the world’s leading

contribution to climate protection. And we’re not just

mobility and logistics company by 2020,” says Dr Lutz.

cutting emissions, we are also reducing noise pollution.”

The CFO of Deutsche Bahn AG believes that future

One way in which Deutsche Bahn intends to increase

operations will have three dimensions: “We want to

energy efficiency in its operating and production pro-

reconcile economic, environmental and social concerns on

cesses is by updating its rolling stock. Already, 35 percent

a lasting basis. In other words, we want to be a profitable

of the electricity supply used to power trains comes

market leader with a focus on customers and quality,

from renewable sources. Our long-distance trains are

and also a top employer and environmental pioneer.”

already 75 percent powered by renewable energy. The

Dr Richard Lutz does not see an insurmountable con-

transport in Germany, using 100% renewable energy

tradiction between these dimensions. “If you want to

sources. We have also set ourselves an ambitious

38

long-term goal for 2050 is to achieve CO2-free rail
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“We want to be a profitable market leader with
a focus on customers and quality, and also a
top employer and an environmental pioneer.”
Dr Richard Lutz

target for noise reduction. We want to halve noise
pollution from rail transport in Germany by 2020.

Providing services in the interests
of the customer
Dr Lutz is happy to return the compliment: “BayernLB

It is probably not too daring to claim that this qualitative,

more than meets our expectations of a good business

“ecological growth” will drive economic growth. Growth,

relationship. It provides services in the interests of the

that Deutsche Bahn funds in part on capital markets.

customer, and is flexible and innovative thanks to its

Dr Lutz: “This is an area where we depend on the

successful synthesis of personal relationship management,

continued support of BayernLB. Because it knows our

range of products, product expertise and competitive

company and the transport and service sector that we

strength. We particularly value the Bank’s reliability, focus

operate in, it can correctly assess our needs for banking

on customers, expertise and performance.”

products and balance the interests of the company and
investors.” This statement is based to a certain degree

Deutsche Bahn’s annual roadshow, in which it tells

on another type of growth. The origins of the partner-

investors about the company’s financial performance

ship between BayernLB and Deutsche Bahn go back a

and strategy, demonstrates how down-to-earth this

long way and started with completely traditional,

business relationship has remained. The European leg

conventional banking products. Today, the product

of the roadshow (there is an equivalent event in Asia)

range is far more extensive.

gets off to a traditional start at BayernLB in Munich with
a hearty breakfast of Weisswurst (white sausages). “It’s

Michael Bücker, member of BayernLB’s Board of

an absolute highlight for us Prussians,” says Dr Lutz.

Management responsible for Corporates, Mittelstand
and Financial Institutions, is proud of this development:

Michael Bücker sees this uncomplicated, cooperative

“I see Deutsche Bahn as something of a model customer.

way of doing things as typical: “Strategic financial

Both partners value a long-term partnership based on

planning is a very important competitive factor, but

trust and open, personal relationships at both specialist

our day-to-day relationship with Deutsche Bahn is very

and top management levels. Our close relationship is

uncomplicated, open and direct. This mix is a lot of fun.”

characterised by values such as integrity, solidarity,
reliability, and trust in both good and bad times.”

DB as an international mobility and logistics service provider_
} Active in over 130 countries } Approximately 300,000 employees, of which some 196,000 are in Germany
} Sales adjusted for extraordinary effects: EUR 39.1 billion (EBIT approx. EUR 2.2 billion)
ACROSS EUROPE } Passenger transport: Almost 12 million people use the services every day } Transport
and logistics: 390 tonnes of freight transported by rail and over 95 million road deliveries per year
In GERMANY } Approximately 5.5 million customers use the German rail system every day; some
629,000 tonnes of freight are transported } 30,000 trains run every day } 5,668 passenger railway stations
} Around 2 million bus customers a day
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travelling
With experience gained on over 2,300 projects worldwide, Herrenknecht AG
is the leading manufacturer of mechanised tunnelling technology. No matter
whether pipelines, traffic tunnels or drilling equipment for mining fuels
and minerals: there is no such word as “can’t” at Herrenknecht. That is the
philosophy of Axel Schäfer, Head of Export Finance at Herrenknecht AG.
“Our foreign competitors should fear the combination of German exporters,
the German export credit agency and German banks like a mountain fears a
boring machine.”

Axel Schäfer,
Head of Export Finance
at Herrenknecht AG
with headquarters
in Schwanau, Baden
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companions
To stay with the drilling analogy, BayernLB is also capable of making breakthroughs even when things get tough, which is perhaps why the export
finance partnership with Herrenknecht AG works so well. Ulrich Eckert,
Head Relationship Manager in Trade & Export Finance at BayernLB: “We
see ourselves as an ally of Germany’s export-oriented economy, and we
know the risks and opportunities in foreign markets. Our role is that of a
responsible facilitator.”

Ulrich Eckert,
Head Relationship
Manager in Trade &
Export Finance at
BayernLB
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Axel Schäfer, Head of Export Finance at Herrenknecht AG, and Ulrich Eckert,
foreign trade expert at BayernLB, on successful trading abroad.

Willing and able

Mr Schäfer, what do you see as the success
factors for export finance?

After all, in the long run jobs depend on export finance:

Schäfer_A network with a direct line to Hermes (the

might wind up on welfare, and we must never forget that.

German export credit insurance company), the chance

Our foreign competitors should fear the combination of

to swap ideas with export finance colleagues in other

German exporters, the German export credit agency and

German medium-sized companies and finally a reliable,

German banks like – and I’m sticking with Herrenknecht’s

competent banking partner. The banking partner must

jargon here – a mountain fears a boring machine. And

have “internalised” the challenges exporters face and

our boring machines have become global market leaders

be able to keep up in terms of both export finance

because we are always pushing the limits. We expect

expertise and speed.

And what if this network does not think
a transaction can be carried out?
Schäfer_Then Herrenknecht must be sure that no-one else

can manage it either – especially not our competition.

Mr Eckert, how do you draw the line between
what can and cannot be done?

if we can’t get financing, some child’s mother or father

our partners to do the same.
Eckert_I believe Hermes plays a key role in this. It is a

reliable partner that can be counted on 100% and
always tries to find a solution, even in situations where
it initially seems as if nothing can be done.

Does Hermes have any limits,
for example in terms of risk appetite?
Schäfer_Here in Germany we probably have the best

Eckert_Our role in export finance is to facilitate, not

official export credit agency to meet the challenges

hamper, in our view. We believe in being open and

we face as one of the leading exporters in the world.

focused on getting things done, but that doesn’t mean

I do not accept critical comparisons with countries

that we hurl ourselves blindly into adventures. In

where if a mobile phone or truck manufacturer sneezes,

football you might call our approach a controlled strike.

the entire country catches a cold. We have seen trans-

What should the interaction between
exporter, Hermes and bank look like ideally?

actions where the banks were reluctant to assume the
5% residual risk – but not the German government with
its 95%. Fortunately there is a large appetite for risk,

Schäfer_Trade finance expertise and an absolute

and both Euler Hermes and the German government

determination to make things happen are key elements.

act accordingly.
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What expectations do you have
of a banking partner?
Schäfer_“All business is local” – this statement is only partly

true in export finance. A lot of big banks have large
subsidiaries in faraway lands, but these often yield to
export credit agencies due to a lack of export finance
know-how. Rather than a giant tanker ship, we prefer a
speedboat – an export finance specialist from Germany
who is always there for us, goes with us to the customer
and brings Hermes expertise with it. In this sense,
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Axel Schäfer
After completing a banking apprenticeship and
a degree in economics, he joined IKB Deutsche
Industriebank AG in 1991. In 1998 he moved to
the Düsseldorf office, where he was responsible
for export finance with a focus on South America.
Since 2005 he has been Head of Export Finance at
Herrenknecht AG. He also works as an independent
advisor (www.ssp-exportfinanzierung.de).

business then becomes local again, because the bank
needs to approach customers locally, around the world.

How can a banking partner ensure that it stays
a core export finance bank for Herrenknecht
for the long term?
Schäfer_By being reliable and determined to make things

happen. By having a steady and predictable business and
risk policy. And by keeping a winning team together –
a partnership based on trust begins with the people
involved and develops over the years. This then means

What can customers expect when
you approach them, Mr Eckert?
Eckert_In addition to the export finance expertise of a bank

that knows the opportunities and risks of international
business, we stand for values such as flexibility, reliability
and clarity. Customers know where they are with us,
and they can rely on us. We solve problems rather than
creating them – and we do so as quickly as possible.

what a good bank can achieve at short notice if required.

Where are the limits of the “triumvirate”
of Hermes, banks and exporters?

Eckert_The way I see our role is that, as a banking partner,

Schäfer_With smaller orders of under EUR 5m. Buyer

we have to put ourselves in the exporter’s shoes. In this

credits are not the right tool for these, although I would

way we can rapidly find a practicable solution together.

not blame the banks. For orders of this size the exporter

that things can move quickly. Even today, it’s incredible

What do you see as BayernLB’s strengths?

may need to act as a bank and finance its customers
through a covered supplier credit that is then forfaited.

Schäfer_Reliability and a willingness to take on risk.

However, under the current indemnification procedure,

BayernLB also goes further than other banks. It

banks are increasingly reluctant to purchase receivables

approaches things with an open mind and the basic

on a non-recourse basis. But without the option of using

attitude that there must be a way to do any deal that a

a covered supplier credit for refinancing, the supplier

responsible exporter proposes. Nevertheless, BayernLB

credit is more or less dead and many small and medium-

does a very thorough check; its risk management check-

sized companies will lose their only financing instrument.

list is very challenging. The Bank weighs decisions care-

I think there is a real danger here and an urgent need

fully, but also acts with courage. It is highly committed

for improvement.

to the Mittelstand. And then there is its determination

Eckert_I feel the same. And that’s why we at BayernLB

to keep a winning team together: as far as I can recall

want to make receivables purchasing another focus of

there have been no changes whatsoever in our relation-

our activities.

ship managers in the past few years.

Many thanks for your time.

Herrenknecht AG_ } Established as a GmbH (limited liability company) in 1977 by Martin
Herrenknecht, converted to an AG (joint stock company) in 1998 } Company headquarters in Schwanau,
Baden-Württemberg } Around 4,400 employees } 2013 sales: EUR 1.0 billion approx. } Global market leader
in mechanised tunnelling technology } Worldwide: around 2,300 projects carried out, 78 subsidiaries
and shareholdings } Business areas: Traffic Tunnelling, Utility Tunnelling, Mining, Exploration
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smart
“Always a good idea” is Kaiser’s Tengelmann’s slogan. And one of the
upmarket supermarket chain’s good ideas is the introduction of the girogo
payments system in its 500 branches. Payments are contactless, take
only seconds and are exclusively available to savings bank customers. They
just need to hold their savings bank card, or “SparkassenCard”, in front
of the reader and the payment goes through. Raimund Luig, management
spokesman for Kaiser’s Tengelmann, has high expectations for girogo:
“This is the next big step towards ‘payment of the future’ and therefore
to meeting customers’ needs.”

Raimund Luig,
management
spokesman for
Kaiser’s Tengelmann
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money
BayernLB is Kaiser’s Tengelmann’s partner for the introduction of the
contactless girogo payments system. The Landesbank is handling the
roll-out of the girogo process across all 2,200 or so terminals at Kaiser’s
Tengelmann. Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe’s commitment to innovative
technology has been the driving force. In the near future all of Germany’s
45 million SparkassenCards will be able to work with girogo. “Thanks
to its partnership with Kaiser’s Tengelmann, BayernLB will be seen as a
driver of innovation with extensive product solution expertise and a
strong network,” says Georg Eberle, a product specialist at BayernLB.

Georg Eberle, Transaction
Banking Sales section
within BayernLB’s Product
Solutions division
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With its contactless payments system,
Kaiser’s Tengelmann is positioning
itself as a modern, customer-friendly
high-end supermarket.

Always on
the money

Gone are the days when customers have to insert the
card in a terminal and enter a PIN or scribble out their
signature on a receipt.

Quality also means modernity
“The benefits of this new, innovative payments process
are huge,” says Raimund Luig, a spokesman for Kaiser’s
Tengelmann. “Shoppers pay faster and spend less time
waiting. For us it means actively putting customers and
service first. Our company also benefits from contactless
payments. We can increase footfall at points of sale
and ease cash logistics.” For Kaiser’s Tengelmann, whose
500 or so branches are positioned as high-end supermarket retailers, this innovation is simply a natural

It is a refrain we have all heard someone say at the

progression. “For us quality also means modernity.

supermarket till: “Just a sec. I think I’ve got the right

Contactless payment using a SparkassenCard is the

change.” The customer then rummages around the

next step towards mobile payments. Customers will

coins in his or her pocket often only to end up paying

one day be able to pay with their smartphone,”

with a note. Those waiting in the queue have their

forecasts Luig.

patience tried in similar fashion by credit card or EC
card payments. The process seems to drag on inter-

The Mülheim-based firm had to search long and hard

minably, and there is nothing anyone can do. Not any

to find a partner to implement the challenging task of

more. Kaiser’s Tengelmann and Sparkassen-Finanz-

introducing the new payments process, including the

gruppe have joined forces to speed things up signifi-

terminal infrastructure and girogo debit cards. In the

cantly. In the future everything will happen in a flash.

end BayernLB was chosen, and that opened the doors

Three, two, one, and the payment’s done.

to the German Savings Banks Association. “We found
BayernLB to be a very adept and efficient financial

This “revolution at the till” has a name: girogo. It is

institution for processing debit payments from our

a contactless payments system and it will become

Kaiser’s Tengelmann till terminals. It is an established

available to the 45 million Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe

innovative payment services provider, and the savings

customers with their SparkassenCard. The new chip

bank organisation has a strong presence in the market.

cards are gradually being phased in. Once at the till

That is what tipped the balance for us,” says Luig.

in a Kaiser’s Tengelmann, all a shopper needs to do
is place the card in front of a reader. The cost of the

His “counterpart” is Georg Eberle, who works in the Trans-

groceries is then charged to the holder’s account.

action Banking Sales section within BayernLB’s Product

“We were impressed with
the girogo concept right
from the word go. Paying
at the supermarket till
couldn’t be easier.”
Georg Eberle
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“For us quality also means
modernity. Contactless payment
using a SparkassenCard is the next
step towards mobile payments.”
Raimund Luig

Solutions and who has served the customer Kaiser’s

The “boost” that partners BayernLB and the German

Tengelmann for umpteen years. “We were impressed

Savings Banks Association have given the girogo project

with the girogo concept right from the word go. Paying

has been clear to see for some time now. Household

at the supermarket till couldn’t be easier.” As a product

names like perfume and cosmetics retail chain Douglas,

specialist, Eberle followed the first technical field trials

filling station operators ESSO and JET, and the football

in Hanover, Wolfsburg and Braunschweig in 2012 and

grounds BayArena in Leverkusen and Arena Ingolstadt

was impressed. When the system passed, it was time for

have all jumped on the girogo bandwagon.

fine-tuning. “One of the clever features of the girogo
concept is the two ways the chip can be topped up:

For Luig these are all good signs. With girogo now being

either directly at the supermarket till, taking around

rolled out across Kaiser’s Tengelmann, the company’s

10 seconds. Or via a “subscription top-up”: whenever the

management spokesman says the next piece in the

credit on the chip is too low, the card is automatically

jigsaw will be for the savings banks to progressively

topped up by between EUR 20 – 50.” girogo has

synchronise the cards accompanied by a broad-based

been rolled out across all regions served by Kaiser’s

marketing effort. “Customers and potential points of

Tengelmann – North Rhine-Westphalia, Berlin and the

acceptance will need to know the precise benefits of

surrounding areas, and Munich and Upper Bavaria.

using girogo as well as how it can be topped up. I am

girogo is proving highly popular

fully confident the savings banks and BayernLB have
the expertise to pull this off.”

A key ingredient of girogo’s success has been the network
that BayernLB and the savings bank organisation can
provide. By 2015, after several rounds of phase-ins, some
45 million SparkassenCards will be linked up to girogo.

Kaiser’s Tengelmann GmbH_ } Part of the Tengelmann Group } Headquartered in
Mülheim on the Ruhr } Around 17,000 employees } Sales: EUR 2.13 billion } First Kaiser’s branch
opened in 1885 in Duisburg } First Tengelmann branch opened in 1893 in Düsseldorf } Tengelmann
Group acquired Kaiser’s Kaffee-Geschäft AG in 1971 } Joint market presence since 2000 } Companies
merged in 2001 to create Kaiser’s Tengelmann AG, now Kaiser’s Tengelmann GmbH
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busy
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bees
Business models change. Yesterday’s “core” is today’s “non-core”. Banks
all around the world have shifted non-core business into separate units
to be wound down. And BayernLB’s Restructuring Unit (RU) is doing it very
well. Dieter Kunz, department manager in BayernLB’s RU: “When reducing
the portfolios, not only have we managed to conserve capital, but we have
also been carrying out the process much faster than expected.” The main
benefit has been to free up capital for the Bank’s core business.

Dieter Kunz, head
of the Restructuring
Unit’s Asset, Project &
Corporate Finance
Department, Munich
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BayernLB’s Restructuring Unit has done some
remarkable work in a short amount of time

Pulling apart
to put together
69, 59, 50, 39, 31, 27, 22, 19, 27 and 22. Lottery numbers

to preserve value by taking a long-term view, utilising

maybe? No. They are in fact the product of an intricately

our market knowledge and applying some finesse.”

calculated process: the volume of the portfolios at sixmonth intervals which the Restructuring Unit (RU) has

But what portfolios and customers are we talking about

been winding down these last four years or so. In other

here? All of the Bank’s activities which are no longer part

words, since the unit was formed in 2009, it has down-

of the core business have been transferred to BayernLB’s

sized the volume from EUR 69 billion to EUR 22 billion.

Restructuring Unit. This might be because of changes

And this includes the transfer in 2013 of additional

to the business model, such as a decision to withdraw

portfolios worth EUR 13 billion.

from a whole asset class, or conditions laid down by the
EU, such as a redefinition of connectivity and a reduction

Take a peek behind the bare figures and you can see

in the total assets. According to Kunz, restructuring

just how respectable a performance this is. “Not only

units have become a new segment in the banking sector

have we wound down the portfolios much faster than

worldwide. An enormous market.

expected, we have also managed to conserve capital,”
says Dieter Kunz. For this department manager, who is

Little has changed for the customers

responsible for asset, project and corporate finance in

The portfolios are very mixed in terms of their make

RU Munich, the secret of this success is clear: “We have

up. “Almost every type of financing in the Bank can be

handled the winding down process very carefully, not

found in them,” says Kunz, who is resolutely opposed

looking for the first decent opportunity to sell, but trying

to the inaccurate terminology used in some quarters:

Gross exposure in EUR billion
70
60
50
40

69
59
50
39
31

30

27

27*

22

22

19

20
10

30 Jun 2009 31 Dec 2009 30 Jun 2010 31 Dec 2010 30 Jun 2011 31 Dec 2011 30 Jun 2012 31 Dec 2012 30 Jun 2013 31 Dec 2013
* This includes the transfer in 2013 of additional portfolios worth around EUR 13 billion.
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“We were not looking for the first decent opportunity
to sell, but trying to preserve value by taking a
long-term view, utilising our market knowledge and
applying some finesse.”
Dieter Kunz

“Our exposures don’t have much to do with toxic

Kunz: “We very clearly benefit from the fact that the

assets or a bad bank though. We are not just winding

staff in the Restructuring Unit come from the Bank’s

down troubled assets, but also some with very good

core business. They know financing inside out, need

credit ratings, because they are now defined as non-

no training and know the markets and how they move

core business.”

from the word go. And they are part of a community with
the best networks.” One can safely assume therefore

Purchasers include investors interested in the secondary

that it’s these very “human resources” who have been

market who want access through it to new markets or

responsible for the fast, value-preserving winddown of

new customers after a detailed assessment of risks.

portfolios these past four years and the release of capital

The secondary market is where already existing trans-

and liquidity for new ventures. After all, the name of

actions in the credit business, bonds etc. are traded.

the game is ultimately to strengthen the core bank by

Although the “underlying transactions” are bilateral, the

freeing up more capital for new business.

cash flows can usually be transferred to another creditor.
For the customer this is of little importance; he simply

Share of portfolio as at 31 December 2013 in percent
RU total EUR 22 billion

needs to seek out another bank. Kunz: “Asset-based
financing through special purpose vehicles is not particularly critical. In bilateral relationships we immediately

31%

17%

inform the customer if we are unable to carry out new
transactions or provide fresh funding. But BayernLB will
of course meet all its existing obligations and continue

5%

to provide high-quality service.”
6%

Case managers know financing inside out
Case managers recommend whether and when a portfolio or transaction should be sold off. They must wear
two hats: one as relationship manager, the other as
risk assessor. This conflict of interests from a regulatory
viewpoint would be inconceivable in the “rest of
BayernLB” but doesn’t actually exist in the Restructuring
Unit. Case managers look at earnings, costs and risks
and decide whether a sale makes financial sense. For
that they need market savvy and an ability to anticipate
in spades.
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15%
11%
15%
ABS, securities
Corp. banking, project finance, other lending business 		
(with no connection to Germany)
Lending business with the German public sector
(outside Bavaria)
Real estate
Single name credit investments
Residential mortgage lending
Financial Institutions/Public Sector (abroad)
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home
The University and Hanseatic City of Greifswald is located in Western
Pomerania in north-eastern Germany. The full name of the city indicates
the challenge faced by the town planners and housing companies: there
are an extraordinary large number of students looking for accommodation.
“Demand for student housing has remained high since at least 2004,” reports
Dr Gudrun Jäger, CEO of the Greifswald housing cooperative (WohnungsbauGenossenschaft Greifswald eG – WGG). The response: “The cooperative took
a close look back then at the needs and lifestyles of the students and developed
housing tailored specifically to this group.” Today, around 1,000 students
are members of WGG – and they play a special role within the cooperative.

Dr Gudrun Jäger,
CEO of the Greifswald
housing cooperative
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advantage
BayernLB subsidiary Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB) is WGG’s most important
partner for financing building projects. Andreas Wilmbusse, head of DKB’s
Neubrandenburg branch and relationship manager for WGG, feels the
business relationship is an ideal example in many ways: “DKB has been
a partner to the housing industry for more than 20 years. We offer our
business customers tailored investment products, account models and
customised financing solutions. But we also believe that the quality of
a business relationship is based on an integrated, long-term approach in
a partnership – like the one we have had with WGG for many years.”

Andreas Wilmbusse,
head of DKB’s
Neubrandenburg
branch
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The Greifswald housing cooperative
places great emphasis on its members’
personal responsibility, autonomy
and self help

A pleasant
place to live

WGG has continued growing ever since its establishment
on 9 July 1895, particularly in economic terms. “Despite
many changes throughout history, we have been able
to provide our members with the housing they need at
reasonable prices and so get our members to identify
with the company,” explains Dr Jäger. Specifically,
the nearly 8,200 members of WGG identify with values
such as personal responsibility, autonomy and self
help. There is a focus on the individual and on active
participation. Is that for everyone? “Definitely,” says
Dr Jäger. “our members are motivated by being involved
in the development of the housing stock through renovation, construction, renaturalisation, and the creation
of a pleasant place to live. The level of involvement

A fresh breeze is blowing in the city of Greifswald in

has actually grown over the past few years.”

Western Pomerania, but it is not just coming from
the Baltic coast. The image and ambience of the city
have changed markedly over the past 10 to 20 years.
Dr Gudrun Jäger is CEO of the Greifswald housing
cooperative Wohnungsbau-Genossenschaft Greifswald
eG (WGG) and lives with her family in the city, which
has a population of 55,000. She has witnessed this
change over the years: “The University and Hanseatic
City of Greifswald is a popular place to live due to its
reputation as a centre of education, research and
healthcare management. Going hand in hand with the
city’s growing status and economic strength is a high
level of building activity. The activity not only benefits
a lot of companies in the area but is also driving our
cooperative’s growth.”

Active on both sides of the population pyramid
It is primarily the long-standing members who make
active use of their opportunities for democratic participation. This means that the cooperative must target
younger people looking for accommodation, and young
families in particular, even more intensively than before.
This was also the finding of a representative member
survey. Due to extremely high demand for student accommodation, WGG has been focusing on this customer
group for around ten years. Dr Jäger: “Greifswald has
always been a university town. However, demand for
affordable student housing rose very sharply between
2000 and 2004. A situation which hasn’t changed since
then, and to which we have responded to by shifting
our services and building activities.” Today, around
1,000 students are members of WGG.
WGG is also doing things for the “other end“ of the
population pyramid; for example, in response to the
general greying of society, it is installing lifts in
residential buildings for its older members. WGG’s
portfolio of around 7,000 residences also includes
some assisted living facilities. “We have flats available
that fit the needs and lifestyle of anyone who’s looking
for a place, even though it might not always be at the
exact time they would like,” says Dr Jäger when describing the relatively comfortable situation for renters in
Greifswald despite the high demand.

Successful urban restructuring in Greifswald in the Ostseeviertel/Parkseite
district. DKB provided EUR 19m in financing for the project.
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WGG has DKB, its major financing partner for building
projects, to thank for this. DKB provided EUR 19 million for
the urban restructuring in the Ostseeviertel/Parkseite
district alone. It has financed WGG’s new office
building and supported plans for the construction of
70 flats at its former site. These are all already taken,
even though the ground-breaking ceremony has just
taken place. This is just one of many chapters in a
highly successful partnership: “Since the reunification
of Germany, we have been tied to DKB by the Altschuldenhilfegesetz (historical debt relief act). Over the years
and decades, a robust relationship based on partnership
has developed. Relationships are shaped by people.
DKB cultivates a corporate culture that is not common
in a tough competitive environment but that meets
requirements for the future and establishes a basis for
success,” explains Dr Jäger, describing the deep and
close nature of the partnership.
Andreas Wilmbusse also views the intensity and long
history of cooperation as the basis for this sustainable
and long-term relationship. The head of DKB’s
Neubrandenburg branch began his career in 1997 as
a relationship manager for housing companies. He
has managed the branch since 2007 and has therefore
known WGG for a long time. His professional judgement: “The cooperative not only manages, it also
administers and invests – and it does so with a strong
focus on this core competence and with a high level of
business acumen. This benefits the housing stock and
therefore also the tenants. For us at DKB, WGG is an
exemplary partner.” And what about the personal side
of things? “We meet regularly, even when there is no
specific financing requirement, and discuss the market
situation, local developments and general trends.”
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It came – and stayed
A telling figure: DKB has a business relationship with
89% of housing companies in the former East Germany
(56% in the former West Germany). Andreas Wilmbusse
believes these impressive figures are primarily attributable
to two factors: “We came – and we stayed. DKB’s
commitment to long-term relationships, its close
association with the region and its short decision
routes are perceived positively in the market. Nor do
we believe the quality of a business relationship is
exclusively determined by returns and profit, and this
also makes a positive impression.”
DKB intends to continue following this path in future.
It faces a major challenge, namely “retaining and
developing our staff. We see ourselves as having a
pioneering role in the region, across different industries.
We bring major players together, are the hub of many
networks, bundle sector know-how and aim to be the
first to identify shifts in the market. To do this, we will
continue to need committed, qualified employees in
future,” says Wilmbusse.
Dr Jäger’s main concern, meanwhile, is social polarisation.
The gap between rich and poor is expanding all the time.
“We closely monitor our members’ financial situations
and make capital investments in new buildings so that
everyone can say: I feel comfortable and secure where I
live. In these anxious times, we do not want our members
to have to worry about affordable housing.” Dr Jäger
relies partly on government funding, but mainly on the
power of solidarity. Her mission statement for the future:
“As a community founded on solidarity, our cooperative
will help to secure a good quality of life for all members,
but especially for those who rely on support.”

Wohnungs-Baugenossenschaft Greifswald EG
(Greifswald housing cooperative)_
} Established 9 July 1895 } Total assets 2013: around EUR 240 million
} Housing stock: 7,047 residences } Number of members: 8,156
(as at 31 December 2013)
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Creating
prospects

We are not just focused on the future of our customers. We give young people
the opportunity to have a successful career. And we support people who would
have no prospects without help.
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Young careers
“Talent that makes the difference”

62

Flood aid
“Solidarity in adversity. A timeline.”

66

20 years of Sternstunden
“Helping the weakest.”

70

Taking responsibility
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career
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leap
There is no doubt that BayernLB asks a lot of its junior staff: we want the
best. The best apprentices, the best trainees, the best university students
on integrated degree programmes. But the Bank also offers something
in return: the best possible training.

Andreas Blank, SVP,
Human Resources
Development
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Sivakar Senthilvasan, apprentice

Lisa Wimmer, student on an integrated

Katharina Kritzenberger, trainee

Born in 1991 in Rotenburg, Wümme (Lower

degree programme

Born in 1988 in Freyung, Lower Bavaria, Abitur

Saxony), Abitur (A-level equivalent), BayernLB

Born in 1993 in Peißenberg, Upper Bavaria, Abitur

(A-level equivalent), Masters degree in Business

banking apprenticeship from 1 September 2012

(A-level equivalent), student at the Duale Hochschule

Administration from the University of Passau, trainee

to 31 August 2014

Ravensburg (Ravensburg Cooperative State University)

at BayernLB from 1 April 2013 to 30 June 2014

from 1 October 2012 to 30 September 2015

Why did you choose BayernLB as an employer?
Sivakar Senthilvasan_In the 2012/2013

Lisa Wimmer_I was handed a flyer for

Katharina Kritzenberger_I found out

Studien- & Berufswahlbuch (reference

a trial internship at a careers fair. I

about BayernLB’s individual trainee

book for choosing courses of study/

applied, was accepted and realised

programme from brochures I read

career paths) and by browsing the

that I am well suited to a career in

while completing my degree at the

internet, I found out that BayernLB

banking. Then, when I was in the

University of Passau. I was excited

offers secondary school graduates

sixth form, I started considering an

by the flexibility of the programme:

a banking apprenticeship that only

integrated degree course. When I

rather than training for one specific

takes two years. I was also attracted

was subsequently offered a study

position from the start, you have

by BayernLB’s status as one of the

place at BayernLB, I trusted my

the opportunity to develop as an

largest banks in Germany and its

positive feelings and accepted. I

individual over the course of the

impressive training concept. These

have never regretted it.

programme in order to find the

factors ultimately triggered my

position that is perfect for you.

decision to apply.

What is your work at the Bank like?
Sivakar Senthilvasan_We are suppor-

Lisa Wimmer_Following an initial

Katharina Kritzenberger_Varied and

ted, for example with seminars, but

settling in period, I can now, in my

fascinating! I am working in five dif-

we are also always challenged. This

second year, express preferences

ferent departments over 15 months.

is the ideal mix. I can also rely on

for training modules and shape my

The staff take a lot of time to impart

the full support of my employer, and

career path. I find the Bank is flexible

specialist knowledge, and additional

this is another reason why I hope

in this regard. My colleagues are

seminars ensure a steep learning

to have a professional future here,

motivated and communicate the

curve. Overall, I would say it was

especially since the Bank offers

Bank’s value system to junior staff –

exactly the right decision for me to

options for studying while you work

specialist knowledge, proximity to

participate in this programme, which

and distance learning.

customers, etc. I really value that.

is closely tailored to my own strengths
and interests.

Why would you recommend BayernLB to young people as a place to work?
Sivakar Senthilvasan_I would recom-

Lisa Wimmer_Because you receive

Katharina Kritzenberger_BayernLB

mend joining BayernLB because the

in-depth training and support from

offers a very pleasant working en-

Bank places great importance on

expert coaches. Junior staff can

vironment, ensures that its staff

first-class training and provides

decide what to focus on based on

enjoy a good work-life balance and

intensive support to its junior staff.

their own personal preferences –

even has its own sports centre. And

That’s why BayernLB was named

you can’t get more flexible than

the possibilities for personal deve-

one of the “top employers”. There

that. This “dualism” of supportive

lopment are endless – there are

is also a good chance of being hired

instruction and individual structuring

opportunities for further training

after completing your training, be-

is a real advantage of BayernLB.

and study, talent programmes, job

cause BayernLB recruits according

rotations, etc. The outlook for

to its needs.

junior staff is very good.
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Apprentices, trainees and students on integrated degree programmes
have a lot of say in their career planning at BayernLB

Talent that makes
the difference
Let’s be honest: good junior staff don’t grow on trees.

why we invest a lot of time, energy, creativity and

But there are also not many training locations where

money in providing excellent support to our apprentices,

top talents feel they are in good hands and that their

trainees and students,” says Mr Blank. “We give the

employer is offering them attractive prospects for the

young people an excellent start to their career – and

start of their career.

the Bank direct access to specialists with first-class
training behind them.”

BayernLB can claim to be one of the best training providers in the country, and this confidence comes partly

It all comes down to the content

from being named “Top Arbeitgeber Deutschland”

Junior staff take one of three different paths to join

(top employer in Germany) in 2013 on the basis of a

BayernLB. The two/two-and-a-half-year banking ap-

study conducted by the CRF Institute. In particular,

prenticeship has a “traditional” commercial focus.

participants’ positive assessments of the training concept

The second option is to study at a Duale Hochschule

show that BayernLB is on the right track. Andreas

(Cooperative State University) in combination with

Blank, Senior Vice President Human Resources Deve-

practical training. The three-year course alternates

lopment, explains this concept: “We provide a mix of

classroom theory with practice and leads to a Bachelor

intensive practical insights into different departments,

of Arts or Bachelor of Science qualification that enables

personal support from experienced experts and sup-

students to take on positions of responsibility in banking.

plementary training courses and workshops. We

Finally, there is the 15-month trainee programme, for

always seek to enter into dialogue with junior staff so

which those with degrees in economics, law, mathematics

that we can identify and pave the way for the career

or IT are preferred.

path that is best suited to each individual.” This policy
of giving junior staff a say is based on the idea that

It is true that other companies offer the same or a

talented people can take care of themselves.

similar mix, but as so often in life, it all comes down
to the content. This is where BayernLB stands apart

It is certainly a lot of work for BayernLB, but junior staff

from the rest. Just ask our junior staff...

have a right to expect this and it pays off for both sides.
“Today’s junior staff are tomorrow’s high-flyers. That’s
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flood
In June 2013, a “100-year flood” left large areas of southern and central
Germany under water.
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aid
Once the waters had subsided, the devastating impact of the disaster was
clear: destroyed homes, devastated businesses, billions worth of damage.
After the water came a second flood, this time of offers of help. People
pulled together and pitched in wherever necessary. BayernLB also organised
assistance. Employees like Carmen Krause volunteered to help in the
affected areas, while BayernLB and the savings banks launched a step-up
bond under the name of “Gemeinsam helfen” (helping together). Both
the private and “official” forms of assistance were extremely constructive
in the truest sense of the word.

Carmen Krause,
Employee BayernLB

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

63

A tragedy is a tragedy.
But sometimes there are things that make it more bearable

Solidarity in adversity.
A timeline.
Thursday, 30 May 2013
The German Meteorological Service issues a weather
warning, forecasting continuous rain and severe storms
across the whole of Bavaria.

Friday, 31 May 2013
High water levels rise further in parts of Bavaria. Persistent
rain causes the first floods.

Sunday, 2 June 2013
In Passau, the Danube rises to a level of just under
11 metres. Upstream the city and county of Deggendorf
prepares for the Danube to reach a record level of
around eight metres. Ten Bavarian towns and districts
issue disaster alerts, including Rosenheim.

Monday, 3 June 2013
The rain continues unabated in the Alps. There is now
little doubt that a flood disaster of unprecedented proportions is imminent. The Bundeswehr (German Army)
deploys 19,000 soldiers and reservists. A disaster alert
is issued in Deggendorf; a barrier of ten thousand sandbags is built at the mouth of the Isar river in Fischerdorf.

In Passau, the Inn river reaches a level of 10.10 metres,
while the Danube reaches 12.89 metres – the worst
flooding in 500 years. All the town’s emergency accommodation is full.

Tuesday, 4 June 2013
Water levels subside slightly in some areas, including
in the Rosenheim district, where preparations for the
clean-up operation begin. The situation worsens in
Deggendorf, however, where entire districts of the city
are evacuated (before the floods arrive).

Wednesday, 5 June 2013
The levels of the Danube and Inn fall in Passau. People
pull together to overcome adversity. The “Passau räumt
auf” (Cleaning up Passau) campaign becomes the biggest
focus of the aid effort, and thousands of volunteers get
involved. The Bavarian cabinet approves an aid package
for victims of the flooding. A BayernLB employee receives
a private appeal for help from Rosenheim. She liaises
with the Bank’s corporate volunteering department to
discuss the provision of aid and places an appeal on the
intranet for volunteers to help in Rosenheim the next day.

BayernLB and the savings banks:
Presenting a cheque to the charity Sternstunden e.V.
left to right: Joachim Sommer, CEO of the Kreis- und
Stadtsparkasse Erding-Dorfen (district savings bank
for Erding-Dorfen), Roland Schmautz, Vice President
of the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks,
Dr Edgar Zoller, Deputy CEO of BayernLB,
Dr Ludger Hermeler, Deputy Managing Director of
the charity Sternstunden e.V., Andreas Frühschütz,
member of the Board of Directors of the
Kreissparkasse München Starnberg Ebersberg
(savings bank for Munich, Starnberg and Ebersberg)
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Thursday, 6 June 2013
In Rosenheim-Oberwöhr, the flooded St. Josef kindergarten, church library and private households are
urgently seeking volunteers to provide assistance.
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ployed. The Federal Agency for Technical Relief sends
6,000 helpers.

Monday, 10 June 2013

Employees, including Carmen Krause from Financial

BayernLB and the Bavarian savings banks support flood

Advisory & Transaction Banking, set out to meet them.

victims with a large package of measures. This includes
the provision of funding at preferential rates, special loan

Carmen Krause reports: “When the extent of the disastrous

programmes and financial donations. BayernLB also

flooding became clear, my team, other colleagues and I

issues a step-up bond under the name of “Gemeinsam

decided to help. The scale of the damage in Rosenheim

helfen” (helping together), which is sold through the

was really terrible.

savings banks. For every EUR 1,000 invested, EUR 10 is
donated to the charity Sternstunden e.V. The charity

In the morning I and a colleague helped in a detached

uses the money to finance the re-establishment of

house where the cellar was completely flooded. We

children’s aid projects that have been affected by the

worked together with the owners; the cellar furniture

flooding. The incredible result: EUR 131,860 is raised

had to be disassembled and carried outside. Most things

through the step-up bond.

had been washed out of the cupboards by the force of
the water and were floating about in the ankle-high
water. We had to lay them out in the garden to dry or
throw them away. This was not always easy for the
owners, because every object had a personal memory
attached to it.
In the afternoon came the next task. The owners weren’t

Tuesday, 11 June 2013
Passau lifts the disaster alert. The state of Bavaria
promises cities and districts financial aid to rebuild
damaged infrastructure.

Thursday, 13 June 2013

able to do any more themselves, as they were over 80 years

Joachim Gauck visits Deggendorf. The president of

old. There was no electricity in the house, and oil from

Germany is shocked at the extent of the disaster, but

the boiler had run into the flooded cellar. We had to

also moved: “You can see that although people are

carry the washing machine, tumble drier and cupboards

completely exhausted, they are not in despair. They are

up to the street, but it wasn’t possible to save anything.

touched.” He says that the German people can rely on

The couple hadn’t been able to call out the fire services

each other in an emergency. Bavarian Interior Minister

to pump out the cellar until then, so they used my

Joachim Herrmann also thanks those who have provided

mobile phone to do that.

assistance: “They have been highly professional and
selfless in helping to fight against the floods. And they

Finally, in the evening we moved the books from the

have shown once again that our disaster response

church library to a drier location.

system works very well.”

All in all, when we first started I sensed despair and a

Thursday, 22 August 2013

huge amount of fear among those affected, but by the
end of the day the level of gratitude was something I
have never experienced before. I am glad to have been
one of the many, many helpers and would definitely
do the same thing again.”

BayernLabo provides focused, targeted additional aid
for the rebuilding efforts after the flooding disaster:
the development bank offers private homeowners and
residential property landlords special loans at highly
favourable rates. Total volume: EUR 50 million.

Sunday, 9 June 2013
In the first week of June, the regional fire services send

What remains of the 2013 floods? Mainly the memory of

almost 43,500 fire fighters into the affected communities;

people suffering fear and misery, but also of that “second

including national forces, 75,000 fire fighters are de-

wave” of powerful solidarity that swept across Germany.
We can rely on each other, and that’s good to know.
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cheerful
A little boy, just a few months old, is bathing in hundreds of coloured balls.
Happy and smiling, he is enjoying the moment. The large picture shows the
same child, this time a lively four year old playing with his teddy bear. His
name is Fabian. Ever since he was born he has been unable to breathe on
his own. A mobile piece of equipment does that for him, hence the tubes
that can be seen in both pictures. The story behind them is nothing short
of a minor miracle. Fabian does not while away his existence in an intensive
care unit and has made excellent progress in his development. For that the
brave youngster has the AtemReich children’s home to thank.

Fabian (now 4) as an
infant in a ball pit
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children
The Munich-based children’s home AtemReich looks after children like Fabian
who, because of illness or disability, need assistance breathing in a family
home-type environment around the clock. The families of the affected
children could hardly afford the cost of medical, nursing, pedagogical and
therapeutic care. Managing director Felicitas Hanne is the “prime mover”
at AtemReich. Her mission: “We want to give the children we care for as
normal and fulfilling a life as possible.” Sternstunden e. V. supports the
AtemReich project. And that’s why BayernLB supports Sternstunden.

Felicitas Hanne,
AtemReich
Managing Director
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“Make every day the most important
day of their life”
At the AtermReich children’s home
children like Fabian receive a lot of
love and care in a safe environment.
Just like in a real family.

The AtemReich children’s home is one of the
projects BayernLB partner Sternstunden e. V.
supports, giving children in need hope and
a future

Breath of life
The morning rays stream through the window into the

therapists, physiotherapists, speech therapists, care

living room of the “sunshine yellow” nursery group.

workers and social care workers. The 5:1 ratio of staff

Toys are scattered around. The air is laden with the

to children is an indication of the huge amount of care

aroma of fruit tea. Caregivers sit on cushions in a circle

needed – and the reason why since 2006 “only” three

together, holding the children in their arms, rocking

of the 57 assisted children have been able to return to

them gently. One of the adults strums on the guitar.

their families. The cost of and responsibility for caring

The music enchants the little ones, bringing a smile to

for them is simply too great. So AtermReich gives even

their lips. A kindergarten like any other? Not quite.

the parents some breathing space.

Look again and you can see blinking breathing machines.

From vision to reality

Cold technology that is at odds with this peaceful scene.

On the subject of parents: “We can’t replace a family,

But technology that saves lives nonetheless. That is

but we can provide a sense of security similar to that

because the children all share the same fate. None can

of a family,” says Felicitas Hanne. It is important to help

breathe independently. Many were born with the dis-

the child lead as normal a daily life as possible. In the

ability. Others are ill. Some are unable to inhale after

afternoon they play outside in the playground or the

being involved in an accident or the victims of violence.

countryside. During the Christmas period they bake

Playing and just being children

special Yuletide biscuits with the caregivers, open the
windows of their advent calendars and chop down a

Welcome to the AtemReich children’s home, a pionee-

Christmas tree. Felicitas Hanne: “We give the children a

ring project set up in the Dritter Orden Clinic in the

place they can feel safe, protected and accepted 24 hours

Nymphenburg district of Munich in 2006. It provides a

a day.”

home for people who would otherwise have to spend
their childhood in an intensive care unit. Currently there

AtemReich has therefore made a vision reality. Initially

are 21 children, mostly with severe disabilities, who

the extent of the medical challenge was not clear and the

can play, learn and let themselves be just children. Each

costs could not be met. When doctors and carers said they

of the small residents has their own room, which is

were ready to “go for it”, Sternstunden e. V. also com-

decorated lovingly with photos, posters and cuddly toys.

mitted itself to the AtemReich concept. Felicitas Hanne:
“AtemReich would not exist if not for Sternstunden.

“We want to give the children a dose of light-heartedness

We would like to thank those wonderful people in the

despite the major restrictions on them and make every

charity, who have proven dependable and given their

day for them the most important day of their life,” says

heart and soul, making the project a real success story.”

Felicitas Hanne, AtemReich Managing Director who is

A success story that has given Fabian and all other

in charge of 97 nurses, curative teachers, occupational

children the courage to face life.
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Sternstunden e. V. celebrated its 20th anniversary in 2013.
BayernLB joined in the festivities.

Helping the weakest
If a life, if a society comes apart, it is mostly the weak
that are hit the hardest – the children. Tragic proof of
this came in the war in Yugoslavia in 1993. Suffering and
misery were suddenly at close quarters. The emergency
kindled a need to help, and the vision of Sternstunden
was born. The charity has been looking out for children
in need ever since.
Now in 2013, i.e. exactly 20 years later, Sternstunden has
every reason to look back and take pride in what it has
achieved. Providing help quickly, bypassing bureaucratic
hurdles, has proven to be a sterling idea. The 2,400 or
so projects it supports speak for themselves. But the
true success story (thus far) has been the improvement
in the lives of the countless children and young people
who have been given a helping hand.
Brilliant: Landesbank staff take part in a sports day for Sternstunden e. V.,

Rolling up sleeves to raise money

spurred on by their avid supporters. The sports and family party was one of
the highlights of BayernLB’s athletic calendar.

BayernLB has been sponsoring Sternstunden right from
the word go. The Bank supports the charity by providing

donations, their motto being “Laufend Gutes tun”, which

an administration cost subsidy, making office space and

loosely translates as a “run for the money”. Some staff

equipment available, printing and sending off donation

also helped out during the annual telethon on the

forms and processing payments. This sponsorship model

Bavarian state broadcaster’s Sternstunden day by taking

saves Sternstunden the costs of administration so that

telephone donations. Others designed Christmas stars and

100% of all donations can go where they are needed.

sold them at the Nuremberg Christmas market. Former
pieces in the Bank’s advertising and picture collection

What breathes life into the bond between BayernLB and

were given up in return for a donation to the charity.

Sternstunden though is the dedication of the Bank’s

And the traditional art auction to raise money for the

staff. And in anniversary year 2013 the Landesbankers

Bayerische Landesschule für Körperbehinderte (Bavarian

really did roll up their sleeves! In July, for example, they

state school for the disabled) and Sternstunden e.V.

held a sports and family party. More than EUR 20,000

notched up EUR 27,000.

was raised for Sternstunden. Up through 2013 the
“Sterntaler” donations box, which BayernLB originally

Anyone seeing the enthusiasm of people in raising

installed for donations of old Deutschmarks and foreign

money will be in no doubt that BayernLB and its em-

currency, has brought in a staggering EUR 2 million plus.

ployees will continue to give their time to Sternstunden
and therefore children in need.

Tried-and-tested events also took place in anniversary
year. The athletes of the BayernLB sports club “ran up”

20 years of Sternstunden in figures_ } Projects supported worldwide: 2,400
} Of which in Germany: 1,401 } Of which in Bavaria: 1,274 } Funding amount in EUR million: 171
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Taking
responsibility
carefully and systematically. This helps combat the short-

1. Human resources
Excellent human resources practice is a key factor in
BayernLB’s success, giving it an edge over the competition.
And this is why the Bank will continue ensuring further
training and career opportunities for its staff. Human
resources work is not static; it is constantly adapted to
keep pace with megatrends like demographic change or
evolving social values. Sector- and bank-specific factors,
including regulatory and EU requirements, also play a
role. As a result of these requirements, BayernLB has
adjusted its staff numbers to the reduced scope of its
business, keeping the Bank streamlined and effective.

fall in specialists and managers. In 2013, all apprentice
and trainee positions for school and university leavers
were filled with high-quality applicants selected from a
pool of more than 1,700; 97 percent of these positions
were filled in 2012. The trainees usually wish to remain
with the Bank once they have completed their programme: in 2013, 91 percent (2012: 94 percent) were
taken on as employees.

BayernLB sponsors the next generation
of students
In the interest of consistently and sustainably nurturing

Changes in headcount

academic talent, BayernLB sponsored a total of 15 students

As at 31 December 2013, a total of 8,568 staff were

at the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität in Munich and

employed by the Group. This represents a year-on-year

the University of Augsburg with the Germany Scholar-

decline of 1,364 in the number of people employed by

ship for the first time in 2013. Irrespective of their

the BayernLB Group, with the headcount at BayernLB

income, the students receive EUR 300 per month for

down by 53 to 3,418.

at least two semesters. Half of the sponsorship funding
comes from the Bank, with the other half provided by

Nurturing new talent

the German government. This commitment has paid

Investing in the next generation means investing in the

off for the Bank, which benefits from contact with

future. BayernLB seeks out new talent and nurtures it

gifted students and the ability to get to know potential
new talent personally over an extended period.

Changes in headcount within the BayernLB Group
2013
Headcount at
the BayernLB
Group as at
31 December
2013

2012

Change
absolute

Change
in %

Balancing career and family –
a priority for women
BayernLB is striving for a balanced number of men and
women in all its business areas and at all levels. This

8,568

9,932

-1,364

-13.7

Male

3,869

4,391

-522

-11.9

resilient to crises, which in turn makes companies

Female

4,699

5,541

-842

-15.2

more financially and organisationally effective. As at

of which

have shown that mixed teams are more successful and

of which

31 December 2013, the Bank (in Germany) employed

Full-time
employees

7,103

8,415

-1,312

-15.6

Part-time
employees

1,465

1,517

-52

-3.4
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1,488 women and 1,675 men. More than 21 percent
of employees worked on a part-time basis.

of which
Apprentices

is not only to reflect a social reality: various studies

The proportion of women in managerial positions at
105

120

-15

-12.5

the Bank (in Germany) increased slightly to 19 percent.
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Having more female managers will also help to even
out the gender distribution in the future. The Bank has
been taking part in a cross-mentoring programme
since 2001 to assist women in managerial positions.
Under the programme, mentors from other companies
coach new women managers during their first year.
So far, a total of 39 women have taken part in this
programme, with four participating in 2013.

66 20 years of Sternstunden
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2. Community work
BayernLB’s “Corporate Volunteering” programme
entered its third year in 2013. Many employees took
the opportunity to volunteer for a social cause for
up to two working days. Their commitment included
acting as mentors for the charitable organisation
JOBLINGE AG. The goal of JOBLINGE is to train unemployed young people for a trainee position or job.
BayernLB also supports the initiative by covering the
costs of three scholarships.

Share of female managers

BayernInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Munich

250

(BayernInvest) collected donations in kind as well as
cash donations for the disadvantaged children taken

200

under the wing of the “Lichtblick Hasenbergl” organi150

sation. Employees also have the opportunity to do
charitable work as part of the Corporate Volunteering

100

227

208

programme. In addition, BayernInvest collaborated on
a project with “Sozialdienst katholischer Frauen e. V.”

50
47

49

in 2013, with employees performing handyman tasks

0
31 Dec 2012

31 Dec 2013

Female
Male

at two shelters for homeless women. There are firm
plans to continue these volunteer days.
In 2013 BayernLabo rewarded the successes of its
employees in an e-learning training course with a

BayernLB employees by gender

donation of around EUR 6,000.00 to Sternstunden e.V.

2,000

DKB provided support to the flood victims in 2013 by
requesting donations for the “Aktion Deutschland Hilft”

1,500

1,000

appeal through its homepage and Facebook site. DKB
1,496

1,683

1,488

1,675

also set up a fund with the aim of providing direct,
on-site assistance, particularly for public and charitable
organisations.

500

DKB supports its employees’ commitment to volunteering
0
31 Dec 2012
Female
Male
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31 Dec 2013

and established a corporate volunteering programme of
its own in 2013. Employees are now able to dedicate up
to two working days per year to volunteering for projects

71

run by the DKB foundation for corporate responsibility
(DKB Stiftung) and DKB. The projects supported include
the “My Finance Coach” initiative, which helps teach
11 to 15 year-old students how to manage money. Having
first completed the workshop run by My Finance Coach
Stiftung GmbH, Munich, employees volunteered to visit
schools to explain the fundamentals of how money
works in different contexts.
DKB carries out its corporate citizenship activities through
the DKB foundation for corporate responsibility (DKB
Stiftung). In the summer of 2013, 13 new trainees
began their vocational training in catering, hotel
management, office management, and painting and
decorating. DKB Stiftungs’ integration unit, which
currently has around 160 employees, offers people in
the region with or without disabilities employment
prospects on the regular job market. The fifth threeweek summer camp sponsored by DKB Stiftung, futOUR,
gave 100 young people the opportunity to think about
their professional future with short internships, creative
projects and vocational workshops.
In 2013, LBLux funded the SOS Village d’Enfants
Monde, the Luxembourg-based foundation “Fondatioun
Kriibskrank Kanner”, which helps children with cancer,
and Archiconvent der Templer in Munich. The convent
provides relief to those in need by providing food,
clothing and other donations in kind. Another permanent
fixture of its social engagement is its annual donation
to Oeuvres Paroissiales of the Sacré-Coeur Parish in
Luxembourg City, which takes care of people and families
who are underprivileged or in need.
MKB’s corporate responsibility activities are focused
on assisting children and young people. For example it
awards scholarships each year to 100 disadvantaged
children and students with excellent grades at school.
These are funded until the university degree is completed. Currently 19 former participants and university
graduates of the programme, which has been running
for 17 years, belong to the MKB scholarship club. Every
year since 1997, MKB has also invited 1,200 disadvantaged children to an opera performance in the Children’s
Christmas gala at the Hungarian State Opera House in
Budapest.
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3. Education and science
BayernLB has benefited in three main ways from its
cooperation with the Entrepreneurship Center (EC) of
the Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich: it
expanded its Mittelstand sector knowledge, particularly
via LMU EC’s network of expertise; through more intense
networking with its corporate customers, for example,
at special events held jointly with LMU EC; and as a
potential employer through contacts with young talent.
BayernLB and BayernInvest have a joint commitment
to the elite Finance & Information Management (FIM)
course of study and therefore to giving the financial
managers of tomorrow the vocational training and
support they need. The courses are offered by the
University of Augsburg and the Technical University
of Munich. BayernLB extended its commitment in 2013
and is now a Gold Partner to the FIM programme and
will mentor two to three students in the future, one
of whom will also receive a scholarship.
LBLux has supported vocational training for school
leavers for many years and participates in the training
programme of the Institut de Formation Bancaire
Luxembourg (IFBL). Young people with pre-university
qualifications are offered a two-year banking apprenticeship combining work experience with training courses
at the IFBL.

Support for the “Munich Financial Center
Initiative” (fpmi)
The primary goal of the Munich Financial Center Initiative
(fpmi) is to strengthen and improve the image of
Bavaria, especially Munich, as a financial centre and
to improve the area’s standing outside the region.
The “Munich Financial Center Initiative” furthers the
interests of all players within Bavaria’s financial sector.
Alongside BayernLB, participants are companies from
the banking and insurance sectors, private equity,
venture capital and leasing companies, the Bavarian
State Ministry of Economic Affairs, Media, Energy and
Technology, the Bundesbank, Munich’s stock exchange,
professional bodies, business and trade associations
and research institutions linked to universities. As a
member, BayernLB supports collaborative projects
between Bavarian universities and financial service pro-
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viders with a practical focus, a careers centre for newly

site in Munich. Since the mid-1990s, all of the key

qualified talent and the exchange of knowledge and

impacts of the business on the environment have been

experience at specially organised events, in particular.

assessed. Building on this, it has implemented suitable
improvements through a structured management system,

4. Art and culture

which has been accredited under the Eco-Management

Four Bavarian savings banks hosted BayernLB’s “Gold from

and Audit Scheme (EMAS) Ordinance since 1999 and

the Bavarian Rivers” touring exhibition in 2013. The

certified under environmental management standard

centrepiece is a collection of valuable historical gold coins.

ISO 14001 since 2011. From 2011, the management

The metal, which was turned into ducats in the royal

system, which covered the Munich headquarters only,

mints, was collected from Bavarian rivers by gold panners.

was extended to include Dornach and Nuremberg.

BayernLB once again sponsored the open-air classical

At the heart of the management system is a Group-

music concert in Munich’s Odeonsplatz in 2013. The

wide sustainability policy. This policy is supplemented,

well-established summer event attracts around 16,000

specified and adapted to the specific needs of the Group’s

guests each year.

individual entities by internal environmental guidelines
along the entire value chain. The reduction of direct

In 2013, LBLux again sponsored the Luxembourg MUDAM

and indirect emissions of greenhouse gases and the

(Musée d’Art Moderne Grand-Duc Jean). A variety of

minimisation of the carbon footprint is a particular

contemporary craftwork is displayed by the museum

focal point. In light of this, BayernLB conducts annual

in theme-based exhibitions: paintings, drawings,

emissions analyses and identifies the greenhouse gas

photographs, multi-media, fashion, design, graphic

emissions related to its business operations.

arts, sound and architecture.
The findings of the analyses are used to create a comMKB’s fine art collection comprises almost 400 historically

prehensive climate protection strategy, which has been

significant paintings, statues and drawings from the

successfully implemented since 2007: the Bank has been

19th, 20th and 21st centuries. Pieces from this range of

climate neutral at the Munich site since 2008 and at the

Hungarian works are regularly loaned out for exhibitions.

Nuremburg and Dornach locations since 2010. It has

MKB also sponsored the special exhibition “Caravaggio

achieved this mainly by improving energy and resource

to Canaletto – two centuries of Italian masterpieces”

efficiency and covering the energy needs of its buildings

as part of its ongoing cooperation with the Museum of

through certified hydroelectric power and thereby

Fine Art, Budapest. Branches across the country also

preventing the emission of greenhouse gases. Unavoi-

organised exhibitions with local museums and artists.

dable greenhouse gas emissions are offset by purchasing
and cancelling emission certificates from externally

5. Environmental protection at BayernLB
Environmental protection within BayernLB is an important
aspect of sustainability management. The reasons for
these intensive efforts at protecting the environment
are obvious. Through its commitment the BayernLB
Group is fulfilling its responsibility to conduct an ecologically compatible business strategy. The Group can
also demonstrate that it is a credible and principled
partner when it comes to providing financing solutions
for climate protection.
The origins of its green policy can be traced back to its
forward-thinking building management of the main
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verified climate protection projects. The climate protection strategy comprises the three elements of avoiding
using up resources, substituting CO2 intensive energy
sources and offsetting unavoidable CO2 emissions.
The commitment to environmental protection within
the organisation is naturally shared by DKB. Since
2011, DKB’s sites have operated based on various
ecomanagement systems. DKB obtains 100 percent of
its electricity from certified hydropower sources and
has reduced its CO2 emissions by around 40 percent
since the base year 2011. It has also begun generating
solar power, with the first four photovoltaic systems
installed on DKB buildings in 2013.
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In Hungary, MKB is setting a good example for other

In addition, as part of the management of its proprietary

banks with a number of schemes to protect the

commodities retail funds, BayernInvest does not invest

environment, particularly in eco-friendly building

in agricultural commodities or related derivatives. This

operations. These include the environmentally-friendly

exclusion applies in the same way to third-party retail

management of the office and business premises and

funds that are administered or managed by BayernInvest

the use of LED technology also for external lighting.

Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg.

This has reduced electricity consumption significantly.
But ecological and social aspects must play a role in
The BayernLB Group has thus also taken its corporate

financing in particular, not just in investment products.

responsibilities seriously for many decades and has

The BayernLB Group has, for example, undertaken not to

continually reduced the impact of its internal operations

finance any businesses with links to human trafficking

on the environment. This is because an ecologically

or child labour or which breach the World Bank’s

compatible business strategy is essential for a society

environmental and social standards. For example, the

to grow sustainably.

World Bank’s standards prescribe how environmental
and social management systems are to be structured to

6. Sustainable financial solutions

prevent or minimise negative outcomes. Compliance with

The measures in place for protecting the environment

these standards shall ensure that all projects adhere to

and the wide variety of social and corporate activities are

environmental, social and economic principles and are

complemented by a sustainable business and product

therefore conducive to sustainable development.

policy that has produced a large range of sustainable
financial solutions. They cover the following aspects:

BayernLB helps its customers meet the challenges ahead

• They generate funds for companies and projects that

and leverage the business potential from the energy

operate sustainably or are conducive to a sustainable

transition, and therefore make an important contribution

society, e. g. by making appropriate cash investments.

to successfully implementing the energy transition

• They comply with ecological, social and ethical

concept. It therefore takes a cross-sector approach which

standards for financial transactions to minimise the

includes the following segments:

negative impacts on society.

• Environmentally-friendly energy generation

• They finance companies and projects which contribute

(renewable energy, cogeneration systems)

to combating global challenges such as resource efficiency

• Infrastructure measures

and climate protection.

(electricity and heating networks)
• Efficiency measures in various sectors

Sustainable investments, also commonly referred to

(real estate, production, infrastructure)

as socially responsible investments (SRIs), are types of
investments that take into account ecological, social

In other words, while we are increasing the environ-

and economic criteria. The BayernLB Group offers its

mentally-friendly energy supply and striving to improve

customers products that meet these requirements

energy efficiency, fossil fuels like oil, gas and coal will

through its asset management subsidiary BayernInvest.

still have to make a major contribution to energy

Through the “DKB ecofunds” customers can invest

provision and to ensuring supply, especially in a global

predominantly in the shares of companies in the climate

context. BayernLB will therefore continue to support

and environmental technology industry which only

the conventional energy industry as a reliable partner.

engage in sustainable business practices. The companies
in “DKB future funds” are also required to meet strict

The BayernLB Group also offers energy transition

sustainability criteria. They are excluded if they breach

support to households, with DKB helping its customers

human rights or are active in the defence industry.

implement modernisation measures that involve

BayernInvest also declines to invest in companies that

renewable energy. This includes the “DKB Energy”

manufacture prohibited weapons.

loan, which retail customers can use to fund the
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installation in their own home of systems that use
renewable energy sources to generate heat and power,
such as photovoltaic or solar-thermal systems. In so
doing, DKB is able to draw on more than 15 years of
experience providing loans to various customer groups
in the area of renewable energy.
The BayernLB Group is also conscious that implementing
projects in the energy segment could pose considerable
risks at an environmental, social and corporate level.
It does not try to face the associated challenges by
categorically ceasing business activities in these areas;
it is much more focused on minimising potential
negative impacts on the environment and society by
complying with specific, internal guidelines and excluding certain individual transactions as a result of
unacceptable environmental and social risks. BayernLB
therefore finances neither projects aimed at producing
oil from oil sands nor projects for mining coal using the
mountain top removal (MTP) method. In addition, no
conventional energy projects are financed in areas which
are classified as a UNESCO World Cultural Heritage Site
or protected by the International Union for Conservation
of Nature (IUCN) or the Ramsar Convention. The Bank is
also not financing any new projects to build new nuclear
power plants or projects to mine or store nuclear fuels.

For more information, please visit BayernLB’s
corporate social responsibility page at:
www.bayernlb.de/csr
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Overview of the BayernLB Group
Business model and strategy
No fundamental changes were made to the business model or strategy in 2013, the first full year
after the European Commission’s state aid proceedings were concluded in 2012. The customerfocused business model, which was agreed with the European Commission in the previous years
after painstaking negotiations, still therefore forms the basis for the current and future strategic
direction.
After nearly four years of EU state aid proceedings, BayernLB needed to drive forward its vision
of transforming itself into a lean, solid customer bank with a long and successful future ahead of
it. BayernLB continues to be a strong corporate and commercial real estate lender focused on the
Bavarian and German markets as well as a reliable partner to the savings banks. Complementing
this is Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin (DKB), which is an integral part of the Bank’s business
model in terms of the customer groups it serves, as a specialist for the long-term target sectors
in the infrastructure and corporate customer segments, and as an online bank.
The (re)focusing of BayernLB’s business model, initiated in 2009, is completed insofar as only
customer groups and segments are being targeted that correspond to the EU restructuring plan.
As regards strengthening the operating business in these core business segments, last year can
be regarded as satisfactory for BayernLB Group.
In 2013 BayernLB’s core business was mainly focused on Bavarian and German corporate and
real estate customers, international customers and transactions with the required connection to
Germany, savings banks (as customers and strategic sales partners) and the public sector. Business activities were affected by the general state of the market, the low level of interest rates,
corporate unwillingness to make capital investments and regulatory factors.
Major disposals from the investment portfolio brought BayernLB a good step closer towards its
target Group structure. Besides selling several smaller non-core holdings, the main disposals were
the stakes in GBW AG, Munich (GBW) and Deutsche Lufthansa AG, Cologne, the remaining interests in Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (SaarLB), the private banking business belonging to Banque
LBLux S.A., Luxembourg (LBLux) and asset management specialist KGAL Gmbh & Co. KG, Grünwald (KGAL).
Some economically important disposals of equity interests were completed significantly ahead of
the EU deadline.
Besides DKB, a Group strategic subsidiary, the prime purpose of the remaining target equity interests is to support the business model and processes.
In its eastern Europe arm, the BayernLB Group divested itself of its subsidiaries MKB–Unionbank
AD, Sofia (MKB-Unionbank) and NEXTEBANK S.A., Bucharest (NEXTEBANK), which up to then had
been held through MKB-Bank Zrt. Budapest (MKB). This was a key milestone both in MKB’s
restructuring and on the path to reducing the (south) eastern European exposure. Pending
approval by supervisory authorities, the NEXTEBANK transaction is expected to close in the first
half of 2014. At the end of the year a decision was taken to postpone until further notice the spinoff of the Special Credit Unit (a division in MKB which mainly handles troubled assets) from the
MKB core bank, which was planned for 2013. The process is still on hold. BayernLB is nevertheless
working hard to complete the sale of MKB within the deadline set by the EU.
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In 2013, besides disposing of equity interests, BayernLB also pushed on with the systematic winding
down of the non-core business. This has significantly reduced the size of the Bank, whose total
assets have now fallen from a pre-crisis EUR 422 billion to EUR 256 billion, which is relatively
close to the figure laid down in the EU conditions for the end of 2015 of about EUR 240 billion.
The Restructuring Unit (RU), the internal unit at BayernLB which manages non-core business,
must take a large share of the credit for this yet again. After resegmentation was implemented
on 1 January 2013 to more clearly segregate core from non-core business, the RU, which started
the year with an additional EUR 13 billion of assets, reduced the newly inflated volume of its
managed non-core assets back down to about EUR 22 billion by year-end from the EUR 32 billion
it began with.
But full implementation of the EU’s restructuring plan does not end with just the (re)focus in
terms of size, customers and business activities. As volumes of assets and risk positions have
shrunk considerably, resulting in a corresponding decrease in the Bank’s sources of earnings,
BayernLB is now seeking to bring costs down proportionately. By 2017, for example, it aims to
cut administrative expenses by about EUR 130 million from the 2012 level. After defining the
new business strategy, specific measures aimed at bringing BayernLB’s business processes,
product range, human resources, IT systems and therefore its costs in line with the Bank’s smaller
size and focused business model were introduced from the end of 2012 onwards.
By the end of 2013, specific measures had been identified to achieve the targets as part of
BayernLB’s cost-cutting programme. From 2014 onwards, priority will be on finalising the concrete details, particularly with regard to implementation. BayernLB considers it essential to look
more closely at potential e
 fficiency improvements and cost restructuring so it can conclude its
long-term realignment and meet the European Commission’s repayment plan. This will not be
possible without reducing headcount. Between 450 and 500 jobs are likely to go by 2017.
BayernLB met in full its repayment obligations to the Free State of Bavaria under the EU ruling in
2013. By the end of 2013, payments to the Free State of Bavaria including those made in previous
years totalled significantly more than EUR 1 billion. Some EUR 931 million of this was to meet EU
repayment obligations, with the rest for the guarantee fee to hedge the ABS portfolio. All in all
around 19 percent of the required state aid repayments totalling about EUR 5 billion has already
been made. Including the replenishment of the silent partner contributions of the Free State of
Bavaria and Bavarian savings banks, BayernLB has transferred more than EUR 1.6 billion to the
owners since the EU ruling.
Overall BayernLB made additional significant progress in its fundamental realignment and the
implementation of and compliance with its EU conditions in 2013. Since the capital increase at
BayernLB Holding AG, Munich level in June 2013 by the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks,
the Bank looks well positioned going forward, with the savings banks, the second owners, as
heavyweights alongside the Free State of Bavaria. As a result of the capital increase, the Bavarian
savings banks indirectly hold around 25 percent of BayernLB, with the remaining 75 percent or so
held by the Free State of Bavaria.
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Internal Group management system
The BayernLB Group’s management system is based on managing the inter-related variables of
profitability, risk, liquidity and capital. One of the main goals of the internal management system
is to continuously optimise resources employed while simultaneously ensuring the Group’s
capital base is adequate. This should also enable BayernLB to comply with terms of the repayment plan agreed with the EU.
The profitability of the BayernLB Group is managed using two key financial ratios that act as
crucial indicators of performance. The main one is Return on Equity, or RoE. This is calculated by
dividing pre-tax profit by average capital employed during the year. Depending on the management level, capital employed is derived from either the balance sheet or the risk-weighted assets
of the individual underlying transactions in accordance with regulatory standards. Cost efficiency
is monitored using the cost/income ratio (CIR), the ratio of administrative expenses to gross
profit. In addition to measuring return on equity and cost efficiency, BayernLB also uses other
ratios. These include various measures of the profitability and expense of risk weighted assets,
and also economic value added (EVA). This indicator expresses the profit of a company after
deducting the cost of the capital employed denominated in euro. In order to ensure integrated
and consistent management, these central RoE and CIR figures are used at all levels of management. The management cycle is a continuous process of annual medium-term planning, detailed
budget vs. actual comparisons during the year and regular projections to the year-end.
Risk-bearing capacity is monitored using the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP). This is done at BayernLB, the BayernLB Group and at each of the subsidiaries. The aim of
ICAAP is to ensure that there is sufficient economic capital for the risks assumed or planned. For
risk management, BayernLB follows a liquidation-based approach in ICAAP that is designed to
protect senior creditors. The method for calculating risk-bearing capacity is assessed and refined
on a regular basis to ensure it takes adequate account of external factors and internal strategic
targets. The economic capital is of suitable quality to absorb any losses and is calculated, based
on the liquidation approach, by deducting from the sum of equity and subordinated capital those
items that are not available in the event of liquidation (e.g. intangible assets). For an in-depth,
forward-looking analysis of economic capital adequacy, the risk-bearing capacity calculation,
based on the business strategy, is supplemented by stress tests.
The strategic principles for dealing with liquidity risk within the BayernLB Group are set out in
the Group risk strategy. The overriding priority of liquidity risk management and monitoring is to
ensure that the BayernLB Group can meet its payment obligations and obtain funding at all times.
In addition to stringently ensuring solvency, the primary goal of BayernLB’s liquidity management
is to ensure adequate access to markets. In the BayernLB Group, daily limits are placed on liquidity risks at the operating unit level based on defined scenarios. Amongst other things, operating
liquidity management is based on capital flow accounts and limit utilisation ratios. Additional
information can be found in the Risk Report.
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Capital is managed using the core tier 1 ratio as defined by the European Banking Association,
taking account of the total capital ratio required by regulators. The capital required and the corresponding capital ratios are derived from the business and risk strategy and the latest mediumterm planning. Risk positions are allocated, limited and monitored to ensure compliance at all
times with the capital ratios planned and required by the regulator as a basic condition for all
business activities. As part of overall bank management, the Asset Liability Committee integrates
target capital amounts, risk-bearing capacity and funding.

Human resources
Changes to the workforce will be needed to manage BayernLB’s realignment to meet the EU conditions, the fluid situation regarding the market and competition, and regulatory requirements.
Employee numbers and staff costs will need to be brought into line with the lower volume of
business. At the same time the workforce must have the ongoing vocational training and support
it needs to meet the challenges ahead. Well qualified and motivated staff are key to BayernLB’s
future success.
As at 31 December 2013, a total of 8,568 staff were employed by the Group. By the end of the
year, headcount had fallen by 1,364 within the BayernLB Group, partly due to the disposals of the
equity interest in the MKB sub-group and GBW, and by 53 to 3,418 at BayernLB itself.

Corporate responsibility
One of BayernLB’s stated corporate goals is to achieve commercial success while meeting its
social responsibilities. The BayernLB Group therefore attaches great importance to its work in
the community, the fields of education and science and the world of art and culture – investing
ultimately therefore in its own success. Naturally, sustainability management and reporting play
no less important roles in BayernLB’s business activities.

Key changes to the scope of consolidation and the investment portfolio
By 17 January 2013 BayernLB had disposed of all its equity interests in Deutsche Lufthansa AG.
On 27 May 2013 BayernLB sold its 92 percent equity stake in housing company GBW.
In Q4 2013 several disposals from the MKB Group took place: MKB-Unionbank in Bulgaria was
sold in October and the sales agreement for NEXTEBANK in Romania was signed on 31 December
2013. On 9 December 2013 BayernLB sold its large equity interest in fund and asset management
specialists KGAL GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald.
The process to sell LBLux was initiated in early 2013. On 19 December 2013, part of its Private
Banking & Wealth Management business was sold.
Details on changes to the scope of consolidation as well as reclassifications under IFRS 5 due to
planned sales can be found in the Notes.
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Report on the economic position
Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment
The German economy recovered over the course of 2013 with full-year economic output rising
0.4 percent1 year-on-year, in line with expectations. But the relatively modest growth rate was
due to a statistical gap from the previous year and belies the robustness of the momentum.
On the demand side, Germany’s economy was driven mainly by private consumption in 2013.
Capital expenditure, the second pillar of domestic demand, once more disappointed – as
expected. Conditions for it had indeed been very favourable. Interest rates were kept very low by
a combination of Germany’s status as a “safe haven”, which makes it a magnet for domestic and
foreign capital, and the ECB’s expansive monetary policy. But the still relatively high levels of
slack in the economy, continuing fears over the stability of the currency union and the economic
health of major eurozone economies dampened enthusiasm for capital spending. Growth here
was also weak in the public sector.
As anticipated, the labour market continued to move in the right direction. Although unemployment rose during 2013, the pace of new job creation was intact. Averaged out over the year the
number in work rose by 233,0001 to 41.81 million. The reasons for the divergence in the indicators is increased labour market participation and a jump in immigration. Consumer prices rose at
a very moderate rate once again in 2013. The average annual rise in inflation was 1.5 percent1,
down from 2 percent1 in 2012.
Bank lending in Germany to companies and households fell by 3.1 percent in 2013, according to
Deutsche Bundesbank’s December 2013 monthly report. By contrast it had risen by 0.4 percent
the year before (loans to non-banks). This can be traced to weak demand for credit, consolidation
of balance sheets in the banking system ahead of the comprehensive assessment by the European
Central Bank (ECB) and the implementation of additional regulatory requirements.
Over the course of 2013 the symptoms of the European debt crisis eased markedly. In response to
the downside risks to inflation, the ECB loosened monetary policy once more by cutting its headline rate to 0.25 percent in November.
At the start of 2013 Hungary pulled through the recession which it had slipped back into in 2012
for the first time since the financial crisis and economic downturn began. In calendar year 2013
its gross domestic product grew by 1.1 percent year-on-year (Source: Hungarian Central Statistical
Office). This was driven mainly by higher demand for exports which also lifted capex slightly.
Nevertheless, the impetus could not alleviate the difficult economic situation facing many
companies or reduce high levels of household debt.

1 Source: Publication of the German Federal Statistical Office
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For the financial services industry, 2013 too was a year of uncertainty and upheaval. The main
challenges were fierce competition, historically low interest rates, and the morass of ever
more complex and numerous guidelines and regulations at national and international level.
Consequently, during the year, financial services providers had to devote more resources to
preparing for CRR/CRD IV which come into force in 2014.
In addition to the sustained low interest rate environment, BayernLB’s business activities were
primarily affected by notably sluggish capital spending by companies, and increasingly cut-throat
competition in the core segments. It faces competitors in all three pillars of the German banking
landscape: large German and international commercial banks, the Landesbanks and special institutions, which operate in certain segments, such as real estate financing.
In spite of falling demand for credit and the economic uncertainties in European markets, international banks increasingly homed in on large customers and the Mittelstand in Germany in
2013. The proliferation of competitors and plentiful supply of liquidity in the market had a direct
impact on BayernLB as prices were cut to gain an edge. Mittelstand firms with good to very good
credit ratings were assiduously courted.
The online banking market grew slightly once again in 2013. Competition among these direct
banks was stiff, fuelled by the arrival of foreign banks, especially in the overnight money segment.
Despite these conditions, DKB increased retail customer deposits once more.
In Hungary most of MKB’s competitors were other banks operating there. Given MKB’s regional
focus, its earnings were weighed on by the weak growth of the Hungarian economy, a rise in
insolvencies and the impact on the country of external economic policy which cannot be
planned for.

Course of business
BayernLB Group ended financial year 2013 with a profit before taxes of EUR 253 million (FY 2012:
EUR 642 million).
The core business had a good year overall, even though its profit before taxes of EUR 451 million
was depressed by expenses from the restructuring of BayernLB. In marked contrast, the figure of
EUR 830 million from the year before was boosted by extraordinary gains of nearly EUR 500 million
from the sale of LBS Bayerische Landesbausparkasse (LBS Bayern) and the repurchase of part of a
USD hybrid bond. Risk provisions in the credit business, both core and non-core, rose from 2012
by a total of EUR 194 million to EUR 653 million. However, the reason for the increase was not
larger additions to risk provisions but significantly lower writebacks than in the previous year.
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In 2013, already beset by the difficult climate, Hungarian subsidiary bank MKB had to digest additional losses from the sale of some holdings. Despite sales proceeds of EUR 351 million from the
disposal of GBW, non-core business assigned to the Non-Core Unit (NCU) closed the year with an
overall loss before taxes of EUR 198 million (FY 2012: loss before taxes of EUR 187 million).
On a positive note, BayernLB met all its repayment obligations under the EU ruling in 2013 either
on time or ahead of schedule. By year-end 2013 it had already repaid EUR 931 million of the
EUR 5 billion or so of state aid it has to pay back to the Free State of Bavaria by the end of 2019.
As at 31 December 2013, the value of consolidated total assets was EUR 256 billion, about
EUR 31 billion lower than the year before. The credit business, which hived off more foreign
activities, had a major impact again on the Group’s financial position.
The financial situation was solid throughout the reporting year, and sufficient liquidity was
available at all times. Overall the BayernLB Group’s economic situation was stable despite the
ongoing losses from MKB.
The BayernLB Group continues to enjoy a solid capital base, and there was a further marked
improvement in its core capital ratio, which stood at 15.8 percent as at 31 December 2013
(FY 2012: 12.9 percent). The core tier 1 ratio as defined by the European Banking Authority (EBA)
improved from 11.6 percent at the end of 2012 to 15.2 percent as at 31 December 2013.

Results of operations
The figures for the same period of 2012 include earnings from LBS Bayern, which was sold on
31 December 2012. In 2012 LBS Bayern’s pre-tax profit amounted to EUR 74 million. The previous
year’s figures were not adjusted.
With only marginally changed economic capital, the lower pre-tax profit at BayernLB Group
resulted in a correspondingly lower return on equity (RoE)2 in the financial year of 1.7 percent
(FY 2012: 5.2 percent). The cost income ratio (CIR)3 was 57.7 percent and thus virtually unchanged
on the previous year’s figure of 57.4 percent. The lower administrative expenses in 2013 were
offset by the higher overall income in 2012.
Further information on each item can be found in the notes.

2 Profit before taxes/average reported equity. Up to and including 2012, excludes the share of earnings and equity
from BayernLabo which is a non-competitive business.
3 CIR = administrative expenses/net interest income + net commission income + gains or losses on fair value measurement + gains or losses on hedge accounting + gains or losses on financial investments + gains or losses on interests
in companies valued at equity + other income and expenses
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Income statement
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Change in %

Net interest income
Risk provisions in the credit business

1,919
– 653

1,907
– 459

0.7
42.5

Net interest income after risk provisions
Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial investments
Income from interests in companies measured
at equity
Other income and expenses
Administrative expenses
Expenses for bank levies
Gains or losses on restructuring

1,266
289
271
– 27
74

1,449
260
299
3
3

– 12.6
11.0
– 9.3
–
> 100.0

40
89
– 1,533
– 51
– 164

– 38
421
– 1,639
– 53
– 62

–
– 78.9
– 6.5
– 3.8
> 100.0

253

642

– 60.6

– 129
124
–4

82
724
7

–
– 82.9
–

120

731

– 83.6

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Change in %

8,066

10,144

– 20.5

5,454
590

6,479
796

– 15.8
– 25.8

EUR million

Profits before taxes
Income taxes
Profit after taxes
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Consolidated profit
Rounding differences may occur in the tables

Net interest income

EUR million
Interest income
of which:
• credit and money market transactions
• financial investments
• hedge accounting derivatives and derivatives in
economic hedges
Interest expenses
of which:
• from liabilities to banks and customers
• for securitised liabilities
• for subordinated capital
• from hedge accounting derivatives and
derivatives in economic hedges
• other interest expenses
Net interest income
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2,021

2,868

– 29.5

– 6,147

– 8,237

– 25.4

– 2,754
– 851
– 232

– 3,672
– 1,419
– 286

– 25.0
– 40.0
– 18.8

– 2,201
– 119

– 2,643
– 273

– 16.7
– 56.2

1,919

1,907

0.7
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Despite the negative impact of historically low interest rates, net interest income was in line with
the previous year at EUR 1,919 million. The main factor reducing the net figure was the loss of
interest income from LBS Bayern. Due to a change in hedge accounting in 2012, however, DKB
posted higher net interest income and a corresponding fall in the gains or losses on fair value
measurement item. As before, a significant proportion of net interest income came from the
credit business.

Risk provisions in the credit business
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Change in %

Additions

– 906

– 1,020

– 11.3

Direct writedowns

– 136

– 133

2.6

EUR million

325

563

– 42.2

Recoveries on written down receivables

Releases

32

109

– 70.4

Other gains or losses on risk provisions

31

22

40.8

– 653

– 459

42.5

Risk provisions in the credit business

Net allocations to risk provisions in the credit business amounted to EUR 653 million, around
EUR 195 million higher than the previous year (FY 2012: EUR 459 million).
Although additions to provisions and direct writeoffs decreased by 9.6 percent to EUR 1,042 million,
writebacks and recoveries on receivables written off were less than in FY 2012 resulting in an
overall rise in risk provisions. These came in at EUR 357 million, a 46.9 percent fall from the EUR
672 million seen in 2012.
More than half of the risk provisions in the BayernLB Group, or EUR 333 million related to MKB.

Net commission income

EUR million
Securities business

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Change in %

68

66

3.2

149

178

– 16.3

Payments

19

–1

–

Cards business

48

49

– 1.5

0

– 35

–

Lending business

Home loan savings business
Other net commission income
Net commission income

5

3

61.0

289

260

11.0

Although net commission income came in at EUR 289 million, EUR 29 million higher than the
previous year, commission has been falling for operational reasons. The main amount missing
compared to last year was the EUR 31 million of net provision expenses at LBS Bayern.
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Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on fair value measurement stood at EUR 271 million (FY 2012: EUR 299 million).
Although the amounts are similar, the individual components of this line item were not so
strongly affected as they were in previous years from the volatility associated with mark to market
of cross-currency swaps and own credit spreads. The markdown from cross-currency swaps was
EUR 24 million, significantly lower than the year before (FY 2012: EUR 180 million). Likewise the
mark-to-market valuation of own credit spreads resulted in a charge of EUR 53 million, again
considerably lower (FY 2012: EUR 112 million).
Reversals of impairments on credit portfolios affected by the financial market crisis produced a
gain of EUR 106 million (FY 2012: EUR 176 million). These gains were offset by a charge under
the gains or losses on investments item of EUR 279 million (FY 2012: EUR 249 million) due to the
change in fair value of the “Umbrella” guarantee agreement concluded with the Free State of
Bavaria. The aim of the “Umbrella” is to offset losses and fluctuations in the ABS portfolio, where,
for measurement reasons, interdependencies with the gains or losses on financial investments
item arise.
Customer margins contributed EUR 165 million (FY 2012: EUR 171 million) and fair value adjustments EUR 57 million (FY 2012: EUR 57 million) to this item.

Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on hedge accounting stood at EUR -27 million (FY 2012: EUR 3 million). The
charge is due to a switch in hedge accounting at DKB and the absence of the previous year’s
non-recurring effects (switchover of swap valuations to the OIS curve).

Gains or losses on financial investments
Gains or losses on financial investments stood at EUR 74 million (FY 2012: EUR 3 million). The
figure included charges of EUR 279 million from the measurement of the Umbrella guarantee
agreement with the Free State of Bavaria mentioned above and EUR 54 million from the disposal
of MKB-Unionbank and Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A. of Romania. This was offset by other factors
including a deconsolidation gain of EUR 351 million on the sale of GBW.

Other income and expenses
The other income item of EUR 89 million (FY 2012: EUR 421 million) comprises principally nonbanking income and expenses, including the Group’s real estate activities. The high income
for financial year 2012 was due to a gain of EUR 319 million on the repurchase of part of a
USD 850 million hybrid bond issued in 2007 before maturity.
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Administrative expenses
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Change in %

Staff costs

– 760

– 867

– 12.4

Other administrative expenses

– 652

– 690

– 5.5

EUR million

Amortisation and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
(not including goodwill)
Administrative expenses

– 121

– 82

48.0

– 1,533

– 1,639

– 6.5

Administrative expenses fell by 6.5 percent to EUR 1,533 million. The reduction was due in part to
the fact that the expenses for financial year 2012 totalling EUR 229 million no longer arose in the
same form in 2013. These expenses related to LBS Bayern’s administrative expenses and the costs
of implementing the ruling by the German Federal Employment Court in connection with the
retirement provision modelled on the pension system for civil servants (pension eligibility).
However, the item took a charge from additional one-off writedowns of software produced in
house and personnel-related provisions primarily for the purpose of ending and avoiding additional claims in connection with pension eligibility.

Expenses for bank levies
Bank levies produced an expense in the reporting year of EUR 51 million (FY 2012: EUR 53 million).
Of this, EUR 46 million related to MKB (FY 2012: EUR 47 million), EUR 3 million to DKB (FY 2012:
EUR 4 million) and EUR 2 million to BayernLB (FY 2012: EUR 3 million).

Gains or losses on restructuring
Gains or losses on restructuring at the BayernLB Group came to EUR -164 million (FY 2012:
EUR -62 million). EUR 153 million of the restructuring expenses arose from the cost-cutting
programme which has been launched at BayernLB; an expense of EUR 11 million relates to DKB.

Income tax expense
BayernLB Group reported an income tax expense of EUR 129 million (FY 2012: income tax credit
of EUR 82 million). The credit in the year before resulted in part from the treatment of the replenishment of silent partnership contributions and profit participation certificates in financial year
2012 as an expense for tax purposes.
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Core and non-core business of the BayernLB Group
In accordance with the European Commission’s state aid ruling of 5 February 2013, the core business is focusing even more closely on business activities with a connection to Germany. As part
of the strategic realignment, BayernLB decided in 2009 to exit from non-core activities to free up
liquidity and capital while keeping losses to a minimum, and this policy has been systematically
implemented since then. Under the new business segment structure which took effect on 1 January 2013, all non-core activities have been pooled in the new Non-Core Unit (NCU) segment. The
NCU includes the existing Restructuring Unit, additional selected portfolios defined as non-core
transferred at the beginning of the year, the subsidiaries MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB) and
Banque LBLux S.A., Luxembourg (LBLux) and other non-core activities.
The forward-looking core business produced very encouraging results in financial year 2013. Risk
positions in the non-core business were further reduced by another 23 percent. The large losses
at MKB weighed heavily on the Non-Core Unit’s results.

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2013
Total income before consolidation
  Consolidation
Total income after consolidation
Risk

provisions1

Percentage
(in percent)

NonCore business
(incl.
consolidation)
(EUR million)

2,083
– 175
1,908

71.9 %

699
48
747

Core business
(incl.
consolidation)
(EUR million)

– 208

31.8 %

– 446

Administrative expenses1

– 1,109

72.3 %

– 424

Expenses for bank levies1

–5

10.7 %

– 46

Gains or losses on

restructuring1

Pre-tax profit after consolidation
Risk positions1

– 135

82.4 %

– 29

451

> 100 %

– 198

66,243

75.7 %

21,307

1 Positions excluding consolidation

Segments
The segment report is based on the monthly internal management report to the Board of
Management and reflects the BayernLB Group’s six segments. The operating segments as of
31 December 2013 are Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions, Real Estate & Savings
Banks/Association, Deutsche Kreditbank Sub-Group (DKB) and Markets. These segments incor
porate BayernLB’s business areas, the legally dependent institution Bayerische Landesboden
kreditanstalt (BayernLabo) and their associated subsidiaries. In addition, two other segments,
Central Areas & Others and the Non-Core Unit, are also reported. Starting from 2013, the
operating s egments and the Central Areas & Others segment only include core business
activities; all of these segments’ non-core activities are reported in the Non-Core Unit’s results.
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The contributions of the individual segments to profit before taxes of EUR 253 million (FY 2012:
EUR 642 million) are shown below:
1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions

220

310

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association

181

348

EUR million

DKB

170

257

Markets

– 60

– 398

Central Areas & Others

115

689

Non-Core Unit

– 246

– 211

Consolidation

– 127

– 353

Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions
• Business with customers solid
• Decrease in earnings from year before driven by implementation of the EU ruling, excessively
liquid markets, higher risk provisions and lower demand for credit
Profit before taxes in the Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions segment was EUR 220
million (FY 2012: EUR 310 million), down from the year-before’s higher figure. The main factors in
this performance were high amounts of liquidity among customers leading to less demand for
credit, low interest rates throughout the period, and limits on business without a connection to
Germany imposed by the EU ruling. Given this environment, business with medium and large
German companies, institutional customers, and financial institutions did well with gross earnings
from these customers matching the previous year. Net interest income from customer business
bucked the trend and rose slightly. Higher, but still relatively low overall risk provisions (FY 2012
was boosted by writebacks) and writedowns on shareholdings weighed on earnings. Administrative expenses were nearly 10 percent lower year-on-year, primarily due to the large one-off addition to pension provisions in FY 2012. The fall in net commission income is mainly a consequence
of competitive pressures in the market. Areas that reported a positive performance included
Export & Trade Finance, Leasing, Securitisations and Asset Finance. The segment further strengthened its position as a lender to large German and Mittelstand companies and international
companies with a connection to Germany.
Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association
• Positive trend in segment earnings
• Real Estate posts good performance and sharply improved profit before taxes
• Total earnings stable at Savings Banks & Association
• BayernLabo performance satisfactory despite lower net interest income
The segment reported profit before taxes of EUR 181 million (FY 2012: EUR 348 million), well
below the previous year, mainly due to the income from the sale of LBS Bayern at the end of
2012. Adjusted for the profits from LBS, total earnings were well up on the year. Administrative
expenses rose slightly year-on-year owing to writedowns on software. Risk provisions remain low.
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The Real Estate division generated profit before taxes of EUR 89 million (FY 2012: EUR 55 million),
making a significant contribution to segment earnings. Despite the withdrawal from real estate
business without a connection to Germany, total earnings were well up on the previous year due
to higher margins and better net commission income. Thanks to the good quality of the portfolio,
risk provisions decreased by nearly half from the year before as a result of writebacks. Administrative expenses were less than the year before, which was hurt by a non-recurring allocation to
pension provisions.
Profit before taxes in the Savings Banks & Association division rose by EUR 2 million on the year
(FY 2012: EUR 28 million). The increase was due mainly to lower administrative expenses, which
had been boosted in FY 2012 by a one-time addition to pension provisions. A close and constructive partnership with the savings banks and the public sector led once again to steady earnings,
especially from Financial Markets customers, the subsidised loan business and sales of foreign
notes, coins and precious metals.
BayernLabo’s profit before taxes rose to EUR 54 million (FY 2012: EUR 47 million). Low interest
rates and additional funding needed in connection with the transfer of capital weighed on net
interest income. However, in contrast to the year before, there was a gain on fair value measurement. Administrative expenses increased as a result of non-recurring costs from the roll out of
new software.
Consolidated subsidiary Real I.S. AG also contributed EUR 5 million (FY 2012: EUR 8 million) to
segment earnings.
DKB
• Low interest rates throughout the period weigh on earnings
• Administrative expenses and risk provisions essentially unchanged on the previous year
• Customer deposits rise steadily to EUR 44 billion
DKB’s earnings in FY 2013 were weighed on by low interest rates throughout the period. The
decrease in profit before taxes to EUR 170 million (FY 2012: EUR 257 million) was largely due to
the fact that FY 2012’s figures were boosted by extraordinary gains from the sale of DKB Immo
bilien AG and gains on fair value measurement. When comparing net interest income with the
previous year, it should be noted that a change was made in the disclosure of interest rate
hedges. Administrative expenses and risk provisions were essentially unchanged on the previous
year. Lending business rose by EUR 2.2 billion to EUR 57.4 billion, despite stiff competition for
customers with a good credit rating and higher and early repayments. Customer deposits, a key
part of funding, continued to rise steadily across all customer segments and were up 11.0 percent
to EUR 44.0 billion. DKB now has 2.8 million retail customers and has successfully established
itself as “Your Bank on the web”. In view of the current economic situation, DKB’s overall performance, with growth across the board in all customer segments, remains very good.
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Markets
• Much higher net interest income and gains on fair value measurement lead to a big improvement in earnings
• Customer business continues to do well
The Markets segment posted a much improved loss before taxes of EUR -60 million (FY 2012:
EUR -398 million). The income generated by Markets for the customer business areas as part of
the BayernLB business model are, as before, reported under the relevant segments. Primarily, the
improved result in Markets was the result of positive net interest income and an improvement in
the fair value measurement contribution, including a much better result from cross-currency
swaps and the release of previous valuation reserves for bid-ask spreads as part of the first-time
application of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. Despite the positive developments, market value
changes from improvements in the credit rating of own issues and buying back own issues above
par as part of market management hurt earnings. Administrative expenses were slightly lower
than the previous year, in spite of additional one-off writedowns of software produced in house
and personnel-related provisions. All in all, earnings from customer business were the same level
as last year, with Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association doing slightly better and Corporates,
Mittelstand & Financial Institutions doing slightly worse.
Central Areas & Others
The Central Areas & Others segment comprises the central areas and those business transactions
executed in the overall interests of the Bank or Group which are not allocated to the individual
operating segments. Profit before taxes in 2013 was EUR 115 million (FY 2012: EUR 689 million).
The gain of EUR 319 million from the repurchase of part of a USD hybrid bond made a significant
contribution in 2012.
Non-Core Unit
• Sale of GBW makes positive contribution to segment earnings
• Satisfactory reduction of the non-core portfolio in the Restructuring Unit – loss on measurement of the Umbrella
• MKB still heavily in the red, affected by the political and economic environment and one-time
charges as part of the rescaling of the MKB Group
• LBLux remains loss making due to charges as part of the sales process
All non-core activities were grouped together in the Non-Core Unit as of 1 January 2013. The loss
before taxes of EUR -246 million (FY 2012: EUR -211 million) reflects the large losses at MKB. The
income from the deconsolidation of GBW was not sufficient to make up for this loss and the
weaker performance at the Restructuring Unit and LBLux.
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Since the start of the year the Restructuring Unit also contains all domestic and foreign portfolios
to be wound down as a result of the EU ruling from the Real Estate, Corporates, and Structured
Finance divisions as well as business with municipal governments outside Bavaria. Thanks to
scheduled and early repayments, the volume of all portfolios including non-core securities port
folios was cut by EUR 10 billion to EUR 22 billion. This resulted in risk-weighted assets falling by
EUR 4 billion, releasing capital correspondingly. A pre-tax loss of EUR 35 million was posted. Performance was therefore sharply down year-on-year (FY 2012: profit before taxes of EUR 81 million).
Lower net interest and net commission income from reducing the portfolios and the loss on
measurement from the ABS portfolio hedge (the Umbrella) affected the results. Administrative
expenses were slightly higher year on year (which included higher allocations to pension provisions) due to the employees reassigned as part of the move of the EU Non-Core Portfolio. A fall in
risk provisioning and one-off income from the sale of shareholdings helped earnings.
The pre-tax loss at MKB was EUR 409 million (FY 2012: pre-tax loss of EUR 308 million) and was
once again significantly affected by the difficult economic and political environment in Hungary.
In addition to a EUR 46 million expense for Hungary’s bank levy, the introduction of a transaction
tax in 2013 weighed on earnings in the amount of EUR 44 million. There were further hits to
earnings from completed and uncompleted sales of subsidiaries. The sluggish improvement in
the consumer and investment climate in Hungary and a sharp drop in the base interest rate took
their toll on the performance of MKB’s operating income. Higher earnings from payments
services meant that net commission income was up year-on-year, however, making up for the
decline in fair value measurement income resulting from negative valuation effects. Adminis
trative expenses were significantly lower than in 2012 due to the systematic restructuring of
MKB. The ongoing difficulties in the Hungarian real estate market and government intervention
in pricing in the Hungarian energy sector resulted in risk provisioning remaining high at
EUR -333 million (FY 2012: EUR -300 million), which was a major contributor to the loss at MKB.
In order to cover the losses incurred at MKB in 2013, BayernLB carried out capital measures to
boost MKB’s equity.
The performance of LBLux was impacted by a difficult market environment, with income declining
slightly and provisions rising, while charges were also incurred as a result of the disposal of
LBLux agreed with the EU. A pre-tax loss of EUR 44 million was posted (FY 2012: pre-tax profit of
EUR 38 million).
Since the start of 2013, the non-core activities of DKB, additional non-core investments not
assigned to the divisions referred to above and business transactions in non-core business executed in the overall interests of the Bank or Group are shown in the sub-segment Other NCU.
Profit before taxes in 2013 was EUR 242 million (FY 2012: EUR 2 million), mainly because of the
gain on deconsolidation from GBW.
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Financial position
Further information can be found in the notes.

Assets
EUR million
Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Risk provisions
Portfolio hedge adjustment assets
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
Financial investments
Interests in companies measured at equity
Investment property

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

3,160

2,583

22.4

43,470

44,446

– 2.2

137,965

150,612

– 8.4

– 2,668

– 2,830

– 5.7

1,687

2,334

– 27.7

25,462

42,123

– 39.6

2,889

4,162

– 30.6

39,720

38,606

2.9

26

111

– 76.2

99

69

44.0

Property, plant and equipment

619

629

– 1.7

Intangible assets

154

186

– 17.0

Income tax assets

284

496

– 42.7

2,065

2,460

– 16.1

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified
as held for sale
Other assets

668

877

– 23.8

Total assets

255,601

286,864

– 10.9

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.

BayernLB Group’s total assets fell once more by 10.9 percent to EUR 255.6 billion. This was due
in part to the accelerated winding down of non-core activities and assets and liabilities held
for trading. Credit volume, defined as the sum of loans and advances to banks and customers
and contingent liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements, fell by 6.8 percent to
EUR 193.6 billion (FY 2012: EUR 207.8 billion).
Loans and advances to banks stood at EUR 43.5 billion, a fall year-on-year of 2.2 percent. Hypo
Alpe Adria Bank International AG (HAA) notified BayernLB in December 2012 that it would not
repay several loans totalling around EUR 1.8 billion which are due at the end of 2013, citing the
Austrian Equity Capital Substitution Act. The same month, BayernLB petitioned Munich District
Court for a declaratory judgement that the loans and bonds must be repaid as specified in the
terms of the contract. In its countersuit HAA demanded repayment of the interest and principal
paid to BayernLB. This claim for repayment is covered in the declaratory judgement petitioned by
BayernLB in December 2012. Munich District Court ruled that the payment claims being lodged
fall within its jurisdiction (except for the bonds, which fall within the legal jurisdiction of Frankfurt am Main) and commissioned an advisory opinion on the Austrian Equity Capital Substitution
Act. BayernLB, its advisors and experts continue to affirm the legal validity of BayernLB’s position
in the proceedings in Munich.
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Loans and advances to customers fell by 8.4 percent overall to EUR 138.0 billion. As in previous
years, exposure abroad was cut back further. Risk provisions in the credit business amounted to
EUR 2.7 billion, a 6.0 percent fall on the previous year (FY 2012: EUR 2.8 billion).
The fair value of assets held for trading fell by 39.6 percent to EUR 25.5 billion. This was due in
part to portfolio optimisation, where redundant swap transactions were closed out, and a slight
increase in interest rates.
The positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting under IAS 39)
amounted to EUR 2.9 billion (FY 2012: EUR 4.2 billion).
The slight increase in financial investments of 2.9 percent to EUR 39.7 billion is due to increased
holdings of bonds and fixed-income securities from public issuers.
The income tax assets of EUR 0.3 billion (FY 2012: EUR 0.5 billion) comprise current tax assets
of EUR 0.1 billion (FY 2012: EUR 0.1 billion) and deferred tax assets of EUR 0.2 billion
(FY 2012: EUR 0.4 billion).
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale fell 16.1 percent to
EUR 2.1 billion. This includes in particular the assets of LBLux and NEXTEBANK intended for
sale and the stake in SaarLB. The assets of GBW and stake in Lufthansa have been derecognised.

Liabilities
EUR million
Liabilities to banks

31 Dec 2013
71,191

31 Dec 2012
70,521

Change in %
1.0

Liabilities to customers

86,183

90,819

– 5.1

Securitised liabilities

52,964

60,319

– 12.2

Liabilities held for trading

16,797

34,747

– 51.7

Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

2,846

3,864

– 26.3

Provisions

3,503

3,178

10.2

294

364

– 19.2

1,438

1,259

14.3

Tax liabilities
Liabilities of disposal groups
Other liabilities
Subordinated capital
Equity
Total liabilities

522

545

– 4.2

4,984

6,346

– 21.5

14,879

14,903

– 0.2

255,601

286,864

– 10.9

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.

Liabilities to banks increased slightly by 1.0 percent to EUR 71.2 billion as at the reporting date
(FY 2012: EUR 70.5 billion).
Although liabilities to customers rose at DKB by EUR 3.7 billion to EUR 44.1 billion, the BayernLB
Group’s overall liabilities fell by 5.1 percent to EUR 86.2 billion.
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In line with the targeted downsizing of business, refinancing needs, which are met in part by
securitised liabilities, fell. Securitised liabilities fell by 12.2 percent to EUR 53.0 billion at the end
of the year, mainly as a result of them falling due.
As with assets held for trading, liabilities held for trading decreased sharply, falling to
EUR 16.8 billion (FY 2012: EUR 34.7 billion). As in previous years, the line item mainly comprised
interest rate transactions.
Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments allocated to hedge accounting under
IAS 39 fell by EUR 1.0 billion to EUR 2.8 billion.
Provisions amounted to EUR 3.5 billion at the end of 2013 (FY 2012: EUR 3.2 billion). Provisions
for pensions and similar obligations of EUR 2.7 billion remained the largest sub-item (FY 2012:
EUR 2.6 billion).
The income tax liabilities of EUR 0.3 billion (FY 2012: EUR 0.4 billion) comprised mainly current
income tax liabilities of EUR 0.3 billion (FY 2012: EUR 0.3 billion).
The liabilities of disposal groups of EUR 1.4 billion (FY 2012: EUR 1.3 billion) largely relate to
liabilities of LBLux and NEXTEBANK that are designated as held for sale. The liabilities of GBW,
amongst others, were derecognised during the year.
The EUR 1.4 billion fall in subordinated capital to EUR 5.0 billion resulted mainly from instruments maturing.

Equity
EUR million
Subscribed capital
Specific-purpose capital
Compound instruments (equity component)

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

6,846

6,556

0

612

Change in %
4.4

145

182

– 20.0

Capital surplus

3,893

4,036

– 3.6

Retained earnings

4,094

3,511

16.6

Revaluation surplus

– 37

– 34

8.3

Foreign currency translation reserve

– 92

– 61

50.0

–

–

30

102

– 71.2

14,879

14,903

– 0.2

Consolidated profit
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Equity

Several measures were implemented in the first half of 2013 in connection with the obligations
from the European Commission’s state aid ruling and to ensure that BayernLB’s capital meets the
forthcoming requirements under CRR/CRD IV for classification as core tier 1 equity. On 1 January
2013, for example, the contractual provisions relating to the former specific-purpose capital were
amended in line with CRR/CRD IV requirements. The restructured capital instrument has been
reported under subscribed capital as a capital contribution since the start of the year. In financial
year 2013 BayernLB’s statutory nominal capital rose by EUR 500 million to EUR 2.8 billion through
a withdrawal from the capital reserve.
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At the level of BayernLB Holding AG, the Bavarian savings banks subscribed to a capital increase
of around EUR 832 million through the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks (SVB). This took
effect on 25 June 2013 when it was recorded in the Commercial Register. The SVB’s direct equity
interest in BayernLB rose to around 25 percent as a result, with the Free State of Bavaria’s stake
falling correspondingly to around 75 percent. Besides cash, the capital increase was funded by a
contribution in kind of all the perpetual silent partner contributions of the Bavarian savings banks
in the amount of EUR 797 million. The capital raised was transferred directly by BayernLB Holding AG
into BayernLB’s capital surplus.

Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG) for the BayernLB Group
Risk positions were calculated in accordance with the German Solvency Ordinance (SolvV). The
core capital ratio includes risk assets, operating risk and market risk positions in the calculation.
31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Risk positions under the Solvency Ordinance

87.6

100.4

Own funds
• core capital

17.0
13.8

17.3
13.0

Own funds ratio (overall ratio)

19.4 %

17.3 %

Core capital ratio

15.8 %

12.9 %

EUR billion

Core capital under the Solvency Ordinance was EUR 13.8 billion (up EUR 0.8 billion from
31 December 2012). One factor behind this increase was the replenishment of silent partner
contributions to nominal value in the 2012 annual financial statements.
Partly as a result of the sharp drop in risk positions in the non-core business, capital ratios
improved further. The core capital ratio was a solid 15.8 percent (FY 2012: 12.9 percent), while
the own funds ratio was 19.4 percent (FY 2012: 17.3 percent).
The BayernLB Group’s stable capital base is also reflected in the EBA ratio. As at 31 December
2013, the core tier 1 ratio (CET 1 ratio) as defined by the European Banking Authority (EBA) was
15.2 percent (31 December 2012: 11.6 percent). In addition to the fall in risk positions, the rise
resulted from a capital increase by the Bavarian savings banks of around EUR 832 million, as the
silent partner contributions the savings banks used for the capital increase did not count towards
the calculation of the CET 1 ratio.

General overview of financial performance
The BayernLB Group’s financial position and financial performance was stable overall in financial
year 2013 despite the still challenging environment. The risk report contains additional information on the financial position.
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Events after the reporting period
The following events of major significance to the BayernLB Group occurred after the close of
financial year 2013:
As required by the European Commission, equity investments will continue to be sold in 2014.
BayernLB signed an agreement with the Saarland on 13 November 2013 to transfer the remaining
shares in SaarLB with effect from 2 January 2014. The deal is expected to close in the first quarter
of 2014.
The sale of NEXTEBANK is expected to close in the first half of 2014.
HAA failed to repay a CHF 300 million debt instrument due on 20 January 2014, as it did with
loans that fell due on 31 December 2013. More information on the subject of HAA can be found
in the note on “Loans and advances to banks” in the Report on the economic position and the
explanation in the Report on expected developments and opportunities.
No other events of major significance occurred after the close of financial year 2013.
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Risk report
Principles
This risk report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7.31 et seq. on the
reporting of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group was exposed at the end
of the reporting period. The main basis for the presentation of the risks is information supplied
as a basis for risk management and monitoring to the Board of Management and the Risk
Committee of the Supervisory Board (management approach). Credit risk is also presented on
the basis of the IFRS consolidated figures (balance sheet approach). In accordance with the
recommendation of the Financial Stability Board, portfolios with elevated risk profiles are also
presented in the report.
The risk report further contains information required in accordance with German accounting
standard DRS 20. The report also complies with the requirements in section 315 para. 2 no. 5
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB)) in conjunction with section 315a para. 1 HGB,
which require limited companies (Kapitalgesellschaften) within the meaning of section 264d HGB
to describe the key features of the internal monitoring and risk management system used in the
consolidated accounting process.
Key developments in 2013
• Risk profile remained stable
• Core business expanded in line with strategy
• Progress in winding down non-core business
• Risk-bearing capacity maintained at all times
• Risk capital requirements rose due to a change in methodology
• Liquidity levels were comfortable
The BayernLB Group’s risk profile was stable on the whole in financial year 2013.
The focusing of the business model as a corporate and real estate lender and partner to the
savings banks with a regional focus on Bavaria and Germany is increasingly reflected in the
portfolio structure.
This was driven mainly by the ongoing winding down of non-core business and the continued
growth of core business in line with strategy.
As a result, the gross lending volume fell by a total of EUR 16.3 billion to EUR 285.2 billion.
Portfolio quality rose thanks to new business in core business areas, upbeat business and
economic conditions in Germany and the decrease in volumes in less creditworthy portfolios.
This led to an increase in the share of investment grade assets to 77.1 percent, while the non-performing ratio fell to 3.1 percent compared with 3.4 percent as at 31 December 2012.
Germany, the core market, accounts for 74.4 percent. In contrast, the foreign portfolio experienced a sharp fall. Gross credit volume in eastern Europe fell significantly due in part to the sale
of Unionbank in line with strategy.
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In volume terms, the largest decreases occurred in the Corporates sub-portfolio (mainly transactions without a connection to Germany), followed by the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio
including ABS securities. In the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio, it was mainly non-core
business abroad that was wound down.
Besides meeting regulatory capital adequacy requirements, BayernLB also had an adequate
risk-bearing capacity (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)) throughout the
reporting period. The calculated risk requirement only utilised 27.5 percent of the available
economic capital as at 31 December 2013 (FY 2012: 28.5 percent). The increase in risk capital
required that occurred during the year was due to changes in the methodology for calculating
market risk. This had decreased by the end of the year partially as a result of the continued cutback in the portfolio and less volatile credit spreads.
The BayernLB Group had a comfortable supply of liquidity at all times. The steady liquidity surplus
resulted from both the continued winding down of portfolios designated as non-core and from a
forward-looking, conservative funding plan.

Internal control and risk management system
Tasks and objectives
The BayernLB Group has established an internal control system (ICS) to ensure that its accounts
are properly prepared and reliable. This includes principles, procedures and measures for ensuring
the accounts are produced in an efficient and cost-effective manner. Consequently, the internal
control system helps to limit risks in the accounting process and plays a key role in providing a
true and fair view of the BayernLB Group’s financial performance and financial position.
One key aim of the internal control system is to ensure that all transactions are fully and properly
entered, processed and documented in accordance with legal requirements and standards, the
Bank’s statutes and other internal directives. This also ensures that risks are disclosed in line with
supervisory requirements. The IT systems used by the central areas participating in the process
are suitable for this purpose and the staff have been given adequate training in the legal and
internal standards and in how to use the IT systems.
Management structure
BayernLB has established an appropriate management structure, which plays a significant role in
ensuring risks are monitored.
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Management structure
Supervisory Board

Audit Committee

BayernLabo
Committee

Risk Committee

Nominating
Committee

Compensation
Committee

Board of Management
Asset Liability
Committee

Capital Management
Committee
Senior Management

ALM/Capital/Funding/Liquidity

Liquidity Management
Committee

Core business

Investment Committees

Credit Committee

Non-core business

Restructuring Unit
Credit Committee

The Supervisory Board monitors and advises BayernLB’s Board of Management. It is assisted in its
work by the committees described below:
The Audit Committee monitors the accounting process, the effectiveness of the risk management
system, particularly the internal control system and Internal Audit unit, and the correction of
open findings from audits and the annual accounts.
The Risk Committee is involved in issues relating to the risk strategy approved by the Board
of Management and the risk situation on a Group-wide basis and at BayernLB itself. The Risk
Committee decides on loans requiring approval by the Supervisory Board under the German
Banking Act and BayernLB’s competence regulations.
The BayernLabo Committee handles matters pertaining to Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt
(BayernLabo) on behalf of the Supervisory Board and passes resolutions concerning BayernLabo’s
affairs which the Supervisory Board is responsible for. In particular, the committee monitors
BayernLabo’s management team.
The Nominating Committee assists the Supervisory Board to appoint new members to the Board
of Management and other positions.
The Compensation Committee monitors the appropriateness of the compensation schemes
for members of the Board of Management and employees who have a significant impact on
BayernLB’s total risk profile. It also assists the Supervisory Board to monitor the appropriateness
of the compensation scheme for BayernLB’s other employees.
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BayernLB’s Board of Management (“Group Board of Management”) is responsible for providing
the BayernLB Group with a proper business organisation, which, in addition to having suitable
internal monitoring processes, is capable in particular of ensuring major risks are appropriately
managed and monitored at Group level. To prevent conflicts of interest, Sales and Risk Office units
and Trading and Settlement units are functionally separated within the business organisation.
As a committee of the Board of Management, the primary tasks of the Asset Liability Committee
(ALCO) are managing and allocating the key resources of capital and liquidity, as well as
managing the balance sheet structure. The Asset Liability Committee is supported by the Capital
Management Committee (CMC), which mainly comprises the Chief Financial Officer and senior
management from the risk control, financial control, treasury and accounting units. The Recovery
Committee, which was created in December 2013, only comes into action if the Bank has to
undergo restructuring in accordance with the German Minimum Requirements for the Design
of Recovery Plans regulation.
At senior management level, the Liquidity Management Committee deals with asset liability
management issues, the Credit Committee approves loans in the core business after applications
have been reviewed by the Investment Committees, and the Restructuring Unit Credit Committee
is responsible for winding down the non-core business.
Organisation
To manage risks across the Group, the Group Board of Management has created several Group
boards whose members are drawn from the Bank’s Board of Management and the boards of
management of the Group subsidiaries DKB, MKB and LBLux. The main task of the Group boards
is to prepare recommendations on Group-wide standards for approval by the governing bodies
and regularly exchange information on implementing and refining these standards.
Risk Office
The Group CRO Board advises on the standards and guidelines which are approved by the Group
Board of Management for managing the key risks at Group level. The Group CRO Board also
serves as a forum for exchanging information on current market and risk trends, with the aim of
drawing up targeted and timely measures to reduce risks.
The Risk Office of BayernLB, the Group parent company, comprises the Group Risk Control and
Credit Analysis divisions.
The Group Risk Control division independently identifies, values, analyses, communicates, documents and monitors all risk types at aggregated level. For the purposes of operational management of risk types and risk-bearing capacity, Group Risk Control provides the Board of Management and other governing bodies with independent and risk-relevant reports.
In addition to periodic and ad-hoc reporting on the Group’s risk situation to internal decisionmakers, communication also includes external risk reports filed in accordance with legal and
supervisory requirements. This includes reports on the performance of the recovery indicators
and other early warning indicators contained in the Minimum Requirements for the Design of
Recovery Plans (MaSan) regulation in the future.
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Decisions regarding risk management are made in accordance with the Business Strategy and
Risk Strategy, which are harmonised with each other. Credit risk management is a joint respon
sibility of the Sales units and Risk Office units, with functional segregation being ensured at all
times. In this management process, the Credit Analysis division is responsible for analysing,
assessing and managing the risk-relevant exposures in the core business (the Risk Office role).
It takes the lead in setting the credit risk strategy for individual customers, sectors, countries and
special products such as leasing, project finance and acquisition finance, is responsible for ongoing credit and transaction analysis and votes on behalf of the Risk Office in the credit approval
process. The same applies to all Group companies.
Restructuring Unit
The Restructuring Unit manages non-core business activities with the aim of progressively winding
them down. The overall winddown strategy set by the Board of Management lays down the
objectives and general principles for planning the winddown and for the credit decisions in the
Restructuring Unit. The winddown strategies for individual exposures are decided by the relevant
competence holders.
The portfolios to be wound down include ABSs, portions of the loan portfolio with banks and
the public sector outside Germany, as well as structured financing and commercial real estate
financing in certain markets and regions.
The Restructuring Unit performs the roles of both the Sales units and the Risk Office for the
exposures and portfolios assigned to it for winding down. In addition, this unit also handles
exposures in restructuring or liquidation as well as collateral.
Financial Office
The primary task of the Group CFO Board is to introduce and implement standards and directives
for ensuring uniform accounts are prepared across the Group. The Group CFO Board also serves
as a forum for exchanging information on current legal and technical issues in the fields of
accounting, supervisory law, regulatory reporting by banks, taxation, business planning, controlling, capital planning and allocation, and funding and safeguarding liquidity, so that the measures
needed can be implemented quickly and effectively.
Operational implementation of Group-wide accounting standards is the responsibility of the
Financial Office central area, which is responsible for ensuring that the accounts are properly
prepared. It is also responsible for establishing the accounting process and making sure it is
effective. Its key tasks include preparing the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report, drawing up accounting policies, initiating accounting projects, and
monitoring national and international developments in accounting.
The Financial Office also implements the relevant accounting standards and legal requirements
on accounting, which are detailed in the directives for preparing the accounts. These directives,
which are an important c omponent of the accounting-related internal monitoring system, are
summarised and documented in the Group Accounting Manual, and in the instructions for Group
companies for preparing the financial statements.

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

103

The consolidated financial statements and Group management report are compiled in accordance
with the directives for preparing the annual accounts, produced by directive of the Board of
Management, checked by the auditors and submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval.
The Supervisory Board has set up an Audit Committee whose duties include discussing the audit
reports and preparing the resolution for the Supervisory Board’s approval of the consolidated
financial statements and Group management report. The Audit Committee also monitors the
IFRS accounting process and the efficacy of the internal monitoring, auditing and risk management system. The auditor is invited to take part in the discussions of the Audit Committee and
Supervisory Board on the consolidated financial statements and report on the key findings of its
audit.
In addition to the accounting and tax departments, the Financial Office central area is responsible
for the Group Controlling division and the Rating & Investor Relations department.
Operating Office
The Group COO Board prepares recommendations for approval by the Group Board of Management and the governing bodies of the subsidiaries that are responsible for the management and
use of information and communications technology in the BayernLB Group. The Group COO
Board is particularly involved in the following areas of responsibility in the Group: Organisation
(structural and procedural organisation), IT, and the procurement of goods and services.
The Operating Office central area is responsible for BayernLB’s operating processes and supporting
these in the Group IT, Operations & Services and Organisation Development divisions.
Group Compliance
The Group Compliance division monitors and ensures compliance with legal and supervisory
requirements and reports directly to the Chief Risk Officer. It also coordinates the compliance
activities of the subsidiaries.
Internal audit
The Audit division audits the Bank’s business operations and reports directly to the CEO. Taking
a risk-oriented auditing approach, its auditing activities embrace basically all activities and processes within BayernLB, even those that have been outsourced. It also examines the efficacy and
adequacy of the internal control system and risk management.
It carries out the tasks assigned to it independently of the activities, processes and functions to
be audited, in accordance with applicable legal and supervisory requirements such as the German
Banking Act (KWG) and Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk). As Group internal
auditor, it also supplements the internal auditing units of subordinate companies.
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Scope of monitoring and monitoring procedures
The internal control and risk management system is governed by the internal written organisational rules (schriftlich fixierte Ordnung (SFO)).
The rules governing the accounting-related internal monitoring system are set out in the Group
directives for preparing the accounts. The main component of these directives is the Group
Accounting Manual, which contains key requirements for ensuring accounting policies are uniformly applied throughout the Group based on the regulations that the parent company is subject to. This is supplemented by instructions on preparing the consolidated annual accounts.
These are internal guidelines for Group companies included in the consolidated annual financial
statements. The instructions on preparing the annual accounts include information on reconciling and eliminating inter-Group transactions, the debt consolidation process, expenses and
earnings consolidation, as well as on tasks, contacts and deadlines relating to the preparation of
the consolidated annual financial statements. Accounting-related and IT system-related changes,
and control procedures for ensuring high quality reporting and data, are also explained.
Based on the Group-wide Group Risk Guidelines, risk management strategies for the Group and
individual banks are developed and implemented by means of policies and manuals. These rules
govern the risk management and monitoring processes used for the timely identification, full
documentation and appropriate disclosure of major risks.
As with the Group Accounting Manual and instructions for preparing the annual accounts, these
rules are regularly reviewed, updated and published within the Group on the intranet.
To ensure transactions are fully and correctly processed, and that bookings, data entry and documentation are in compliance, a number of internal control procedures have been implemented
within BayernLB. Measures include the segregation of functions, a differentiated access authorisation system to prevent unauthorised intruders, ongoing checks within the workflow process
applying the dual control principle and checks programmed into the IT systems. The internal
monitoring process reconciles ledgers and sub-ledgers, monitors manual bookings in the main
ledgers and conducts posting runs. Additional checks and reconciliations are also conducted to
ensure data is correctly transferred between IT systems.
When preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, checks are carried out to determine îf the underlying data is properly presented, and data in the consolidated financial statements is quality assessed (e.g. applying the dual control principle, conducting plausibility checks).
The Group uses server-based consolidation software, for which separate editing and reading
rights have been assigned. This software has a number of checks built into the program to ensure
entries are properly made and correctly documented.
The consolidated accounting process is checked regularly for inherent risks, so that measures can
be taken when necessary to refine the internal control system.
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BayernLB has outsourced some of its services (principally IT services, payment services and
securities back office operations) to external companies. Outsourced areas are integrated into
BayernLB’s internal control system mainly through an outsourcing officer who monitors the external companies on an ongoing basis. Companies performing outsourced activities are also regularly checked by BayernLB’s internal auditors.

Risk-oriented management
Group risk strategy
The Group Risk Strategy is set by the Board of Management and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board based on the Group Business Strategy and checked regularly. The general objectives
and guidelines of the Risk Strategy and the strategic requirements for the different types of risk
are drawn up based on the Business Strategy.
The Group Risk Strategy sets the following main objectives and guidelines:
Objectives:
• To sustainably preserve capital, both regulatory and economic
• To ensure solvency at all times
• To achieve sustainable earnings using value-based management of risk positions
Guidelines:
• The BayernLB Group only takes on risks it is able to assess and manage
• In those areas where the strategy allows for portfolio growth, quality takes priority over quantity
• Sales and Risk units are jointly responsible for earnings after risk provisions
• The BayernLB Group applies high ethical principles in its business activities
The Risk Strategy for 2013 further limited the economic capital available for allocation in the
BayernLB Group. The capital available on a long-term basis will be used as a limiting factor for
economic risk-bearing capacity and allocated across the different types of risk within the
BayernLB Group.
The basis for setting the Risk Strategy is the annual risk inventory carried out in accordance with
MaRisk and the risk-bearing capacity calculation. The risk inventory examines not only BayernLB
but also all companies and special purpose entities in the BayernLB Group, regardless of whether
they are consolidated under German commercial law or supervisory requirements.
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Capital management
Integrated risk and earnings reporting
The instruments used to manage and monitor the achievement of business and risk strategy
goals are constantly refined at Group level. The Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO)
is the umbrella entity where earnings targets and risk management objectives are brought
together. As a committee of the Board of Management, the primary tasks of ALCO are managing
and allocating the key resources of capital and liquidity, as well as managing the balance sheet
structure. ALCO also manages the risk/reward profile of the Bank’s portfolio of its invested capital. As well as initiating and voting on Group rules, ALCO takes suitable measures within the
Group when a liquidity crisis arises.
ALCO is supported by the Capital Management Committee (CMC), which mainly comprises the
Chief Financial Officer and senior management from the risk control, treasury and accounting
units. The CMC’s task is to recommend capital management actions for approval by ALCO taking
account of framework conditions such as directives from the Bank’s owners and regulatory or EU
requirements. Capital management deals with, among other things, changes in target regulatory
capital ratios, the type and amount of the capital base and the allocation of risk positions, and
entails ongoing monitoring of changes. Hence the CMC is an important source of input for ALCO
and the Board of Management and prepares suitable recommendations for action on matters
related to capital.
In addition to the Group Risk Control risk report, the main elements of the risk and earnings
reporting system are the ALCO report and the MIS (Management Information System) report.
Regulatory capital adequacy (solvency)
To ensure the BayernLB Group has the proper amount of regulatory capital, the objectives, methods and processes below have been defined. The starting point for the allocation of regulatory
capital is the BayernLB Group’s own funds planning. Own funds consist of liable capital – the sum
of core capital and supplementary capital – plus tier 3 capital. Core capital consists of subscribed
capital plus reserves and other capital. Supplementary capital comprises profit participation certificates and long-term subordinated liabilities. Own funds planning is based largely on the internal target core capital ratio (ratio of core capital to risk positions) and an internally set target
overall ratio (ratio of own funds to risk positions) for the BayernLB Group. It establishes upper
limits for risk assets, market risk positions and operational risks arising from business activities in
the planning period. The impact of market movements – simulated in stress tests – are taken into
account by means of capital buffers to ensure solvency ratios are complied with at all times.
Regulatory capital is allocated in the Group planning process to the individual planning units. The
planning units (Group units) are BayernLB’s defined business segments, Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt (BayernLabo) and the Group subsidiaries.

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

107

Regulatory capital is allocated to the Group units through a top-down distribution of limits on
risk assets and market risk positions approved by the Board of Management, requiring, in addition to segment-specific targets, a minimum regulatory core capital ratio of more than 8 percent
for the Group. Compliance with the limits on risk asset and market risk positions available to each
Group unit is constantly monitored by ALCO. The Board of Management receives monthly reports
on current limit utilisations.
Information on the changes in the Group’s supervisory ratios are provided in the management
report under “Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG) for the BayernLB
Group”. BayernLB publishes additional information in the disclosure report in accordance with
section 26a of the German Banking Act (KWG). The disclosure report can be found on BayernLB’s
website under “Disclosure Report”.
Risk-bearing capacity
Risk-bearing capacity is monitored at both BayernLB and Group level, and by its individual subsidiaries, using the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). The aim of ICAAP is to
ensure that there is sufficient economic capital for the risks assumed or planned.
For risk management, BayernLB follows a liquidation-based approach in ICAAP that is designed
to protect senior creditors. This is computed using internal target standards for the precision
of risk measurement, which correspond to a confidence level of 99.95 percent. The method
for calculating risk-bearing capacity is assessed and refined on a regular basis to ensure it takes
adequate account of external factors and internal strategic targets.
The available economic capital is of suitable quality to absorb any losses and is calculated, in
accordance with the liquidation approach, by deducting from the sum of equity and subordinated
capital those items that are not available in the event of liquidation (e.g. intangible assets). A
buffer for risk types that are not controlled at business unit level and/or have little controlling
relevance for ICAAP is also deducted.
The Risk Strategy allows only a proportion of the available economic capital to be allocated
to risk types in the course of business activities. This upper limit at Group level was set at
EUR 10 billion at the start of 2013 and as at 31 December 2013 represented 59.5 percent of the
entire available economic capital. Furthermore the Risk Strategy, in tandem with the Business
Strategy, determines the risk appetite and the framework for risk planning by dividing the allocation basis for the risk types.
The planning of economic risks for the risk-bearing capacity calculation and the planning of the
available economic capital are integral parts of the Group planning process described under
“Regulatory capital adequacy”.
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For an in-depth, forward-looking analysis of economic capital adequacy, the calculation of riskbearing capacity is based on the Business Strategy and is supplemented by stress tests. Both
scenario and sensitivity analyses are carried out for this purpose. In addition to historical scenarios,
the impact of adverse changes in risk factors both on specific risk types and across all risk types
is also analysed using hypothetical scenarios. The latter in particular have a major role in the
analysis of situational scenarios.
The liquidation-based analysis of risk-bearing capacity is supplemented by a going concern perspective by means of the five-year loss scenario. This analyses capital adequacy with respect to
the sustainability of the business model in the event of a loss that is statistically probable only
once over a rolling five-year planning horizon.
Sensitivity analysis also plays a part in the comprehensive analysis of risk-bearing capacity by
increasing awareness of the impact of potential changes in individual risk factors (such as the
impact of changes in interest rates).
Risk-bearing capacity is quantified routinely and as required from both a liquidation and a going
concern perspective and is reported as part of the regular ongoing internal risk reporting,
together with the results and key assumptions of the stress tests performed.
Risk capital requirements
BayernLB Group
31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Risk capital requirements

4,623

4,717

•
•
•
•
•

2,249

2,776
493
493
664
291

EUR million
credit risk and country risk (counterparty risk)
credit risk (specific interest rate risk)
market risk*
operational risk
investment risk

1,697
533
144

* As of 30 April 2013 this includes specific interest rate risk.

The decline in counterparty risk is largely the result of the reduction in the portfolio that has
taken place in line with the strategy and the improved macroeconomic situation.
The increase in market risk is largely due to a change in methodology, outlined in detail in the
interim report, that became effective on 30 April 2013. To harmonise the holding periods for
market risk positions with the risk observation horizons of the other risk types in the risk-bearing
capacity, they were set at a uniform 250 days Group-wide. This has resulted in much more conservative assumptions of market risk in risk-bearing capacity. In this context and taking account of
correlations, general market risks and specific interest rate risks, which had been reported
separately, were merged into the single risk type “market risk”. As a result of the change in
methodology, the bulk of the increase in risk capital requirements was due to market risk and
specific interest rate risks.
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Following the change in methodology, the amount of risk capital required for market price risks
declined due to the decrease in the portfolio in line with strategy. This was the result of a decline
in volatility, credit spreads and Hungarian interest rates, as well as the decrease in risk positions
at LBLux and MKB.
As part of BayernLB’s stress testing programme, the possibility of a severe economic downturn
(the ICAAP stress scenario) is routinely calculated. Under the severe recession scenario, the risk
capital requirement for the individual risk types rises to a total of EUR 10.2 billion (FY 2012:
EUR 10.4 billion).
As at 31 December 2013, the BayernLB Group had available economic capital of EUR 16.8 billion
(FY 2012: EUR 16.2 billion). A severe economic downturn (ICAAP stress scenario) would only see
63.3 percent utilisation of available economic capital (FY 2012: 63.8 percent), with the minimum
capital ratios also being met in the going concern scenario. The BayernLB Group had adequate
risk-bearing capacity as at 31 December 2013.
Inverse stress testing
Inverse stress tests were conducted at the BayernLB Group level as an integral element of the
stress testing programme. Contrary to the logic of conventional stress tests, scenarios that could
potentially jeopardise the existence of the Bank’s current business model are identified using a
retrograde procedure. Inverse stress tests are conducted for both individual risk types and across
all risk types. The integration of different divisions in the scenario parameters makes it possible
to analyse varying perspectives of the Bank’s risk and earnings situation simultaneously and integrate them into the stress testing in a consistent manner. Both qualitative and quantitative analyses are carried out, based in particular on the effects of current developments in external and
internal risk factors on the BayernLB Group.
Liquidity management
The strategic principles for dealing with liquidity risk within the BayernLB Group are set out in
the Group Risk Strategy. The overriding priority of liquidity risk management and monitoring is to
ensure that the BayernLB Group can meet its payment obligations and obtain funding at all times.
In addition to stringently ensuring solvency, the primary goal of BayernLB’s liquidity management
is to ensure adequate access to the market.
These strategic goals are detailed in the Group-wide Group Treasury Principles, Group Pricing
Guidelines and Group Liquidity Guidelines in conjunction with the emergency plan for safeguarding liquidity for daily management. These define the processes, management tools and hedging
instruments needed to avert or address potential or real acute crises. They also contain an escalation mechanism, which comes into operation when early warning signals are triggered.
In the BayernLB Group, daily limits are placed on liquidity risks at the operating unit level based
on defined scenarios. This ensures that liquidity risks taken are managed and escalated in a
consistent and effective manner at all times.
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Responsibility for strategic and operational liquidity management in the BayernLB Group during
the year under review belonged to the Group Treasury and Treasury Products divisions within the
Markets business area. This is also where operational liquidity is managed on the market and
adequate liquidity reserves are ensured at all times. Liquidity overviews (e.g. capital flow
accounts, limit u
 tilisation ratios and Group-wide risk monitoring of liquidity risks) are produced in
the Group Risk Control division of the Risk Office central area. In addition, the cross-divisional
Liquidity Management Committee, under Group Risk Control, provides extra transparency on the
liquidity risk and earnings situation, consults with the Group Treasury and Group Controlling divisions on issues such as liquidity and refinancing strategies and acts as a driving force by preparing courses of action for decisions to be taken by the Asset Liability Committee.
BayernLB started early to increase both the quantity and quality of its substantial liquidity
reserves in order to comply with the future requirements under MaRisk and the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR). This strategy was systematically continued in 2013.

Credit risk
In accordance with its business model as a corporate and real estate lender and partner to the
savings banks with a regional focus on Bavaria and Germany, the largest risk for the BayernLB
Group is credit risk. No significant changes have been made in the instruments and methods for
measuring, controlling and monitoring credit risks described in the risk report in the 2012 consolidated financial statements.
Definition
Counterparty risks arise if a transaction results in a claim against a borrower, issuer of securities
or counterparty. If these fail to meet their obligations, the Bank suffers a loss equal to the unpaid
amount less the value of any realised collateral plus the related settlement costs. This definition
covers both lending and guarantee risks from the credit business, and issuer and counterparty
risks from trading activities.
Risks from changes in the credit rating of securities are managed primarily through the management of interest rate risks. When managing interest rate risks, a distinction is made between
market-related and credit rating-related interest rate risks; this is also reflected in the separate
presentation of the risk capital requirements for counterparty risks and market risks.
Country risks, which are another type of counterparty risk, are also measured, managed and
monitored. Country risk is defined in the narrow sense as the risk of a country or a business partner whose registered office is located in another country failing to meet its obligations on time
or at all due to sovereign acts or economic or political problems (transfer and conversion risks).
Country ratings are a key tool for measuring individual country risk. At BayernLB, both country
risk in the narrow sense and the sum of the assumed counterparty risks of individual c ustomers in
the respective countries (domicile principle) with the exception of Germany are c onsidered when
measuring and limiting risks.
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Credit risk strategy and approval process
The Credit and Country Risk Strategy – which is part of the comprehensive Risk Strategy – is set by
the Board of Management for BayernLB and the Group taking account of risk-bearing capacity
considerations. A detailed credit policy is drawn up from the credit risk strategy and used as a
basis for operational implementation.
Before transactions with borrowers based abroad are executed, they are checked to ensure they
comply with the EU conditions for transactions with foreign borrowers. In the Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions business area, the Investment Committee decides whether a customer
and/or transaction has a connection with Germany. The Investment Committee is moreover a
standing body in Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions and the highest decision-making
body with authority to allocate capital and resources below the Board of Management member
responsible for the business area. There is also a similar Investment Committee in the Real Estate &
Savings Banks/Association business area for the Real Estate division.
The credit approval process consists of several stages. The Competence Regulations define the
authority of the different competence holders based on the loan volume to be approved, the
business area it is allocated to and the rating classification. Credit decisions that ultimately
require approval by the Board of Management or Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board must
first go through the responsible Credit Committee, which itself is a competence holder. Since the
Restructuring Unit was created, credit decisions on the portfolios to be wound down have been
taken by a separate credit committee, the Restructuring Unit Credit C
 ommittee. The Supervisory
Board monitors risk management through its Risk Committee. The latter decides on all credits
that require the approval of the Supervisory Board under the German Banking Act or the Competence Regulations.
New products and products for new markets are subjected to a stringent new product process.
The decision-making processes in the subsidiaries are similarly organised; at some subsidiaries,
members of BayernLB’s Board of Management are represented on the supervisory boards or the
governing bodies.
Risk measurement and internal rating systems
Risk is measured at portfolio level using a version of CreditRisk+, an analytical software system
for quantifying default risks. The impact of an unexpected loss by an individual business partner
on the whole portfolio is also calculated for risk analysis purposes. A correlation model quantifies
dependencies among borrowers in the portfolio. In addition, the effects of rating migrations and
uncertainties in calculating loss ratios are also taken into account.
In accordance with the Internal Ratings Based Approach (IRBA), BayernLB uses rating procedures
that are approved by the supervisory authorities. These assign borrowers to rating categories in a
25-tier master rating scale on the basis of the probability of default.
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To maintain and refine the rating procedures, BayernLB works mainly with RSU Rating Service
Unit GmbH & Co. KG and Sparkassen Rating und Risikosysteme GmbH. All rating procedures are
subject to an ongoing validation process to ensure they are able to correctly determine the
default probabilities in each customer and financing segment. This process draws on quantitative
and qualitative analyses. These assess the rating factors, the accuracy and calibration of the procedure, the data quality and the design of the model using statistical and qualitative analyses,
and users’ feedback. Further information can be found under “Disclosure Report” on BayernLB’s
website.
The rating procedures demonstrated their robustness and accuracy during the recession. It
became clear that taking account of market-induced factors significantly improved the capture of
the volatility of financial markets during the crisis. As far as possible, this additional information
was and will continue to be integrated into the rating systems.
The goal is to create sufficient leeway to implement risk avoidance/minimisation measures
through the early detection of negative changes in the risk profile using suitable early warning
indicators of risk. These indicators include prices (equities and CDSs), volatility, market capitalisation and other factors from peer group comparisons. The pricing methods have been fundamentally revised and now allow for an even more detailed mapping of the different features of a
transaction.
Limiting risk at the business partner and portfolio levels
Under MaRisk, counterparty risks at borrower and borrower unit level are monitored daily by
BayernLB’s Group Risk Control division using a limitation system. The limitation process also takes
account of the timing structure of default risks by sub-dividing limits into maturity bands. Comparable processes have been implemented in the subsidiaries.
To limit large credit risks, the maximum gross credit volume for each borrower unit is limited to
EUR 500 million Group-wide in accordance with section 19 para. 2 of the German Banking Act
(Kreditwesengesetz (KWG)). Justified exemptions can be approved in accordance with the
Competence Regulations.
To prevent risk concentrations in individual sub-portfolios, risk-based upper limits are set and
monitored. Examples include sector-specific or country risk limits. Both qualitative and quantitative limits are set for sectors. In addition to the Group-wide sector limits, additional specific
guidelines are set for each sector and issued by the Board of Management. Country limits at
Group level are set by the Board of Management based on the country risk analysis and the vote
by the Risk Office. Sector and country limits and guidelines are monitored by the Group Risk
Control division in the Risk Office central area. Sector and country strategies are reviewed
annually. Irrespective of this, strategies can be changed as events arise.
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Collateral
Another key way in which risks are limited at the BayernLB Group level is by accepting the usual
types of bank collateral and valuing them on an ongoing basis. When deciding what collateral is
needed, particular account is taken of the type of financing, the borrower’s available assets, their
value and liquidity and whether the relative costs are reasonable (costs of acceptance and ongoing
valuation).
Collateral is processed and valued in accordance with the relevant directives which set out the
procedures for valuing the collateral, any discounts to be applied, and how often the valuation
must be reviewed. Net risk positions are calculated on the basis of the liquidation value of the
collateral.
The German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) has granted BayernLB approval to
lower its regulatory capital requirements through the use of real estate liens, ship mortgages,
registered liens on aircraft, guarantees, financial collateral in the form of securities and cash
deposits, and credit derivatives under its IRBA approval.
In derivatives trading, the usual practice is to conclude master agreements for the purposes of
close-out netting. Collateral agreements exist with certain business partners restricting the
default risk associated with certain trading partners to an agreed maximum and authorising a
call for additional collateral should this limit be exceeded.
Early warning and problem loan handling
A reporting system is used to constantly monitor all credit exposures in terms of their financial
status and collateral, compliance with limits, fulfilment of the terms of agreements, and compliance with external and internal requirements. The monitoring process is supported by an escalation procedure. Exposures with elevated risk are identified promptly in the early risk detection
process using a set of early warning indicators. Early warning indicators are regularly tested for
adequacy.
Problem exposures are classified in accordance with the standard international categories
(“specialmention”, “substandard”, “doubtful” and “loss”) in terms of their level of risk, and a
special restructuring and risk monitoring process is implemented if warranted.
By initiating suitable measures as part of an intensive support or problem loan handling process
at an early stage, BayernLB aims to minimise or completely prevent defaults from occurring.
Exposures in problem loan treatment which have been restructured in order to minimise the risk
of default are defined by BayernLB as forbearance exposures.
An exposure has been restructured if concessions have been granted to a counterparty in financial difficulties. Concessions are defined as the modification of the terms and conditions of the
original loan agreement (e.g. a deferral, waiver or, standstill agreement) or its financing.
Please see the accounting policies in the Notes for details of how risk provisions are calculated
and assets written down.

114

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

76 BayernLB Group management report
78 Overview of the BayernLB Group
82 Report on the economic position
98 Events after the reporting period

99 Risk report
146 	Report on expected developments and opportunities

Risk provisions
Proper account has been taken of the risks in the credit business through risk provisions. The
principles governing loan loss provisioning and writedowns for problem loans establish how
loans at risk of default are to be handled, valued and reported (see the note on risk provisions).
Credit portfolio
The following BayernLB Group credit portfolio charts are based on the internal risk reports to the
Board of Management and the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board.
For risk management purposes, credit risk is defined differently in some respects than it is for
accounting purposes; for example, the former includes only irrevocable credit commitments,
while the latter does not. Similarly, the materiality thresholds for including subsidiaries in the
MaRisk risk inventory for internal risk management may differ from those used to determine the
scope of consolidation.
BayernLB, DKB, LBLux and MKB are included in the management approach, while the figures
under the balance sheet approach for the maximum credit risk pursuant to IFRS 7.36 a also apply
to Real I.S. AG.
Credit portfolio in accordance with IFRS 7.34 a (Management Approach)
Gross credit risk volume includes the gross volume of credit transactions (drawdowns plus
unutilised commitments) and the risk-weighted amounts of trading transactions (market values
and the credit equivalent amount from derivatives transactions).
Compared to 31 December 2012, the BayernLB Group’s gross credit risk was cut by EUR 16.3 billion
or 5.4 percent to EUR 285.2 billion in line with the winddown strategy.
Gross credit volume by unit
EUR
million

200,000

75,576
74,081

150,000
100,000
50,000
0

BayernLB

DKB

7,832
10,011

250,000

3,939
4,081

300,000

197,806
212,546

350,000

LBLux

MKB

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 285,153 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 301,439 million

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

115

In volume terms the EUR 14.7 billion decline at BayernLB (6.9 percent) was the largest;
EUR 4.2 billion came from transactions with a guarantee obligation falling due and EUR 5.6 billion
from further reductions in foreign corporate customers.
Credit volumes also fell in line with targets at the two subsidiaries LBLux (EUR 862 million or
18.0 percent) and MKB (EUR 2.2 billion or 21.8 percent). The main factors for the reduction at
MKB in 2013 were the reduction in exposure to the Hungarian state and, first and foremost, the
sale of Unionbank (EUR 960 million).
In line with the Group’s Business Strategy, DKB’s credit portfolio expanded once again, growing
by a total of EUR 1.5 billion or 2.0 percent, mainly in the Retail sub-portfolio.
Credit volume in the BayernLB Group is broken down below by sub-portfolio, rating category,
region and size.
Gross credit volume by sub-portfolio
EUR
million
140,000

36,025
35,246

60,000

49,385
49,207

80,000

59,362
58,059

100,000

66,772
77,416

73,608
81,511

120,000

40,000
20,000
0

Financial Institutions
incl. ABS

Corporates

Countries/PublicSector/Non-Profit
Institutions

Commercial
Real Estate

Retail/Retail
Customers

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 285,153 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 301,439 million
Gross and net credit volume by sub-portfolio
Gross
EUR million

Change
(in %) 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Change
(in %)

Financial Institutions
incl. ABS

73,608

81,511

– 9.7 %

62,324

69,519

– 10.3 %

Corporates

66,772

77,416

– 13.7 %

51,476

53,131

– 3.1 %

Countries/Public-Sector/
Non-Profit Institutions

59,362

58,059

2.2 %

56,775

48,269

17.6 %

Commercial Real Estate

49,385

49,207

0.4 %

13,535

9,985

35.6 %

Other
• of which Retail/Retail
Customers

36,025

35,246

2.2 %

17,143

12,346

38.8 %

Total
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31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012

Net

35,202

34,884

0.9 %

16,833

12,169

38.3 %

285,153

301,439

– 5.4 %

201,253

193,249

4.1 %
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Net credit volume is calculated by deducting the value of collateral, outplaced transactions and
risk-free transactions (transactions for account of a third party).
The EUR 8.0 billion increase in the net credit volume to EUR 201.3 billion in 2013 was largely due
to more conservative collateral netting in project financings, commercial real estate and sovereign/
public sector exposures in the Group.
The Retail/Other sub-portfolio was redefined in 2013. As at 31 December 2013 it included p
 rivate
individuals and self-employed customers with a gross credit volume of no more than EUR 5 million.
Based on this change, there were shifts within the Corporates, Commercial Real Estate and Retail/
Other sub-portfolios. In addition, in connection with the simplification of the sectoral classifications in the Group, shifts were undertaken within the Corporates and Commercial Real Estate
sub-portfolios.
Financial Institutions sub-portfolio
The Financial Institutions sub-portfolio was one of the areas where reductions were concentrated, accounting for a fall of EUR 7.9 billion or 9.7 percent.
In the banks/savings banks sector in particular, the gross credit volume fell to EUR 63.9 billion.
This decrease resulted largely from the government-guaranteed business with savings banks and
Landesbanks which matured in 2013.
In addition, the gross credit volume of the ABS portfolio was reduced by over 24 percent, largely
due to ongoing repayments. In the insurance sector, furthermore, the gross credit volume was
reduced by a total of 10.5 percent to EUR 4.4 billion. The fall stems mostly from business with
German and Swiss insurance companies.
Corporates sub-portfolio
In total, the Corporates sub-portfolio declined by EUR 10.6 billion or 13.7 percent.
In the Corporates sub-portfolio the move to wind down business abroad in line with strategy
(EUR 6.7 billion or 23.5 percent) was continued by, among other things, selling the Bulgarian
Unionbank in 2013. A reduction totalling EUR 3.8 billion came from the UK, the US, Bulgaria and
Spain. This was achieved mainly with customers with no connection to Germany in the oil and
gas industry and logistics sectors. The remaining decline was mainly due to the above-mentioned
shifts to the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio (EUR 2.3 billion). By contrast, the amount of
the inflow from the Retail/Other sub-portfolio as a result of the new retail definition was small
(EUR 158 million).
New business with German target customers and the decrease in business abroad raised Germany’s
share by another 4.2 percentage points, putting it at 67.1 percent as at 31 December 2013. The
investment grade share rose to 67.4 percent (FY 2012: 62.4 percent).
Among the sectors, increases in credit volume took place in particular in the core manufacturing
and engineering sector. New business in this sector was conducted almost exclusively in G
 ermany.
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Utilities, the biggest sector by far, experienced a slight reduction in volume of 4.1 percent to
EUR 19.8 billion in 2013. DKB accounts for 55.1 percent of the entire gross credit volume in the
utilities sector. The sector concentration is mitigated in particular by the increasing quality of
the portfolio (investment grade share 63.2 percent, FY 2012: 58.8 percent), the high granularity
(for 73.8 percent of customers the gross credit volume was below EUR 50 million) and the high
share in Germany of 73.8 percent (FY 2012: 69.7 percent). Aside from traditional corporate lending and project financing, the emphasis is mainly on renewable energy financing (wind farms,
photovoltaic systems etc.), which accounted for 45.9 percent of the portfolio. Along with its
very high granularity – almost nearly all these customers having a gross credit v olume of less
than EUR 50 million – the renewable energy portfolio also has a very high share in Germany of
84.6 percent (FY 2012: 85.3 percent).
The ten largest sectors within the Corporates sub-portfolio

25,000
20,000

19,821
20,661

EUR
million

0

Utilities

Consumer
goods,
wholesale
& retail

Aerospace,
hotels &
tourism

Technology

Pharma Construction
ceuticals &
healthcare

2,884
2,758

3,095
4,333

3,347
3,904

4,255
5,154

5,000

4,465
4,887

Automotive

4,625
6,415

Logistics

5,300
7,413

5,488
6,195

10,000

5,646
6,596

15,000

Oil & gas Manufacturing &
industry
engineering

 31 Dec 2013 Top 10 total: EUR 58,926 million
 31 Dec 2012 Top 10 total: EUR 68,315 million

Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Institutions sub-portfolio
In the third-largest sub-portfolio, Countries/Public-Sector/Non-Profit Institutions, the slight
increase in credit volumes of EUR 1.3 billion (2.2 percent) was mainly due to new business with
the Federal Republic of Germany, German states and the customer relationship with the US Federal Reserve Bank, which is used for liquidity management purposes. In contrast, the gross credit
volume in Bulgaria (EUR 167 million), India (EUR 112 million) and various countries with modest
exposures was fully wound down.
Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio
The gross credit volume in the Commercial Real Estate sub-portfolio rose slightly by EUR 179 million
or 0.4 percent to EUR 49.4 billion. Of this, EUR 28.4 billion is accounted for by the stable r esidential
asset class, of which around EUR 15.5 billion is guaranteed by the local authorities (mainly in the
form of loans subsidised by BayernLabo) or backed through a municipal ownership structure.
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A considerable reduction in the Restructuring Unit’s non-core business was also achieved in this
sub-portfolio, particularly in the UK and the US, and MKB and LBLux. Nevertheless, this winding
down was offset to a large extent by the shifts from the Corporates sub-portfolio (EUR 2.3 billion)
and the new retail definition (EUR 601 million).
This resulted in an overall increase in Germany’s share to 81.0 percent (FY 2012: 76.1 percent),
while the investment grade share rose from 65.4 to 68.6 percent. New business came mainly from
Germany and was concentrated primarily in residential property (Germany only) and commercial
property.
Retail/Other sub-portfolio
Despite shifts in sub-portfolios (totalling EUR 759 million) in connection with the new retail definition, the Retail/Other sub-portfolio increased by EUR 779 million to EUR 36.0 billion through
the expansion of DKB’s retail customer business in line with strategy.

EUR
million
200,000

155,911
154,823

Gross credit volume by rating category and sub-portfolio

MR 0 – 7

MR 8 – 11

Investment grade

MR 12– 14

MR 15 – 18

MR 19 – 21

Non-investment grade

6,211
6,409

2,729
3,701

0

4,731
5,293

50,000

14,924
16,671

100,000

36,799
42,889

63,848
71,653

150,000

MR 22 – 24
MR 22 – 24
Core
Non-core
Default categories

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 285,153 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 301,439 million
31 Dec 2013
Rating categories
EUR million

MR 0 – 7

MR 8 – 11 MR 12 – 14 MR 15 – 18 MR 19 – 21 MR 22 – 24

(of which
non-core)

Total

Financial Institutions
incl. ABS

60,058

4,684

3,426

1,480

690

3,270

3,009

73,608

Corporates

16,833

28,193

13,198

6,097

839

1,613

1,020

66,772

Countries/Public-Sector/
Non-Profit Institutions

55,277

1,785

2,072

185

37

5

1

59,362

Commercial Real Estate

17,532

16,343

6,529

4,667

1,722

2,594

1,504

49,385

Retail/Other*
Total

6,211

12,844

11,575

2,494

1,443

1,457

677

36,025

155,911

63,848

36,799

14,924

4,731

8,940

6,211

285,153
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31 Dec 2012
Rating categories
EUR million

MR 0 – 7

MR 8 – 11 MR 12 – 14 MR 15 – 18 MR 19 – 21 MR 22 – 24

(of which
non-core)

Total

Financial Institutions
incl. ABS

63,666

6,898

5,373

1,187

1,077

3,309

3,244

81,511

Corporates

15,229

33,043

16,666

8,615

1,458

2,405

947

77,416

Countries/Public-Sector/
Non-Profit Institutions

52,989

2,068

2,672

276

9

45

38

58,059

Commercial Real Estate

15,131

17,034

7,464

5,101

1,561

2,917

1,586

49,207

Retail Customers/Other*
Total

7,808

12,610

10,715

1,492

1,188

1,433

594

35,246

154,823

71,653

42,889

16,671

5,293

10,110

6,409

301,439

* Of which Retail Customers EUR 34.9 billion of gross credit volume as at 31 December 2012 (Retail as at 31 December 2013: EUR 35.2 billion).

The investment grade share rose overall to 77.1 percent (FY 2012: 75.1 percent).
The gross credit volume in the rating category MR 0 – 7 rose slightly, while the proportion of the
credit volume in all the other rating categories fell.
The non-performing loan ratio (NPL ratio) fell from 3.4 percent to 3.1 percent in 2013. The NPL
ratio in the core business was only 1.1 percent, while in the non-core business it was 16.5 percent. Adequate risk provisions were set aside to cover loans added to the default categories.

EUR
million
250,000

212,047
218,679

Gross credit volume by region

200,000

North
America

Eastern
Europe/CIS

Middle East/
Africa

Asia/
Australia/
Oceania

2,912
2,231

Western
Europe

616
957

Germany

2,107
2,562

0

1,941
2,841

50,000

13,169
16,085

37,211
41,284

100,000

15,150
16,802

150,000

Latin America/
Caribbean

Supranational
orgs

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 285,153 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 301,439 million

In line with its Business and Risk Strategy, Germany accounts for the bulk of lending in the
BayernLB Group, while the share of business abroad continues to decline (EUR 9.7 billion or
11.7 percent).
As a result, the gross credit volume in Germany rose to 74.4 percent (FY 2012: 72.5 percent).
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The biggest individual exposures in the foreign portfolio were in the US (EUR 14.5 billion,
FY 2012: EUR 15.9 billion) and the UK (EUR 9.3 billion, FY 2012: EUR 12.1 billion), as well as
Hungary (EUR 7.3 billion, FY 2012: EUR 8.7 billion), MKB’s domestic market.
The financial markets are currently focusing on a variety of emerging markets. This is primarily
due to ongoing political instabilities, high current account deficits and/or generally weaker
economic health. From the current perspective, it is not possible to exclude the possibility of a
negative impact in the long term on various countries resulting from the slowly diminishing flow
of liquidity, in particular from the US Federal Reserve.
The largest individual exposure was in Turkey, with a gross credit volume of EUR 1.9 billion
(FY 2012: EUR 2.1 billion). However, 72 percent of this is hedged, mostly by export credit agencies
(ECAs). The volumes in the other affected countries were at a much lower level (e.g. Brazil EUR
303 million; India EUR 293 million; Egypt EUR 92 million).
BayernLB’s new business activity in these markets is largely limited to export financing and business on behalf of German corporate and Mittelstand customers, and to maintaining the necessary
relationships with correspondent banks.
Gross credit volume in selected EMU countries
Spain

Italy

Portugal

Ireland

Greece

Total

Dec 13

Dec 12

Dec 13

Dec 12

Dec 13

Dec 12

Dec 13

Dec 12

Dec 13

Dec 12

Dec 13

Dec 12

Countries/
Public-Sector

209

326

462

463

43

0

36

0

0

0

750

789

Banks/Savings
Banks/Insurance
Companies

904

905

1,267

845

56

39

35

38

5

4

2,267

1,830

Corporates/Real
Estate/ABS/Other

1,936

2,479

1,392

1,588

349

364

308

342

76

132

4,061

4,905

Total

3,050

3,709

3,122

2,897

448

403

379

380

81

136

7,079

7,524

EUR million

Gross credit volume in the peripheral EMU countries affected by the sovereign debt crisis was cut
by a further 5.9 percent in 2013.
Credit volume actually fell much more sharply by EUR 1.3 billion in 2013, but this was largely offset by the more conservative calculation of derivative transactions in the gross credit volume
(increase of EUR 891 million). As a result, the credit volume climbed slightly in some countries.
In retrospect it is possible to observe some stabilisation in portfolio quality, which is primarily the
result of the general calming of the sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone. New business in the
peripheral EMU countries is being entered into only very selectively in carefully chosen sectors
and mainly on a short-term basis.
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Gross issuer risk by region

30,000
25,000

25,008
23,421

EUR
million

20,000

0

Germany

Western
Europe

North America Supranational
orgs

Eastern
Europe/CIS

78
86

5,000

1,328
2,118

2,857
1,972

10,000

6,740
6,759

9,420
7,608

15,000

Other regions

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 45,431 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 41,964 million

The gross issuer risk of 87.7 percent is accounted for almost exclusively by BayernLB, with the
bulk of this relating to sovereigns/the public sector and banks. The gross issuer risk rose by a
total of EUR 3.5 billion (8.3 percent) to EUR 45.4 billion. This was largely due to a more conservative weighting of derivative transactions in calculating the gross credit volume. The decline in
volume in Hungary of EUR 852 million was largely overshadowed by higher volumes with German
states, banks and countries in western Europe and supranational organisations. The investment
grade share of gross issuer risk rose to 87.8 percent (FY 2012: 83.8 percent).
Net credit volume by size

10,000
0

> 2.5 billion

> 1 billion to
2.5 billion

> 500 million to
1 billion

Volume > EUR 500 million

> 250 million to > 100 million to
500 million
250 million

21,006
21,669

16,193
18,012

20,000

21,260
16,106

30,000

10,033
14,290

40,000

24,158
26,627

50,000

31,626
34,327

60,000

> 50 million to
100 million

Volume EUR 50 to 500 million

> 5 million to
50 million

28,542
22,308

48,434
39,911

EUR
million

Up to
5 million

Volume < EUR 50 million

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 201,253 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 193,249 million
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The net credit volume of the largest customers (over EUR 2.5 billion), fell by a total of
EUR 4.3 billion (29.8 percent). There were only a few exposures that still had a net credit
volume of more than EUR 2.5 billion. These are exclusively loans and advances to Landesbanks,
which are covered almost completely by a guarantee obligation (Gewährträgerhaftung), and to
the Free State of Bavaria.
The increase in net credit volume of customers in the EUR 1 – 2.5 billion category results both
from the migration of reduced exposures from the over EUR 2.5 billion category and also through
sporadic exposure increases to customers in the excellent investment grade class.
The net credit volume with customers under EUR 5 million rose by EUR 6.2 billion (27.9 percent)
to EUR 28.5 billion. This was largely the result of a conservative collateral weighting within the
Group. The proportion of customers with a net credit volume of less than EUR 5 million rose to
14.2 percent (FY 2012: 11.5 percent).
Considered collectively, the portfolio structure was further improved in compliance with the EU
conditions. The portfolio quality remained stable.
Portfolio overview in accordance with IFRS 7.36 a (balance sheet approach)
Based on data from the IFRS consolidated financial statements, the table below shows the
BayernLB Group’s maximum credit risk under IFRS 7.36 a taking account of IFRS 7.B9. The gross
carrying amounts are reduced by the offsetting amounts calculated in accordance with IAS 32 and
impairment losses calculated in accordance with IAS 39. Credit risks included under non-current
assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are allocated to the relevant positions in the
following tables (for individual amounts see the details in note 52).
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Maximum credit risk
31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Cash reserves

3,190

2,625

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

2,719
472

1,477
1,148

Loans and advances to banks

42,962

43,916

• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

42,946
16

43,894
22

Loans and advances to customers

137,817

148,701

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale
• Fair value option

137,054
25
738

147,881
33
787

Assets held for trading*

25,171

41,935

• Held for trading

25,171

41,935

2,889

4,162

EUR million

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments
• Held for trading

2,889

4,162

Financial investments*

39,246

37,821

• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables

22,622
1,256
15,369

19,217
1,369
17,235

Contingent liabilities

12,153

12,727

Irrevocable credit commitments

22,255

22,102

285,683

313,988

Total
* Excluding equity instruments.
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Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Maximum credit risk
Rating categories
31 Dec 2013
0–7

8 – 11

12 – 17

18 – 21

Default
categories

Unrated

Total

0.9
0.9
–

0.0
0.0
–

0.2
0.1
0.2

0.0
0.0
–

–
–
–

0.0
0.0
0.0

1.1
1.0
0.2

Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

10.8
10.8
0.0

2.7
2.7
–

1.4
1.4
–

0.0
0.0
–

0.0
0.0
–

0.0
0.0
–

14.9
14.9
0.0

Loans and advances to customers
• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

19.6
19.3
0.3

13.0
13.0
–

9.6
9.6
–

1.8
1.8
–

0.1
0.1
–

2.5
2.5
–

46.7
46.4
0.3

Assets held for trading
• Held for trading

7.2
7.2

1.2
1.2

0.3
0.3

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1

0.0
0.0

8.8
8.8

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments
• Held for trading

1.0
1.0

0.0
0.0

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

1.0
1.0

11.9
6.8
0.4
4.6

0.4
0.2
0.0
0.2

0.6
0.4
–
0.2

0.1
–
0.0
0.1

0.1
0.1
–
0.0

0.0
0.0
–
0.0

13.0
7.5
0.4
5.1

2.0

1.2

1.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.2

in %
Cash reserves
• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

Financial investments
• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables
Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
Total
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3.2

3.3

1.2

0.1

0.0

0.0

7.8

56.4

21.7

14.3

2.2

0.3

2.6

97.6
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Maximum credit risk
Rating categories
31 Dec 2012
0–7

8 – 11

12 – 17

18 – 21

Default
categories

Unrated

Total

0.4
0.4
0.0

0.1
0.1
–

0.4
0.0
0.4

0.0
0.0
–

–
–
–

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.8
0.5
0.4

Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

11.0
11.0
0.0

1.9
1.9
–

1.0
1.0
–

0.0
0.0
–

0.0
0.0
–

0.0
0.0
–

13.9
13.9
0.0

Loans and advances to customers
• Loans and receivables
• Fair value option

18.4
18.1
0.3

13.2
13.2
–

10.0
10.0
–

1.8
1.8
–

0.1
0.1
–

2.3
2.3
–

45.8
45.5
0.3

Assets held for trading
• Held for trading

10.9
10.9

1.7
1.7

0.5
0.5

0.1
0.1

0.2
0.2

0.0
0.0

13.4
13.4

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments
• Held for trading

1.3
1.3

0.0
0.0

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

1.3
1.3

Financial investments
• Available for sale
• Fair value option
• Loans and receivables

9.7
5.1
0.1
4.5

0.5
0.2
0.0
0.3

0.5
0.4
–
0.2

0.2
0.0
0.0
0.2

0.0
0.0
–
0.0

0.3
0.0
0.3
0.0

11.3
5.6
0.4
5.2

Contingent liabilities

1.9

1.1

0.9

0.0

0.0

0.1

4.0

Irrevocable credit commitments

2.4

2.9

1.6

0.1

0.0

0.0

7.0

56.1

21.4

14.8

2.2

0.3

2.7

97.5

in %
Cash reserves
• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

Total

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired*
Maximum credit risk
Time past due
31 Dec 2013
EUR million

> 30 days
< 30 days to 3 months

> 3 months
to 1 year

> 1 year

Total

Fair value
collateral

Cash reserves

–

–

–

–

–

–

Loans and advances to banks

8

0

10

16

34

–

• Loans and receivables

8

0

10

16

34

–

Loans and advances to customers

535

195

174

163

1,067

417

• Loans and receivables

535

195

174

163

1,067

417

Assets held for trading

0

0

0

0

0

–

• Held for trading

0

0

0

0

0

–

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

–

–

–

–

–

–

Financial investments

–

–

–

–

–

–

6

0

2

1

9

6

14

4

1

1

20

14

Total

563

200

187

181

1,130

437

Fair value collateral

205

54

75

103

437

Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
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Maximum credit risk
Time past due
31 Dec 2012
EUR million

> 30 days
< 30 days to 3 months

> 3 months
to 1 year

> 1 year

Total

Fair value
collateral

Cash reserves

–

–

–

–

–

–

Loans and advances to banks

4

0

80

47

131

–

• Loans and receivables

4

0

80

47

131

–

Loans and advances to customers

280

57

241

131

709

220

• Loans and receivables

280

57

241

131

709

220

Assets held for trading

–

–

–

–

–

–

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

–

–

–

–

–

–

Financial investments

–

–

–

–

–

–

Contingent liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

–

Irrevocable credit commitments

–

–

–

–

–

–

284

57

321

178

840

220

81

49

36

53

220

Total
Fair value collateral

* The portfolio reflects the creation of portfolio loan loss provisions: “not impaired” in this context means “no specific loan loss provision was
made”.

The rise in past due but not impaired receivables from customers is predominantly due to a
change in methodology at MKB, which was described in the interim report. The methodology
adjustment resulted in EUR 375 million being reclassified from the financial assets that are
neither past due nor impaired category to the financial assets that are past due but not impaired
category as at 31 December 2013. The change in methodology amounted to EUR 1 billion as at
31 December 2012; this was not adjusted.
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Financial assets that are impaired
Maximum credit risk
EUR million

31 Dec 2013

Cash reserves

Fair value collateral

31 Dec 2012

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

–

–

–

–

Loans and advances to banks

232

112

–

–

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale
• Fair value option

232
–
–

112
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

Loans and advances to customers

3,331

4,211

2,252

2,611

• Loans and receivables
• Available for sale

3,306
25

4,174
33

2,227
24

2,585
26

Assets held for trading

–

–

–

–

Positive fair values from derivative
financial instruments

–

–

–

–

Financial investments

2,005

2,490

–

–

• Available for sale
• Loans and receivables

1,142
863

1,491
999

–
–

–
–

74

62

0

2

Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable credit commitments
Total

83

136

0

2

5,724

7,019

2,252

2,614

In accordance with IFRS 7.38, financial and non-financial assets that were acquired in the reporting
period by taking possession of collateral must be disclosed separately. In 2013, realised collateral
in the amount of EUR 83.3 million (FY 2012: EUR 59.6 million) was posted to the BayernLB Group’s
consolidated balance sheet. Around 97 percent (FY 2012: 92 percent) of the total related to land
with buildings. It is envisaged that the assets acquired will be disposed of, with only a very small
proportion being administered (1 percent).
Portfolio overview pursuant to the Financial Stability Board
ABS portfolio
The securitised transactions portfolio has two components: transactions structured exclusively by
BayernLB for customers, and investments in asset-backed securities (ABSs).
Asset-backed securities
The nominal volume of asset-backed securities at the BayernLB Group fell to EUR 7.1 billion in
2013, mainly due to repayments (FY 2012: EUR 9.6 billion). BayernLB accounts for the lion’s share
of the portfolio at 99.0 percent (FY 2012: 99.1 percent), with the remainder being held by LBLux.
LBLux’s ABS portfolio, which totals EUR 68 million (FY 2012: 82 million), was further reduced in
the reporting year. Of this amount, EUR 58 million is in the CMBS asset category and EUR 10 million
in the prime RMBS category. Two out of the three asset-backed securities are investment grade,
while the third has a sub-investment grade rating from Standard & Poor’s.
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BayernLB’s ABS portfolio (EUR 7.0 billion) is hedged by the guarantee agreement with the Free
State of Bavaria described below.
Guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria
On 19 December 2008, a guarantee agreement was concluded between the Free State of Bavaria
as the protection seller and BayernLB as the protection buyer. The guarantee covers actual losses
in the ABS portfolio above a first loss of EUR 1.2 billion. The guarantee is limited to EUR 4.8 billion.
The ABS portfolio hedge covers insolvency, non-payment of capital and interest, capital writedowns and losses incurred from any sales before maturity. Besides hedging BayernLB’s ABS portfolio, the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria also makes a material contribution
to reducing BayernLB’s capital charge for the ABS portfolio and minimising the impact on the
income statement from the ongoing marking to market of the ABS portfolio.
Since 1 July 2009, the entire ABS portfolio has been managed by the Restructuring Unit, which
has been systematically reducing the portfolio while ensuring losses are kept to a minimum.
Up to 31 December 2013, losses totalling EUR 1.1 billion (FY 2012: EUR 850 million) had occurred
and were charged against the first-loss amount. The guarantee has therefore not been utilised
yet. Almost all realised losses were in the RMBS and CDO asset classes due to turmoil on the US
mortgage and real estate markets (in respect of RMBSs) and the large number of credit events at
European and US financial institutions (in respect of CDOs).
The losses currently projected by both BayernLB and the external portfolio advisors appointed
under the guarantee agreement are within the guarantee limits under all scenarios currently used
over the full remaining term of the portfolio.
Measurement of the ABS portfolio
In its ongoing assessment of the credit quality of an ABS holding, BayernLB focuses largely on the
value and expected change in value of the underlying pool of securitised receivables and the suitability of the credit enhancement elements available. In addition, the impact of structural factors
and influence of the parties involved at individual transaction level are factored in. The forecasts
are made for the remaining terms of each asset-backed security using cash-flow models. The
assumptions used in the models are checked continuously for suitability by BayernLB and the
portfolio advisors.
In the current market environment, BayernLB relies on market prices, where available, to measure
the value of asset-backed securities on the balance sheet. Otherwise it uses indicative prices
obtained from market data providers, counterparties, brokers and the portfolio advisors. Prices
from different sources are adjusted for statistical outliers and the average then taken. If a security
has a wide range of prices compared with similar securities, it is assessed separately and implausible prices are eliminated. After this quality assurance check, the price of the security for valuation purposes is calculated using an averaging procedure.
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The following information on the composition of the portfolio relates to BayernLB’s EUR 7.0 billion
portfolio of asset-backed securities covered by the guarantee agreement with the Free State of
Bavaria.

3,000
2,000
1,000
0

Non-prime
RMBS

Prime RMBS

CMBS

CDO/CLO

84.4
131.0

1,777.3
2,220.9

4,000

78.7
128.7

5,000

511.5
1,019.0

6,000

354.6
883.7

EUR
million

4,237.8
5,077.8

ABS portfolio by asset class

Commercial
ABS

Consumer
ABS

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 7,044 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 9,461 million

Based on ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, 30.7 percent of the portfolio was
investment grade (rating categories AAA to BBB) as at 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012:
38.7 percent) and 61.3 percent was sub-investment grade (rating categories BB and below)
(31 December 2012: 60.1 percent). Asset-backed securities without an external rating account for
8 percent of the portfolio (FY 2012: 1.2 percent).
The year-on-year shift in portfolio quality resulted mainly from repayments in the investment
grade segment and was therefore expected. 78 percent of sub-investment grade asset-backed
securities are US RMBS transactions which were downgraded due to turmoil on the US real estate
markets. These securities were originally rated AAA on issue and most of the downgrades occurred
between 2007 and 2009. The remaining sub-investment grade asset-backed securities are distributed among the CDO/CLO, CMBS and RMBS asset classes. These asset-backed securities were
downgraded from their original ratings between AAA and A largely due to their exposure to the
European peripheral countries and the mezzanine nature of the transaction structures. The resulting default risk is taken into account in the portfolio loss projections of the Bank and its advisors.
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Changes in IFRS carrying amounts and impairments in the ABS portfolio by asset class

Non-prime
RMBS

Prime RMBS

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 5,188.8 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 6,784.9 million

CDO/CLO

CMBS

Commercial
ABS

128.5
0

0

0

77.2

79.2
121.0
0

29.8
341.4
864.1
47.6

234.9

332.5
675.8

471.3

0

1,355.9

1,000

1,387.2

2,000

180.7

3,000

599.8

4,000

1,585.4
1,959.1

2,773.1
3,036.5

EUR
million

Consumer
ABS

 31 Dec 2013 Total impaired: EUR 2,069.0 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total impaired: EUR 2,238.2 million

Customer transactions
The nominal volume of transactions structured for customers rose to a total of EUR 2.1 billion in
the reporting period (FY 2012: EUR 1.1 billion).
The main focus of the portfolio, accounting for EUR 1.9 billion (FY 2012: EUR 887 million), is
on transactions structured for BayernLB’s core customers, which grew significantly further. Trade
and leasing receivables from core customers are financed via the Corelux S.A. ABCP programme,
which exists solely for this purpose.
In contrast, the share of transactions not on behalf of core customers continued to shrink and fell
to EUR 249 million (FY 2012: EUR 256 million). Non-core customer transactions that are sponsored through the ABCP programme Giro Lion Funding Ltd., which has been set for closure at the
beginning of 2014, are due to be wound down. These transactions are being managed in the
Restructuring Unit under close observation with the aim of cutting them back quickly using individual strategies in a way that minimises losses.
Monolines
The exposure of the BayernLB Group to monolines – insurers that specialise, among other things,
in hedging structured securities – was reduced considerably in 2013 to a nominal volume of
EUR 418 million (FY 2012: 568 million) and is related exclusively to BayernLB’s indirect credit
exposure.
The reduction is largely due to the sale of asset-backed securities and scheduled repayments.
With regard to its indirect exposure, the monolines are not direct borrowers but serve as guarantors. BayernLB based its credit decisions primarily on the creditworthiness of the actual borrower,
issuer or financing structure; the monoline’s guarantee was viewed at the time the transaction
was concluded only as an additional hedging instrument.
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The volume of ABSs that are not expected to be repaid in full by the actual borrowers or issuers
but which are guaranteed by monolines fell to EUR 196.9 million (FY 2012: EUR 213 million),
mainly due to repayments.
Leveraged finance
Leveraged finance transactions generally have comparatively high debt ratios, are serviced from
the operating cash flows of the financed entity, and therefore have relatively long terms (normally
more than five years). This definition includes corporate takeovers in particular.
The volume of leveraged financing in the BayernLB Group as at 31 December 2013 fell by 16 percent to EUR 978 million (FY 2012: EUR 1.2 billion).
The decrease mainly took place in non-core business financing. The credit volume in Australia,
Asia, North America and eastern Europe was fully wound down and the credit volume in western
Europe was significantly reduced.
In line with the Business Strategy, the regional focus of the portfolio is on Germany. The portfolio
reduction was partly offset by new business that fits the strategic direction.
The charts below give a breakdown of the BayernLB Group’s leveraged finance transactions by
region, sector and rating category.
Gross credit volume by region

1,000

911.0
858.4

EUR
million

800

Germany

Western
Europe

North America

Eastern
Europe/CIS

Australia/
Oceania

0

29.2

34.6
0

0

0

200

0
4.1

400

20.2

67.0
220.5

600

Asia

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 978 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 1,167 million
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Gross credit volume by sector

264.8

EUR
million

29.9
39.6

30.0
15.5

38.5
61.0

41.1
21.1

48.0
58.2

50

49.6
66.2

100

135.0

223.5
83.2

150

94.8
130.2

200

136.6

250

160.4

214.1
203.7

300

0
Media

Wholesale Technology
& retail

Chemicals

Healthcare Telecommu- Automotive Construction
nications

Pharma
ceuticals

Consumer
goods

Other

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 978 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 1,167 million

The decrease in non-strategic credit volume and growth in the volume of new business v aried
greatly from sector to sector in 2013 leading to changes in their rankings.
Gross credit volume by rating category

0

MR 15 – 18

MR 0 – 7

MR 8 – 11

Investment grade

144.8
MR 19 – 21

21.6

0.0
0.0

200

24.6
15.1

300

100

MR 12– 14

169.5
210.4

400

348.5
405.9

500

413.8
390.9

EUR
million

Default 
categories

Non-Investment grade

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 978 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 1,167 million

Improved portfolio quality in the reporting period was achieved both by the significant winding
down and by new business. As a result, the proportion of the portfolio in the investment grade
category (up to and including master rating 14) rose to 60 percent (FY 2012: 52 percent), while
risk provisions for problem loans fell as a result to EUR 7 million (FY 2012: EUR 56 million).
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Investment risk
Definition
Investment risk (shareholding risk) comprises the BayernLB Group’s counterparty (default) risk
arising from its shareholdings.
This risk entails a potential loss in value arising from the following:
• The provision of equity or equity-type financing (e.g. silent partner contributions), such as
suspension of dividends, partial writedowns, losses on disposals, or reductions in hidden
reserves
• Liability risks (e.g. letters of comfort) and/or profit and loss transfer agreements (e.g. assumption of losses)
• Capital contribution commitments
Group Risk Control is responsible for setting standards and reporting at portfolio level. BayernLB
has an independent central unit with the authority to issue guidelines for all methods and processes relating to investment risk monitoring. Operational implementation of the risk management instruments is the responsibility of the business units concerned.
Risk strategy
As part of its new strategy, BayernLB is aligning its investment portfolio to the requirements of the
new business model. The goal is to hold a core portfolio of shareholdings that support business
activities.
The investment portfolio is therefore divided into a core and a non-core portfolio.
The core portfolio comprises stakes in companies which expand customer and market potential,
support the business model or operating processes, and also miscellaneous investments. DKB is
an integral component of the core portfolio.
As part of the resizing of BayernLB, the disposal of non-core shareholdings is, however, being
examined and, in some instances, sale negotiations are already under way.
Investment risks are handled in accordance with the Group Risk Strategy, which is derived from
the Business Strategy. The Bayerische Landesbank Act, the Statutes and the Rules of Procedure of
the Board of Management of BayernLB set further conditions for the Group Risk Strategy.
All major investments – DKB, LBLux and MKB – are integrated into BayernLB’s annual strategy and
planning process
Measuring and monitoring risk
Based on the risk inventory and the requirements of the Group Risk Strategy, compatible risk
management processes, strategies and procedures are implemented in the banking subsidiaries.
These investments are closely integrated into the strategy, planning, management and monitoring
process of the BayernLB Group through the individual risk types.
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A classification procedure for identifying and measuring risk with clear guidelines on the early
detection of risks has been implemented for all investments. Key factors in this regard are the
maximum loss potential and early warning indicators.
For Solvency Ordinance (SolvV) reporting purposes, investment risks are measured using the
simple risk-weighted method under SolvV where the grandfathering method under section 338
para. 4 SolvV is not applied.
Risk capital requirements arising from investment risk in ICAAP are measured using the regulatory PD/LGD method according to SolvV.
Risks from investments are reported to the Board of Management in the regular risk reporting
process as well as in an annual investments report using the relevant procedures (classification,
early warning). If early warning signals are triggered, the decision-makers are notified without
delay. Significant, critical investments are monitored in the intensive support or problem-loan
processes and reported to the Board of Management on a quarterly basis. The investment report
sets out in particular recommendations for action and the implementation status of measures
already executed.
Where BayernLB provides both equity and debt capital, it examines any additional risks, particularly those arising from its status as a lender.

Market risk
Definition
Market risk is the risk of potential losses in value from changes in market prices (interest rates,
credit spreads, exchange rates, equity and commodity prices) and other parameters (correlations,
volatility) that affect prices. Accordingly, BayernLB breaks down its market risks into general and
specific interest rate risk, currency risk, equity price risk, commodity risk and volatility risk.
Risk Strategy
The Risk Strategy sets out the strategic principles for handling market risks and prescribes the
amount of economic capital to be made available for them. Market risks may only be taken on
within approved limits and are regularly measured and monitored.
The amount of economic capital provided for market risks is broken down by risk unit and individual market risk type and implemented in the form of value-at-risk (VaR) limits.
In accordance with the current Business and Risk Strategy, market risks are normally only
assumed as a result of transactions on behalf of customers, including corresponding hedge
transactions. Moreover, market risks may also result from transactions for liquidity management,
asset/liability management or the non-core businesses that are being wound down.
New products and products for new markets are subjected to a stringent new product process.
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Risk measurement
Market risk is normally calculated for operational monitoring and management by using a VaR
method based on a one-day holding period and confidence level of 99 percent. In the subsid
iaries, besides the historical simulation approach mainly applied by BayernLB, methods such as
the scenario matrix method (LBLux) and the variance-covariance approach (MKB) are also used.
Risks in the banking book are also calculated on a monthly basis in certain cases. Customer
deposits at DKB are modelled using the dynamic replication method.
Market risk measurement methods are regularly assessed for the quality of their forecasting.
In the backtesting process, the risk forecast is compared with actual outcomes (gains or losses).
As at 31 December 2013, based on the Basel traffic light approach, the forecasting quality of the
procedure for measuring market risk was good in BayernLB, DKB and LBLux. To avoid any potential underestimation of risk, add-on factors for risk-bearing capacity were defined for equity and
interest rate risk at MKB from June 2013.
The outcomes of value-at-risk based risk measurement must always be looked at in the context
of the assumptions used in the model (mainly the confidence level selected, a one-day holding
period, and the use of historical data over a period of around one year to forecast future events).
For this reason, stress tests are conducted monthly on the risk positions at each Group institution
simulating extraordinary changes in market prices and then the potential risks are analysed. Additional stress tests are used at the individual bank level. The stress tests take into account all relevant types of market risk, are regularly reviewed, and their parameters modified if necessary.
The standard approach is currently used at BayernLB and its subsidiaries to calculate the regulatory capital backing for trading transactions.
Risk monitoring
In the BayernLB Group, several tools are used to monitor and limit market risks, including value at
risk (VaR) and corresponding VaR limits, risk sensitivity and stress tests, all of which form part of
the mix in the assessment of risk-bearing capacity to various degrees. The method of measuring,
managing and monitoring market risks described in the risk report of the 2012 c onsolidated
financial statements has changed as follows: the limits for the individual market price risk types
were supplemented on 30 April 2013 by corresponding total VaR limits to take account of corre
lations with different market price risk types. These total VaR limits were incorporated in the
ongoing monitoring process including risk-bearing capacity.
Subsidiaries are responsible for monitoring their own market risks internally with their own riskmonitoring units. Their market price risks are included in BayernLB’s daily risk reports. Market
risks are monitored and reported independently of Trading. This takes place daily for the trading
book and, at BayernLB, also for the banking book; at the subsidiaries, the banking book is in
some cases monitored monthly. Besides implementing regulatory requirements, the unit monitoring trading activities ensures risk transparency and regular reporting to those responsible for
positions. In the event of VaR limits being exceeded, appropriate measures are taken as part of
an escalation procedure.
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The interest rate risk in the banking book forms part of the regular risk calculation and monitoring
processes of the risk-controlling units. Contractual or legal termination rights are modelled as
options and incorporated into the risk calculation.
In addition, an interest rate shock scenario of +/– 200 basis points is also calculated for the interest
rate risk in the banking book at individual entity level and Group-wide. As at 31 December 2013,
the calculated change in present value relative to liable capital at both BayernLB and the BayernLB
Group was well below the 20 percent limit set in BaFin’s criterion for “institutions with elevated
interest rate risk”.
As part of Group risk reporting the Board of Management is informed monthly and the Risk
Committee of the Supervisory Board is informed quarterly about the market risk situation.
Current situation
In the BayernLB Group, the main factors affecting value at risk are general and specific interest
rate risks, followed by currency risks. Commodity, equity and volatility risks are of secondary
importance in relation to overall market risk. Within the Group, BayernLB has the largest share of
market risks.
VaR contribution by risk type (confidence level 99 percent)
1 Jan 2013 to 31 Dec 2013
31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Average

Maximum

Minimum

General interest rate VaR

68.0

63.2

65.4

80.7

51.4

Specific interest rate VaR
(credit spreads)*

11.6

22.4

16.1

20.2

11.6

EUR million

Currency VaR

6.7

3.2

5.5

12.1

1.8

Equities VaR

2.9

2.4

2.8

3.1

2.4

Commodities VaR

0.9

1.3

1.3

2.4

0.7

Volatility VaR

0.5

0.9

0.8

1.6

0.3

73.9

69.9

73.6

87.3

61.3

Total VaR

* Before eliminating intra-Group positions upon consolidation; in addition to the daily specific interest rate risk calculations, premiums for credit rating risk from money market transactions and OTC derivatives are also taken into account when calculating the risk capital r equirement.

The increase in general interest rate risk was mainly the result of higher interest rate v olatility,
particularly in June 2013. There was a notable fall in specific interest rate risk from the previous
year, principally caused by narrower credit spreads and the fall in market volatility.
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Liquidity risk
Definition
The BayernLB Group defines liquidity risk as the risk of being unable to meet payment obligations
in full or as they fall due, or, in the event of a liquidity crisis, only being able to obtain refinancing
at higher market rates or sell assets at a discount to market rates. Further information on the risk
strategy for managing liquidity risks is given above in the section “Liquidity management”.
Risk measurement
The BayernLB Group produces daily liquidity overviews to measure, analyse, monitor and report
on liquidity risk. These project and compare to an accuracy of one day the liquidity gaps, i.e. the
net deterministic and non-deterministic future payment inflows and outflows, and the realisable
liquidity counterbalancing capacity.
The liquidity counterbalancing capacity quantifies in terms of volumes and timing the ability of
the BayernLB Group to obtain cash at the earliest opportunity at market rates and in accordance
with supervisory requirements. It indicates the ability to cover liquidity gaps and therefore all
cash flow-based liquidity risks. The most important components of liquidity counterbalancing
capacity are the portfolio of highly liquid securities eligible as collateral at the central bank,
additional eligible collateral available, and the issue potential in the register of public and
mortgage cover.
Liquidity risks from off-balance sheet conduits are fully incorporated. Model assumptions are
regularly validated using backtesting and adjusted.
To be adequately prepared for various risk situations, the BayernLB Group also calculates and
limits its liquidity on the basis of the management scenario and several stress scenarios
(systematicand idiosyncratic stress scenarios, and a combination of both).
BayernLB regularly analyses the sensitivity of the liquidity risk profile to a series of extreme hypothetical stress scenarios. A check is also carried out to identify conditions that represent inverse
scenarios which could jeopardise normal operations at the BayernLB Group.
Potential concentrations in the liquidity position and refinancing structure are constantly
analysed and monitored. There were no significant concentrations during the year under review.
At BayernLB level, a specific net cash flow figure for the next 180 days is calculated daily for the
public Pfandbrief register and the mortgage register. In accordance with section 27 of the Pfandbrief Act (Pfandbriefgesetz), the results and other indicators with respect to the register of cover
are reported quarterly to the Board of Management. The balance of cumulative cash flows and
available liquidity indicated there was surplus liquidity throughout 2013.
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Risk management
To safeguard solvency even in times of crisis, the BayernLB Group has a suitable portfolio of
liquidity reserves comprising highly liquid securities, central bank facilities and economic capital
in the registers of cover. The liquid funds that these can generate serve to cover unplanned
payment obligations, even in a stress scenario.
The medium to long-term structure of the liquidity is managed over all maturities. To safeguard
the solvency of the BayernLB Group and its ability to refinance, suitable tools are used to create a
refinancing structure that is balanced in terms of maturities, instruments and currencies. The key
management tool is the Group-wide refinancing planning, which is regularly adjusted in line with
the current liquidity situation.
The liquidity transfer price system set up in BayernLB is another instrument to efficiently manage
liquidity risks. This ensures that all relevant liquidity risks, costs and benefits are matched up
internally to avoid misallocations in liquidity management.
The quality of assets in the register of cover for Pfandbriefs is set by law. This, combined with
matching currencies and maturities, ensures that issued Pfandbriefs meet high standards.
BayernLB’s Collateral Management makes sure that standards are maintained. This ensures that
BayernLB has an ongoing ability to issue bonds in the Pfandbrief segment.
Operational liquidity management (observation period of up to one year) also ensures compliance with the supervisory requirements of the Liquidity Ordinance (Liquiditätsverordnung (LiqV)).
In the year under review, BayernLB had a liquidity ratio of between 1.70 and 2.07 (FY 2012:
between 1.82 and 2.41). The supervisory requirement that there is always sufficient available cash
to cover callable payment obligations over the same period (ratio always in excess of 1.0) was
therefore observed at all times.
The Group’s subsidiaries independently ensure that the national and sector-specific liquidity
requirements that apply to them are complied with. The key requirements were complied with
during the period under review.
Risk monitoring
Group Risk Control independently monitors liquidity risks and calculates and limits ratios derived
from the daily scenario-based liquidity overview.
The readily realisable liquidity reserves held by the BayernLB Group (liquidity counterbalancing
capacity) limit the maximum operational and structural liquidity gaps tolerated by individual
currency and across all currencies combined. To support the limiting of liquidity risks, uniform
escalation boundaries have been established in the Group and these are monitored daily.
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The main factors in complying with liquidity risk limits are not exceeding the maximum allowed
utilisation figure for the liquidity counterbalancing capacity and ensuring the time-to-wall figure
under the defined stress scenarios is sufficient. Time-to-wall shows the earliest point at which the
forecast liquidity requirement ceases to be met by the liquidity counterbalancing capacity. The
time-to-wall to be observed every day and the maximum permitted utilisation of liquidity counterbalancing capacity at the BayernLB Group are set in the Group Risk Strategy.
In 2013 the limitation of liquidity risks once again ensured BayernLB was solvent and able to fund
itself at all times and made a valuable contribution to optimising the management of short-term
and structural liquidity at the BayernLB Group.
The BayernLB Group will continue to adapt the monitoring of liquidity risk as market circumstances and regulatory requirements change so as to optimise the management of liquidity.
To this end, BayernLB has set up an early warning system for risks and regularly conducts backtesting and validation processes within the Group.
The liquidity overviews, limit utilisations and other relevant ratios form part of the risk reports
submitted regularly to the Board of Management, the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO), the
Liability Management Committee (LMC) and the responsible controlling units.
Current situation
The liquidity situation as at 31 December 2013 is shown based on both IFRS 7.39 maturity structures and an economic approach. Financial liabilities break down by IFRS 7.39 contractual maturity structure as follows:
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

31 Dec 2013
• Financial liabilities
• Liabilities from derivatives

52,909
54

71,374
– 32

95,936
– 718

158,658
– 1,191

EUR million

Total

52,963

71,342

95,217

157,467

31 Dec 2012
• Financial liabilities
• Liabilities from derivatives

49,179
– 163

66,652
– 221

92,336
– 379

177,066
– 442

Total

49,017

66,431

91,957

176,624

The BayernLB Group’s open irrevocable commitments remained almost unchanged at
EUR 22.2 billion (FY 2012: EUR 22.1 billion). The volume of contingent liabilities from guarantees
and indemnity agreements fell to EUR 12.1 billion (FY 2012: EUR 12.7 billion). However, in
contrast to the economic approach used in the tables below, call probabilities have not been
factored into these volumes.
The contractual cash flows reported are not discounted and include interest payments. Thus they
may differ from the carrying amounts on the balance sheet.
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Liquidity overviews are compiled for the purpose of managing and monitoring liquidity risks economically. This involves calculating the liquidity surplus by subtracting in each maturity band the
cumulative liquidity gaps from the realisable liquidity counterbalancing capacity. Economically
expected cash flows from non-deterministic products are based partly on modelling assumptions.
The BayernLB Group management scenario showed the following results as at 31 December 2013
compared to 31 December 2012:
31 Dec 2013
Cumulative figures in EUR million
Liquidity surplus
• arising from
– liquidity counterbalancing capacity
• less
– liquidity gap (ex. commitments and guarantees)
– liquidity gap from commitments and guarantees

31 Dec 2012
Cumulative figures in EUR million
Liquidity surplus
• arising from
– liquidity counterbalancing capacity
• less
– liquidity gap (ex. commitments and guarantees)
– liquidity gap from commitments and guarantees

up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

22,867

27,678

31,317

45,176

42,374

45,542

48,702

18,259

15,069
4,438

12,480
5,384

10,560
6,825

– 30,257
3,341

up to
1 month

up to
3 months

up to
1 year

up to
5 years

19,595

22,623

27,592

34,574

31,611

35,745

39,876

20,892

8,496
3,520

8,665
4,457

6,028
6,256

– 16,977
3,295

The changes in financial liabilities and liquidity overviews between 31 December 2012 and
31 December 2013 continued to be heavily influenced by the focus on the core business areas
coupled with the resizing of the BayernLB Group. The high liquidity surpluses across all maturity
bands on 31 December 2013 confirm the good liquidity situation.
The slight recovery in interbank trading continued in 2013. Short-term liquidity (up to one month)
remained available again in sufficient quantity in the market at all times. Sufficient reserves are
therefore available that are supported by appropriate structural refinancing on the capital market
(covered and uncovered, EUR 3.8 billion each).
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The refinancing structure in the BayernLB Group was as follows as at 31 December 2013:
Refinancing structure
in %
41

45
40
31

35

20
15
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15

12

17
15

20

19

25

20

30

10
5
0
Deposits
(unsecured)

Savings banks
(unsecured)

Domestic market
(unsecured)

Pfandbriefs
(secured)

Internal
refinancing

 31 Dec 2013
 31 Dec 2012

The chart presents secured and unsecured issues in terms of sales in 2013, while deposits are
shown in terms of growth in 2013. Internal refinancing includes proceeds in excess of r efinancing
needs and funding freed up by the sale of assets.
In the coming years liquidity management and monitoring in BayernLB will continue to revolve
around the refinancing options available and focus on ensuring liquidity reserves are always
adequate, even in stress situations. The management of liquidity reserves takes account of the
requirements resulting from the refining of CRD IV and CRR. This ensures not only that the
BayernLB Group is technically able to promptly comply with reporting requirements but also
that management is involved in seeing that requirements are efficiently implemented.
The BayernLB Group took measures early and before the law took effect to achieve an adequate
LCR ratio and also p
 articipated in quantitative impact studies (QIS).
As well as actively managing liquidity reserves, the management of supervisory and economic
liquidity risk at BayernLB will continue to be built around a broadly-diversified refinancing structure, supported by a reliable base of domestic investors and retail customer deposits at its DKB
subsidiary.
Thanks to its forward-looking liquidity management, the BayernLB Group holds sufficient liquidity.
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Operational risk
Definition
In line with the regulatory definition in section 269 of the Solvency Ordinance (SolvV), the BayernLB
Group defines operational risk (OpRisk) as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. This includes legal risks.
Legal risks are risks of loss from non-observance of legal provisions and rulings due to ignorance,
lack of diligence in applying the respective law or a delay in reacting to changes in the legal
framework. Legal risks do not include the risk of loss from changes in the legal framework that
could make the future business activity of BayernLB more difficult.
Risk strategy
The treatment of operational risks is set out in the Risk Strategy, operating instructions and an
OpRisk handbook. The strategic objective is to minimise or avoid risk in such a way that the costs
of doing so do not exceed the risk of loss from operational risks. This requires operational risks
to be identified and assessed as completely as possible. The risk strategy integrates the limits on
capital backing for operational risks in risk-bearing capacity (ICAAP) into the overall risk limit
system.
Risk measurement
For operational risks BayernLB uses the standardised approach (STA) set out in SolvV to calculate
the capital requirements under SolvV/Basel II (Pillar I) and the risk capital requirement under the
risk-bearing capacity assessment (ICAAP)/Basel II (Pillar II). The capital required for operational
risks in the BayernLB Group was EUR 533 million as at 31 December 2013. BayernLB will switch to
a risk-sensitive process (Op-VaR) for the risk-bearing capacity calculation in 2014.
Risk management and monitoring
Operational risk is managed and monitored both centrally in the Group Risk Control division and
locally in the individual business areas and central areas. Group Risk Control division has the
authority to establish guidelines for all methods, processes and systems. Responsibility for OpRisk
management resides with the business areas and central areas. Bank subsidiaries manage their
operational risk through their own risk-controlling units; relevant investments are included in the
loss reporting procedure for the BayernLB Group. When it comes to monitoring operational risks
both BayernLB Group loss data and external loss data are taken into consideration, via the OpRisk
data consortium DakOR and the ÖffSchOR loss database for publicly known OpRisk losses. In
addition to straightforward quantification of capital backing and stress scenarios, other risk
management instruments such as risk inventories combining self-assessment and scenario
analyses are also used. The stress scenarios are an integral part of the cross-risk stress scenarios
in ICAAP.
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Reporting
Operational risk at the BayernLB Group is reported to the Board of Management every quarter as
part of the regular reporting on overall risk and on an ad-hoc basis as required. The operational
risk loss situation and trends and the risk-bearing capacity and stress analyses (ICAAP) form a
major part of the regular reporting. This ensures that operational risks are systematically included
in stress analyses and the monitoring of risk-bearing capacity across all types of risk and integrated
into the overall management of risk and the risk strategy.
Business continuity management
Business continuity management is part of the Risk Strategy and includes important measures to
ensure essential resources are available and maintain/restore time-critical business processes.
Emergencies can escalate into crises that place the operations of the entire Bank in jeopardy.
The Crisis Management team operates in accordance with the Crisis Manual in a crisis situation.
Current situation
The graph below shows the changes in operational risk losses recorded at the main entities of
the BayernLB Group in 2013 compared to 2012.
Losses by Group unit
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EUR
million
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LBLux

 31 Dec 2013 Total: EUR 14.2 million
 31 Dec 2012 Total: EUR 10.6 million

This rise in losses at BayernLB is mainly due to a verdict by the German Federal Court of Justice in
2013 on objections relating to consumer loans secured by liens. The ongoing legal dispute with
HAA had no impact on the amount of losses for BayernLB. For more information on litigation
risks, please see the remarks in on “Loans and advances to banks” in the report on the economic
position and the explanation in the report on expected developments and opportunities.
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The increase in OpRisk losses at MKB is the result of the Hungarian competition authority accusing
MKB of illicit agreements in relation to the forced conversion of foreign currency loans initiated
by the Hungarian state. MKB is currently awaiting a judicial review of the competition authority’s
conduct.
At DKB, losses fell considerably compared with the previous year. This is largely thanks to the
successful implementation of measures to prevent external fraud.

Summary
The overall stable risk trend at the BayernLB Group was marked by the move to focus on core
business and wind down non-core business in line with strategy.
The BayernLB Group had adequate risk-bearing capacity as at 31 December 2013. The stress
scenarios run also confirm that adequate capital is held. In addition, BayernLB had a comfortable
supply of liquidity on hand. Risk provisions take appropriate account of known risks. The
regulatory solvency requirements were met. Own funds available to cover risks amounted to
EUR 17.0 billion. For more details, please see the section “Banking supervisory ratios under the
German Banking Act (KWG) for the BayernLB Group” in the management report.
The risk management and controlling system at the BayernLB Group has appropriate processes
to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and manage risks from an economic viewpoint.
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Report on expected developments and opportunities
Economic environment
The forecasts set out in the following report relating to the BayernLB Group’s performance in
2014 may differ substantially from the actual outcome should one of the following uncertain
factors or other uncertainties occur or should the assumptions underlying our forecasts prove
incorrect. The BayernLB Group is under no obligation to update its forecasts in light of new information or future events outside the regular reporting schedule.
In its December 2013 monthly report, the Bundesbank forecasts that the economic upturn in
Germany will continue in 2014, chiefly driven by consumption as before. But capital expenditure
is also playing a greater role in the pick-up in momentum against a backdrop of rising capacity
utilisation, low interest rates, and a brighter outlook for major foreign markets. Exports should
also make a mild positive contribution to growth on balance now that the economic health of
the main eurozone economies and the US is improving. Overall, the Bundesbank forecasts that
growth in Germany will average 1.7 percent for the year. With the economy still weak, inflation
will remain very low for the foreseeable future in Germany and the eurozone, but should gradually pick up. Deflationary risks in the currency zone as a whole remain low, but could re-emerge
were a new shock to occur.
As a result, BayernLB expects job creation over the year to accelerate and unemployment to fall
further to 6.7 percent despite rising labour market participation and immigration, while price
rises, subdued again by cheap imports, are likely to be modest in 2014. Slightly higher inflation is
unlikely to emerge until the end of the year when the impact of wage increases, which are
expected to be higher, feeds through. Risks to the economic upturn remain, however. The European debt and banking crisis could flare up again as the European Court of Justice puts the European Central Bank’s Outright Monetary Transactions (OMT) programme under the microscope,
but markets may also take strong exception to the Federal Reserve’s tapering. The turmoil which
struck some emerging economies at the start of the year could intensify over the course of the
year.
A more rapid relaxation on financial markets would lead to opportunities from the valuation of
securities portfolios and resulting gains.
In 2014 Bunds yields will be mainly driven by a gradual improvement in fundamentals in the eurozone and other developed economies. This is in marked contrast to the past three years where
the European sovereign debt crisis held sway over markets. The debt crisis is not yet over, but will
likely stay in the background compared to previous years and only moderate the upward trend in
yields. In BayernLB’s view, over a 12-month perspective, a yield of about 2.4 percent on 10-year
Bunds is achievable.
BayernLB Group sees opportunities if the economic data turns out better than expected. A more
rapid increase in interest rates would help the contribution from investing capital, and thus net
interest income.
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The BayernLB Group’s future performance
The strategic guidelines for BayernLB for 2014 and beyond are in principle set by and based on
the outcome of the EU state aid proceedings concluded in 2012. In the coming years BayernLB
will continue to follow the course it is on to resize and focus the Bank in order to further
strengthen its business activities with customers in the core areas of the new business model. In
addition it will drive forward the reduction of its total assets in 2014 in accordance with the EU
conditions, aiming to reach about EUR 240 billion by the end of 2015. With the exception of MKB,
BayernLB no longer holds any large equity stakes which have to be sold under the EU ruling. It
has therefore almost achieved the targets set by the European Commission in this respect too. It
will continue to wind down the non-core business managed in the Restructuring Unit (RU). Most
of this is located in western Europe and North America. In addition to winding down transactions
as they mature, the Bank will also take advantage of opportunities on the secondary market to
sell assets before they mature. This also serves to help it to achieve its overriding strategic aims
in terms of target total assets, focusing on the new business model/core business and, last but
not least, freeing up capital.
One of the most important EU conditions and critical factors in the coming year will be the
phased repayment of core capital to the Free State of Bavaria, which was originally about
EUR 5 billion, and this will have a constraining influence across the board. Based on current
expectations and forecasts of the main influencing factors, the long-term forecast presently
indicates that BayernLB will once more, as in 2013, be able to meet its payment obligations
under the EU ruling.
In BayernLB’s view, it is now essential to shift its focus from the business model to making
improvements in the areas of costs, efficiency and workflows. After defining targets and identifying
areas for action, the cost-cutting programme, which ran through 2013, will move into the implementation phase in 2014. The approaches and measures identified will be fleshed out and then
implemented. By the end of 2016, BayernLB hopes to have completed a substantial part of its plan
to permanently cut administrative expenses by approximately EUR 130 million from the 2012
level by the end of 2017. The personnel-related measures will be implemented on the basis of an
agreement with the General Staff Council to reduce headcount in Germany by mutual agreement
from the start of 2014. The CIR is expected to stay at the same level as last year. Administrative
expenses are planned to fall, but this will be offset by lower overall income.
There will be a positive impact on the BayernLB Group’s economic situation if the planned measures and packages can be implemented much faster than expected.
The BayernLB Group will further significantly reduce total assets in non-core activities in 2014,
while its funding needs will remain more or less unchanged from last year. Funding management
will focus on drawing more heavily on funding from the savings banks customer group and
continuing to improve the quality and composition of the funding mix.
Thanks to BayernLB’s good liquidity and funding situation currently, and with the expectation
that central banks will continue to support the economy with their policies so that the much
improved market conditions remain intact, no problems in obtaining liquidity are expected
in 2014.
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The economic capital available to the BayernLB Group is sufficient to cover the risk capital
requirement in the business plan for the various risk types, even allowing for a stress buffer in
the planning horizon.
In 2014 in light of the forecast economic recovery in Europe, overall portfolio quality is expected
to remain stable. In terms of sub-portfolios, the quality of the Financial Institutions sub-portfolio
is expected to remain good and steady compared to FY 2013, while the quality of the Countries/
Public-sector/Non-profit institutions sub-portfolio should continue to be very good and stable.
The Corporates sub-portfolio will also remain stable on the whole. Any weakening in the credit
quality of individual sectors of the Corporates sub-portfolio should be mitigated by the expected
economic revival in Europe and additional GDP growth in Germany. Given the moderately better
economic outlook for Germany, the quality of the Commercial Real Estate and Retail sub-portfolios is likewise expected to be stable. The tough economic situation in Hungary remains a source
of uncertainty. If the economy were to improve even more, it could have a positive impact on risk
provisions.
In 2014 BayernLB will also press on with legal actions related to Hypo Group Alpe Adria, Klagenfurt (HAA). BayernLB is suing the members of the previous Board of Management for damages
before Munich District Court I, alleging they committed multiple breaches of their fiduciary duties
when they acquired HAA. BayernLB considers its legal position has been given c redence by the
fact that six defendants were put on trial before the sixth criminal division of Munich District
Court I in January 2014. The allegations by the prosecution include a breach of fiduciary duty
through the acquisition of shares in HAA. BayernLB has also brought a test case before the Vienna
Commercial Court against one of the sellers of the shares in HAA. The Bank contends that the
seller deliberately concealed details which would have been of relevance to BayernLB when
making the purchase, i.e. confidential agreements with holders of preference shares which bar
shares from being counted as equity in HAA. BayernLB also considers its legal position here has
been given credence by the fact that four former board members of HAA went on trial on criminal charges in November 2013. The prosecution alleges they were in breach of their fiduciary
duties and in some cases committed accounting fraud in connection with confidential subsidiary
agreements in favour of preference shareholders. On 27 February 2014 the Klagenfurt District
Court found Dr Wolfgang Kulterer and two other defendants guilty and imposed prison sentences. For procedural reasons, the court was unable to hand down a ruling on 27 February 2014
concerning the fourth defendant Dr Tilo Berlin. Dr Wolfgang Kulterer and Dr Tilo Berlin were
chairmen in 2007 of the management board of the seller being sued by BayernLB.
From 1 April 2014 HAA will have been in material arrears for over 90 days, according to the CRR
rules. The result will be a need for some EUR 1 billion of capital purely for supervisory reasons,
but this will not affect reported equity. This increased requirement has already been taken into
account in the capital planning at BayernLB.
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BayernLB will forge ahead with the restructuring of its operating business by strengthening existing
long-term customer relationships and acquiring new business partners and business opportunities
with the necessary connection to Germany. For 2014, BayernLB’s targets, especially for the Mittelstand segment, include acquiring well over 100 new customers, expanding key and core bank
relationships, further strengthening the syndicated loan business with the Bavarian savings banks
and maintaining its very good market position in the subsidised loan business.
In commercial and residential real estate BayernLB is forecasting around EUR 3 billion of new
business, the same as in 2013. DKB is aiming to boost the number of retail customers from just
under 2.8 million at present to 3 million.
Non-core business must be clearly separated from the growth-focused segments in the core business in terms of planned trends in volumes and profit. The goal is to rapidly wind down exposures and portfolios while preserving capital. Opportunities will occur in this segment if capital is
released sooner than expected, or in larger amounts.
Despite the aforementioned challenges posed by the environment, repayment obligations and
regulatory requirements, BayernLB is confident overall that it has created the prerequisites for
achieving all of its goals.
For financial year 2014 the BayernLB Group is forecasting profit before taxes within the range
of the comparative figures for 2012 and 2013. RoE is expected to be in the low single digits. This
expected positive performance for the year is subject to the proviso that no major negative economic or financial events occur in the eurozone or global economy. Further significant regulatory
intervention could also impact the BayernLB Group’s planning. The EU ruling requires MKB to be
sold by the end of 2015; if this occurs in 2014, the BayernLB Group’s earnings would show a loss
for the year due to the deconsolidation effect. This has already been taken into account in the
medium-term capital planning.
It cannot be ruled out that any change to the underlying assumptions may affect the BayernLB
Group, its financial position and financial performance.

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

149

BayernLB Group’s
consolidated financial
statements

150

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

152
154
156
158
160
275
276

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

Statement of comprehensive income
Balance sheet
Statement of changes in equity
Cash flow statement
Notes
Responsibility statement by the Board of Management
Auditor’s Report

151

Statement of comprehensive income
Income statement

Notes

EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013
EUR million

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012
EUR million

• Interest income
• Interest expenses
Net interest income

(29)

1,919

10,144
– 8,237
1,907

Risk provisions in the credit business

(30)

– 653

– 459

1,266

1,448

8,066
– 6,147

Net interest income after risk provisions
• Commission income
• Commission expenses
Net commission income

(31)

289

767
– 507
260

Gains or losses on fair value
measurement

(32)

271

299

Gains or losses on hedge accounting

(33)

– 27

3

Gains or losses on financial investments

(34)

74

3

40

– 38

693
– 404

Income from interests in companies
measured at equity
Administrative expenses

(35)

– 1,533

– 1,639

Expenses for bank levies

(36)

– 51

– 53

Other income and expenses

(37)

89

421

Gains or losses on restructuring

(38)

– 164

– 62

253

642

– 129

82

124

724

–4

7

120

731

Profit before taxes
Income taxes
Profit after taxes
Profit attributable to non-controlling
interests
Consolidated profit

(39)

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Statement of comprehensive income1

EUR million

Notes

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2013

Profit after taxes as per the income statement

1 Jan – 31 Dec
2012

124

7246

–3
– 158
195
37
– 40
– 31
– 31
0
– 31
0

685
5355
1205
655
30
22
22
0
22
0

Components of other comprehensive income
temporarily not recognised in profit or loss2
• Changes in the revaluation surplus
– change in measurement
– reclassification adjustment due to realised gains and losses
change not including deferred taxes
change in deferred taxes
• Currency-related changes
– change in measurement
– reclassification adjustment due to realised gains and losses
change not including deferred taxes
change in deferred taxes

(64)

(64)

Components of other comprehensive income
permanently not recognised in profit or loss3
• Changes due to remeasurement of defined benefit plans4
– change in measurement
change not including deferred taxes
change in deferred taxes

(64)

Other comprehensive income after taxes
Total comprehensive income recognised and not recognised
in profit or loss
• attributable:
– to BayernLB shareholders
– to non-controlling interests

– 80
– 80
– 80
0

– 644
– 656
– 656
12

– 114

63

10

7876

7
4

7796
8

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
1 Due to the first-time application of the amended IAS 1 standard “Presentation of Financial Statements” in financial year 2013, the structure of the statement
of comprehensive income and the previous year’s figures have been adjusted to reflect its retrospective application (see note 1).
2 The components of other comprehensive income temporarily not recognised in profit or loss are components which will be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss as per IAS 1.82A (b) (so-called recycling), when specific conditions are met (e.g. sale).
3 The components of other comprehensive income permanently not recognised in profit or loss are components which will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss as per IAS 1.82A (a).
4 Reported for the first time due to implementation of the revised IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” (see notes 1 and 2).
5 Includes adjustments as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
6 Includes adjustments as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Balance sheet
Assets

Notes

31 Dec 2013
EUR million

31 Dec 2012
EUR million

1 Jan 2012
EUR million

Cash reserves

(7, 40)

3,160

2,583

2,645

Loans and advances to banks

(8, 41)

43,470

44,446

49,555

Loans and advances to customers

(8, 42)

137,965

150,612

157,589

Risk provisions

(9, 43)

– 2,668

– 2,830

– 2,922

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets

(10)

1,687

2,334

1,393

Assets held for trading

(11, 44)

25,462

42,123

48,636

Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

(12, 45)

2,889

4,162

4,548

Financial investments

(13, 46)

39,720

38,606

41,926

Interests in companies measured at equity

(14, 47)

26

111

110

Investment property

(15, 48)

99

69

2,061

Property, plant and equipment

(15, 49)

619

629

611

Intangible assets

(16, 50)

154

186

147

Current tax assets

(27, 51)

76

67

72

Deferred tax assets

(27, 51)

209

429

818

Non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale

(17, 52)

2,065

2,460

1,255

Other assets

(18, 53)

668

877

756

255,601

286,864

309,201

Total assets
Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Liabilities

Notes

31 Dec 2013
EUR million

31 Dec 2012
EUR million

1 Jan 2012
EUR million

Liabilities to banks

(19, 54)

71,191

70,521

75,715

Liabilities to customers

(19, 55)

86,183

90,819

92,682

Securitised liabilities

(19, 56)

52,964

60,319

74,075

Liabilities held for trading

(20, 57)

16,797

34,747

35,717

Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

(21, 58)

2,846

3,864

3,306

Provisions

(22, 59)

3,503

3,178

3,682

Current tax liabilities

(27, 60)

265

274

374

Deferred tax liabilities

(27, 60)

29

90

778

Liabilities of disposal groups

(23, 61)

1,438

1,259

536

Other liabilities

(24, 62)

522

545

724

Subordinated capital

(63)

4,984

6,346

6,964

Equity

(64)

14,879

14,903

14,648

14,849
6,846
–
145
3,893
4,094
– 37
– 92
–
30

14,801
6,556
612
182
4,036
3,511
– 34
– 61
–
102

14,527
6,150
612
334
4,473
3,744
– 714
– 72
–
122

255,601

286,864

309,201

•• Equity excluding non-controlling interests
– subscribed capital
– specific-purpose capital
– compound instruments (equity component)
– capital surplus
– retained earnings
– revaluation surplus
– foreign currency translation reserve
– consolidated profit
•• Non-controlling interests
Total liabilities

(25)

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Statement of changes in equity

Subscribed capital

Specific-purpose capital

Compound instruments
(equity component)

Capital surplus

Retained earnings

Revaluation surplus

Currency translation
reserve

Consolidated profit

Equity before
non-controlling interests

Parent

6,150

612

334

4,473

3,313

– 660

– 74

–

14,148

EUR million
As at 31 Dec 2011
Adjusted as per IAS 81
As at 1 Jan 2012

6,150

612

334

4,473

431

– 54

1

3,744

– 714

– 72

Changes in the
revaluation surplus2

– 644

Other comprehensive income

– 644

Consolidated profit

11

– 675

681

11

Transactions with owners

– 698

Capital increase/
capital decrease

406

– 119

Allocations to/withdrawals
from reserves

– 16

Distributions on silent
partner contributions, profit
participation rights and
specific-purpose capital

– 16
6,556

612

182

681

4

685

11

11

22

731

–7

724

762

779

8

787

– 748

– 34

– 61

– 644

762

– 698

– 698

405

405

225

780

3,511

14,648

63

– 27

198

– 406

– 406

–

–

– 14

– 31

– 31

–

14,801

16

4,036

122

15

344
– 438

Withdrawals from compound
instruments (equity
component)

14,527

48

–1

Changes in the
scope of consolidation and
other

14,270
378

– 644
681

– 31

Total comprehensive income

As at 31 Dec 2012

–

11

Changes due to remeasurement of defined benefit
plans3

122

378

681

Currency-related
changes2

Consolidated equity

Noncontrolling interests

102

14,903

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
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Noncontrolling interests

Revaluation surplus

Equity before
non-controlling interests

Retained earnings

Consolidated profit

Capital surplus

14,801

Compound instruments
(equity component)

–

Specific-purpose capital

14,801

Subscribed capital

–

612

182

4,036

3,511

– 34

–

–

–

6,556

612

182

4,036

3,511

– 34

– 61

Adjusted as per IAS 8
As at 1 Jan 2013

– 61

6,556

EUR million
As at 31 Dec 2012

Currency translation
reserve

Parent

Changes in the
revaluation surplus2

Changes due to remeasurement of defined benefit
plans3

– 80

Other comprehensive income

– 80
– 80

– 31

– 31

– 26

Changes in the
scope of consolidation
and other

315

– 612

–3

35

– 33

297

43

– 475

621

Allocations to/withdrawals
from reserves

102

14,903

–

– 31

–3
–1

– 31

– 113

–1

– 114

120

120

4

124

120

7

4

10

– 80
–3
–3

– 31

Transactions with owners
Capital increase/
capital decrease

14,903

–3

Consolidated profit
Total comprehensive income

102

–

–3

Currency-related
changes2

Consolidated equity

152
154
156
158

–

–

6

6

10

– 77

– 67

26

26

Withdrawals from compound
instruments (equity
component)

–

–

Distributions on silent
partner contributions, profit
participation rights and
specific-purpose capital

–

–

As at 31 Dec 2013

6,846

–

145

3,893

4,094

– 120

– 80

– 37

– 92

–

14,849

30

14,879

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
Details on equity can be found in note 64.
1 The changes on the previous year period explained in note 2 reflect the impact of the change in accounting policy as per IAS 8.14 et seq., resulting from the
retrospective application of the revised standard IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”.
2 Includes the share of other comprehensive income attributable to companies measured at equity, previously reported separately, which is now to be allocated
to the respective components of other comprehensive income in consequence of the first-time and retrospective application of the amended IAS 1 standard
“Presentationof Financial Statements” (see note 1 “Principles – Impact of amended and new International Financial Reporting Standards”).
3 Changes due to remeasurement of defined benefit plans are reported under this item, as a result of changes in calculating actuarial gains and losses in
consequence of the first-time application of the revised standard IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” (see note 2 “Changes on the previous year”).
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Cash flow statement
EUR million
Profit after taxes

2013

20121

124

724

599
799
– 305
– 22
– 1,497

766
818
– 949
–7
– 1,877

– 302

– 526

Items in consolidated profit not affecting the cash flow and
carryforwards to cash flow from operating activities
•• Depreciation, impairment losses, and reversals of
impairment losses on receivables and fixed assets
•• Changes to provisions
•• Changes to other items not affecting cash flow
•• Gains or losses on the sale of assets
•• Other adjustments (net)
Sub-total
Changes to assets and liabilities from operating a
 ctivities
•• Loans and advances
– to banks
– to customers
•• Securities (unless financial investments) and derivatives
•• Other assets from operating activities
•• Liabilities
– to banks
– to customers
•• Securitised liabilities
•• Other liabilities from operating activities
•• Cash flows from hedging derivatives

3
10,105
– 3,082
193

831
616
7,280
– 203

1,463
– 2,802
– 7,305
– 154
704

– 3,630
8,075
– 13,777
– 1,398
949

Interest and dividends received

17,010

52,500

– 15,573

– 50,712

13

– 71

275

– 67

Interest paid
Income tax payments
Cash flow from operating activities
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2013

20121

Proceeds from the sale of
•• financial investments
•• interests in companies measured at equity
•• investment property
•• property, plant and equipment
•• intangible assets

855
–
11
5
–

13
–
24
2
1

Payments for the acquisition of
•• financial investments
•• interests in companies measured at equity
•• investment property
•• property, plant and equipment
•• intangible assets

– 141
–
– 74
– 33
– 51

– 83
–
– 51
– 47
– 73

907

160

–

–

1,477

– 54

Effects from changes in the scope of consolidation
•• proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries and
other business units
•• payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries and
other business units
Cash flow from investment activities
Cash inflows from allocations to equity
Disbursements to company owners and minority shareholders
Changes in cash from subordinated capital (net)
Cash outflow/inflow from an increase in non-controlling interests
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at end of previous period
+/– cash flow from operating activities
+/– cash flow from investment activities
+/– cash flow from financing activities
+/– exchange-rate, scope of consolidation and measurement-related
changes in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

35

–

– 31

–3

– 1,374

– 550

–

–

– 1,371

– 553

2,583

2,645

275

– 67

1,477

– 54

– 1,371

– 553

196

612

3,160

2,583

Rounding differences may occur in the tables.
Details on the cash flow statement can be found in note 74.
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for Bayerische Landesbank, an institution established under
public law, Munich, Germany (BayernLB), for financial year 2013 were prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) pursuant to Commission Regulation
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19 July 2002 (including all addenda), as
well as supplementary provisions applicable under section 315a para. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). In addition to the IFRS standards, IFRS also comprise the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). All standards and interpretations that are mandatory
within the EU for financial year 2013 have been applied.
The consolidated financial statements contain the statement of comprehensive income including
the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow
statement, and the notes including the segment report. The presentation currency is the euro.
Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are given in EUR million and rounded up or down to the
nearest whole figure. Tables may contain rounding differences. Plus or minus symbols are not
inserted in front of figures except where they are needed for clarity.
The Group management report, which also contains the information required under IFRS 7.31
to IFRS 7.42 and IAS 1.134 to IAS 1.136, has been published in a separate section of the annual
report.

Accounting policies
(1)

Principles

Pursuant to IAS 27.24, the BayernLB Group’s accounts are prepared in accordance with Groupwide accounting and valuation policies. Items are recognised and measured on a going concern
basis.
Income and expenses are treated on an accruals basis and recognised in the period to which they
are economically attributable.
Estimates and assessments required for recognition and measurement pursuant to IFRS are made
in accordance with the respective standards. They are regularly checked and are based on past
experience and other factors such as expectations of future events. No assurance as to the reliability of estimates can be given, particularly when calculating the value of risk provisions, provisions, deferred taxes, and the fair value of financial instruments.
An asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the BayernLB
Group in the future and its cost can be measured reliably.
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A liability is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will result from its settlement and the settlement amount can be measured reliably.
Impact of amended and new International Financial Reporting Standards
In the reporting year the following amended or newly issued standards and interpretations were
to be applied for the first time:
• IFRS 1
The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”
involve the removal of fixed dates for first-time adopters, standards for severe hyperinflation
and guidelines for the recognition of government loans. For BayernLB the amendments had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013.
• IFRS 7
The amendment to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” introduces new disclosure
requirements for certain netting arrangements. These disclosures, which must be applied
retrospectively, were included in note 71.
• IFRS 13
The new standard IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” sets uniform rules applicable to all standards for calculating fair value. It defines the term and states which methods can be used to
calculate it, and extends the disclosure requirements in this area. The implementation of the new
standard, which must be applied prospectively, had an impact on BayernLB’s consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2013 (see note 2). The disclosure requirements in
IFRS 13 were mainly applied in note 68.
• IAS 1
The amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” require that the items in other
comprehensive income be divided according to whether they can or cannot be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (recycling). The related income tax items and the share of companies
measured at equity in other comprehensive income, which has previously been recognised
separately, must be allocated accordingly. The amendments, which must be applied retrospectively, had an impact on the presentation of other comprehensive income in the BayernLB
Group’s statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in equity.
• IAS 12
Revised standard IAS 12 “Income Taxes” amends the rules on the recognition of deferred taxes
on investment property measured at fair value. There is no impact on BayernLB’s consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2013.
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• IAS 19
The amended IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” requires that actuarial gains or losses arising from
the difference between expected and actual values or changed assumptions are recognised in
other comprehensive income. The amendments also eliminate the method options whereby
actuarial gains or losses are amortised over future periods using the corridor approach or
immediately recognised in the income statement. They also introduced a net interest approach.
This prescribes the use of interest income and expenses based on net pension liabilities and
plan assets. The implementation of the amended standard, which, with limited exceptions,
must be applied retrospectively, had an impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2013 (see note 2). The revised standard significantly increases the disclosure
requirements for defined benefit plans. These disclosures are shown in notes 22 and 59.
• IFRIC 20
The new interpretation IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine”
deals with the accounting treatment of the stripping costs in surface mining operations. There
is no impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013.
• Improvements to IFRS – 2009 – 2011 cycle
In its Annual Improvement Cycle, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) made
minor amendments to standards IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.
For BayernLB the amendments had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements
as at 31 December 2013.
Voluntary, early application of the following amended or newly issued standards incorporated
into European law by the European Commission, whose application becomes mandatory in
financial year 2014, was waived as permitted.
• IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 and IAS 28
In May 2011, the IASB published three new standards: IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” and IFRS 12 “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities”.
These deal with the scope of consolidation requirements, the definition and treatment of joint
arrangements, and the disclosure of the nature, the risks and the financial impact of interests
in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities (specialpurpose entities). Following publication of these standards, the IASB amended standards
IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”. Standard IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and interpretations SIC-12 “Consolidation –
Special Purpose Entities” and SIC-13 “Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions
by Venturers” have been replaced by the new standards. In June 2012 standards IFRS 10, 11 and
12 were supplemented to clarify certain transitional guidance and provide relief in their initial
application. In October 2012 additional amendments to IFRS 10 and 12 and IAS 27 were agreed
to take better account of the business models of investment entities. The standards and amendments issued in May 2011 were incorporated into European law in December 2012. The amendments published in June 2012 and October 2012 were incorporated in April and November 2013.
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All standards and amendments take effect for EU companies in financial years beginning on
or after 1 January 2014. No material impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements
is expected from the implementation of these new and amended standards.
• IAS 32
In December 2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” relating to the offsetting of financial assets and liabilities; these were incorporated into
European law in December 2012. The current requirements in IAS 32 on offsetting have been
retained in principle but further clarified through additional guidance. The amendments take
effect in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. No material impact on BayernLB’s
consolidated financial statements is expected from the implementation of these amendments.
• IAS 36
In May 2013 the IASB published amendments to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. These contain
minor amendments to the information required in the notes if the recoverable amount of
an impaired non-financial asset is determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal.
The amendments were incorporated into European law in December 2013 and take effect in
European law for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. BayernLB does not
expect any material impact on its consolidated financial statements as a result.
• IAS 39
In June 2013 the IASB published amendments to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. These permit derivatives to remain designated as hedging instruments in a continuing hedging relationship despite novation if the contract is transferred to a central counterparty because of legal or regulatory requirements and the contractual provisions are modified
only to the extent required by the novation. The amendments were incorporated into European
law in December 2013 and take effect in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
No material impact on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements is expected from the
implementation of these amendments.
The IASB has also issued the following amended and new standards and interpretations which
have not yet been incorporated into European law:
• IFRS 9
In November 2009, as part of the process of replacing existing standard IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, the IASB published IFRS 9, which contains new rules
for classifying and measuring financial assets. In October 2010 this was supplemented by guidelines on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and the derecognition of
financial instruments. In November 2013 other additions to the standard were made containing
mainly new rules on hedge accounting. In February 2014 the IASB decided that application of
IFRS 9 will be mandatory in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. BayernLB is
analysing the agreed and potential future amendments. At present no information can be given
as to which amendments will be approved and incorporated into European law and what
impact this would have on BayernLB’s consolidated financial statements.
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• IFRS 14
In January 2014, the IASB published new interim standard IFRS 14, which permits first-time
adopters of IFRS under certain circumstances to continue to recognise amounts related to rate
regulation in accordance with their previous GAAP requirements. The standard takes effect
in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2016. It will have no impact on BayernLB’s
consolidated financial statements.
• IAS 19
In November 2013 the IASB published amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, which
specify that contributions from employees to defined benefit plans in the period in which the
related service was rendered may be deducted from the current service cost provided that the
contributions are not linked to the number of service years. The amendments take effect in
financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. BayernLB does not expect any material impact
on its consolidated financial statements as a result.
• IFRIC 21
In May 2013 the IASB published new interpretation IFRIC 21, which deals with the recognition
of liabilities for paying levies imposed by a government that do not meet the definition of
income taxes under IAS 12. The interpretation takes effect in financial years beginning on or
after 1 January 2014. BayernLB does not expect any impact on its consolidated f inancial statements as a result.
• Improvements to IFRS – 2010 – 2012 cycle and 2011 – 2013 cycle
In December 2013, in its Annual Improvement Cycle the IASB published minor amendments to
standards IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, IFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”, IFRS 13
“Fair Value Measurement”, IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, IAS 24 “Related Party
Disclosures”, IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” and IAS 40 “Investment Property”. The amendments
take effect in financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2014. No material impact on BayernLB’s
consolidated financial statements is expected from these amendments.
(2)

Changes on the previous year

Changes in accordance with IAS 8.14 et seq.
Following first-time application of IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” in financial year 2013, the
BayernLB Group measures financial instruments at mid-market rates. The valuation reserve for
bid-ask spreads was dissolved. In the reporting year for the first time, a debit value adjustment
for own credit risk was calculated for OTC derivatives. This added a gain of EUR 48 million to
gains or losses on fair value measurement.
As from financial year 2013 the segment report will no longer include details on incomes taxes
and profit after taxes (see note 28).
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From financial year 2013, with respect to the notes on pension provisions established for former
members of the BayernLB Board of Management and their surviving dependants, the scope of
the persons included was expanded following a change in the prevailing opinion. Due to this
voluntary change in methodology, the previous year’s figure was increased by EUR 19 million
(see note 85).
For details on changes in accordance with IAS 8.14 et seq. under IAS 19, see the section “Changes
under IAS 19”.
Changes under IAS 8.32 et seq.
For details on changes in accordance with IAS 8.32 et seq., see the section “Changes under
IAS 19”.
Changes under IAS 8.41 et seq.
Changes in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq. were made in relation to the following issues:
When accounting for zero coupon swaps in economic hedges, fair value was inaccurately measured at a foreign branch. As a result, assets held for trading as at 31 December 2012 were understated by EUR 29 million (1 January 2012: EUR 29 million). The impact from this on the 2012
income statement was not material. The necessary adjustments increased retained earnings as
at 31 December 2012 by EUR 29 million (1 January 2012: EUR +29 million).
The impact of these changes on the balance sheet items of the year before is shown in the
following overview:
Impact on the affected balance sheet items as at 31 December 2012

EUR million

31 Dec 2012
Before adjustment

Adjustment

31 Dec 2012
After adjustment

42,094

29

42,123

15,168
15,066
3,775

29
29
29

15,197
15,095
3,804

Assets
• Assets held for trading
Liabilities
• Equity
– Equity excluding non-controlling interests
Retained earnings

In financial year 2012, in the statement of comprehensive income under “change in the revaluation surplus”, the sub-items “change in measurement” and “reclassification adjustment due to
realised gains and losses” were partially misstated. As a result the reclassification adjustment
due to realised gains and losses was overstated by EUR 156 million and therefore the change in
measurement understated by EUR 156 million. The corresponding adjustment was recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.
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In financial year 2012, in note 48 “Investment property” and in note 49 “Property, plant and
equipment”, under “changes in investment property” and “changes in property, plant and equipment”, errors were made in the calculation of transfer amounts relating to “costs” and “depreciation and impairment reversals”. As a result investment property was misstated by EUR 272 million
and property, plant and equipment by EUR 2 million. The carrying amounts as at 31 December
2012 were correctly reported. The previous year’s figures were restated accordingly.
In financial year 2012, in note 64 “Equity”, in the revaluation surplus, the amount of EUR 24 million
was assigned to the sub-item “changes in value not recognised in the income statement” instead
of the sub-item “changes in value recognised in the income statement/realisations”. The previous
year’s figures were restated accordingly.
In note 85 “Related party disclosures” under “relationships with trustees” as at 31 December 2012, the sub-item “liabilities to customers” was understated by EUR 39 million. The pension
provisions for current and former members of the BayernLB Board of Management and their surviving dependants as at 31 December 2012 were understated by EUR 64,000 and EUR 1 million
respectively. Post-employment benefits in financial year 2012 for BayernLB’s Board of Management were overstated by EUR 273,000. The previous year’s figures were restated accordingly.
In note 73 “Transfers of financial assets” in the sub-items “assets held for trading” and “financial
investments” as at 31 December 2012 and in the previous years, the of which lines “collateral
received which may be sold or pledged on” were understated in each case. The previous year’s
figures were not restated as the impact of retrospective adjustment cannot be calculated due to
technical refinements in data parameters made in the reporting year.
For details on changes in accordance with IAS 8.41 et seq. under IAS 19, see the section “Changes
under IAS 19”.
Changes under IAS 19
The first-time adoption of revised IAS 19 standard “Employee Benefits”, led to changes in the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses in the BayernLB Group. Previously BayernLB amortised
Group-wide actuarial gains and losses arising from the difference between expected and actual
values or changed assumptions over future periods using the corridor method and recognised
them in instalments in the income statement. With the amendment of IAS 19, the total impact
from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans, such as actuarial gains and losses, is now
recognised directly in the period it arises in retained earnings within equity and not through the
income statement. Subject to any impact from the asset ceiling, this results in an adjustment to
the pension provisions corresponding to the net pension liability derived from the offsetting of
the net present value of the defined benefit obligation and the plan assets used to cover them.
The new rules under IAS 19 also introduced a net interest approach. This prescribes the use of
interest income and expenses based on net pension liabilities and plan assets. No material impact
on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013 arose from the use of the net
interest approach.
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As implementation of revised IAS 19 qualifies as a change in accounting policy under IAS 8.14 et
seq., which, with limited exceptions, must be applied retrospectively, the BayernLB Group adjusted
the previous year’s figures. The switchover from the corridor method to the direct recognition of
the total impact from remeasurements of defined benefit plans in equity resulted in a decrease in
retained earnings of EUR 191 million as at 31 December 2012 (1 January 2012: EUR +419 million)
and an increase in deferred tax assets of EUR 59 million (1 January 2012: no change). Provisions
rose accordingly by EUR 242 million as at 31 December 2012 (1 January 2012: EUR – 419 million)
and the pension provisions reported under “liabilities of disposal groups” by EUR 8 million
(1 January 2012: no change).
The impact of retrospective application on income statement items in financial year 2012 was:
EUR +1 million on net interest income; EUR +5 million on gains or losses on financial investments;
EUR – 38 million on administrative expenses; and EUR +3 million on income taxes, so that the
changes to accounting policies reduced consolidated net income by a total of EUR 30 million.
The disclosed adjustments under IAS 8.22 due to changes in methodology pursuant to IAS 19 as
at 30 June 2013 were corrected retrospectively in the consolidated financial statements as at
31 December 2013. The changes under IAS 8.42 were due to the non-recognition of increases,
used in the actuarial calculation of defined benefit obligations for 2008 to 2012, of entitlements
governed in collective wage agreements for beneficiaries taking early retirement as a result of
restructuring and also due to deferred tax assets for which no writedowns were made on the
balance sheet.
Subsequently, as the collective wage agreement-based increases did not occur, the provision as
at 31 December 2012 was understated by EUR 56 million (1 January 2012: EUR 38 million) and
the resulting deferred tax asset understated by EUR 2 million (1 January 2012: EUR 0 million).
This also reduced the retained earnings component of equity by EUR 54 million (1 January 2012:
EUR – 38 million). In the income statement the adjustments reduced net interest income by
EUR 2 million, which lowered consolidated net income by EUR 2 million.
Unadjusted for the writedown on the balance sheet, the deferred tax assets calculated for the
change in methodology were overstated by EUR 49 million (1 January 2012: EUR 0 million).
This reduced the retained earnings component of equity by EUR 49 million (1 January 2012:
EUR 0 million).
The impact of these changes on the income statement and balance sheet items of the previous
year is shown in the following overview:
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Impact on the affected income statement items between 1 January and 31 December 2012

EUR million
Net interest income
Gains or losses on financial
investments
Administrative expenses
Profit before taxes
Income taxes
Profit after taxes
Non-controlling interests
Consolidated profit

1 Jan –
31 Dec 2012
Before
adjustment

Adjustment
as per
IAS 8.22

1 Jan –
31 Dec 2012
After
adjustment

1,908

1

1,909

Adjustment
as per
IAS 8.421

1 Jan –
31 Dec 2012
After
adjustment

–2

1,907

–2

5

3

–

3

– 1,601

– 38

– 1,639

–

– 1,639

676

– 32

644

–2

642

79

3

81

–

82

755

– 30

726

–2

724

7

–

7

–

7

762

– 30

733

–2

731

1 Adjusted due to the non-recognition of the collective wage agreement-based increases.

Impact on the affected balance sheet items as at 31 December 2012

EUR million
Assets
• Deferred tax assets
Liabilities
• Provisions
• Liabilities of disposal groups
• Equity
– Equity excluding noncontrolling interests
Retained earnings

Adjustment
as per
IAS 8.421

31 Dec 2012
Before
adjustment

Adjustment
as per
IAS 8.22

31 Dec 2012
After
adjustment

417

59

476

– 47

429

2,880
1,250
15,168

242
8
– 191

3,122
1,259
14,977

56
–
– 103

3,178
1,259
14,874

15,066
3,775

– 191
– 191

14,875
3,585

– 103
– 103

14,772
3,482

31 Dec 2012
After
adjustment

1 Adjustment due to the non-recognition of the collective wage agreement-based increases and deferred tax assets for which no writedowns
were made on the balance sheet.

The corresponding adjustments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
including the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, cash
flow statement and the notes including segment reporting.
In the reporting year BayernLB also made changes to estimates of measurement parameters for
calculating liabilities under IAS 19 and refined measurement methods. The changes in measurement reduced retained earnings by a total of EUR 88 million. This is due to changes in estimated
future medical costs (EUR – 51 million), changes in estimated future salaries (EUR – 52 million),
changes to the survivor’s pension percentage rate (EUR +9 million), the update in the turnover
rate for liabilities from jubilee benefits (EUR +1 million) and the refinement of measurement
methods (EUR +5 million). The changes in estimated future salaries changed pension liabilities
by EUR – 48 million, restructuring liabilities by EUR –2 million and liabilities from jubilee benefits
by EUR –2 million. The changes in estimates and refinement of measurement methodology will
also have an impact on future periods which currently cannot be reliably estimated. For details
on the changes to the measurement parameters for pension obligations, see note 22.
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Scope of consolidation

Besides the parent company, the group of companies consolidated within BayernLB comprises 26
(FY 2012: 37) subsidiaries that are fully consolidated in accordance with IAS 27. The special purpose entity, which was consolidated the previous year and where under SIC-12 the majority of
risks and rewards were borne by BayernLB, was deconsolidated on 31 December 2013. No entities
in the consolidated financial statements are proportionately consolidated.
Three (FY 2012: four) joint ventures and four (FY 2012: six) associates are measured at equity.
Changes at BayernLB
GBW AG, Munich including its fully consolidated subsidiaries
• GBW Asset GmbH, Munich
• GBW Franken GmbH, Würzburg
• GBW Gebäudemanagement GmbH, Munich
• GBW Management GmbH, Munich
• GBW Niederbayern und Oberpfalz GmbH, Munich
• GBW Oberbayern und Schwaben GmbH, Munich
• GBW Regerhof GmbH, Munich
• GBW Wohnungs GmbH, Munich,
were sold on 27 May 2013. In accordance with IFRS 5, their assets and liabilities had been shown
separately in the balance sheet under “non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for
sale” and “liabilities of disposal groups”. The sale price for the equity investments held by BayernLB
and Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin was EUR 898 million in total. Assets of EUR
2,143 million and liabilities of EUR 1,575 million were derecognised as a result of the deconsolidation. A deconsolidation gain of EUR 351 million was recognised under gains or losses on financial investments. The income statement of the BayernLB Group includes income of EUR 9 million
from GBW AG including the fully consolidated subsidiaries for the period January to May 2013.
The fully consolidated special purpose entity Giro Lion Funding Limited, Jersey is due to be
wound up in the first half of 2014. No significant assets or liabilities were derecognised as a
result of the deconsolidation as at 31 December 2013. Deconsolidation did not result in any gain
or loss.
The associate KGAL GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald was classified as held for sale on 30 June 2013.
Prior to that it had been measured using the equity method. Under the sale agreement of
9 December 2013, all equity interests held in KGAL GmbH & Co. KG were sold; 3.4 percent of this
is a put option which cannot be exercised for at least five years. This 3.4 percent will therefore
continue to be measured at equity. The remaining 23.6 percent is classified as held for sale.
The associate Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken was classified as held for sale on 30 November 2013.
Prior to that it had been measured using the equity method (see note 47).
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Changes in the consolidated MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group
In the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group, Budapest, the subsidiary MKB Nyugdíjpénztárt és Egészségpénztárt
Kiszolgáló Kft., Budapest has been fully consolidated since 1 January 2013. This did not have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the BayernLB Group as at
31 December 2013.
The scope of consolidation was reduced by the sale of the fully consolidated subsidiaries MKB Unionbank AD, Sofia and MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A., Bucharest and the sale of the joint
venture Erconer Kft., Budapest, which was measured at equity.
The fully consolidated subsidiary MKB - Unionbank AD, Sofia, whose assets and liabilities have,
since 30 June 2013, been shown separately in the balance sheet under “non-current assets or
disposal groups classified as held for sale” and “liabilities of disposal groups” was sold on
10 October 2013. The sale price was EUR 24 million. Assets of EUR 761 million and liabilities of
EUR 673 million were derecognised as a result of the deconsolidation. The deconsolidation loss
of EUR 42 million was recognised under gains or losses on financial investments. The income
statement of the BayernLB Group includes income of EUR 8 million from MKB - Unionbank AD
for the period January to October 2013.
The fully consolidated subsidiary MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A., Bucharest, which was classified as a disposal group in the previous year and whose classification under IFRS 5 was reversed
in the reporting year, was sold on 14 November 2013. The sale price was EUR 1 million. Assets of
EUR 15 million and liabilities of EUR 17 million were derecognised as a result of the deconsolidation. A deconsolidation loss of EUR 12 million was recognised under gains or losses on financial
investments. The income statement of the BayernLB Group includes a loss of EUR 2 million from
MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A. for the period January to November 2013.
The joint venture Ercorner Kft., Budapest, which was measured at equity, was sold on 30 October 2013. No significant deconsolidation gain or loss arose.
The fully consolidated subsidiary NEXTEBANK S.A. (formerly: MKB Romexterra Bank S.A.), Targu
Mures, a disposal group since 2011, continues, as permitted, to be classified as such.
Determining the scope of consolidation
BayernLB’s scope of consolidation is determined by materiality criteria. 138 (FY 2012: 155) companies were not consolidated or measured at equity due to their negligible importance individually
or collectively to the financial position and financial performance of the Group. The impact on
the balance sheet of the contractual relationships between Group entities and these non-consolidated entities are recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
The list of shareholdings shows all the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates included in the
consolidated financial statements (see note 83).
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Consolidation principles

When accounting for an acquisition, the cost of acquiring a subsidiary is eliminated against the
Group’s share of the completely remeasured equity on the date of acquisition. This equity is the
balance of the assets and liabilities of the acquired company measured at their fair value at the
time of initial consolidation adjusted for deferred taxes. If any differences between the higher
cost of acquisition and the Group’s share of the remeasured equity remain on the assets side,
they are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill under intangible assets.
Interests in subsidiaries not owned by the parent company are presented within equity as noncontrolling interests.
If additional shares are acquired in a company that is already fully consolidated, the transaction is
not classified as a business combination as defined in IFRS 3 as control already existed. The acquisition of an interest is reported instead as a transaction with the minority shareholders. The positive
or negative differences remaining after eliminating against equity the additional interests acquired
are therefore offset against retained earnings and not recognised through profit or loss.
Joint ventures and associates are measured Group-wide using the equity method and reported
under interests in companies measured at equity. The costs of acquiring these ownership
interests and the goodwill are measured on initial consolidation in accordance with the same
principles used for subsidiaries. The subsequent reporting of the equity values carried is based
on the comprehensive IFRS financial statements of the joint ventures and associates.
The financial statements of the entities included in the consolidated financial statements are
prepared in most cases as at the parent company’s reporting date.
When consolidating debt and earnings and eliminating intragroup earnings from subsidiaries, all
receivables and liabilities, income and expenses and intragroup earnings from transactions within
the Group are eliminated provided their importance is not negligible.
Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates not consolidated or measured at equity due
to their negligible importance and other ownership interests are reported in the balance sheet
under financial investments and measured at fair value.
(5)

Currency translation

On initial recognition, assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into
the functional currency at the spot rate applicable on the date of the business transaction. In
subsequent periods, when translating currency, a distinction is made between monetary and nonmonetary items. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated
at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value are translated at the exchange rate on the date the fair value was calculated. Income
and expenses in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at an average
exchange rate. Gains or losses on currency translation are recognised in gains or losses on fair
value measurement. Currency translation differences from equity instruments in the available-forsale category are reported in the revaluation surplus and not recognised through profit or loss.
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The balance sheet items of the subsidiaries and foreign branches included in the consolidated
financial statements are, if their functional currency is not the euro, translated into euros at the
exchange rate of the respective currency on the reporting date and the expenses and income
translated into euros at an average exchange rate. Currency exchange rate differences arising
from this translation are reported in the currency translation reserve within equity.
(6)

Financial instruments

Recognition and measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial instruments are recognised in the
balance sheet from the date on which the entity drawing up the balance sheet becomes a contractual party and entitled to receive the agreed services or obliged to render the agreed services. Purchases or sales of financial assets (regular-way contracts) are normally recognised on
the date of the trade. Derivatives (as defined in IAS 39) are always recognised on the date of the
trade.
All financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments as defined under IAS 39, must
be recognised in the balance sheet and assigned to measurement categories. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cost of acquisition as a rule.
Financial instruments are subsequently measured in accordance with the measurement category
to which they have been assigned. These categories are defined as follows:
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These include financial instruments and derivatives which are held for trading and reported on
the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39 (held-for-trading), and financial instruments which
are not held for trading for which the fair value option was elected (financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss). Derivative financial instruments which are used as
hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39 do not come under this category.
• Held-for-trading financial instruments and derivatives:
The fair value measurement attribute is used. Measurement results are reported under gains
or losses on fair value measurement. Realised and current income are also normally reported
under this item. Current income from derivatives in economic hedges is recognised in net
interest income. Derivatives in economic hedges include derivatives for hedging fair-value
option transactions and derivatives in other economic hedges. These derivatives do not meet
hedge accounting criteria under IAS 39. They are used for risk management and have not been
concluded for trading purposes. Held-for-trading financial instruments are reported under the
assets held for trading and liabilities held for trading items.
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• Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option):
The fair value option is applied to reduce or eliminate accounting mismatches and to avoid
bifurcating embedded derivatives which must be separated. The fair value measurement attribute
is used. Measurement results are recognised under gains or losses on fair value measurement.
Current income is reported under net interest income. Financial instruments (particularly structured issues and liabilities with embedded derivatives) designated at fair value through profit
or loss (fair value option) are mainly reported under loans and advances to banks/customers,
financial investments, liabilities to banks/customers, securitised liabilities and subordinated
capital.
Held-to-maturity financial investments
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities traded on an active market which the BayernLB Group intends to, and is able to, hold until
they mature. The amortised cost measurement attribute is used. Regular assessments for permanent impairment are carried out. All realised and unrealised gains or losses are reported under
gains or losses on financial investments. Current income is recognised under interest income.
At the end of the reporting period, the BayernLB Group held no financial investments designated
as held-to-maturity.
Loans and receivables
These include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted on an active market and not held for trading, not designated at fair value through profit
or loss (fair value option), and not designated as available-for-sale. They are measured at amortised cost.
This category includes loans that are mainly reported under loans and advances to banks/
customers. The treatment of impairment is described in note 9 on risk provisions. Current income
is reported under interest income.
This category also includes securities that were not traded on an active market on the date of
recognition or reclassification, and where there is no intention to sell them in the short term.
Any necessary impairments are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset. Regular assessments for permanent impairment are carried out. Impairments include specific loan loss provisions and portfolio provisions. Impairments of securities are determined in accordance with the
procedure for risk provisions (see note 9) and the specific rules for the ABS portfolio described in
the management report. Losses arising from impairments and realised gains or losses are recognised under gains or losses on financial investments. Current income and unwinding are reported
under interest income. Securities in the loans and receivables category are recognised under
financial investments.
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Available-for-sale financial assets
These include non-derivative financial assets (mainly securities and interests) which are classified
as available-for-sale or are not assigned to any of the categories described. They are measured at
fair value.
Any difference between fair value and amortised cost is shown as a separate item in equity (in
the revaluation surplus) and not recognised through profit or loss until the asset is either disposed of or permanently impaired. Gains or losses on their sale or permanent impairment are
reported under the gains or losses on financial investments item, and current income in interest
income. Available-for-sale financial assets are regularly assessed for objective evidence of impairment (e.g. significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, a breach of contract such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments, high probability of bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation) that have an impact on future expected cash flows. If the asset is
an equity instrument, a prolonged or significant decline in the fair value below its cost is also
objective evidence of impairment. If the asset is a debt instrument, an additional indicator of
impairment, besides the qualitative criteria of IAS 39.59, is a significant decline in the fair value
below amortised cost. Where there is no further reason for impairment, writedowns on debt
instruments are reversed directly in the income statement up to the value of the amortised cost
had there been no impairment and the difference to fair value is recognised in the revaluation
surplus in equity. Reversals of equity instrument impairments are recognised directly in the revaluation surplus in equity. Most available-for-sale financial instruments are reported under financial
investments.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include financial instruments not used for trading
purposes and for which the fair value option has not been elected. They are measured at amortised cost. Current expenses are reported in interest expenses. Most financial instruments in this
category are reported on the balance sheet in the items liabilities to banks/customers, securitised
liabilities and subordinated capital.
Renegotiated financial assets (forbearance)
Forbearance exposures at BayernLB are defined as exposures for which restructuring measures
have been taken to minimise default risk. The restructuring measures most used are the granting
of concessions in the form of refinancing/rescheduling to a borrower in financial difficulties and/
or the amendment of the originally agreed loan terms through a contractual modification
(e.g. deferral, waiver or moratorium).
Where a restructuring is credit-rating related, objective evidence of impairment exists. If future
incoming payments are likely to be affected, a specific loan loss provision is made in the case of
a loan. For a security, the required impairment is deducted from the asset’s carrying value and
the difference between fair value and amortised costs is recognised through profit or loss.
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Restructuring measures that modify the terms of the contract so extensively that they essentially
create a new asset must be recognised on the balance sheet by the disposal of the original asset
and addition of the new asset. If the carrying amount of the asset to be disposed of differs from
the fair value of the asset to be added, the difference between the two must be recognised
directly in the income statement.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset against each other in accordance with IAS 32.42
if a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts currently exists and an intention
exists to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised if the contractual rights to cash flows from the assets have
lapsed or the BayernLB Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are derecognised if the contractual liabilities are discharged, cancelled or
expire.
Fair value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. Market participants are knowledgeable, willing partners that are independent of each other
and able to enter into a transaction for the asset or liability. The relevant market for measuring
fair value is the most active market that the BayernLB Group has access to (principal market). If no
principal market exists, the most advantageous market is used.
Fair value is calculated where possible by reference to a quoted (unadjusted) price on an active
market for an identical financial instrument. A market is considered active for a financial instrument if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
If no active market exists, fair value is calculated using a range of measurement methods including measurement models based on discounted cash flow methods and indicative valuation prices.
The objective here is to estimate the price at which an orderly transaction between market parti
cipants would take place resulting in the sale of the asset or transfer of the liability under current
market conditions at the measurement date. The measurement methods applied maximise the
use of observable inputs and minimise the use of non-observable inputs.
The BayernLB Group measures fair value at the mid-rate of the bid-ask spread.
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Measurement of BayernLB’s asset-backed securities
As there is still no active market for the asset-backed securities in BayernLB’s portfolio, they are
measured on the basis of indicative prices from brokers, market data providers or lead managers
(arrangers). These prices are checked for plausibility by using several price sources aided by statistical methodology. If a security has a wide range of prices compared with similar securities, it is
assessed separately and implausible prices are eliminated. In certain cases, credit quality is also
assessed.
Measurement of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”)
BayernLB has concluded a guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria to hedge the ABS
portfolio. The guarantee agreement is a financial instrument which is recognised on the balance
sheet as a credit derivative in accordance with IAS 39. In return for paying a premium, BayernLB is
protected against all losses above a first loss amount of EUR 1.2 billion and below an upper limit
of EUR 6.0 billion.
The measurement model for the guarantee agreement reported as a credit derivative on the
balance sheet is based largely on the measurement of the individual underlying securities in
accordance with their category in the balance sheet, so as to ensure that the measurement of the
credit derivative and the measurement of the underlying securities through profit or loss can be
synchronised to a large extent. The impact from the measurement of the guarantee agreement is
reported under the gains or losses on financial investments.
Other valuation models
Fair values are also calculated using recognised valuation models based largely on o
 bservable
market data. The discounted cash flow method and option pricing models are among the valuation models used.
If no quoted price is available for an identical financial instrument, the discounted cash flow
method is used for interest-bearing financial instruments. Measurement is based on cash flow
structures and takes account of nominal values, residual maturities and the agreed day-count
convention. To calculate the cash flow structure, the agreed cash flows are used in the case of
financial instruments with contractually agreed fixed cash flows. In the case of variable rate
instruments, cash flows are determined using forward curves. Cash flows are discounted using
matching currency and maturity and secured and unsecured yield curves, and a risk-adjusted
spread. Market data is used where spreads are publicly available. For OTC derivatives, counterparty risk and own default risk at business partner level is also factored in.
Options and other derivative financial instruments with option characteristics are measured
largely using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following inputs are used in the measurement process: cumulative probability distribution function for standard normal distribution,
option strike prices, continuously compounding risk-free interest rates (for different currencies
and maturities), price volatility, option time to expiry, estimated dividends, interest rate and
pricing barriers, discounts, increments and probability of occurrence.
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For options with several possible exercise dates, a binomial model is used. Publicly accessible
market data is also used here in the measurement.
Credit derivatives are measured using the hazard rate model based on the latest credit spreads.
Summary of the key valuation models by derivative product group
Product group

Principal valuation model

Interest rate swaps

Discounted cash flow method

Forward rate agreements

Discounted cash flow method

Interest rate options

Black 76

Forward exchange deals

Discounted cash flow method

Currency swaps/cross-currency swaps

Discounted cash flow method

Foreign exchange options

Black 76, Trinomial tree (Cox-Ross-Rubinstein)

Equity/index options

Black-Scholes, Roll-Geske-Whaley

Commodity caps/floors

Vorst

Credit derivatives

Hazard rate model

Structured products are concluded within structured issues. These structures are each hedged
with mirror swaps.
Besides using the above methods, these structures are measured largely using short-rate and
BGM models (Libor market model) and Monte Carlo simulations.
In the case of equity instruments not traded on an active market, fair value is calculated using
recognised valuation methods, particularly the German income method (Ertragswertverfahren).
Expected cash flows are based on the forecasts of the entities in question.
To calculate the fair values of lending transactions measured at amortised cost, cash flows are
discounted using the risk-free yield curve adjusted by a transaction-specific spread. The spread
comprises a margin held constant over the term to cover the costs, the expected gains and a
credit component reflecting changes in the creditworthiness of the business partner. On conclusion of a transaction the initial full spread is determined by interpolation. The transaction is
measured at its carrying amount (or at par if the transaction is prior to the first-time application
of IFRS). At the end of the following month, the current expected loss is determined and used to
break down the spread into its margin and credit-rating related portions (on conclusion of the
transaction). At the end of each reporting period, the fair value is calculated using the constant
margin spread and the credit spread determined on the expected loss applicable at the time.
In the case of deposit-taking business, cash flows are discounted using the risk-free yield curve,
and a credit rating and liquidity spread. This spread reflects BayernLB’s current credit rating and
varies according to the currency and the transaction’s collateral status (secured, unsecured, unsecured with guarantee obligation, or subordinated). The added spreads are based on the internal
pricing curves of Asset Liability Management and tested for plausibility independently of Trading
using the external market interest rate.
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The valuation models presented above are used to calculate the fair values of financial instruments in the categories held-for-trading, fair value option, loans and receivables, available-forsale, and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. The balance sheet items most affected
are loans and advances to banks/customers, assets held for trading, positive fair values from
derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting), financial investments, liabilities to banks/
customers, securitised liabilities, liabilities held for trading, negative fair values from d
 erivative
financial instruments (hedge accounting) and subordinated capital.
Embedded derivatives
Embedded derivative financial instruments are recognised as independent derivatives and measured at fair value if they have to be separated from the host contract. If this is the case, the host
contract is recognised and measured according to its measurement category. In the case of
structured products, no separation is made if the fair value option has been applied.
Hedge accounting
To manage interest rate, currency, equity and other price risks, and credit risks, derivative financial instruments are used to hedge assets or liabilities on the balance sheet. At present, only fair
value hedges meet hedge accounting criteria for hedging relationships as defined under IAS 39.
Assets or liabilities (or a portion of them) on the balance sheet, or a portfolio of financial instruments, are hedged against changes in fair value resulting from interest rate or currency risk
which could affect the earnings for the period. A high degree of effectiveness is needed to ensure
changes in the fair value of the hedged underlying transaction in terms of the hedged risk and
the hedging derivative lie within a range of 80-125 percent. In the BayernLB Group, fair value
hedge accounting is applied in the form of micro fair value hedges, portfolio hedges in the narrow sense and portfolio hedges in the broader sense. Portfolio hedges in the narrow sense are
reported in the same way as the underlying and hedging transactions of micro fair value hedges.
The main hedging instruments used are interest rate and currency swaps. Derivatives used to
hedge the fair value of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are measured at fair value and
changes in their value are recognised through profit or loss. The carrying amounts of the underlying transactions in micro hedges and in portfolio hedges in the narrow sense are adjusted in line
with the measurement results attributable to the hedged risk and recognised through profit or
loss. In the BayernLB Group, where the hedging of the fair value on a portfolio basis is carried out
in the broader sense, the cumulative measurement results attributable to the hedged risk for
financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet under portfolio hedge adjustment assets and
the carrying amounts of the underlying transactions left at amortised cost.
Derivative financial instruments in economic hedges that do not meet hedge accounting criteria
are recognised and measured in accordance with their categorisation as held-for-trading. Unlike
current income and expenses of held-for-trading derivative financial instruments, the current
income and expenses arising from these derivatives are reported under net interest income.
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Cash reserves

Cash reserves comprise cash, balances at central banks, debt certificates of public entities, and
bills of exchange eligible for refinancing at central banks and not reported as assets held for
trading. Except for debt certificates of public entities and bills of exchange, which are recognised
at fair value, cash reserves are recognised at nominal value.
(8)

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to banks and customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted on an active market or held for trading purposes.
They are measured at amortised cost if they are not categorised as available-for-sale, fair-value
option receivables or underlying transactions in an effective fair value hedge. Premiums and
discounts are spread over their term and reported in interest income.
Impairments of receivables in the loans and receivables category are reported separately in the
balance sheet under risk provisions and shown on the assets side.
(9)

Risk provisions

Risk provisions for credit products in the loans and receivables category are reported as a separate item on the assets side. They comprise specific loan loss provisions and portfolio provisions
for transactions on the balance sheet. BayernLB exercised its option of making flat-rate specific
loan loss provisions for non-material receivables.
To calculate risk provisions, customer relationships in the BayernLB Group are analysed at quarterly intervals as a rule. If objective indications of impairment exist, an examination is carried out
to determine if a risk provision needs to be made. These objective indications include interest
and principal arrears of more than 30 days or a rating of 19 or worse on a 25-tier scale. If future
incoming payments are likely to be affected, a specific loan loss provision is made.
The size of the specific loan loss provision is the difference between the carrying amount of the
receivable and the present value of future expected incoming cash flows calculated on the basis
of the original effective interest rate using the discounted cash flow method. Additions to or
releases of risk provisions are made if expectations of cash flows change. Unwinding – a change
in the present value of future expected incoming cash flows over the period – is reported as
interest income; the actual interest payments received are subsequently recognised as repayments, and not as interest income. For portfolios composed of similar, immaterial receivables,
flat-rate specific loan loss provisions are made on the basis of collective risk assessment. These
are also reported under the specific loan loss provisions.
For material and immaterial receivables for which no indications of impairment have been
detected on individual examination and no flat-rate specific loan loss provisions have been made,
portfolio provisions based on creditworthiness factors are calculated on the basis of historical
probabilities of default and loss rates. This uses a procedure based on parameters derived from
the Basel II system that are regularly assessed.
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Country risks (transfer risk and general political risk) are reflected by making a portfolio provision
on the basis of country risk-specific probabilities of default and loss rates if these risks have not
already been taken into account through specific loan loss provisions.
Non-recoverable receivables are derecognised; this is carried out by utilising specific loan loss
provisions that have already been made. Bad debt losses for which no or insufficient loan loss
provisions have been made are charged to existing portfolio provisions (utilisation). An addition
of the same size is made to the portfolio provision, which is reported as a direct writedown in risk
provisions in the credit business.
Expenses for additions to risk provisions, income from the release of risk provisions and recoveries on written-down receivables are reported in the income statement under risk provisions in the
credit business.
(10)

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets

This item on the balance sheet shows the changes in value of the underlying transactions for
which fair value hedge accounting in the form of portfolio hedges in the broader sense was used.
(11)

Assets held for trading

Assets held for trading comprise all held-for-trading financial assets and derivative financial
instruments with positive market values reported on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39
and not designated as hedging instruments in accordance with hedge accounting criteria under
IAS 39. Measurement results and realised and current income from assets held for trading are
normally recognised in gains or losses on fair value measurement except for current income from
derivatives in economic hedges, which is recognised in net interest income.
If the requirements for offsetting financial assets against financial liabilities are met, the market
values from derivative financial instruments are offset against the variation margins received or
paid and reported net.
(12)

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

This item on the balance sheet includes derivative financial instruments with positive market
values, which are used as hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria as defined in IAS 39. The
derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments and changes in the fair value of hedged underlying transactions arising from the hedged
risk are reported under gains or losses on hedge accounting. Interest income and expenses from
hedging derivatives are recognised as net interest income.
If the requirements for offsetting financial assets against financial liabilities are met, the market
values from derivative financial instruments are offset against the variation margins received or
paid and reported net.
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Financial investments

Financial investments comprise financial assets in the fair-value option, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale categories. Interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates not measured at equity and other interests are classified as available-for-sale and reported
under financial investments unless they are classified as held-for-sale. Financial investments are
measured according to their respective measurement category.
(14)

Interests in companies measured at equity

Interests in joint ventures and associates reported in this balance sheet item are measured in
accordance with the equity method.
(15)

Investment property and property, plant and equipment

Land or buildings leased to third parties or primarily held for capital appreciation is reported on
the balance sheet under investment property. Property, plant and equipment comprise owneroccupied property, and furniture and office equipment. Mixed-use property that can be d
 isposed
of separately is allocated proportionately to the investment property and the property, plant and
equipment items. If the property cannot theoretically be divided, the entire property is recognised only as investment property if an immaterial proportion of the property (less than 10 percent) is set aside for internal operations.
The asset is measured at amortised cost, i.e. if the assets are subject to wear and tear, their cost is
depreciated on a straight-line basis in accordance with their useful life. In the case of buildings,
the components are depreciated over their specific useful life (component approach). Any impairments are also deducted. The option under IAS 40 to measure investment property at amortised
cost was exercised.
The criteria for useful life were as follows:
• Buildings
• Furniture and office equipment

28 – 90 years
3 – 25 years

If impairment is indicated, this is reported as an impairment loss. If the reasons for impairment
cease to apply, an impairment reversal is made up to the value of the amortised cost.
Any subsequent costs are capitalised if they add to the economic benefit of these assets.
Expenditure on maintenance is reported as an expense in the corresponding financial year.
Depreciation of investment property is reported under other income and expenses, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment under administrative expenses. Impairment reversals are
reported in other income and expenses.
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(16)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise goodwill from consolidated subsidiaries, intangible assets produced in
house (proprietary software) and other intangible assets.
Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and tested for impairment at least once a year or
whenever there are objective indications of impairment. The carrying amount of the cash-generating unit including allocated goodwill is compared against its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of value in use or the fair value less cost to sell. If the original expected
benefits are no longer expected, impairment is charged initially against the unit’s goodwill. Any
remaining impairment charge that exceeds the unit’s goodwill is charged proportionately against
the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Impairment of goodwill is recognised in other income and expenses; impairment reversals are
not recognised.
Intangible assets produced in house and other intangible assets
The costs for software development are capitalised where its production is likely to result in an
inflow of economic benefits and costs can be determined reliably. If the criteria for capitalisation
are not met, the development costs are immediately expensed in the income statement.
Intangible assets produced in house and other intangible assets are measured at amortised cost.
They are amortised on a straight-line basis over an expected useful life of four or five years.
If impairment is indicated, this is reported as an impairment loss. If the reasons for impairment
cease to apply, an impairment reversal is made up to the value of the amortised cost.
Amortisation of intangible assets produced in house and other intangible assets are recognised
under administrative expenses; impairment reversals are reported in other income and expenses.
(17)

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale

This item comprises both non-current assets in the held-for-sale category and the assets of
disposal groups in the held-for-sale category.
They are designated as held for sale if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the non-current asset or
disposal group can be sold immediately in its present condition and the sale is highly probable.
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are recognised at the end of the
reporting period at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs of sale if there are no
measurement exceptions in accordance with IFRS 5.
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Other assets

Assets are reported as other assets if they are not allocated to one of the other items on the
assets side. They include pre-paid expenses, property as inventory, precious metals and claims
from reinsurance.
(19)

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks and customers and securitised liabilities are measured at amortised cost if
they are not allocated to the fair value option category or if they are not underlying transactions
in an effective fair value hedge. Premiums and discounts are spread over the term of the transaction and recognised in interest expenses.
(20)

Liabilities held for trading

Liabilities held for trading comprise all held-for-trading financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments with negative market values reported on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 39
and not designated as hedging instruments in accordance with hedge accounting criteria under
IAS 39. Measurement results and realised and current income or expenses from liabilities held for
trading are normally recognised in gains or losses on fair value measurement except for current
income from derivatives in economic hedges, which is recognised in net interest income.
The impact from the inclusion of a counterparty-specific and own credit spread in the measurement of OTC derivatives (credit value adjustment/debit value adjustment) is recognised in liabilities
held for trading.
If the requirements for offsetting financial assets against financial liabilities are met, the market
values from derivative financial instruments are offset against the variation margins received or
paid and reported net.
(21)

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

This balance sheet item comprises derivative financial instruments with negative market values,
which are used as hedges and meet hedge accounting criteria in accordance with IAS 39. The
derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments and changes in the fair value of hedged underlying transactions arising from the hedged
risk are reported under gains or losses on hedge accounting. Interest income and expenses from
hedging derivatives are recognised in net interest income.
If the requirements for offsetting financial assets against financial liabilities are met, the market
values from derivative financial instruments are offset against the variation margins received or
paid and reported net.
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(22)

Provisions

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations and other provisions are recognised under this
item.
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Occupational retirement benefits within the BayernLB Group are based on a range of pension
schemes. Employees acquire rights to benefit entitlements based on a direct pension commitment, where the size of the benefit is defined and dependent on factors such as salary, age and
length of service (defined benefit plans). Alternatively employees acquire rights to benefit entitlements based on an indirect pension commitment, which is funded through defined contributions
to a pension institution (external benefits provider) (defined contribution plans). There is no legal
or de facto obligation to provide benefits beyond these terms for these plans, which predominantly relate to foreign branches. Most pension commitments in the BayernLB Group are in the
form of cash-based defined benefit plans for employees in Germany.
In the BayernLB Group, the core element of the promised defined benefit obligations provided
directly by the employer is the full benefits package (Gesamtversorgungszusage) modelled on the
pension system for civil servants (“pension eligibility”). The size of the pension commitments for
defined benefit plans is based largely on each employee’s salary, length of service and other criteria. Civil-servant style pension benefits were agreed in individual employment contracts. Only
employees with at least 20 years of eligible service who also meet other criteria such as positive
performance evaluations and no negative health issues were eligible for these pension benefits.
The full benefits package also includes entitlements to allowances in the event of illness.
In essence, no more employees are being added to the number of employees eligible for civilservant style pension benefits, as BayernLB cut off new entrants at the end of the first quarter of
2009. In a suit brought by employees who were originally entitled to qualify for the civil-servant
style benefits under the terms of their employment agreements, the German Federal Employment
Court in Erfurt, Germany ruled on 15 May 2012 in favour of the plaintiffs to restore their eligibility
to these pension benefits, provided they meet certain criteria.
BayernLB also has two legally independent pension funds (Versorgungskasse) for its indirect
benefit obligations in Germany: Versorgungskasse I BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter
Haftung, Munich (Versorgungskasse I) and Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit
beschränkter Haftung, Munich (Versorgungskasse II). Versorgungskasse I primarily manages
obligations to former employees entitled to or in receipt of vested benefits, while Versorgungs
kasse II manages the portion of the benefits package that had already been earned when the
arrangements were changed in respect of some occupational retirement benefits in financial
year 2010. Regular contributions are made to the pension funds in accordance with thresholds
defined by fiscal law.
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Defined benefit pension obligations are partly funded by assets and qualifying insurance policies.
To qualify as plan assets, they must be separated from the employer’s other assets (e.g. by placing
them in a separate fund held by a legally independent benefits provider) and only used to provide employees’ benefits. The plan assets invested in Germany by Versorgungskasse I and in the
United Kingdom are administered by externally managed funds and insurance companies. BayernLB sets the general investment guidelines for these funds, but does not take specific investment decisions. The assets in the pension plan in the United Kingdom are also subject to a legal
minimum funding requirement. This obliges the trustees and the Bank as the sponsoring undertaking to ensure sufficient plan assets are available to cover pension liabilities. Under the trust
deed, the trustee is required to regularly check the value of the plan assets and to arrange for
additional funding if the value of the plan assets falls below that of the pension liabilities by more
than 10 percent.
To fund the pension obligations of Versorgungskasse II, BayernLB purchased reinsurance in the
amount of the existing rights to entitlements, which is managed by an external trustee. In addition,
the rights to entitlements are protected from insolvency. The assets managed in trust by the
trustee do not qualify as plan assets. As the beneficial owner, BayernLB reports the claims from
reinsurance as an asset on the balance sheet under the other assets item. These assets from the
claims from reinsurance (reimbursement claims) are equivalent to the benefit entitlements in
terms of size and maturity, so that the assets and indirect pension obligations via Versorgungs
kasse II are r ecognised in the same amount.
Under the 2005 and 2010 pension schemes, BayernLB employees in Germany acquire rights to
benefit entitlements based on indirect pension commitments. To fund these pension commitments, BayernLB and current employees pay defined contributions to two external benefits providers not part of the Group (ÖBAV Unterstützungskasse e. V., Munich and BVV Versorgungskasse
des Bankgewerbes e. V., Berlin). These providers conclude reinsurance to fund occupational
retirement benefits. The contributions to the pension institutions comprise in terms of the basic
provision employer-funded allowances based on a defined percentage of annual remuneration.
In addition to the basic provision, employees can also pay contributions through deferred compensation via the employer to the pension institution. The benefits promised by BayernLB are
essentially the same as the ones the external benefits providers have agreed to provide. However,
the external benefits providers are not under an explicit obligation to provide annual pension
raises. As an annual pension raise is not explicitly ruled out in the contract, BayernLB still has a
de facto obligation to provide the benefits. C
 onsequently these indirect pension obligations
are treated formally like defined benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19, but accounted for as
defined contribution plans due to their economic substance. This means that the contribution
payments to the external benefits providers are recognised as pension costs and therefore in
administrative expenses, while the benefit obligations and the plan assets used to cover them
are of the same size so that no pension provisons for these pension schemes are reported on the
BayernLB Group’s balance sheet. Based on the current outlook, it is unlikely that the annual pension raise guarantee will be utilised.
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All direct obligations from pensions and allowances in the event of illness and other indirect
pension obligations within the BayernLB Group are calculated each year in actuarial reports
produced by independent actuaries.
The size of the defined benefit plan obligations is calculated using the projected unit credit
method, which measures the obligations on the basis of the proportion of the defined benefit
entitlements acquired at the end of the reporting period. Assumptions about future trends of
certain parameters such as salaries and pensions, and the discount rate are made when con
ducting the measurement. The discount rate is based on yields on high-quality corporate bonds
on the respective markets. The values of the parameters used to measure the plan assets, especially the discount rate, have a major impact on the amount of the benefits in the pension plans.
The following actuarial assumptions are used:
in %
Discount rate

2013

2012

3.5

3.5

Salaries

2.8

3.2

Benefits1

2.3

2.0

Medical costs

4.0

3.0

1 In addition to this, BayernLB‘s benefits in Germany were estimated to grow at a rate of 1 percent.

They are measured in Germany on the basis of Professor Dr Klaus Heubeck’s biometric probabilities (“Richttafeln 2005G”) and in other countries on the basis of country-specific m
 ortality tables.
The qualifying plan assets used to cover pension obligations are measured at fair value on the
reporting date. If pension assets exceed pension obligations, the surplus asset is accounted for
under the asset ceiling rules. An asset is recognised when future economic benefits are available
in the form of a future reduction in contributions due to existing minimum funding requirements
being met.
To calculate the amount of the pension provision, the difference between the present value of
the benefit o
 bligations and the fair value of the plan assets available to cover the pension obligations (surplus/deficit obligations) is calculated. The potential impact from the pension asset
ceiling is then incorporated.
The impact from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans, such as actuarial gains and losses
arising from the difference between expected and actual values or changed assumptions, is now
recognised directly in the period it arises in retained earnings within equity and not through the
income statement and in parallel in pension provisions. The rules therefore specify these
amounts cannot be reclassified to the income statement in future periods.
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Regular contributions to fund pension obligations and pension schemes will have a negative
impact on the BayernLB Group’s liquidity in future periods. The Group’s pension obligations are
not fully funded by plan assets, i.e. pension obligations exceed plan assets at Group level, resulting in a shortfall in funding. Even marginal changes in the actuarial assumptions used to measure
pension plans, notably the discount rate and future growth of salaries and pensions, would produce a change in the funding situation and by extension the pension provisions. The value of
externally invested plan assets is also subject to capital market volatility, which is outside of
BayernLB’s control. Plan assets are invested in a range of asset classes to prevent risk concentrations. The investment strategy matches the maturity structure of the assets with the expected
pension payout dates. This is especially the case for plan assets of a foreign branch, whose funds
for covering pension obligations are invested in several asset classes such as equities and fixedinterest securities. Unfavourable capital market performance could lead to material shortfalls in
the coverage of its pension obligations and increase the BayernLB Group’s pension obligations.
This increase could test the financial situation as additional funds would have to be diverted to
fund the pension obligations. BayernLB must also pay contributions to the healthcare costs of
current and former employees, which could also rise in the future.
The risks arising from the BayernLB Group’s pension plans are addressed in the Group-wide asset
liability management strategy. To reduce the risks from defined benefit plans, new plans have
been introduced in recent years at BayernLB in Germany, and at a foreign branch last year, some
pension obligations and their related pension assets were transferred to external pension funds.
Other provisions
Provisions in the credit business are made for both single transactions and portfolios to meet
contingent liabilities and other commitments where there is a risk of default.
Other provisions are made in accordance with IAS 37 for present legal or de facto obligations if it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation.
(23)

Liabilities of disposal groups

This item on the balance sheet comprises the liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for
sale.
(24)

Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise liabilities not allocated to one of the other items on the liabilities side.
They include deferred income and accruals.
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(25)

Hybrid capital instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified in accordance with IAS 32, taking account of IDW statement HFA 45 on the presentation of financial instruments under IAS 32. A financial instrument is
therefore recognised in equity if for example
• it evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after all liabilities are deducted
(IAS 32.11) and
• it contains no contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets to the contractual
partner (IAS 32.16)
The contractual conditions of the hybrid capital instruments used by BayernLB give rise to the
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements shown below.
Perpetual silent partner contributions not callable by the lender meet the criteria for disclosure
under equity.
As they are compound financial instruments, dated silent partner contributions, including those
that are callable by the lender, and profit participation certificates, must be divided into their
equity and debt components (split accounting). The fair value of the debt component was initially
measured by discounting the nominal value of the compound instrument as a whole by its effective interest rate. The value is recognised in the balance sheet in the subordinated capital item. In
subsequent years, interest on the debt component is compounded and the resulting expense
reported in net interest income. The equity component – which as a residual interest as defined
in IAS 32.11 corresponds to the present value of expected future distributions – is recognised in
equity in the compound instruments (equity component) sub-item. Distributions on compound
instruments are made only if their payment does not produce or increase a net accumulated loss
in the separate accounts prepared under the German Commercial Code (HGB).
If a compound financial instrument shares in the losses, this affects the repayment of the nominal
value of the compound instrument and therefore to the debt component whose present value
must be adjusted as necessary to take account of the changed cash flow expectations in accordance with IAS 39 AG8. The income resulting from the change in the present value (or expenses
resulting from replenishing the instrument in subsequent years) is recognised in other income
and expenses.
Subordinated innovative financial products (e.g. preferred shares), which are classified as core
capital under banking supervisory law, are reported as hybrid capital under the subordinated
capital item on the balance sheet.
(26)

Leasing

In accordance with IAS 17, leases are divided into finance leases and operating leases. Agreements are classified on the basis of the distribution of economic risks and rewards from the
leased property. A lease is classified as a finance lease if all risks and rewards incident to ownership are substantially transferred to the lessee.
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The BayernLB Group as lessor
In finance leases, the assets arising from the leasing agreement are recognised as receivables due
from the lessee at their net investment value. Lease payments received from the lessee are apportioned into an interest component and principal component. The interest component is reported
as interest income. The principal component reduces the receivable with no impact on the
income statement.
In operating leases, leased property is measured at amortised cost and recognised as investment
property or as property, plant and equipment. Lease payments received and impairments and
depreciation are reported in other income and expenses.
The BayernLB Group as lessee
In finance leases, leased items are recognised either as investment property or as property, plant
and equipment, and the obligations to the lessor as a liability. Lease payments to be made are
apportioned into an interest component and a principal component. The interest portion is
recognised as interest expenses. The principal component reduces the liability with no impact on
the income statement.
Lease payments payable by the BayernLB Group in operating leases are recognised under
administrative expenses.
(27)

Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying the currently applicable tax rates.
Income tax receivables and liabilities are recognised in the amount of the expected refund or
payment.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the difference between the carrying amount of an
asset or a liability and the tax base. This creates tax liabilities or assets expected in the future
which are classed as temporary differences. Deferred taxes are recognised where permitted. They
are measured for each of the companies consolidated within the Group, at the specific applicable
income tax rate expected to be applicable for the period of the reversal of the temporary differences based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
Deferred tax assets from unused tax losses carried forward and deductible temporary differences
are only reported if it is probable that taxable profit in future periods will be sufficient for the tax
benefit to be utilised. For Group companies, if the sum of the loss carryforwards and deductible
temporary differences exceed the taxable temporary differences, the amount of deferred tax
assets recognised is calculated on the basis of the tax planning for the company in question or
consolidated tax group in question. When recognising deferred tax assets from interest carryforwards, the same accounting policies as used for deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards
are applied.
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Deferred taxes are not discounted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are created and carried
through profit or loss if the underlying item is recognised in the income statement, or are created
and carried in equity if the underlying item is recognised in equity.
Income tax expenses and income to be charged against profit before taxes are reported in the
consolidated income statement as income taxes. Income taxes related to discontinued operations
were not incurred in the reporting year. Other taxes not based on income are reported under
other income and expenses.

Segment reporting
(28)

Notes to the segment report

The segment report reflects the business structure of the BayernLB Group. A total of six segments
are shown comprising the four operating business segments, the Central Areas & Others segment
and the Non-Core Unit. The earnings of the consolidated subsidiaries and units are also allocated
to the segment to which they have been assigned.
The structure of the business segments in effect in 2012: Corporates, Mittelstand & Retail Customers; Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association; and Markets was changed to comply with the EU
state aid ruling in 2012. The Financial Institutions division and the subsidised loan business were
reassigned to different segments effective 1 October 2013, retroactive to 1 January 2013. The
names of the business segments are now: Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions (formerly Corporates & Mittelstand until 30 September 2013); Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association; Deutsche Kreditbank Sub-group (DKB) and Markets. They are rounded out by two further
segments: Central Areas & Others and the Non-Core Unit.
The new segment structure, which complies with the EU ruling, differs in three significant ways.
Segments are separated more rigorously into core and non-core business; the core activities of
the Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin (DKB) Sub-group are now reported as a separate segment; and loans (including their refinancing) to former subsidiary Hypo Alpe-Adria-Bank
International AG, Klagenfurt (HAA), as well as subsidiaries MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (MKB) (subgroup) and Banque LBLux S.A., Luxembourg (LBLux) have been transferred to the Non-Core Unit
segment.
Customers and transactions without a connection to Germany have been removed from all business segments and transferred to the Restructuring Unit which contains those portfolios previously designated as non-core. The operating business segments now include only core activities.
All portfolios earmarked for exit are grouped together in the Restructuring Unit and managed
under the responsibility of a single Board of Management member.
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As the segment structure in effect to the end of 2012 was largely dominated by the Corporates,
Mittelstand & Retail Customers segment and very heterogeneous in terms of size and earnings,
DKB was taken out of the segment and its core activities put into a separate segment. DKB’s
non-core activities were shifted to the Non-Core Unit. The subsidiary LBLux was also taken out of
this segment.
The third change was the transfer of loans (including their refinancing) to HAA, MKB and LBLux
from the Markets segment to the Non-Core Unit, as the sale of all non-core holdings will mean
the termination of the associated intra-group funding.
The newly formed Non-Core Unit segment now contains the Restructuring Unit, the former Eastern
Europe segment with the subsidiary MKB, the subsidiary LBLux, DKB’s non-core activities and
other investments and non-core activities to be wound down. All non-core activities are thus now
grouped in the Non-Core Unit in order to systematically segregate the core business from all
business activities that are slated to be wound down under the Bank’s new strategy.
To better align with today’s customer and market requirements, the above segment structure,
which was defined after the EU ruling, were further refined; the changes in the segment structure
became effective on 1 October 2013, retroactive to 1 January 2013. This involved the transfer of
the Financial Institutions division from the Markets business area to Corporates, Mittelstand &
Financial Institutions; at the same time, some business relationships, such as business with nonprofit foundations, were assigned to Savings Banks & Association. In addition, the subsidised loan
business was also taken out of Corporates & Mittelstand and assigned to the Savings Banks &
Association division.
Figures from the previous year period have been adjusted to take account of the new segment
structure.
Starting with financial year 2013, the BayernLB Group only reports profit before taxes in the
segment report for all segments. For internal Group management purposes, profit before taxes
is a much more meaningful figure. External reporting therefore follows internal management
information practices.
Segment reporting is based on IFRS 8 and therefore on the monthly management reports
submitted to the Board of Management, which serves as the chief operating decision maker
as defined in IFRS 8.7. The management reports – and therefore the segmentation – are based
on the accounting policies used in the consolidated financial statements under IFRS. Segment
reporting does not therefore need to be reconciled with the IFRS accounting policies used in the
consolidated financial statements. The earnings contributions reported under the segments are
generated largely from financial services. Net interest income is shown as a net figure comprising
interest income and interest expenses. The additional information about products and services
required under IFRS 8.32 and on non-current assets by geographical region required under
IFRS 8.33 (b) is not available and the costs of providing the information would be excessive.
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– 34

138

72

73

Gains or losses on fair
value measurement
Gains or losses on
hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial
investments

Group

– 58

Net commission income

Consolidation

Risk provisions in the credit
business

Non-Core Unit

269

Central Areas &
Others

382

Markets

Real Estate &
Savings Banks/
Association

Net interest income

EUR million

DKB

Corporates, Mittelstand &
Financial Institutions

Segment reporting as at 31 December 2013

601

146

268

403

– 151

1,919

– 116

–

–1

– 446

–

– 653

– 21

–8

–7

116

–

289

64

14

17

– 13

143

– 27

271

–

3

– 30

9

2

1

– 12

– 27

– 11

– 30

33

13

–

69

–

74

Income from interests
in companies measured
at equity

–

–

–

–

–

401

–

40

Administrative expenses

– 306

– 238

– 308

– 196

– 60

– 424

–

Expenses for bank levies

–

–

–3

–

–2

– 46

–

– 51

Other income and expenses

2

75

–

– 40

63

– 75

64

89

Gains or losses on
restructuring

–

–

–

–

– 135

– 29

–

– 164

Profit before taxes

220

181

170

– 60

115

– 246

– 127

253

22,197

7,670

26,604

7,533

2,238

21,307

–

87,550

2,330

811

3,019

843

440

2,467

5,093

15,003

Return on equity (RoE) (%)

9.4

22.3

5.6

– 7.1

–

– 10.0

–

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%)

52.4

52.6

51.6

143.5

–

60.8

–

57.7

Average number of
employees (FTE)

526

649

1,709

432

1,754

3,815

–

8,885

Risk positions
Average economic/
reported equity

– 1,5332

1.73

1 Includes a writeup on Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken of EUR 34 million (see note 47).
2 Includes impairment of intangible assets produced in house of EUR 47 million recognised in the Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions (EUR 13 million),
Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association (EUR 22 million), Markets (EUR 8 million) and Non-Core Unit (EUR 4 million) segments (see note 50).
3 From financial year 2013, BayernLabo’s earnings and share in Group equity are included in the return on equity (expressed in percent) at Group level. This relates
to the changes in equity described in note 64.
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Risk provisions in the credit
business
Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair
value measurement
Gains or losses on
hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial
investments

Group

39

Consolidation

476

Non-Core Unit

461

Central Areas &
Others

Markets

394

3872

434

– 283

1,9072

20

– 27

– 116

–2

2

– 335

–

– 459

153

29

– 11

–6

– 10

106

–

260

79

32

188

– 222

4

253

– 35

299

–

–6

– 29

34

30

6

– 32

3

53

15

– 145

– 235

135

33

–

–

–

–3

– 36

–2

Income from interests
in companies measured
at equity
Administrative expenses

DKB

Net interest income

Real Estate &
Savings Banks/
Association

EUR million

Corporates, Mittelstand &
Financial Institutions

Segment reporting as at 31 December 20121

–
– 3423

1823

–
– 3513

– 302

– 2003

– 21

– 4253

1

– 38
– 1,6393

Expenses for bank levies

–

–

–4

–

–3

– 47

–

– 53

Other income and expenses

8

28

2

– 56

445

96

– 103

421

Gains or losses on
restructuring

–

–1

–

–

–

– 62

–

– 62

Profit before taxes
Risk positions
Average economic/
reported equity

3103

3483

257

– 3983

24,634

7,996

26,747

9,107

2,252

1,046

2,874

1,558

6892
4,093
6432

– 2113

– 353

27,799

–

3,459

2,772

Return on equity (RoE) (%)

13.83

33.33

8.9

– 25.53

–

– 6.13

–

Cost/income ratio (CIR) (%)

54.13

48.33

44.5

– 102.13

–

64.63

–

Average number of
employees (FTE)

524

1,263

1,702

432

1,836

4,228

–

6422
100,375
14,6052
5.22,4
57.42
9,985

1 The new segment structure has had an impact on the results of all segments. The impact was felt by all segments in the line items net
interest income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, administrative expenses and gains or losses on restructuring. For the rest of the
line items, only some of the segments were affected.
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
3 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
4 BayernLabo’s earnings and share in Group equity are not included in the return on equity (expressed in percent) at Group level.
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For the purposes of internal management, economic capital is allocated to the segments on the
basis of risk positions assumed in accordance with the German Solvency Ordinance (Solvabilitätsverordnung (SolvV)). In the Consolidation column, economic capital is reconciled with equity on
the balance sheet.
The risk positions include the figures on the reporting date for risk assets, market risk positions
and operational risk. The formulae previously used to calculate return on equity and the costincome ratio were simplified. As at 31 December 2013, the reported return on equity was calculated at segment level by dividing profit before taxes by economic capital actually allocated.
The cost-income ratio is the ratio of administrative expenses to the sum of net interest income,
net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge
accounting, gains or losses on financial investments, income from interests in companies measured at equity and other income and expenses. The previously used formula for calculating return
on equity divided profit before taxes less expenses for bank levies and gains or losses on restructuring by economic capital. For the segments, economic capital was derived from the higher of
economic capital actually allocated or budgeted equity. After the new segment structure was
implemented, for simplicity’s sake for the previous year, actual allocated economic capital was
used. The cost-income ratio was the ratio of administrative expenses to the sum of net interest
income, net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on
hedge accounting, and other income and expenses.
Notes on delimitation of segments
The Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions segment serves large German companies and
international companies with a connection to Germany and also German Mittelstand customers
primarily in the states of Bavaria and North Rhine-Westphalia. These include in particular DAX
and MDAX-listed companies, and family-owned or operated businesses which conduct international business from their German home market. In addition, the Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions segment conducts the syndicated business on behalf of the Bavarian savings
banks and their customers. The following core activities are located in this segment: traditional
loan financing (including working capital, capex and trade financing), leasing finance and global
project and export financing for customers worldwide with a focus on the infrastructure, energy
and renewable energy sectors. It also acts as lead manager for its customers in syndicated loans
and plays a leading role in placing corporate bonds and Schuldschein note loans on the market in
cooperation with the Markets business area. On 1 October 2013, BayernLB’s business relationships with banks, insurers and other institutional customers were reassigned to the segment with
retroactive effect from 1 January 2013; certain relationships, including business with non-profit
foundations, were not included in the transfer. The subsidised loan business was transferred to
the Savings Bank & Association division in the Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association segment.
The Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association segment incorporates the commercial and residential real estate business, the savings banks and the public sector. The legally dependent institution Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt (BayernLabo) and the subsidiary Real I.S. AG Gesell
schaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich are also allocated to this segment.
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The Real Estate division focuses on long-term commercial real estate financing in Bavaria and
Germany and business with residential construction companies and residential property developers.
BayernLB offers commercial real estate customers a comprehensive range of services related to
real estate financing.
The Savings Banks & Association division now forms the central hub for collaboration with savings
banks and public sector customers in Germany. Its main focus is on savings banks in Germany and
Bavaria. As both customers and sales partners, the savings banks are a fundamental part of BayernLB’s business model. The division also serves state and municipal customers and public agencies in Germany which BayernLB, as a partner, provides with a wide range of products and tailormade solutions. On 1 October 2013, retroactive to 1 January 2013, the subsidised loan business
belonging to Corporates & Mittelstand and some other business previously assigned to Markets,
e.g. with non-profit foundations, were allocated to this segment.
BayernLabo is responsible for the non-competitive residential construction and urban development business under public mandate on behalf of BayernLB. It also provides financing for local
authorities in Bavaria.
The DKB segment consists of the core business activities of the DKB Sub-group. DKB is well positioned in retail banking as “Your bank on the web”. Besides internet banking, DKB’s business
activities include the promising infrastructure and corporate customers markets. It specialises
here on sectors with long-term growth potential such as renewable energy, healthcare, and
education and research. DKB also focuses on the target markets of residential construction and
agriculture.
The Markets segment comprises the business area bearing the same name and BayernInvest
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Munich, a consolidated asset manager which contributes to the
earnings of the segment. The Markets business area combines all trading and issuing activities
as well as asset and liability management. On 1 October 2013, retroactive to 1 January 2013,
BayernLB’s business relationships with banks, insurers and other institutional customers were
assigned to the Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions and the Real Estate & Savings
Banks/Association segments. The Markets segment also provides a range of capital market and
Treasury products that are cross-sold to BayernLB’s Corporates, Mittelstand, Savings Banks and
Real Estate customers. Market and default risks are hedged and solvency assured at all times
through risk and liquidity management.
The Central Areas & Others segment incorporates the earnings contributions from the central
areas Corporate Center, Financial Office, Operating Office, and Risk Office. These are primarily
from the interests in companies assigned to it and expenditure for refinancing and managing
these interests. Refinancing costs for the Group’s subsidiaries are also allocated to this segment.
The segment also includes transactions whose earnings contributions are generated from core
business but cannot be allocated to either a business area or a central area. The consolidated
subsidiary BayernLB Capital LLC I, Wilmington is also allocated to this segment.
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All non-core activities have been transferred to the Non-Core Unit segment. It contains the
Restructuring Unit, the subsidiaries MKB and LBLux and the non-organisational Other NCU
division.
In the Restructuring Unit, selected portfolios are separated from the operating activities of the
business segments. It also contains asset-backed securities affected by the financial market crisis
in 2008, their hedging instruments and a portfolio that includes a number of individual securities
positions with problems.
Business activities in eastern and south-eastern Europe are reported under MKB. MKB’s business
model focuses on Mittelstand customers, small businesses and the high net worth customer
segment.
The holding in LBLux combines the business activities in the financial centre of Luxembourg and
the Benelux region. It is focused on Mittelstand customers in the Benelux region and international high net worth customers, and also operates as a custodian bank. In December 2013 an
agreement was signed to sell a portion of LBLux’s private banking business in 2014. The sale of
its corporate banking portfolio is planned for 2014.
The GBW AG sub-group, Munich was reported in the non-organisational Other NCU division until
its sale in May 2013. DKB’s non-core activities, loans (including their refinancing) to HAA, MKB
and LBLux, silent partner contributions, and equity interests in Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken are
also reported in this segment.
The Consolidation column shows consolidation entries not allocated to any segment.
Earnings from typical banking operations after risk provisions (net interest income, net commission income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge accounting,
gains or losses on financial investments, and income from interests in companies valued at
equity) were EUR 1,913 million (FY 2012: EUR 1,976 million1), including EUR – 7 million (FY 2012:
EUR 231 million) in Europe excluding Germany, and EUR 598 million (FY 2012: EUR 708 million)
in America.

1 Adjustment pursuant to IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Notes to the statement of comprehensive income
(29)

Net interest income

EUR million

2013

2012

Interest income

8,066

10,144

• From lending and money market transactions
of which:
– from unwinding
• From bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
• Current income from equities and other non-fixed income securities
• Current income from interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries,
joint ventures, associates and other interests
• Current income from profit-pooling and profit transfer agreements
• Current income from other financial investments
• From hedge accounting derivatives
• From derivatives in economic hedges

5,454
64
557
4

81
757
4

9
9
11
1,076
945

15
11
8
1,723
1,145

Interest expenses

6,147

8,237

•
•
•
•
•
•

2,743
851
232
1,475
726
119

3,617
1,419
286
1,684
959
2732

1,919

1,907

For liabilities to banks and customers
For securitised liabilities
For subordinated capital
For hedge accounting derivatives
For derivatives in economic hedges
Other interest expenses

Total

6,4801

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Interest income from financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at fair value in the
income statement totalled EUR 5,998 million (FY 2012: EUR 7,222 million). Interest expenses
totalled EUR 3,676 million (FY 2012: EUR 5,297 million).

(30)

Risk provisions in the credit business
2013

2012

Additions

906

1,020

Direct writedowns

136

133

Releases

325

563

32

109

EUR million

Recoveries on written down receivables
Other gains or losses on risk provisions
Total

31

22

653

459

The amounts include on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit transactions.
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(31)

Net commission income
2013

2012

68

66

Broker fees

– 20

– 31

Lending business

149

178

EUR million
Securities business

19

–1

Foreign commercial operations

Payments

4

4

Home loan savings business

–

– 35

Trust transactions

18

19

Miscellaneous

51

61

289

260

Total

Net commission income includes EUR 126 million (FY 2012: EUR 87 million) from financial instruments. This commission primarily relates to financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at
fair value in the income statement.

(32)

Gains or losses on fair value measurement
2013

2012

Net trading income

333

355

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

103
71
101
30
– 11
– 19
57

145
52
161
22
– 56
– 27
57

Fair value gains or losses from the fair value option

– 62

– 56

Total

271

299

EUR million
Interest-related transactions
Currency-related transactions
Credit derivatives
Other financial transactions
Refinancing of trading portfolios
Trading-related commission
Fair value adjustments

Net trading income includes realised and unrealised gains or losses attributable to these trading
activities, the interest and dividend income related to these transactions, and gains or losses on
foreign currency translation.
Current income and expenses from financial instruments in the fair value option category and
from derivatives in economic hedges are reported under net interest income.
Fair value adjustments in FY 2013 contains the impact from including a counterparty-specific
spread and the own credit spread in the measurement of OTC derivatives as well as the effect
from dissolving the valuation reserve for bid-ask spreads.
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Gains or losses on hedge accounting

EUR million
Gains or losses on micro fair value hedges
• Measurement of underlying transactions
• Measurement of hedging instruments
Gains or losses on portfolio fair value hedges
• Measurement of underlying transactions
• Amortisation of the portfolio hedge adjustment
• Measurement of hedging instruments
Total

2013

2012

2

26

13
– 10

– 644
670

– 30

– 22

– 170
– 477
618

888
– 264
– 646

– 27

3

Since 1 July 2012 portfolio hedge adjustment amortisation has been reported in gains or losses
on hedge accounting (previously net interest income).

(34)

Gains or losses on financial investments
2013

2012

Gains or losses on financial investments in the “loans and receivables”
category

210

125

• Gains or losses on sales
• Income from impairment reversals
– Specific loan loss provisions
– Portfolio provisions
• Expenses from impairments
– Specific loan loss provisions
– Portfolio provisions

43
194
108
86
27
1
26

32
137
65
73
45
9
35

Gains or losses on financial investments in the “available-for-sale”
category

– 433

– 340

• Gains or losses on sales
• Income from impairment reversals
• Expenses from impairments

– 148
417
701

– 164
457
634

EUR million

Gains or losses on deconsolidation
Total

297
74

2181
3

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

201

(35)

Administrative expenses

EUR million

2013

2012

Staff costs

760

867

• Salaries and wages
• Social security contributions
• Expenses for pensions and other employee benefits
of which:
– expenses for defined contribution plans

630
71
59

590
79
1981

4

9

Other administrative expenses

652

690

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

90
188
7
44
55
166
104

99
210
9
49
61
142
119

Owner-occupied property
Data processing costs
Office costs
Advertising
Communication and other selling costs
Membership, legal and consulting fees
Miscellaneous administrative costs

Amortisation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (not including goodwill)
Total

121

82

1,533

1,639

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

(36)

Expenses for bank levies
2013

2012

Expenses for bank levies

51

53

Total

51

53

EUR million

Expenses for bank levies includes EUR 5 million (FY 2012: EUR 6 million) for the German bank levy
and EUR 46 million (FY 2012: EUR 47 million) for the Hungarian special tax on banks and financial
institutions.
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Other income and expenses

EUR million
Other income
• Rental income
of which:
– rental income from investment property
• Gains on the sale of investment property, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, and property held as inventory
• Income from writeups on investment property, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, and property held as inventory
• Gains on the sale of receivables
• Gains on the sale of underlying transactions from hedge accounting
• Gains on repurchases of own issues
• Income from the release of provisions
• Interest income on tax refunds due
• Sundry other income
Other expenses
• Current expenses from investment property
– leased property
• Losses on the sale of investment property, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, and property held as inventory
• Depreciation of investment property and property held as inventory
• Losses on the sale of underlying transactions from hedge accounting
• Losses on repurchases of own issues
• Expenses from establishing provisions
• Expenses from loss transfers
• Expenses from other taxes
• Interest expenses from tax arrears
• Sundry other expenses
Total

2013

2012

707
74

1,103
176

71

172

7

11

–
7
35
32
46
29
477

3
–
103
269
32
14
495

618
2
2

681
3
3

3
9
15
52
59
13
64
32
369

6
43
20
79
31
3
32
27
437

89

421

The remainder of other income and the remainder of other expenses includes principally income
and expenses that are not typical for banks. This is primarily income from fund transactions and
income and expenses from energy sales and trading, transactions with leased assets and the
management of investment property.
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(38)

Gains or losses on restructuring

EUR million
Income from restructuring measures
Expenses for restructuring measures
Total

(39)

2013

2012

9

1

173

63

– 164

– 62

2013

2012

Income taxes

EUR million

–5

15

• Domestic and foreign corporation tax including solidarity surcharge
• Municipal trade tax/foreign local taxes

10
– 15

15
–

Deferred income taxes

134

– 97

99
35

– 1031
62

129

– 82

Current income taxes

• Domestic and foreign corporation tax including solidarity surcharge
• Municipal trade tax/foreign local taxes
Total
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

Tax expenses totalled EUR 129 million in the reporting year (FY 2012: EUR 82 million1 of tax
income). Deferred tax expenses of EUR 134 million (FY 2012: EUR 97 million1 of tax income) arose
primarily (EUR 132 million) from the creation and reversal of temporary differences and the
change in loss carryforwards, interest carryforwards and tax credits for which deferred tax assets
have been recognised.
The impact from the change to the income tax rates for certain companies liable to taxes was
EUR 2 million (FY 2012: EUR 1 million). This was primarily due to changes in the tax rate
applicable to deferred taxes in the New York and London branches.
The effective income tax expenses recognised in the reporting year were EUR 48 million higher
(FY 2012: EUR 287 million1 lower) than estimated. The factors responsible for this difference are
shown in the table below:

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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2013

2012

Profit before taxes

253

6421

Group income tax rate (in %)

32.0

32.0

Estimated income tax
Effects from differing local tax rates

81

2051

160

135

–1

– 48

Effects from changes in tax rates

2

1

Effects from non-deductible losses on sales or writedowns of interests and
shareholder loans and from deconsolidation

7

6

40

–

4

–1

12

28

Effects from taxes from previous years recognised in the financial year

Effects from the taxation of an intra-Group loan
Effects from additions to/deductions of municipal trade tax
Effects from other non-deductible operating expenses
Effects from tax-free income

– 102

– 130

Effects from permanent accounting differences

– 245

– 1151

175

– 1611

Effects from writedowns/corrections
Increase/decrease in deferred tax liabilities from outside basis differences
Other

–5

–3

1

1

Effective income tax expenses (+)/income (–)

129

– 821

Effective income tax rate (in %)

51.0

– 12.81

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Estimated income tax expenses were calculated using the tax rate for companies liable to taxes in
Germany. The Group income tax rate was 32.0 percent on the reporting date (FY 2012: 32.0 percent) based on a corporation tax rate of 15.0 percent (FY 2012: 15.0 percent), solidarity surcharge
of 5.5 percent (FY 2012: 5.5 percent) and average municipal trade tax of 16.1 percent (FY
2012: 16.2 percent) in 2013.
The impact from the taxation of an intra-Group loan relates to the granting of subordinated
capital to the bank subsidiary MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest (sub-group), which under Hungarian tax
law raises the local basis of assessment for taxation.
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The tax-exempt income of EUR 102 million comprises largely tax-exempt proceeds from the sale
of GBW AG, Munich (EUR 60 million), net of interbranch expenses and interbranch income at the
New York branch (EUR 17 million) and tax-exempt dividends from non-consolidated subsidiaries
(EUR 9 million).
The impact of permanent differences in the amount of EUR – 245 million arises largely from the
change in permanent differences from bonds (EUR – 286 million) and the offsetting impact from
changes in the measurement of non-effectively connected assets (EUR 50 million) from the New
York branch.
The impact from writedowns/corrections of EUR 175 million (FY 2012: EUR – 161 million1) arose
from an increase in the writedown of deferred tax assets on temporary differences (EUR 108 million) and tax loss carryforwards (EUR 67 million), as the tax planning calculation during the
planning period forecast only a partial decrease in loss carryforwards and partial reversal of
temporary differences.

Notes to the balance sheet
(40)

Cash reserves

EUR million
Cash
Deposits with central banks
Debt instruments issued by public entities and bills of exchange
eligible for refinancing with central banks
• Treasury bills and non-interest bearing Federal Treasury notes and
similar debt issued by public-sector entities
Total

2013

2012

82

199

2,607

1,236

472

1,148

472

1,148

3,160

2,583

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Loans and advances to banks

EUR million
Loans and advances to domestic banks

2013

2012

26,374

29,304

Loans and advances to foreign banks

17,095

15,143

Total

43,470

44,446

2013

2012

Loans and advances to banks by maturity
EUR million
Payable on demand

7,160

9,517

With residual maturity of

36,310

34,929

•
•
•
•

13,000
6,377
9,535
7,398

7,869
7,958
11,587
7,515

43,470

44,446

2013

2012

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(42)

Loans and advances to customers

EUR million

110,699

113,955

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

26,787
83,913

28,409
85,546

Loans and advances to foreign customers

27,265

36,657

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

1,851
25,414

2,194
34,463

137,965

150,612

2013

2012

134,264

147,873

13,485
11,283
38,911
70,586

18,249
16,219
41,020
72,385

3,700

2,739

137,965

150,612

Loans and advances to domestic customers

Total

Loans and advances to customers by maturity
EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Perpertual maturities
Total
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(43)

Risk provisions

EUR million

2013

2012

Specific loan loss provisions

2,451

2,583

Portfolio provisions
Total

218

247

2,668

2,830

Changes in specific loan loss provisions
Loans and advances to
banks

Total

EUR million

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

535

559

2,048

1,991

2,583

2,550

Changes recognised
in income statement

15

–

465

493

480

493

• Additions
• Releases
• Unwinding

16
1
–

3
3
–

714
185
64

847
273
81

730
186
64

850
276
81

– 28

– 24

– 585

– 435

– 613

– 460

–2

–1

– 17

27

– 18

26

–
26
–

–
36
12

– 17
521
– 30

–
442
– 20

– 17
548
– 30

–
478
–7

522

535

1,929

2,048

2,451

2,583

Changes not recognised
in income statement
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Utilisation
• Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec

208

Loans and advances to
customers
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Specific loan loss provisions by sector
EUR million

2013

2012

Real estate

642

711

Banks/financial services providers

592

670

Retail customers

507

371

Logistics

101

99

Construction

100

143

ABS portfolios

80

31

Utilities

80

30

Food & beverages

58

80

Renewable energy

49

52

Automotive

29

42

Wholesale & retail

24

22

Media

21

53

Steel

17

37

Technology

17

22

Chemicals

17

17

Non-ferrous metals/coal and steel

16

6

Pulp & paper

14

18

Manufacturing & engineering

14

17

Oil

14

16

Healthcare

11

31

Hotels

10

39

Textiles & apparel

10

17

Aviation

4

12

Consumer durables

4

10

Countries/public sector

2

2

Pharmaceuticals

2

1

Telecommunications

1

5

Tourism

–

10

Aerospace

–

1

16

18

2,451

2,583

Other sectors
Total
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Changes in portfolio provisions
Loans and advances
to banks

Loans and advances
to customers

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

32

55

215

318

247

372

– 10

– 11

121

33

111

22

–
10

15
26

173
52

167
134

173
62

182
160

Changes not recognised in income
statement

–

– 12

– 140

– 136

– 140

– 148

• Currency-related changes
• Utilisation
• Transfers/other changes

–
–
–

–
12
–

–1
136
–3

–
121
– 15

–1
136
–3

–
133
– 15

22

32

196

215

218

247

EUR million
As at 1 Jan
Changes recognised in income
statement
• Additions
• Releases

As at 31 Dec

Risk provisions for contingent liabilities and other commitments are shown as provisions for risks
in the credit business (see note 59).

(44)

Assets held for trading

EUR million

2013

2012

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

4,807

4,620

• Money market instruments
• Bonds and notes

203
4,604

333
4,287

Equities and other non-fixed income securities

291

160

• Equities

291

160

Receivables held for trading

1,118

1,138

• Schuldschein note loans

1,118

1,138

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments
(not hedge accounting)

19,246

36,2051

Total

25,462

42,123

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Assets held for trading includes the fair value of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of
Bavaria (“Umbrella”) in the amount of EUR 634 million (FY 2012: EUR 520 million).
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Assets held for trading by maturity
2013

2012

With residual maturity of

25,171

41,965

•
•
•
•

1,052
1,862
9,466
12,790

1,743
2,359
15,6251
22,2371

EUR million
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Perpetual maturities
Total

291

159

25,462

42,123

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

(45)

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

EUR million

2013

2012

Positive fair values from micro fair value hedges

2,889

4,162

Total

2,889

4,162

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) by maturity
2013

2012

46
89
1,261
1,493

10
101
1,767
2,285

2,889

4,162

EUR million

2013

2012

Financial investments in the “fair value option” category

1,270

1,375

• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
• Equities and other non-fixed income securities

1,256
14

1,369
6

15,332

17,235

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(46)

Financial investments

Financial investments in the “loans and receivables” category
• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

15,332

17,235

Financial investments in the “available-for-sale” category

23,118

19,996

• Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities
• Equities and other non-fixed income securities
• Interests in non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint v entures, associated
companies and other interests
• Other financial investments

22,332
180

19,217
200

471
135

443
135

Total

39,720

38,606
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Financial investments in the loans and receivables category arose from the reclassification of
securities in the available-for-sale and held-for-trading categories (see note 67).
The sub-items “bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities” and “equities and other non-fixed
income securities” comprise:
2013

2012

Bonds, notes and other fixed-income securities

38,919

37,821

• Money market instruments
• Bonds and notes

504
38,416

405
37,416

Equities and other non-fixed income securities

194

207

• Equities
• Investment units

39
156

25
182

EUR million

Financial investments by maturity
2013

2012

With residual maturity of

39,204

38,034

•
•
•
•

1,867
2,697
22,627
12,014

903
917
24,394
11,820

EUR million
up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Perpetual maturities

516

572

39,720

38,606

2013

2012

Joint ventures

15

15

Associates

11

96

Total

26

111

Total

(47)

Interests in companies measured at equity

EUR million

The silent partner contributions of associate company Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (SaarLB)
were hardened. As at 30 September 2013, the Saarland savings banks converted EUR 36 million
of silent partner contributions at SaarLB into share capital (EUR 18 million), with the remainder
(EUR 18 million) paid into the capital surplus. This reduced BayernLB’s equity interest to 43.9 percent. The reduction in the equity interest by 6 percent produced income from the realisation of
the revaluation surplus attributable to SaarLB of EUR 4 million, which was recognised under
income from interests in companies measured at equity. After the sales agreement was signed
between BayernLB and Saarland, SaarLB was classified as held for sale on 30 November 2013.
Prior to that it had been measured in accordance with the equity method. Based on the last
measurement at equity conducted just before reclassification as a result of this sales agreement,
the impairment loss in accordance with IAS 36 that had been recognised in previous years was
reversed in the amount by which the achievable income rose. This resulted in a gain from
measurement of EUR 34 million, which was recognised under interests in companies measured
at equity.
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Summary of financial information on joint ventures measured at equity
EUR million
Current assets
Non-current assets

2013

2012

27

30

100

133

Current liabilities

31

77

Non-current liabilities

66

46

Income

51

47

Expenses

51

50

Summary of financial information on associates measured at equity
EUR million

2013

2012

Total assets

94

19,085

Equity

36

568

Revenues

44

826

Net profit

–

23

BayernLB’s share in the profits of associates measured at equity was EUR 0 million in the reporting
year (FY 2012: EUR 20 million).
On the reporting date no liabilities in proportion to the Group’s stake arose on contingent
liabilities of associates measured at equity (FY 2012: EUR 470 million).

(48)

Investment property

EUR million
Land and buildings for rental
Undeveloped land
Total
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2012

99

67

–

2

99

69
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Changes in investment property
2013

EUR million

2012

Cost
•
•
•
•
•

As at 1 Jan
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
As at 31 Dec

102
41
– 13
–
130

2,327
50
– 2,2511
23
1021

33
2
5
–
– 10
–
30

265
31
10
3
– 2641
6
331

Depreciation and impairment reversals
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

As at 1 Jan
Depreciation
Impairments
Impairment reversals
Transfers
Disposals
As at 31 Dec

Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

69
99

2,061
69

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Additions to investment property include EUR 41 million (FY 2012:  EUR 13 million) from one
acquisition and EUR 0 million (FY 2012: EUR 37 million) from capitalising subsequent acquisition
costs.
In the reporting year investment property with a carrying amount of EUR 3 million was reclassified under property, plant and equipment. No reclassifications were made to non-current assets
or disposal groups classified as held for sale (FY 2012: EUR 1,990 million).
On the reporting date, the fair value of investment property was EUR 119 million (FY 2012:
EUR 85 million). The fair value was calculated by independent experts and based on the German
income method (Ertragswertverfahren) using market and geodata. The significant inputs are not
observable (Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy).

(49)

Property, plant and equipment

EUR million
Owner-occupied property
Furniture and office equipment
Total

214

2013

2012

543

546

75

83

619

629
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Changes in property, plant and equipment
Owner-occupied
property
EUR million
Cost
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Additions
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Depreciation and impairment
reversals
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Depreciation
• Impairments
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

Furniture and office
equipment

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

700
–3

635
12

305
–3

274
7

1,005
–5

909
20

–1
19
14
3
726

–
24
371
8
7001

–
14
– 10
38
270

–
17
291
23
305

–1
33
5
41
996

–
42
67
31
1,005

154
–1

93
2

222
–2

205
4

376
–3

298
7

–1
20
1
10
1
183

–
16
3
461
7
1541

–
18
3
– 10
37
194

–
20
4
111
23
2221

–1
38
4
1
38
377

–
36
7
57
29
376

546
543

541
546

69
83

629
619

611
629

83
75

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

No expenses for construction in progress were capitalised in the reporting year (FY 2012:
EUR 3 million).
Owner-occupied property and furniture and office equipment with a carrying amount of
EUR 0 million in the reporting year (FY 2012: EUR 77 million and EUR 5 million respectively)
were reclassified as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale.

(50)

Intangible assets

EUR million
Goodwill

2013

2012

–

–

Intangible assets produced in house

57

77

Other intangible assets

97

109

154

186

Total

Other intangible assets comprises largely purchased software.
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Changes in intangible assets
Intangible assets
produced in house

Goodwill
EUR million
Cost
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Additions
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Depreciation and
impairment reversals
• As at 1 Jan
• Currency-related changes
• Changes in the scope of
consolidation
• Depreciation
• Impairments
• Transfers
• Disposals
• As at 31 Dec
Carrying amount
• As at 1 Jan
• As at 31 Dec

Other intangible
assets

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

186
–3

186
–

87
–

51
–

342
–3

321
12

616
–6

558
12

–2
–
– 176
–
6

–
–
–
–
186

–
29
–
–
116

–
36
–
–
87

–
21
–3
29
329

–
36
–6
20
342

–2
49
– 178
29
452

–
72
–6
20
616

186
–3

186
–

10
–

9
–

234
–2

216
6

430
–5

410
6

–2
–
–
– 176
–
6

–
–
–
–
–
186

–
2
47
–
–
59

–
1
–
–
–
10

–
23
8
–3
28
232

–
24
12
–5
19
234

–2
25
54
– 178
28
297

–
25
12
–5
19
430

–
–

–
–

77
57

42
77

109
97

105
109

186
154

147
186

In the reporting year other intangible assets and goodwill with a carrying amount each of
EUR 0 million (FY 2012: EUR 2 million of other intangible assets) were reclassified as non-current
assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale.
The impairment charge in FY 2013 on intangible assets produced in house was related solely to
the introduction of new credit software. These assets are assigned to the Central Areas & Others
segment.
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Current and deferred tax assets
2013

2012

Current tax assets

76

67

• Germany
• Abroad

46
29

46
21

EUR million

Deferred tax assets

209

429

• Germany
• Abroad

204
5

3531
76

Total

284

496

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

The current tax assets arose principally from the deductible income taxes of the previous years.
The following deferred taxes under assets and liabilities relate to recognition and measurement
differences in individual items on the balance sheet and to tax loss carryforwards and tax credits
(including non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale):

EUR million
Loans and advances to banks and customers
including risk provisions in Germany
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax
liabilities

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax
liabilities

2013

2013

2012

2012

69

70

26

93

1,464

36

2,657

46

16

983

17

1,644

124

194

332

171

Property, plant and equipment

5

52

6

48

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified
as held for sale

–

–

16

11

Financial investments

Other assets

24

32

25

76

Liabilities to banks and customers

626

4

836

144

Securitised liabilities

242

3

373

6

46

1,948

76

3,036

Liabilities held for trading
Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
Provisions
Other liabilities
Subordinated capital

657

–

907

–

56

51

1811

60

108

55

75

15
–

49

–

94

122

–

77

Sub-total

3,608

3,428

5,6981

5,354

Less netting

3,399

3,399

5,253

5,253

209

29

Loss carryforwards/interest carryforwards

Total deferred taxes less provisions and netting

4451

5

101

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities of each reporting unit subject to taxation and of the consolidated tax group of the Bank’s domestic units were fully netted, as the applicable tax laws permit
actual tax liabilities to be offset against actual tax assets.
The EUR – 164 million change (FY 2012: EUR 297 million1) in the net of deferred tax assets
and liabilities does not correspond to a deferred tax expense of EUR 134 million (FY 2012:
EUR 97 million of tax income1). This was primarily due to the changes in deferred taxes not
recognised in the income statement largely as a result of:
• the decrease in deferred tax assets of EUR – 42 million in the revaluation surplus
(FY 2012: EUR 44 million increase in deferred tax assets)
• the increase in deferred tax assets recognised in the reserve for the remeasurement of defined
benefit plans of EUR 2 million and
• the disposal of deferred tax assets of EUR 6 million from deconsolidation;
• this was offset by a correction of the loss carryforwards not carried through profit in the previous years in the amount of EUR 14 million.
Tax loss carryforwards, interest carryforwards, tax credits and instalments for which a deferred
tax asset has been recognised, not recognised or for which a writedown has been made, are
listed separately in the table below for all types of loss, interest carryforwards and tax credits
relevant to the Group. The period of time in which unrecognised loss carryforwards, interest
carryforwards and tax credits may still be used according to the tax law applicable in each case
is also shown. Tax loss carryforwards and interest carryforwards of companies liable to taxes in
Germany may be used indefinitely.

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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EUR million

2013

2012

–

102

–
–

102
102

2,587
98
183
2,306
222
–
2,084

2,399
126
4
2,269
119
33
2,117

1,414
318
2
1,094
37
1,057

1,223
14
34
1,175
–
1,175

6
6
6

–
–
–

Interest carryforwards
• Interest carryforwards
– interest carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised
may be used indefinitely
Corporation tax
• Loss carryforwards
– loss carryforwards for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised
– loss carryforwards for which a provision has been established
– loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
expire within 5 years
expire after 10 years
may be used indefinitely
Municipal trade tax
• Loss carryforwards
– loss carryforwards for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised
– loss carryforwards for which a provision has been established
– loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
expire within 5 years
may be used indefinitely
Tax credits
• Tax credits
– tax credits for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
may be used indefinitely

No deferred tax assets were recognised for deductible temporary differences of EUR 1,680 million
(FY 2012: EUR 1,444 million1).
In the case of Group companies generating a tax loss in the current or a previous financial year,
deferred tax assets of EUR 227 million (FY 2012: EUR 248 million1) were recognised. Their utilisation depends on future taxable earnings being higher than the impact on earnings from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences. The amount is recognised on the basis of the
tax planning for the relevant company or consolidated tax group.
No deferred tax liabilities were recognised for the EUR 11 million (FY 2012: EUR 11 million) in
taxable temporary differences from interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures as it is unlikely
that the temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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(52)

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale

EUR million
Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

2013

2012

30

42

14

5

1,825

138

Risk provisions

144

61

Financial investments

327

231

Investment property

–

1,990

Property, plant and equipment

–

15

Intangible assets

–

1

Current tax assets

–

3

Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total

–

16

12

80

2,065

2,460

As one of the conditions of the EU Commission’s ruling in the state aid proceedings, BayernLB
was required to dispose of all of its stake of approximately 92 percent in residential construction
company GBW AG, Munich by the end of 2013 in a non-discriminatory and transparent tender
process. BayernLB launched the process to sell its stake in GBW AG on 15 October 2012. Accordingly, GBW AG and its fully consolidated subsidiaries were classified as a disposal group held for
sale in FY 2012. The sale of GBW AG was completed on 27 May 2013.
In addition, the shares in Deutsche Lufthansa AG, Cologne held as financial investments since the
previous year were classified as held for sale. The entire equity packet was sold in January 2013.
Another one of the conditions of the EU Commission’s ruling in BayernLB’s state aid proceedings
was the sale of asset management company KGAL GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald (KGAL). In the
course of the sales process, the direct and indirect equity interests in KGAL were reclassified as
held for sale as at 30 June 2013. Under the sale agreement of 9 December 2013, all equity interests held in KGAL were disposed of; 3.4 percent of this is a put option which cannot be exercised
for at least five years. The sale of the rest is expected to close at the end of March 2014. The KGAL
stake held through the put option is reported under the interests in companies measured at
equity item. Subsequent measurement of KGAL for the sales agreement resulted in a writeup of
EUR 10 million, which is recognised under gains or losses on financial investments. Cumulative
expenses of EUR 6 million are recognised in the revaluation surplus.
BayernLB disposed of its majority holding in Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (SaarLB) in 2010. In
November 2013 BayernLB and Saarland agreed the sale of the remaining 43.9 percent equity
interest. Saarland acquired this at the start of 2014. With the sale of the rest of its stake, BayernLB
has fulfilled another of the EU Commission’s major conditions. The criteria for classifying SaarLB
as held for sale were met on 30 November 2013. The change in the company’s classification from
measured at equity to held for sale did not result in any impairment. Cumulative income of
EUR 27 million is recognised in the revaluation surplus.
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In the reporting year, the associates KGAL and SaarLB, which were both classified as held for sale,
had total assets of EUR 17,206 million, equity of EUR 584 million, revenues of EUR 710 million and
earnings of EUR 23 million. The unrecognised share in KGAL’s losses was EUR – 10 million. Of this,
EUR – 9 million relates to the 23.6 percent held for sale and EUR – 1 million to the 3.4 percent
measured at equity until its final sale. As at 31 December 2013, the BayernLB Group’s proportionate share of the associate’s contingent liabilities amounted to EUR 181 million.
In the spring of 2013, BayernLB launched the process to sell its stake in Banque LBLux S.A.,
Luxembourg (LBLux), a leading private and corporate bank based in Luxembourg. The transaction
is one of the requirements under the European Commission’s state aid ruling issued on 25 July
2012 and marks a further step in BayernLB’s rapid implementation of the conditions contained in
that ruling. In December 2013, an agreement was signed with the Luxembourg-based private
bank Banque de Luxembourg to transfer part of LBLux’s private banking business. The transfer is
expected to be completed in the first half of 2014. Another major business area to be sold off is
LBLux’s corporate banking portfolio, which comprises mainly corporate financings and real estate
loans. Both portfolios are classified as disposal groups held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.
Classification as held for sale did not result in an impairment.
In April 2012 a sales agreement was signed for the fully consolidated subsidiary NEXTEBANK S.A.
(formerly: MKB Romexterra Bank S.A.), Targu Mures, which forms part of the MKB Bank Zrt.,
Budapest (MKB) sub-group and has been classified as a disposal group since 2011. The sales process could not be completed in 2012 due to events outside MKB’s control. A new sales agreement
was signed on 31 December 2013. The sale is expected to close in the first half of 2014. Based on
its sale price the disposal group was measured at fair value less costs to sell in the reporting year.
A provision in the amount of EUR 48 million was created for the liabilities from the sale which
weighed on the other income and expenses item. Cumulative expenses of EUR 17 million are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. The process to sell the fully consolidated
subsidiary MKB - Unionbank AD, Sofia, which is part of the MKB sub-group, was also begun in the
year under review. The criteria for classifying MKB - Unionbank AD as a disposal group held for
sale were met on 30 June 2013. Classification as held for sale resulted in an impairment charge of
EUR 13 million. MKB - Unionbank AD was sold on 10 October 2013. Fully consolidated subsidiary
MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A., Bucharest which had been classified as a disposal group in the
MKB sub-group in the previous year was reclassified due to winding down activities as at 30 June
2013 and sold on 14 November 2013. No material change in valuation resulted from the reclassification.
In February 2014, it was decided to sell liquidity facilities and swaps, which together form a
disposal group. Based on current negotiations, the sale is expected to take place in financial year
2014. The disposal group, which is assigned to the Non-Core Unit, therefore f ulfils the criteria for
classification under IFRS 5 as of February 2014.
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(53)

Other assets
2013

2012

Claims from reinsurance

208

206

Emissions certificates

EUR million

132

136

Precious metals

58

180

Pre-paid expenses

14

20

Property as inventory

10

13

Other assets

246

322

Total

668

877

EUR 73 million (FY 2012: EUR 172 million) of other assets are due after more than 12 months.

(54)

Liabilities to banks
2013

2012

Liabilities to domestic banks

59,978

57,091

Liabilities to foreign banks

11,213

13,430

Total

71,191

70,521

EUR million

Liabilities to banks by maturity
EUR million

2013

2012

Payable on demand

6,307

5,219

With residual maturity of

64,884

65,302

•
•
•
•

13,896
6,748
21,687
22,553

6,828
7,664
27,438
23,373

71,191

70,521

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(55)

Liabilities to customers
2013

2012

Liabilities to domestic customers

76,528

80,435

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

17,399
59,129

17,763
62,672

Liabilities to foreign customers

9,655

10,383

• Government entities/companies under public law
• Private companies/private individuals

1,666
7,989

581
9,802

86,183

90,819

EUR million

Total
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Liabilities to customers by maturity
2013

2012

55,911
4,390
9,935
15,947

58,509
6,404
8,780
17,126

86,183

90,819

2013

2012

Bonds and notes issued

52,424

59,713

• Mortgage-backed Pfandbriefs
• Public Pfandbriefs
• Other bonds

5,070
14,605
32,749

6,391
16,390
36,932

Other securitised liabilities

540

606

• Money market instruments
• Miscellaneous securitised liabilities

523
17

569
37

52,964

60,319

2013

2012

5,028
12,480
27,379
8,077

4,568
9,067
39,434
7,250

52,964

60,319

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(56)

Securitised liabilities

EUR million

Total

Securitised liabilities by maturity
EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(57)

Liabilities held for trading
2013

2012

Trading portfolio liabilities

258

158

• Liabilities from short sales

258

158

16,423

34,410

EUR million

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(not hedge accounting)
Fair value adjustments
Total
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179

16,797

34,747
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Liabilities held for trading by maturity
EUR million

2013

2012

896
1,121
6,746
8,033

1,281
2,003
12,852
18,610

16,797

34,747

With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(58)

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

EUR million

2013

2012

Negative fair values from micro fair value hedges

1,004

1,359

Negative fair values from portfolio fair value hedges

1,843

2,506

Total

2,846

3,864

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) by maturity
2013

2012

13
93
1,707
1,033

2
37
2,150
1,675

2,846

3,864

EUR million

2013

2012

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

2,741

2,6171

EUR million
With residual maturity of
•
•
•
•

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Total

(59)

Provisions

Other provisions

762

561

• Provisions in the credit business
• Restructuring provisions
• Miscellaneous provisions

98
354
310

140
221
2002

Total

3,503

3,178

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

EUR 417 million (FY 2012: EUR 272 million1) of other provisions are due after more than
12 months.

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
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Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
The provisions for pensions recognised in the balance sheet are broken down as follows:
EUR million

2013

20121

Present value of defined benefit obligations

2,861

2,727

Fair value of plan assets

– 124

– 110

4

–

2,741

2,617

Effects of the asset ceiling
Recognised pension provisions
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

There were also reimbursement rights of EUR 206 million (FY 2012: EUR 202 million), which are
recognised in the BayernLB Group as assets and reported under other assets. These are rights
from insurance contracts (reinsurance) which correspond in terms of their size and maturity to
the benefits from the related pension obligations to be paid.
Changes in provisions for pensions
EUR million

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

2,617

2,022

Current service cost

41

28

Past service cost

–2

147

Net interest expenses

89

101

102

663

–

1

–7

– 11

Changes arising from remeasurement
Settlements
Employer contributions
Benefits paid

– 78

– 81

Transfers/other changes

– 20

– 254

2,741

2,617

As at 31 Dec

The changes arising from remeasurement comprise actuarial gains and losses from the change in
the present value of the defined benefit obligations of EUR 103 million (FY 2012: EUR 664 million),
income from plan assets of EUR 5 million (FY 2012: EUR 1 million) and changes arising from the
asset ceiling of EUR 4 million (FY 2012: EUR 0 million). These are shown in retained earnings
within equity (see note 64).
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Change in the present value of defined benefit obligations
EUR million

2013

20121

As at 1 Jan

2,727

2,146

Currency-related changes

–1

4

Current service cost

41

28

Past service cost

–2

147

Net interest expenses

93

103

103

664

Changes arising from remeasurement
Settlements

–

1

Benefits paid

– 81

– 108

Transfers/other changes

– 19

– 2602

As at 31 Dec

2,861

2,727

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
2 These include EUR – 242 million in connection with the disposal of LBS Bayern on 31 December 2012.

The changes arising from the remeasurement of the present value of defined benefit o
 bligations
are due to changes in actuarial assumptions. Of this, EUR 102 million (FY 2012: EUR 731 million)
relates to adjustments in financial assumptions and EUR 1 million (FY 2012: EUR – 67 million) to
experienced-based adjustments.
Of the benefits paid, EUR 0 million (FY 2012: EUR 25 million) relate to settlements.
On the reporting date, the present value of the BayernLB Group’s defined benefit obligations was EUR 2,861 million (FY 2012: EUR 2,727 million1). Of this, EUR 2,168 million
(FY 2012: EUR 2,104 million1) relates to salary-related entitlements, EUR 307 million
(FY 2012: EUR 254 million) to allowances in the event of illness, and EUR 386 million
(FY 2012: EUR 369 million2) to other defined benefit plans, which are determined largely
on the basis of contributions to legally independent benefit providers.
The assumptions concerning the measurement parameters have an impact on the size of the
present value of the defined benefit obligations and therefore the pension expense. To calculate
the impact of changes in assumptions on the present value of the defined benefit obligations, a
sensitivity analysis is conducted for each major measurement parameter in the same way as for
the original measurement of the present value of the defined benefit obligations using the projected unit credit method.

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
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A change in the assumptions used to calculate the present value of defined benefit obligations in
financial year 2013 (see note 22) of 0.5 percentage points in each case would, as at 31 December
2013, impact the present value of the defined benefit obligations as follows:
0.5 percentage
point increase

0.5 percentage
point decrease

EUR million

2013

2013

Discount rate

– 212

241

212

– 188

36

– 33

Salaries and benefits1
Medical costs

1 In the sensitivity calculations, changes in estimated future salaries and benefits are observed together. These incorporate the offsetting
impact from a change in the social insurance pension trend by +/– 0.25 percentage points.

An increase in life expectancy (biometrics) by one year has an impact of EUR 115 million.
Change in the fair value of plan assets
EUR million

2013

20121

As at 1 Jan

110

124

–1

4

Interest income

4

2

Changes arising from remeasurement

5

1

Employer contributions

7

11

–3

– 27

2

–6

124

110

Currency-related changes

Benefits paid
Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

The BayernLB Group’s plan assets comprise:
Prices quoted on
active markets

Prices not quoted on
active markets

2013

2012

2013

2012

Cash and cash equivalents

–

–

25

21

Equity Instruments

–

–

56

49

• Fund units

–

–

56

49

Debt instruments

–

–

43

40

•
•
•
•

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

8
15
11
9

8
14
7
10

–

–

124

110

EUR million

Corporate bonds
Government bonds
Reinsurance
Other debt instruments

Total
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Change in the fair value of the reimbursement rights reported as an asset
EUR million

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

202

227

Interest income

6

8

Employer contributions

1

–

Benefits paid

–1

–2

Transfers/other changes

–3

– 321

206

202

As at 31 Dec
1 The reclassification relates exclusively to the disposal of LBS Bayern on 31 December 2012.

In the BayernLB Group, rights from insurance contracts were recognised as reimbursement
claims, which were acquired by BayernLB in Germany as employer to refinance through matching
the employee’s entitlements in Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit beschränkter
Haftung, Munich.
Changes in the impact of asset ceiling
2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

–

–

Changes arising from remeasurement

4

–

As at 31 Dec

4

–

EUR million

At the end of the reporting year, the pension plan of a foreign branch reported pension assets in
excess of pension obligations. This type of asset may be recognised only up to the present value
of the benefit the BayernLB Group can derive from its use (asset ceiling). As at 31 December 2013
the present value was EUR 0 million.
The pension expenses recognised in the income statement comprise:
EUR million
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest income/expenses
Income/expenses on settlements
Total

2013

20121

– 41

– 28

2

– 147

– 83

– 93

–

–1

– 122

– 269

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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The pension expenses in the reporting year totalling EUR 122 million (FY 2012: EUR 269 million1)
were recognised under the net interest income item in the amount of EUR 83 million (FY 2012:
EUR 93 million1) and under administrative expenses in the amount of EUR 39 million (FY 2012:
EUR 176 million2). The previous year’s figure incorporated the remeasurement of p
 ension provisions following the ruling by the German Federal Employment Court in Erfurt on 15 May 2012.
Adjusted for this special item, the pension expenses would have been EUR – 122 million1 in the
previous year.
The current pension obligations have an average term (capital tie-up period) of 18 years.
Contributions to the BayernLB Group’s pension plans in financial year 2014 are estimated to be
EUR 88 million.
Other provisions
Provisions in the credit business
Individual transaction
level

Restructuring
provisions

Portfolio level

Miscellaneous
provisions

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

94

81

45

64

221

241

200

1,2741

Utilisation

1

1

–

–

37

35

51

1,308

Releases

31

33

23

45

9

1

35

26

Additions

46

36

8

28

161

25

200

322

1

1

–

–

–

–

–

–

EUR million

Unwinding
Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec

– 41

9

–

–2

19

–8

–5

– 62

68

94

30

45

354

221

310

2001

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).

The restructuring provision created in the reporting year was due to BayernLB’s cost-cutting
programme and includes future expenses from planned reductions in headcount. These include
severance pay, most of which is expected to be paid out by the end of 2014, and additions to
pension provisions for employees leaving BayernLB before reaching retirement age.

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
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The other provisions include mainly personnel-related provisions which are mainly short-term in
nature. Another component of other provisions is a provision for liabilities from the planned sale
of fully consolidated subsidiary NEXTEBANK S.A. (formerly MKB Romexterra Bank S.A.), Targu
Mures, which is classified as a disposal group and forms part of the MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest
sub-group (see note 52). This line item also includes provisions in connection with other equity
interests and for loss events.
The size of each provision corresponds to the best, i.e. uncertain, estimate of the amount of the
liability which is likely to be utilised. In the case of legal disputes, neither the length of the
proceedings nor the amount can be reliably predicted when the provision is created.

(60)

Current and deferred tax liabilities
2013

2012

Current tax liabilities

265

274

• Germany
• Abroad

256
9

265
9

Deferred tax liabilities

29

90

• Germany
• Abroad

22
7

83
7

294

364

2013

2012

14

809

1,421

197

EUR million

Total

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are listed in note 51.

(61)

Liabilities of disposal groups

EUR million
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Liabilities held for trading

–

30

Provisions

2

301

Current tax liabilities

–

7

Deferred tax liabilities

–

11

Other liabilities

1

174

1,438

1,259

Total
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 (see note 2).
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Other liabilities

EUR million
Accruals
Distributions on compound instruments

2013

2012

301

223

–

46

36

45

Other liabilities

185

231

Total

522

545

Deferred income

Other liabilities includes the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
(EUR 22 million) of the interest-free loans from the Hungarian National Bank in 2013 to help small
and medium-sized enterprises, which must be classified under IAS 20 as a government grant. In
accordance with IAS 20.12 the difference is amortised over the term of the loan.
EUR 5 million (FY 2012: EUR 6 million) of other liabilities are due after more than 12 months.

(63)

Subordinated capital

EUR million

2013

2012

Subordinated liabilities

4,465

5,306

Profit participation certificates (debt component)

334

325

Dated silent partner contributions (debt component)

121

499

64

216

4,984

6,346

Hybrid capital
Total

Subordinated capital by maturity
EUR million

2013

2012

With residual maturity of

4,965

6,328

•
•
•
•

170
182
3,270
1,343

557
661
3,430
1,679

up to 3 months
between 3 months and 1 year
between 1 year and 5 years
more than 5 years

Perpetual maturities
Total
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4,984

6,346

231

(64)

Equity

EUR million
Equity excluding non-controlling interests
• Subscribed capital
– statutory nominal capital
– capital contribution
– perpetual silent partner contributions
• Specific-purpose capital
• Compound instruments
– profit participation certificates (equity component)
– dated silent partner contributions
(equity component)
• Capital surplus
• Retained earnings
– statutory reserve
– other retained earnings
• Revaluation surplus
• Foreign currency translation reserve
• Net retained profits/net accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
Total

2013

2012

14,849

14,801

6,846
2,800
612
3,434
–
145
133

6,556
2,300
–
4,256
612
182
136

12
3,893
4,094
1,268
2,827
– 37
– 92
–

45
4,036
3,511
1,268
2,2431
– 34
– 61
–

30

102

14,879

14,903

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Subscribed capital
BayernLB Holding AG, Munich holds 100 percent of BayernLB’s nominal capital. As at 31 December 2012, the Free State of Bavaria’s equity interest in BayernLB Holding AG was 94 percent and
the equity interest of the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks, Munich (SVB) was 6 percent. In
the reporting year a capital increase of EUR 832 million was conducted at the level of BayernLB
Holding AG. This took effect on 25 June 2013 when it was recorded in the Commercial Register.
As a result, the equity interest of the SVB in BayernLB Holding AG rose to 25 percent, with the
Free State of Bavaria’s stake falling correspondingly to 75 percent. Besides cash, the capital
increase was funded by a contribution in kind of all the perpetual silent partner contributions of
the Bavarian savings banks in the amount of EUR 797 million. The capital raised was transferred
directly by BayernLB Holding AG into BayernLB’s capital surplus.
In the reporting year, BayernLB also increased its statutory nominal capital by converting a share
of its capital surplus in the amount of EUR 500 million.
To ensure various equity components are recognised as tier 1 capital under the CRR/CRD IV
requirements as at 1 January 2014, specific-purpose capital was modified and transferred to the
reported capital contribution with effect from 1 January 2013.
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Specific-purpose capital
Specific-purpose capital was created by a contribution in kind by the Free State of Bavaria in the
form of subsidised loans in 1994/1995. Its basis was the law on the formation of special-purpose
assets through the transfer of receivables held in trust belonging to the Free State of Bavaria to
the liable equity capital of Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale of 23 July 1994, as most recently
amended by the law of 9 May 2006, and the contribution agreements of 15 December 1994 and
of 28 December 1995, each as most recently amended by agreement on 23 December 2005. The
special-purpose assets transferred are used to construct social housing.
To ensure various equity components are recognised as tier 1 capital under the CRR/CRD IV
requirements as at 1 January 2014, specific-purpose capital was modified and transferred to the
capital contribution reported in subscribed capital with effect from 1 January 2013.
Compound instruments (equity component)
As a residual interest as defined in IAS 32.11, the equity components of profit participation certificates and dated silent partner contributions reported in this sub-item correspond to the present
value of expected future distributions. Deferred capital distributions are also reported here if
there is an obligation to pay them at a future date. No distributions were made on profit participation certificates or silent partner contributions in the reporting year. The reduction in the dated
silent partner contributions is due mainly to the release to equity of capital distributions deferred
in previous years on instruments that fell due in the reporting year.
Capital surplus
The capital surplus is derived from additional contributions to the parent company’s equity.
In the reporting year part of the capital surplus in the amount of EUR 500 million was converted
into statutory nominal capital.
In the reporting year, at the level of BayernLB Holding AG, which holds BayernLB’s nominal
capital, a capital increase of EUR 832 million was carried out. The capital raised was transferred
directly by BayernLB Holding AG into BayernLB’s capital surplus.
In accordance with the presentation in the HGB separate financial statements, EUR 475 million
was released from the capital surplus in the reporting year.
Retained earnings
Undistributed earnings from previous years and the reporting year are reported in the retained
earnings item.
In addition, the retained earnings item includes the impact from the remeasurement of defined
benefit pension plans and the “shareholder transaction” (guarantee agreement with the Free
State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”)). Following the European Commission’s ruling on 25 July 2012,
the guarantee agreement was amended, resulting in a reduction in retained earnings in the
previous year.
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Revaluation surplus
Gains or losses on the measurement of available-for-sale financial instruments are reported in
this sub-item in equity.
EUR million

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

– 34

– 714

Currency-related changes
Changes in the scope of consolidation

3

1

15

– 94

Changes in value not recognised in the income statement

– 65

6111

Changes in deferred taxes not recognised in the income statement

– 43

44

Changes in value recognised in the income statement/realisations

136

1171

Non-controlling interests/other changes

– 48

1

As at 31 Dec

– 37

– 34

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve includes principally the exchange rate differences arising
from the translation of the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries and foreign branches
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements whose functional currency is not the euro.
Net retained profits/net accumulated losses
The net retained profits/net accumulated losses of BayernLB corresponds to the consolidated
profit after changes in reserves.
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Notes to financial instruments
(65)

Fair value of financial instruments

EUR million

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

2013

2013

2012

2012

3,160
43,544
140,667
25,462

3,160
43,470
137,965
25,462

2,583
45,664
155,574
42,1232

2,583
44,446
150,612
42,1232

2,889
39,829

2,889
39,720

4,162
38,542

4,162
38,606

2,035

2,053

354

354

72,055
87,540
53,402
16,797

71,191
86,183
52,964
16,797

72,290
93,319
61,055
34,747

70,521
90,819
60,319
34,747

2,846
1,435
4,846

2,846
1,435
4,984

3,864
1,036
5,924

3,864
1,036
6,346

Assets
•
•
•
•
•

Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks1
Loans and advances to customers1
Assets held for trading
Positive fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
• Financial investments
• Non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale
Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Negative fair values from derivative financial
instruments (hedge accounting)
• Liabilities of disposal groups
• Subordinated capital

1 Carrying amounts not including deduction of risk provisions for loans and advances to banks in the amount of EUR 543 million
(FY 2012: EUR 567 million) and loans and advances to customers in the amount of EUR 2,125 million (FY 2012: EUR 2,263 million).
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Information on the fair value measurement of financial instruments recognised at amortised cost
is given in note 6.
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(66)

Financial instrument measurement categories

EUR million

2013

2012

Assets
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
– held-for-trading financial assets
assets held for trading
– fair value option
loans and advances to banks
loans and advances to customers
financial investments
non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
• Loans and receivables
– cash reserves
– loans and advances to banks1
– loans and advances to customers1
– financial investments
– non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
• Available-for-sale financial assets
– cash reserves
– loans and advances to customers
– financial investments
– non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
• Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)

27,486
25,462
25,462
2,024
16
705
1,270
33
200,439
2,689
43,454
137,235
15,332
1,730
23,904
472
25
23,118
290

44,307
42,123
42,1232
2,184
22
787
1,375
–
213,007
1,435
44,425
149,790
17,235
123
21,410
1,148
36
19,996
231

2,889

4,162

25,906
16,797
16,797
–
9,109
600
3,695
4,782
31
207,648
70,591
82,488
48,182
1,435
4,952

44,321
34,777
34,747
30
9,544
639
3,935
4,850
120
219,466
69,882
86,884
55,469
1,006
6,226

2,846

3,864

Liabilities
• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
– held-for-trading financial liabilities
liabilities held for trading
liabilities of disposal groups
– fair value option
liabilities to banks
liabilities to customers
securitised liabilities
subordinated capital
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
– liabilities to banks
– liabilities to customers
– securitised liabilities
– liabilities of disposal groups
– subordinated capital
• Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
1 Not including deduction of risk provisions.
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Reclassification of financial assets

Pursuant to the amendments by the International Accounting Standards Board to IAS 39 and
IFRS 7 – Reclassification of Financial Assets – and to EU Commission Regulation 1004/2008,
certain available-for-sale and held-for-trading securities were reclassified by BayernLB as loans
and receivables as at 1 July 2008.
No active market exists for the securities reclassified from the available-for-sale category to the
loans and receivables category. There is also no short-term intention to sell or trade them.
BayernLB has the intention and the ability to hold them for the foreseeable future. In the case of
securities reclassified from the held-for-trading category to the loans and receivables category,
the market situation fell within the definition of rare circumstances under IAS 39.50B.
No other reallocations were made during the reporting year.
The fair values and the carrying amounts of the reclassified securities by category at the end of
the reporting period in accordance with IAS 39 in conjunction with IFRS 7.12A (b) were:

EUR million
Available-for-sale securities reclassified as
loans and receivables
Held-for-trading securities reclassified as
loans and receivables
Total

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

2013

2013

2012

2012

15,431

15,321

17,001

17,159

45

47

49

54

15,476

15,369

17,050

17,213

As at the reporting date, the nominal volume of the reclassified securities was EUR 16,271 million
(FY 2012: EUR 18,408 million).
In the following table, in accordance with IAS 39 in conjunction with IFRS 7.12A, the changes in
value recognised and not recognised in profit or loss and current income “without reclassification” are compared with the corresponding “with reclassification” values. All earnings effects
including current earnings components have been recognised.
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Without
reclassification1
EUR million

With
reclassification2

Without
reclassification1

With
reclassification2

2013

2013

2012

2012

Reclassification from the available-for-sale
category
• Net interest income
– interest income from bonds, notes and other
fixed-income securities
• Gains or losses on hedge accounting
– measurement of underlying transactions
• Gains or losses on financial investments
– gains or losses on sales
– income from writeups
– expenses from writedowns
• Change in the revaluation surplus

178

180

293

294

178
– 59
– 59
161
8
154
1
419

180
– 59
– 59
196
43
180
27
99

293
–4
–4
130
–2
132
–
876

294
–4
–4
128
31
133
35
186

Total

701

416

1,295

605

• Net interest income
– interest income from bonds, notes and other
fixed-income securities
• Gains or losses on fair value measurement
– net trading income for interest-related
transactions
• Gains or losses on financial investments
– gains or losses on sales

–

1

–

1

–
3

1
–

–
5

1
–

3
–
–

–
–
–

5
–
–

–
1
1

Total

3

1

5

3

Reclassification from the held-for-trading
category

1 Taking account of categories before reclassification.
2 Taking account of categories after reclassification.

(68)

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

The fair value hierarchy divides the inputs used to measure the fair value of financial instruments
into three levels:
• Unadjusted quoted prices for identical financial instruments in active markets that the BayernLB
Group can access at the measurement date (Level 1),
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly or
indirectly, i.e. quoted prices for similar financial instruments in active markets, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, other observable inputs that are not quoted prices, and market-
corroborated inputs (Level 2) and
• Unobservable inputs (Level 3).
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
In the overviews below, financial instruments recognised at fair value in the balance sheet are
classified according to whether they are measured with prices quoted on active markets (Level 1),
their fair value is calculated using measurement methods whose key inputs can be directly or
indirectly observed (Level 2) or are not based on observable market data (Level 3).
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

472
–

1,148
–

–
16

–
22

–
–

–
–

472
16

1,148
22

–
1,688

–
3,926

730
22,624

822
37,1612

–
1,150

–
1,037

730
25,462

822
42,123

–
6,081

–
14,543

2,889
15,114

4,162
3,010

–
3,193

–
3,241

2,889
24,388

4,162
20,793

110

91

78

–

135

–

323

91

8,350

19,706

41,451

45,176

4,478

4,278

54,279

69,161

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Negative fair values from
derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Liabilities of disposal groups
• Subordinated capital

–
–
29
231

–
–
966
244

600
3,695
4,753
16,329

639
3,935
3,884
34,144

–
–
–
236

–
–
–
359

600
3,695
4,782
16,797

639
3,935
4,850
34,747

–
–
–

–
30
–

2,846
–
31

3,864
–
120

–
–
–

–
–
–

2,846
–
31

3,864
30
120

Total

260

1,240

28,256

46,586

236

359

28,753

48,186

EUR million
Assets
• Cash reserves
• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to
customers
• Assets held for trading
• Positive fair values from
derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Financial investments1
• Non-current assets or disposal
groups classified as held for sale1
Total
Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•

1 Including investments since financial year 2013.
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) by risk type

Interest
rate risks

Equity and
other price
risks

Credit risks

Total

2013

2013

2013

2013

• Assets held for trading
• Financial investments
• Non-current assets or disposal groups classified
as held for sale

514
2,706

–
488

636
–

1,150
3,193

–

135

–

135

Total

3,220

622

636

4,478

• Liabilities held for trading

–

–

236

236

Total

–

–

236

236

EUR million
Assets

Liabilities

Reclassifications between Levels 1 and 2
Reclassifications
to Level 1 from Level 2

to Level 2 from Level 1

2013

2012

2013

2012

• Assets held for trading
• Financial investments
• Non-current assets or disposal groups classified
as held for sale

–
–

32
2,230

795
7,780

–
323

–

–

39

–

Total

–

2,262

8,615

323

• Securitised liabilities
• Liabilities held for trading

–
–

53
–

818
1

3
–

Total

–

53

819

3

EUR million
Assets

Liabilities

As a result of the application of IFRS 13 and the detailed guidelines in IDW statement HFA 47 on
the measurement of fair value under IFRS 13, financial instruments were reclassified to Level 2
from Level 1 in the reporting year as they are regarded as being no longer measured using prices
quoted on active markets. Other financial instruments were also reclassified to Level 2 from Level 1
in the reporting year due to the absence of quoted prices on active markets. The amounts reclassified were calculated on the basis of the fair value at the end of the reporting year.
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Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) – assets

Assets held for
trading

Financial
investments

Non-current
assets or
disposal
groups classified as held
for sale

Total

EUR million

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

1,037

3,046

3,757

3,527

11

–

4,805

6,574

– 69

– 43

– 137

– 56

–

–

– 206

– 99

–

–

–

–

–7

–

–7

–

189

– 577

423

458

–

–

611

– 119

–

–

14

–

–

–

14

–

Currency-related changes
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
Income and expenses r ecognised
in the income statement
Changes in the revaluation surplus
Purchases

–

–

16

–

–

–

16

–

Sales

–

–

23

–

4

–

27

–

Settlements

9

10

858

689

–

–

867

699

2

– 1,379

1

–

135

–

138

– 1,379

1,150

1,037

3,193

3,241

135

–

4,478

4,278

189

– 577

329

439

–

–

518

– 138

Transfers/other changes
As at 31 Dec
Income and expenses r ecognised
in the income statement during
the financial year for financial
instruments held at 31 Dec

Changes in fair values calculated on the basis of unobservable market data (Level 3) – liabilities
Liabilities held for trading

Total

EUR million

2013

2012

2013

2012

As at 1 Jan

359

548

359

548

Currency-related changes

– 11

–4

– 11

–4

Income and expenses recognised in the
income statement

– 55

– 178

– 55

– 178

49

–

49

–

Settlements

8

8

8

8

Transfers/other changes

–

1

–

1

As at 31 Dec

236

359

236

359

Income and expenses recognised in the income
statement during the financial year for financial
instruments held at 31 Dec

– 45

– 128

– 45

– 128

Sales
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The income and expenses recognised in the income statement are shown under the gains or
losses on fair value measurement item if they are not measurement gains or losses from hedge
accounting (recognised in gains or losses on hedge accounting) or impairments of financial
investments in the available-for-sale category (recognised in gains or losses on financial investments). Changes in the revaluation surplus are a component of other comprehensive income.
The models used to calculate fair value must conform with financial valuation methods and take
account of all factors market participants would consider reasonable when setting a price. Within
the BayernLB Group, the models used, including any major changes, are reported to the Board of
Management for approval mainly by Group Risk Control and Group Strategy in the form of a separate resolution or as part of their regular reporting. All calculated fair values are subject to internal controls and are independently checked or validated by risk-control units and the units with
responsibility for equity interests in accordance with the dual control principle. The procedures
used for this are contained in the guidelines approved by the Board of Management for the
BayernLB Group. Fair values are reported on a regular basis to the management of the divisions
concerned and to the Board of Management.
The market value of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria recognised as a
credit derivative (Umbrella) is calculated using a measurement model based mainly on the measurement of the individual underlying asset-backed securities according to their category on the
balance sheet. This means that the measurement of the credit derivative and measurement of the
underlying securities through the income statement can be synchronised as closely as possible. In
order to show the impact of economic changes, a sensitivity analysis of key inputs in the measurement model is conducted taking account of both the guarantee agreement and the underlying
asset-backed securities. The sensitivity to changes in key factors as at 31 December 2013 is shown
below:
• for a ten-basis-point upward (downward) shift in the euro yield curve:
EUR +2.4 million (EUR – 2.4 million)
• for a one-year extension (reduction) in the expected term of the guarantee agreement:
EUR – 33.2 million (EUR +38.0 million).
Financial instruments with embedded derivative structures are allocated to Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. These financial instruments are in economic hedges with the associated hedging
derivatives. As at 31 December 2013, the sensitivity of these hedge packages to changes in key
factors was
• for a ten-basis-point upward (downward) shift in the euro yield curve:
EUR – 0.1 million (EUR +0.1 million)
• for a ten-basis-point upward (downward) movement in the measurement spread:
EUR – 3.0 million (EUR +3.0 million).
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As at 31 December 2013, the sensitivity of equity interests whose fair value is calculated using the
German income method (Ertragswertverfahren) to changes in key factors was
• for a 25-basis point upward (downward) movement in the base interest rate:
EUR – 9.9 million (EUR +6.1 million)
• for a 25-basis point upward (downward) movement in the market risk premium:
EUR – 7.7 million (EUR +3.7 million).
The underlying base interest rate moved within a range of 2.5 – 3.0 percent (average: 2.75 percent); the underlying market risk premium moved within a range of 5.75 – 6.25 percent (average:
6.0 percent).
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost
In the overview below, the fair values of the financial instruments recognised at amortised cost in
the balance sheet are classified according to whether they are measured with prices quoted on
active markets (Level 1), their fair value is calculated using measurement methods whose key
inputs can be directly or indirectly observed (Level 2) or are not based on observable market data
(Level 3).

EUR million

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2013

2013

2013

2013

–
–
–
425

–
–
34
10,839

2,689
43,529
139,904
4,178

2,689
43,529
139,937
15,441

–

10

1,702

1,712

425

10,882

192,000

203,307

–
–
2,942
–
–

–
–
11
–
47

71,454
83,845
45,667
1,435
4,767

71,454
83,845
48,619
1,435
4,815

2,942

58

207,168

210,168

Assets
•
•
•
•
•

Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial investments
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified
as held for sale

Total
Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities of disposal groups
Subordinated capital

Total

(69)

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss

The maximum default risk for loans and receivables in the fair value option category was
EUR 754 million on the reporting date (FY 2012: EUR 808 million). Due to changes in ratings,
the fair value of these financial assets rose by EUR 2 million in the reporting year (FY 2012:
EUR 6 million), and has risen by EUR 8 million (FY 2012: EUR 6 million) since designation.
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Due to changes in ratings, the fair value of financial liabilities in the fair value option category
changed by EUR – 53 million in the reporting year (FY 2012: EUR – 112 million) and, since designation, by EUR – 31 million (FY 2012: EUR 21 million). The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liabilities and the redemption amount at maturity was EUR 485 million on the
reporting date (FY 2012: EUR 705 million).
The change in fair value caused by changes in ratings was calculated by taking the difference
between the fair value based on the credit spreads at the end of the reporting year and the fair
value based on the credit spreads at the beginning of the reporting year.

(70)

Net profit or loss from financial instruments

The net profit or loss from financial instruments in each category incorporates the gains or losses
from measurement and realisation.
2013

2012

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

271

299

• Held-for-trading financial instruments1
– gains or losses on fair value measurement
• Fair value option
– gains or losses on fair value measurement

333
333
– 62
– 62

355
355
– 56
– 56

Loans and receivables

– 467

– 369

• Risk provisions in the credit business
• Gains or losses on financial investments
• Other income and expenses

– 684
210
7

– 494
125
–

Available-for-sale financial assets

– 433

– 340

• Gains or losses on financial investments

– 433

– 340

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

– 20

190

• Other income and expenses

– 20

190

EUR million

1 Includes current income (except for derivatives in economic hedges) and gains or losses from currency translation.

Gains or losses from the fair value measurement of available-for-sale financial assets in the
amount of EUR – 65 million (FY 2012: EUR 611 million1) were reported in the revaluation surplus
in equity (see note 64).

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 64).
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(71)

Offsetting of financial instruments

When conducting derivatives transactions and securities repurchase transactions, the BayernLB
Group regularly concludes bilateral netting agreements in the form of master agreements with
business partners. Among the standard master agreements used are the ISDA Master Agreement
for Financial Derivatives, the German Master Agreement for Financial Derivatives Transactions
and the Global Master Repurchase Agreement for securities repurchase transactions. Agreements
granting rights of set-off include the clearing conditions of both Eurex Clearing AG and European
Commodity Clearing AG. The netting agreements provide for conditional rights of set-off in the
form of close-out netting or payment/settlement netting for receivables and liabilities covered by
these agreements, i.e. only if previously defined conditions, e.g. cancellation of the master agreement, default or insolvency, occur can the legal right of set-off be enforced.
Besides the master agreements for financial derivatives, collateral agreements are concluded with
business partners to safeguard the net claim or liability left after offsetting. The main ones used
are the Credit Support Annex to the ISDA Master Agreement and the collateral addendum to the
German Master Agreement for Financial Derivatives Transactions. The master agreements for
securities repurchase transactions contain similar collateral rules. Collateral agreements usually
grant the protection buyer an unrestricted right of disposal over the collateral, which is normally
cash or securities collateral. Collateral agreements with no or a limited right of disposal are rare.
Bilateral master agreements mainly provide for the realisation of collateral through offsetting.
The tables below give information on recognised financial instruments offset in accordance with
IAS 32.42 and recognised financial instruments with a legally enforceable right of set-off or which
are subject to a similar agreement. The “Set-off amount” column shows the amounts offset in
accordance with IAS 32.42. These relate to transactions with central counterparties. The “Effect of
netting arrangements” column shows the amounts relating to financial instruments subject to a
netting agreement, but not offset on the balance sheet as the criteria under IAS 32.42 were not
met. The “Collateral” column shows the fair value of received or pledged financial collateral.
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21,432

–

10,862

10,349
513

–
–

34,031

– 1,737

10,862

• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to customers
Total

Net amount

– 1,737

23,169

Securities repurchase transactions

Derivatives transactions

Collateral

21,432

23,169

• Assets held for trading/Positive
fair values from derivative
financial instruments
(hedge accounting)

EUR million

Effect of
netting
agreements

On-balance net
carrying amount

– 1,737

Gross carrying
amount

Amount set-off

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2013 – assets

– 14,065

– 1,304

6,063

– 14,065

– 1,304

6,063

– 1,458

– 9,332

72

10,349
513

– 1,413
– 45

– 8,879
– 453

57
15

32,294

– 15,524

– 10,635

6,135

Gross carrying
amount

Amount set-off

On-balance net
carrying amount

Effect of
netting
agreements

Collateral

Net amount

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2013 – liabilities

Derivatives transactions

21,450

– 2,377

19,074

– 14,065

– 2,209

2,799

• Liabilities held for trading/
Negative fair values from
derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)

21,450

– 2,377

19,074

– 14,065

– 2,209

2,799

Securities repurchase transactions

10,380

–

10,380

– 1,458

– 4,641

4,280

9,333
1,047

–
–

9,333
1,047

– 1,413
– 45

– 3,651
– 991

4,269
11

31,831

– 2,377

29,454

– 15,524

– 6,851

7,079

EUR million

• Liabilities to banks
• Liabilities to customers
Total
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– 271

39,783

Net amount

On-balance net
carrying amount

40,053

• Assets held for trading/Positive
fair values from derivative
financial instruments
(hedge accounting)

Collateral

Amount set-off

Derivatives transactions

EUR million

Effect of
netting
agreements

Gross carrying
amount

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2012 – assets

– 29,630

– 1,037

9,116

40,053

– 271

39,783

– 29,630

– 1,037

9,116

Securities repurchase transactions

7,165

–

7,165

– 748

– 5,769

648

• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to customers

3,386
3,779

–
–

3,386
3,779

– 204
– 544

– 3,045
– 2,724

137
511

47,218

– 271

46,948

– 30,378

– 6,805

9,764

Total

Gross carrying
amount

Amount set-off

On-balance net
carrying amount

Effect of
netting
agreements

Collateral

Net amount

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2012 – liabilities

Derivatives transactions

38,261

– 274

37,987

– 29,630

– 2,970

5,387

• Liabilities held for trading/
Negative fair values from
derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)

EUR million

38,261

– 274

37,987

– 29,630

– 2,970

5,387

Securities repurchase transactions

8,825

–

8,825

– 748

– 5,397

2,680

• Liabilities to banks
• Liabilities to customers

2,507
6,319

–
–

2,507
6,319

– 204
– 544

– 1,659
– 3,738

643
2,037

47,086

– 274

46,812

– 30,378

– 8,367

8,067

Total
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Derivatives transactions

The tables below show interest rate and foreign currency-related derivatives, and other forward
transactions and credit derivatives not yet settled at the end of the reporting period. Most were
concluded to hedge fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates or market prices or were trades
for the account of customers.
Nominal value

Positive fair value

Negative fair value

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

Interest rate risks

812,601

1,041,321

20,700

37,129

19,412

35,493

• Interest rate swaps
• FRAs
• Interest rate options
– call options
– put options
• Caps, floors
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other interest-based forward
transactions

578,204
146,739
23,939
11,646
12,292
29,685
32,775

713,292
240,521
23,450
10,155
13,295
41,147
22,052

19,769
18
564
546
18
342
1

35,7951
49
879
859
20
395
–

18,438
17
827
22
805
120
1

33,894
41
1,353
23
1,330
186
1

1,259

858

6

11

10

18

Currency risks

102,342

118,002

2,247

2,639

1,748

2,362

55,551
41,618
4,967
2,664
2,303
114

65,853
45,451
6,272
3,116
3,156
36

997
1,189
54
40
14
1

1,016
1,556
46
46
–
–

954
723
69
10
59
1

963
1,334
59
–
59
–

93

389

7

21

–

6

Equity and other price risks

7,710

6,252

277

311

220

310

• Equity forward transactions
• Equity/index options
– call options
– put options
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other forward transactions

230
1,436
522
914
942
5,103

135
3,690
2,759
931
1,209
1,219

–
43
43
–
8
225

–
61
61
–
4
246

57
33
–
33
40
90

23
62
–
62
85
140

Credit derivative risks

7,906

8,606

644

543

245

369

• Protection buyer
• Protection seller

6,421
1,485

7,135
1,472

642
2

543
–

65
179

20
350

930,559

1,174,181

23,868

40,622

21,624

38,534

EUR million

• Forward exchange deals
• Currency swaps/cross-currency swaps
• Foreign exchange options
– call options
– put options
• Exchange-traded contracts
• Other currency-based forward
transactions

Total
1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
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Derivatives transactions by maturity
Nominal value
Interest rate risks

Equity and other
price risks

Currency risks

Credit derivative risks

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

65,209

73,895

31,771

36,708

1,220

980

28

197

241,882

353,828

22,630

28,109

3,090

3,676

1,192

113

293,348
212,162

378,459
235,138

37,350
10,591

40,538
12,647

2,981
419

1,203
394

1,086
5,600

2,669
5,627

812,601

1,041,321

102,342

118,002

7,710

6,252

7,906

8,606

EUR million
Residual maturities
• up to 3 months
• between 3 months
and 1 year
• between 1 year and
5 years
• more than 5 years
Total

Derivatives transactions by counterparty
Nominal value
EUR million
OECD banks
Non-OECD banks
Public-sector entities within
the OECD
Other

counterparties1

Total

2013

2012

Positive fair value
2013

Negative fair value

2012

2013

2012

469,228

823,400

16,507

16,704

34,754

1,759

1,790

11

22

87

137

25,484

24,239

1,349

1,415

582

624

32,6492

434,088

324,753

6,002

6,537

4,250

3,019

930,559

1,174,181

23,868

40,622

21,624

38,534

1 Including exchange-traded contracts.
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

Derivatives for trading purposes
Nominal value
EUR million
Interest rate derivatives
Currency derivatives
Equity derivatives
Credit derivatives
Total
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2013

Positive fair value

Negative fair value

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

725,836

981,688

17,862

33,160

16,788

31,718

91,044

110,284

1,855

2,385

1,581

2,190

6,812

5,218

151

167

175

239

1,346

1,366

10

23

7

15

825,038

1,098,556

19,878

35,734

18,551

34,162
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(73)

Transfer of financial assets

The following transactions were executed at standard market terms and conditions.
Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety
On the reporting date the volume of financial assets transferred as collateral that are not
derecognised was EUR 50,946 million (FY 2012: EUR 53,614 million).
These include genuine securities repurchase agreements, where the BayernLB Group sold securities with a repurchase obligation. As the risks (interest rate, currency, equity and other price risks
and credit risks) and rewards (particularly capital growth and current income) are largely retained
by the BayernLB Group, the financial assets are not derecognised. The obligation of the borrower
to return the received payment for which the transferred security is used as collateral is recognised as a financial liability. The lender has an unrestricted right of disposal over the securities
once they are delivered.
The BayernLB Group also passes on funds received from development institutions for specific purposes on their own terms through savings banks or directly to end-borrowers. The loans and
advances to savings banks and end-borrowers are recognised as assets and the liabilities to development institutions as liabilities. The loans and advances to savings banks and to end-borrowers
and any pledged collateral are assigned as collateral to the development institutions and may be
realised by them in the event of loss. The BayernLB Group retains default risk in respect of the
loans and advances to the savings banks and end-borrowers.
The BayernLB Group has also pledged collateral for funding, largely for tender operations with
the European Central Bank. Collateral has also been pledged to the European Investment Bank
and for transactions on the European Exchange (EUREX), as well as other exchanges and clearing
systems. The financial assets transferred as collateral for the corresponding (contingent) liabilities
are not derecognised as the risks and rewards are largely retained by the BayernLB Group. The
company accepting the collateral normally has an unrestricted right of disposal over the collateral
once it is transferred.
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The carrying amount of transferred collateral relates to the following items:
2013

2012

Loans and advances to banks
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

15,002

16,576

12

12

Loans and advances to customers

18,620

17,396

Assets held for trading
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

1,874

1,883

1,573

339

Financial investments
of which:
• collateral received which may be sold or pledged on

15,450

17,759

2,484

1,244

Total

50,946

53,614

EUR million

The transferred financial assets are matched by liabilities of EUR 19,861 million (FY 2012:
EUR 23,068 million) and contingent liabilities of EUR 26 million (FY 2012: EUR 30 million).
The assets in the cover pool are managed in accordance with the German Pfandbrief Act
(Pfandbriefgesetz). On the reporting date the volume of the cover funds was EUR 58,263 million
(FY 2012: EUR 62,074 million) for an outstanding volume of mortgage-backed Pfandbriefs and
public Pfandbriefs of EUR 36,400 million (FY 2012: EUR 40,539 million).
Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety
On the reporting date there was no material continuing involvement in transferred financial
assets that are derecognised in their entirety.
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Notes to the cash flow statement
(74)

Notes on items in the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows the cash flows of the financial year classified into operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.
The reported financial resources balance corresponds to the cash reserves item in the balance
sheet and comprises the cash balance, deposits with central banks, debt instruments issued by
public-sector entities and bills of exchange eligible for funding with central banks. The financial
resources balance is subject to drawing restrictions in the amount of EUR 77 million
(FY 2012: EUR 206 million).
Payments from loans and advances to banks and customers, from securities (unless financial
investments), derivatives, and other assets are reported as cash flows from operating activities.
Payments from liabilities to banks/customers, securitised liabilities, and other liabilities are also
assigned to operating activities. Interest and dividend payments from operating activities are also
reported under cash flows from operating activities.
Payments for financial investments, interests in companies measured at equity, investment
property, property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are reported under cash flows
from investment activities. The impact from changes to the scope of consolidation is also
reported under this item.
Cash flow from financing activities incorporates distributions to company owners, and minority
shareholders, and changes in subordinated capital and non-controlling interests.
In the reporting year the equity interest in a subsidiary was increased by EUR 2 million, without
resulting in a cash outflow. The total consideration received for the sale of the equity interests in
subsidiaries was EUR 907 million, resulting in a cash inflow of EUR 9 million.
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The increase in equity interests in a subsidiary did not result in a change of assets and liabilities.
The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries that were sold comprise:
Sale

EUR million
Assets
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

137
15
657
69
4
35
2,000
15
3
4
16
7
96

Cash reserves
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Risk provisions
Assets held for trading
Financial investments
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
Other assets

Liabilities
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

1,450
509
15
33
29
7
11
207
2

Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated capital

Supplementary information
(75)

Subordinated assets

Subordinated assets are recognised in the following items on the balance sheet:
2013

2012

Loans and advances to banks

191

68

Loans and advances to customers

370

510

–

1

964

1,237

1,525

1,816

EUR million

Assets held for trading
Financial investments
Total
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Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
2013

2012

Foreign currency assets

34,029

47,368

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

660
5,917
6,841
23
362
16,506
3,719

1,018
7,537
11,534
54
1,267
20,6861
5,272

Foreign currency liabilities

27,374

38,009

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2,641
3,261
3,775
18
1,328
12,400
3,951

2,800
4,870
7,347
75
2,965
15,4631
4,490

EUR million
CAD
CHF
GBP
HKD
JPY
USD
Other currencies
CAD
CHF
GBP
HKD
JPY
USD
Other currencies

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

(77)

Collateral received

Certain assets that have been pledged as collateral through securities repurchase transactions
may be sold on or repledged even where the collateral provider has not defaulted. As at the
reporting date their fair value was EUR 16,042 million (FY 2012: EUR 12,443 million).
EUR 6,315 million (FY 2012: EUR 3,555 million) of this collateral was either sold on or repledged.
An obligation to return this collateral exists.
These transactions were executed at standard market terms and conditions.
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Leasing

Finance leases
The BayernLB Group as lessor
The BayernLB Group is a lessor in finance leases. The leases are primarily for rented vehicles. The
present value of the minimum lease payments as at the reporting date is calculated as follows:
EUR million
Minimum lease payments
Unguaranteed residual value

2013

2012

99

93

4

2

Gross investment value

103

95

Unrealised financial income

– 18

– 18

85

77

–

–

85

77

Net investment value
Present value of the unguaranteed residual value
Present value of minimum lease payments

Gross investment and present value of minimum lease payments by maturity
Present value of minimum
lease payments

Gross investment value
EUR million

2013

2012

2013

2012

43
59
2

39
53
3

34
48
2

32
43
2

103

95

85

77

Residual maturities
• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years
Total

The cumulative loan loss provisions for non-recoverable minimum lease payments as at the
reporting date was EUR 0 million (FY 2012: EUR 17 million).
In the reporting year, contingent lease payments of EUR 2 million (FY 2012: EUR 3 million) were
recognised as income.
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The BayernLB Group as lessee
As a lessee in finance leases, the BayernLB Group recognised leases with a net carrying amount of
EUR 24 million (FY 2012: EUR 24 million). This largely comprised real estate which was recognised
under property, plant and equipment. The present value of the future minimum lease payments as
at the reporting date is calculated as follows:
2013

EUR million
Minimum lease payments
Unrealised financial liability
Present value of minimum lease payments

2012

89

121

– 65

– 96

24

24

Minimum lease payments and their present value by maturity
Present value of minimum
lease payments

Minimum lease payments
2013

2012

2013

2012

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

6
23
60

6
26
88

2
7
15

2
6
17

Total

89

121

24

24

EUR million
Residual maturities

Operating leases
The BayernLB Group as lessor
The BayernLB Group is a lessor in operating leases. The leases are primarily for property. The
future minimum lease payments from non-cancellable operating leases are broken down as
follows:
2013

2012

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

9
17
5

4
10
3

Total

31

18

EUR million
Residual maturities
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The BayernLB Group as lessee
The BayernLB Group’s current commitments from operating leases are primarily for leases for
office space with options to extend the lease. The future minimum lease payments from non-
cancellable operating leases are broken down as follows:
2013

2012

• up to 1 year
• between 1 year and 5 years
• more than 5 years

15
35
26

18
37
31

Total

76

86

EUR million
Residual maturities

In the reporting year minimum lease payments of EUR 15 million (FY 2012: EUR 18 million) and
contingent liabilities of EUR 1 million (FY 2012: EUR 0 million) were recognised as an expense.

(79)

Trust transactions

EUR million

2013

2012

Assets held in trust

8,513

8,580

• Loans and advances to banks
• Loans and advances to customers
• Other assets

71
5,260
3,182

86
5,654
2,839

Liabilities held in trust

8,513

8,580

• Liabilities to banks
• Liabilities to customers
• Other liabilities

14
5,317
3,182

17
5,724
2,839

2013

2012

Contingent liabilities

12,139

12,712

• Liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements

12,139

12,712

Other commitments

22,272

22,174

• Placement and underwriting commitments
• Irrevocable credit commitments

34
22,239

94
22,080

Total

34,411

34,886

(80)

Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and other commitments

EUR million
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Contingent liabilities and other commitments are possible liabilities arising from the occurrence
of an uncertain future event whose settlement amount and date cannot be reliably estimated.
EUR 8,178 million (FY 2012: EUR 7,716 million) of contingent liabilities and EUR 12,772 million
(FY 2012: EUR 11,442 million) of other liabilities are due after more than 12 months.
As at the reporting date there were also contingent assets from legal disputes where the Bank
considers an inflow of economic benefits that cannot be reliably estimated at present probable.

(81)

Other financial obligations

Other financial obligations arise principally from agency, rental, usage, service and maintenance,
and consulting and marketing agreements.
On the reporting date there were call commitments for capital not fully paid up of EUR 32 million
(FY 2012: EUR 89 million) and uncalled liabilities from German limited partnership (Kommanditgesellschaft) interests of EUR 29 million (FY 2012: EUR 31 million). There were also additional
funding obligations of EUR 36 million (FY 2012: EUR 36 million), and a directly enforceable guarantee for the funding obligation of shareholders of the Frankfurt-based Liquiditäts-Konsortialbank GmbH, who are members of the German Savings Bank Association. Liabilities to subsidiaries
not incorporated in the consolidated financial statements totalled EUR 42 million (FY 2012:
EUR 91 million).
On the reporting date BayernLB’s liability as a member of the guarantee fund of the landesbanks
and central giro institutions was EUR 207 million (FY 2012: EUR 325 million).
Under the terms of the statutes of the deposit insurance fund run by the Association of German
Public Banks (VÖB), BayernLB has undertaken to exempt the VÖB from any losses arising from
measures taken on behalf of a private credit institution in which it has a majority stake.
In a letter of comfort dated 16 December 2013, BayernLB gave the Hungarian financial supervisory authority an undertaking to ensure that MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest meets current supervisory
requirements. BayernLB implemented the necessary measures in January and February 2014 to
ensure this.
Under the terms of the contract to spin off Bayerische Landesbausparkasse (LBS AöR-alt) to LBS
Bayerische Landesbausparkasse (LBS AöR-neu) on 10 December 2012, BayernLB and LBS AöR-neu
are joint and severally liable for the liabilities that were created up until the date of spin-off and
assigned to LBS AöR-neu in the spin-off agreement. BayernLB is liable for the liabilities within the
meaning of the preceding sentence only if they mature within five years of the date of spin-off
and the resulting claim has been legally enforced against BayernLB. Due to the stable financial
position and financial performance of LBS AöR-neu there is currently no risk of a claim being
brought.
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Letters of comfort

BayernLB provides its subsidiaries with significant benefits in the form of improved business
terms and better financing conditions by issuing them and their creditors letters of comfort.
BayernLB also benefits as the value of its subsidiaries is enhanced. At the same time, however,
it is also potentially liable for losses.
Except in cases of political risk, BayernLB ensures in proportion to the size of its equity interest
that the companies listed below are able to fulfil their contractual obligations:
• Banque LBLux S.A., Luxembourg
• Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin
Except in cases of political risk, Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin ensures in proportion to the size of its equity interest that SKG BANK AG, Saarbrücken is able to fulfil its contractual
obligations.
Expiry of the letter of comfort for LB(Swiss) Privatbank AG as at 21 December 2009 and for
Landesbank Saar as at 21 June 2010
Prior to the reporting year, BayernLB issued letters of comfort for LB(Swiss) Privatbank AG, Zurich
(LB(Swiss)) and Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken (SaarLB). At the end of 21 December 2009 BayernLB
transferred its equity interest in LB(Swiss) to Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen, Frankfurt/Main and
at the end of 21 June 2010 sold its 25.2 percent interest in the share capital of SaarLB to the Saarland. SaarLB therefore no longer qualifies as an associate of BayernLB under section 271, para. 2
HGB (German Commercial Code). As a result the letter of comfort for LB(Swiss) expired at the end
of 21 December 2009 and for SaarLB at the end of 21 June 2010. The liabilities of LB(Swiss) created after the end of 21 December 2009 and the liabilities of SaarLB created after the end of
21 June 2010 are not covered by the letters of comfort and therefore any previous declarations
have been revoked.
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Shareholdings

Name and location of the investee
Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements
Banque LBLux S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayernInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH, Munich1
BayernLB Capital LLC I, USA - Wilmington
BayernLB Capital Trust I, USA - Wilmington
Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin1
Subsidiaries included in the Deutsche Kreditbank
Aktiengesellschaft sub-group:
• DKB Finance GmbH, Berlin
• DKB Grundbesitzvermittlung GmbH, Berlin
• DKB PROGES GmbH, Berlin
• FMP Forderungsmanagement Potsdam GmbH, Potsdam
• MVC Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin
• SKG BANK AG, Saarbrücken
• Stadtwerke Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
MKB Bank Zrt., H - Budapest
Subsidiaries included in the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group:
• Euro-Immat Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
• Exter-Bérlet Kft., H - Budapest
• Extercom Vagyonkezeló´ Kft., H - Budapest
• Exter-Immo Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Befektetési Alapkezeló´ Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB - Euroleasing Autóhitel Zrt., H - Budapest2
• MKB - Euroleasing Autólízing Szolgáltató Zrt.,
H - Budapest
• MKB Nyugdíjpénztárt és Egészségpénztárt Kiszolgáló Kft.,
H - Budapest
• MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
• NEXTEBANK S.A., RO - Targu Mures
• Resideal Zrt., H - Budapest
• S.C. Corporate Recovery Management S.R.L.,
RO - Bucharest
Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement,
Munich1

260

Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000

Direct
Direct
Direct
Direct
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

376,138
11,654
70
1
2,335,912

– 46,314
–
15,826
–
–

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
74.9
98.6

9,697
108
480
2,368
2,394
81,519
46,153
512,086

1,320
7
2,111
1,368
– 1,910
–
10,253
– 21,188

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
47.9

39,522
– 1,600
– 4,114
1,467
568
17,605

– 11,469
– 1,218
– 1,194
319
–
– 3,492

Indirect

100.0

3,264

– 373

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
96.3
100.0

1,336
184,479
27,854
– 9,283

765
– 6,658
– 11,515
– 2,215

Indirect

100.0

– 10,170

– 15,047

Direct

100.0

45,455

–

Joint ventures measured at equity
Joint ventures included in the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group:
• MKB Autopark OOD, BG - Sofia
• MKB - Euroleasing Autópark Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB - Euroleasing Zrt., H - Budapest

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0

70
2,695
28,154

17
279
– 2,180

Associates measured at equity
Associates included in the MKB Bank Zrt. sub-group:
• Giro Elszámolásforgalmi Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Általános Biztosító Zrt., H - Budapest
• MKB Életbiztosító Zrt., H - Budapest
• Pannonhalmi Apátsági Pincészet Kft., H - Pannonhalma

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

22.2
37.5
37.5
45.5

20,949
4,007
4,047
3,108

7
– 2,486
– 1,225
–

Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial
statements
ADEM Allgemeine Dienstleistungen für Engineering und
Management GmbH, Karlsruhe

Indirect

100.0

49
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Asset Lease Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bauland GmbH, Baulandbeschaffungs-, Erschließungs- und
Wohnbaugesellschaft, Munich
Bavaria Immobilien-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH & Co.
Objekt Fürth KG, Munich
Bavaria Immobilien-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH,
Munich
Bayerische Landesbank Europa-ImmobilienBeteiligungs-GmbH, Munich
Bayerische Landesbank Immobilien-BeteiligungsGesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Munich
Bayerische Landesbank Immobilien-BeteiligungsVerwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayern Bankett Gastronomie GmbH, Munich1
Bayern Card-Services GmbH - S-Finanzgruppe, Munich
Bayern Corporate Services GmbH, Munich
Bayern Facility Management GmbH, Munich1
BayernFinanz Gesellschaft für Finanzmanagement und
Beteiligungen mbH, Munich1
Bayernfonds Australien 4 GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds BestEnergy 1 GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
Bayernfonds Immobilien Concept GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Kambera GmbH, Munich
Bayernfonds Opalus GmbH, Munich
BayernInvest Luxembourg S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayernLB Capital Partner GmbH, Munich
BayernLB Capital Partner Verwaltungs-GmbH, Munich
BayernLB Mittelstandsfonds GmbH & Co.
Unternehmensbeteiligungs KG, Munich
BayernLB Private Equity GmbH, Munich
BayTech Venture Capital II GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
BayTech Venture Capital Initiatoren GmbH & Co. KG,
Munich
Berchtesgaden International Resort Betriebs GmbH,
Munich1
Berthier Participations SARL, F - Paris
BestLife 3 International GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
BGFM Bayerische Gebäude- und Facilitymanagement
AG & Co. KG, Munich
BGV IV Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
BGV V Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
BLB-Beteiligungsgesellschaft Sigma mbH, Munich1
BLB-VG22-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Cottbuser Energieverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Cottbus
CountryDesk Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich
Degg`s Immobilienprojektentwicklung GmbH & Co.
Einkaufspassage KG, Essen
DKB Immobilien Beteiligungs GmbH, Potsdam
DKB IT-Services GmbH, Potsdam
DKB PROGES ZWEI GmbH, Berlin
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Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Direct

100.0

21

–1

Indirect

94.5

– 10,106

–

Indirect

100.0

–

30,111

Indirect

100.0

20

5

Indirect

100.0

89

–

Direct

100.0

23,843

14,814

Direct
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
50.1
100.0
100.0

44
1,164
16,078
179
3,495

2
–
2,448
40
934

Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct and
indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct and
indirect
Direct
Direct and
indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

725
25
42,204
70

–
–
– 7,522
–2

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

4,582
25
25
1,341
1,732
31

232
–
–
18
– 1,620
6

100.0
100.0

26,503
56,547

2,459
267

46.6

8,885

– 5,315

Indirect

46.8

332

– 61

Direct
Direct
Indirect

100.0
100.0
50.4

9,368
877
18,679

–
– 826
– 83

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

138
30
23
971
4,557
23
23

67
1
–2
–
132
–
–1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

99.1
100.0
100.0
100.0

2,789
2,009
51
1,440

– 221
156
–
189
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Name and location of the investee
DKB Service GmbH, Potsdam
DKB Wohnen GmbH, Berlin
DKB Wohnungsbau- und Stadtentwicklung GmbH, Berlin
Elektroenergieversorgung Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
Exter-Estate Ingatlanforgalmazási Kft.,
H - Budapest3
Exter-Reál Ingatlanforgalmazási Korlátolt Feleló´sségú´
Társaság, H - Budapest
Fischer & Funke Gesellschaft für Personaldienstleistungen mbH, Coburg
FMP Erste Objektgesellschaft mbH, Potsdam
Füred Service Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Balatonfüred
Gas-Versorgungsbetriebe Cottbus GmbH, Cottbus
GbR Olympisches Dorf, Potsdam
GDF Gesellschaft für dentale Forschung und
Innovationen GmbH, Rosbach
German Centre for Industry and Trade Shanghai Co. Ltd.,
PRC - Shanghai/PRC
German Centre Limited, BVI - Tortola
gewerbegrund AIRPORT GmbH Beteiligungsgesellschaft,
Munich
gewerbegrund Airport GmbH & Co. Hallbergmoos KG,
Munich
gewerbegrund Airport GmbH & Co. Schwaig KG, Munich
gewerbegrund Bauträger GmbH & Co. Objekt IGG KG,
Munich
gewerbegrund Projektentwicklungsgesellschaft (gpe) mbH,
Munich1
Global Format GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
Global Format Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Hausbau Dresden GmbH, Munich
HKW Heizkraftwerksgesellschaft Cottbus mbH, Cottbus
Hörmannshofer Fassaden GmbH & Co. Halle KG,
Halle/Saale
Hörmannshofer Fassaden GmbH & Co. Niederdorf KG,
Niederdorf by Chemnitz
Hörmannshofer Fassaden Süd GmbH & Co. KG,
Marktoberdorf
Hörmannshofer Unternehmensgruppe GmbH,
Marktoberdorf
Hörmannshofer Verwaltungs GmbH, Pöttmes/Augsburg
ISU Group GmbH, Karlsruhe
ISU Personaldienstleistungen GmbH, Karlsruhe
Koch - Betontechnik GmbH & Co. KG, Pöttmes/Augsburg
LBG Liebenberger Betriebsgesellschaft mbH, Löwenberger
Land OT Liebenberg
LB Immobilienbewertungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich1
LBLux SICAV-FIS TR Global, L - Luxembourg
LB-RE S.A., L - Luxembourg
Medister Egészségügyi Beruházó és Üzemeltetó´ Kft.,
H - Budapest
MKB Pénzügyi Zrt., H - Budapest
MRG Maßnahmeträger München-Riem GmbH, Munich
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Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
94.5
100.0
100.0

110
25
2,500
12,081

8
–
–
–

Indirect

100.0

Indirect

100.0

7

– 42

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

87.1
100.0
100.0
63.0
100.0

76
104
77
5,620
–

–
38
1
–
–

Indirect

100.0

1,485

–

Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0

32,221
24,107

1,658
14

Indirect

100.0

59

3

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0

3,739
1,028

3,254
– 2,899

Indirect

100.0

95

10

Direct
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
52.4
100.0
100.0
100.0

11,595
1,299
26
41
28

–
195
1
1
–

Indirect

80.0

156

– 545

Indirect

80.0

156

104

Indirect

100.0

81

–

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

52.6
100.0
54.4
100.0
100.0

15,125
99
14,208
51
32

852
16
1,106
–
5

Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

775
1,227
11
5,082

–
440
615
–

Indirect
Indirect
Direct

100.0
100.0
100.0

– 1,448
390
612

– 714
– 29
252
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Balance sheet
Statement of changes in equity
Cash flow statement

Name and location of the investee
North American Realty LLC, USA - New York
Oberhachinger Bauland GmbH, Wohnbau- und
Erschließungsgesellschaft, Munich
Potsdamer Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Potsdam
PROGES DREI GmbH, Berlin
PROGES ENERGY GmbH, Berlin
PROGES Sparingberg GmbH, Berlin
PROGES VIER GmbH, Berlin
Real I.S. Australia Pty. Ltd., AUS - Buderim QLD
Real I.S. Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. France SAS, F - Paris Cedex 16
Real I.S. Fund Management GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Gesellschaft für Immobilienentwicklung mbH,
Munich
Real I.S. Gesellschaft für Immobilien Entwicklung und
Projektrealisierung mbH & Co. KG, Munich
Real I.S. Investment GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Management Hamburg GmbH, Munich
Real I.S. Management SA, L - Luxembourg
Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,
Oberhaching
Schütz Dental GmbH, Rosbach
Schütz Group GmbH & Co. KG, Rosbach
Schütz Group Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Rosbach
SEPA Objekt Bruchsal GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Rathausgalerie
GmbH & Co. KG, Oberhaching
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Bruchsal Rathausgalerie
Verwaltungs-GmbH, Oberhaching
Süd-Fassaden GmbH, Königsbrunn
WPI Fonds Partners Sàrl, L - Luxembourg 3
Other joint ventures
ABG Allgemeine Bauträger- und Gewerbeimmobilien
gesellschaft & Co. Holding KG, Munich
ABG Allgemeine Bauträger- und Gewerbeimmobilien
gesellschaft mbH, Munich
CommuniGate Kommunikations-Service GmbH, Passau
EDE Duna Kft., H - Budapest
Einkaufs-Center Györ Verwaltungs G.m.b.H., Hamburg
Fay & Real I.S. IE Regensburg GmbH & Co. KG,
Oberhaching
Fay & Real I.S. IE Regensburg Verwaltungs GmbH,
Oberhaching
German Centre for Industry and Trade India
Holding-GmbH, Munich
Harburg Arcaden Projektbeteiligung mbH, Essen
Mogyoróskert Kft., H - Budapest
MOM-Bajor Beruházó és Szolgáltató Korlátolt Feleló´sségú´
Társaság, H - Budapest
MOM-Park Lakásépitö Ingatlanforgalmazó és Beruházó
Betéti Társaság, H - Budapest
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Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Direct

100.0

5,305

70

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

91.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

– 2,416
43
289
218
541
109
639
54
500
26

2
– 11
121
125
252
69
639
12
– 45
14

Indirect

100.0

1,105

10

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

4,551
2,070
26
210

3,704
297
1
52

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
100.0
54.4
100.0
100.0

12
2,461
7,902
40
124

– 13
–
1,026
4
–6

Indirect

100.0

5,656

– 59

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

94.0
100.0
100.0

22
81

1
–

Indirect

50.0

158

– 18

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0
50.0

53
3,906
– 3,250
37

14
1,199
– 2,266
2

Indirect

50.0

916

901

Indirect

50.0

26

1

Direct
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0
50.0

1,231
64
–

– 1,679
10
–

Indirect

50.0

30

–2

Indirect

49.9

– 309

2,256
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Name and location of the investee
Objektgesellschaft Bad Rappenau Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Stuttgart
Rathenau-Passage Verwaltungs-Gesellschaft mbH,
Bad Homburg
Rathenau Passage Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co.
Grundstücks KG, Bad Homburg
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Solingen Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Munich
SKAF Ingatlanforgalmazó és Befektetési Kft., H - Budapest
S-Karten-Service-Management GmbH - Saarbrücken München, Munich
Ten Towers GbR, Munich
Other associates
ae group AG, Gerstungen
AVA Acht Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Munich
BAYERN CONSULT Unternehmensberatung GmbH, Munich
Bayerngrund Grundstücksbeschaffungs- und -erschließungsGesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich
Bayern Mezzaninekapital GmbH & Co. KG - Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft, Munich
Bayern Mezzaninekapital Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
Erste Tinten Holding GmbH, Hohenbrunn
Garchinger Technologie- und Gründerzentrum GmbH,
Garching
G.I.E. Max Hymans, F - Paris
KGAL GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald4
KGAL Verwaltungs-GmbH, Grünwald
Landesbank Saar, Saarbrücken
Neumarkt-Galerie Immobilienverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH,
Cologne
RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
SEPA/Real I.S. Objekt Solingen GmbH & Co. KG, Munich
TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin
TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
Objekt Berlin KG, Berlin
WESTFALIA-Automotive Holding GmbH, Hamburg
Other significant shareholdings of 20% or more
560 Lexco L.P., USA - New York
Abacus Eight Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Nine Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Seven Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
Abacus Ten Limited, GBC - George Town/Grand Cayman
ADS-click S.A., CH - Geneva
Aero Lloyd Erste Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH,
Kelsterbach
Aero Lloyd Flugreisen GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs-KG,
Oberursel
Aero Lloyd Flugreisen GmbH, Oberursel
Aero Lloyd ReiseCenter GmbH, Oberursel
Bauland 3. Immobilien Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH i.L.,
Munich
Bau-Partner GmbH, Halle/Saale
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Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect

49.0

24

–2

Indirect

50.0

20

–1

Indirect

50.0

–

2

Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0

37
– 10,536

3
– 3,706

Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.0

102
119

–
4

Indirect
Indirect
Direct

46.2
40.0
35.0

8,848
15,157
725

3,250
68
76

Direct

50.0

8,921

– 25

Direct
Direct
Indirect

25.5
49.0
21.0

31,776
41
1,196

– 4,160
2
1,062

Direct
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct

20.0
33.3
27.0
30.0
43.9

52
– 33,698
72,721
7,162
709,740

25
2,256
4,032
– 1,526
–

Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect

49.0
20.0
49.9
50.0

88
15,251
45
19

5
1,500
– 55
–

Indirect
Indirect

47.0
21.4

– 7,368
–

1
– 6,926

Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct
Direct
Indirect

25.0
48.5
48.5
48.5
43.9
49.5

– 1,730
7,265
7,322
4,035
3,125
2,593

3,980
4,825
4,883
1,595
664
– 1,097

Indirect

100.0

24

–1

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

66.3
94.0
100.0

20,405
77
65

– 5,671
7
– 17

Indirect
Indirect

100.0
49.6

35
–

–2
– 1,475
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Name and location of the investee
Corporate Computer Lease Limited, CCL.Limited,
GB - Camberley, Surrey
DELTA Asigurari S.A. i.L., RO - Bucharest
Euro Ingatlan Center Kft., H - Budapest
Euro Ingatlan Kft., H - Budapest
Euro Park Házak Kft., H - Budapest
Film und Video Untertitelung Gerhard Lehmann AG i.L.,
Potsdam
Fondations Capital I S.C.A., L - Senningerberg
GbR VÖB-ImmobilienAnalyse, Bonn3
GESO Gesellschaft für Sensorik, Geotechnischen Umweltschutz und mathematische Modellierung mbH, Jena
Indexa Proinvest Immobiliaria, S.A., E - Las Rozas/Madrid
KADIMA Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG i.L.,
Grünwald
Kun Street Kft., H - Budapest
MB Holding GmbH, Lüdenscheid
Mediport Venture Fonds Zwei GmbH, Berlin
mfi Grundstück GmbH & Co. Harburg Arcaden KG, Essen
Neue Novel Ferm Verwaltungs GmbH, Dettmannsdorf
Novel Ferm Brennerei Dettmannsdorf GmbH & Co. KG,
Dettmannsdorf
PWG - Bau Pfersee Wohn- und Gewerbebauträger
Verwaltungs - GmbH i.L., Munich
REAL I.S. Project GmbH i.L., Munich
RealMatch Ltd., IL - Kfar Sava
RSA Capak alma ve kesme Sistemlerim San. Ve. Tic. Ltd. Sti.,
TR - Izmit KOCAELI
RSA Entgrat- u. Trenn-Systeme GmbH & Co. KG,
Lüdenscheid
RSA Entgrat- u. Trenn-Systeme Verwaltungs-GmbH,
Lüdenscheid
RSA Systémes Ebavurage et Tronconnage S.A.R.L.,
F - Sarreguemines Cedex
SAI Globinvest SA, RO - Cluj Napoca
Smaltit Anlagen-Vermietungs GmbH, Oberursel
Sophia Euro Lab S.A.S., F - Sophia Antipolis Cedex
SSC Sky Shop Catering GmbH & Co. KG, Kelsterbach
STOP AND BUY HOLDING Kft., H - Budapest
TRMF Gewerbeimmobilien GmbH, Essen
Versorgungskasse I BayernLB Gesellschaft mit
beschränkter Haftung, Munich
Versorgungskasse II BayernLB Gesellschaft mit
beschränkter Haftung, Munich
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Type of
share-   Percentage
Equity
Earnings
holding
held in EUR ’000 in EUR ’000
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

33.3
35.1
100.0
100.0
100.0

3,951
11,268
117
527
343

86
–
109
– 1,523
– 138

Indirect
Direct
Indirect

33.3
23.1
20.0

– 1,997
201,624

– 495
– 4,580

Indirect
Indirect

43.1
25.0

– 353
– 1,798

8
– 685

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
100.0
54.6
53.8
42.1
49.0

7
104
3,025
267
–
23

– 12
– 47
1,488
– 1,687
– 1,192
1

Indirect

49.0

– 7,405

– 4,759

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

50.0
50.5
23.2

9
495
1

–
– 15
–7

Indirect

100.0

– 64

–6

Indirect

100.0

1,026

2,179

Indirect

100.0

62

4

Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect

100.0
20.0
100.0
32.3
100.0
100.0
50.0

26
2,539
13
1,666
1,279
–
– 2,759

– 54
362
–1
– 27
825
–
– 35

Direct

100.0

26,591

– 3,499

Direct

100.0

9,931

2,254

The information is based on the most recent annual accounts of the investees.
Foreign currency amounts were converted into euros at the respective spot exchange rate at the end of the year.
1 A profit and loss transfer agreement has been concluded with the company.
2 Control through an agreement with the other shareholders and business interlinking.
3 Approved annual financial statements are not available yet.
4 Includes 3.4 percent which continues to be held through a put option and was therefore measured at equity as at 31 December 2013
(see note 3).
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Investments in large limited companies (including credit institutions) exceeding 5 percent of the voting rights
Name and location of the investee
AKA Ausfuhrkredit GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Banque LBLux S.A., L - Luxembourg
BayBG Bayerische Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich
Bayerische Garantiegesellschaft mbH für mittelständische Beteiligungen, Munich
Bayern Card-Services GmbH - S-Finanzgruppe, Munich
B+S Card Service GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Deutsche Factoring Bank Deutsche Factoring GmbH & Co., Bremen
Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin
DKB Service GmbH, Potsdam
MKB Bank Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB - Euroleasing Autóhitel Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB - Euroleasing Autópark Zrt., H - Budapest
MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., H - Budapest
NEXTEBANK S.A., RO - Targu Mures
Real I.S. AG Gesellschaft für Immobilien Assetmanagement, Munich
SKG BANK AG, Saarbrücken
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Administrative bodies of BayernLB

Board of Administration until 30 June 2013
Dr Markus Söder

Jakob Kreidl

Chairman

Chief District Administrator

State Minister

Miesbach

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance
Munich

Wolfgang Lazik
Deputy Secretary

Alexander Mettenheimer

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

First Deputy Chairman

Munich

Former financier
Munich

Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Walter Strohmaier

Wacker Chemie GmbH

Second Deputy Chairman

Independent Consultant

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Professor Dr Christian Rödl
Managing Partner

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Rödl & Partner GbR

Shareholder

Nuremberg

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau

Martin Zeil
State Minister

Ralf Haase

Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs,

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Infrastructure, Transport and Technology

BayernLB

Munich

Munich
Joachim Herrmann
State Minister
Bavarian State Ministry of the Interior
Munich
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Supervisory Board since 1 July 2013
Michael Schneider

Wolfgang Lazik

Chairman

Deputy Secretary

since 4 July 2013

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Former Chairman of the

Regional Development and Regional Identity

Management Board of LfA

Munich

Germering
Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Walter Strohmaier

Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Deputy Chairman

Wacker Chemie GmbH

since 4 July 2013

Independent Consultant

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Professor Dr Christian Rödl
Managing Partner

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Rödl & Partner GbR

until 31 October 2013

Nuremberg

Shareholder
Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH

Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph

Passau

Professor Emeritus at the
Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Ralf Haase

Faculty of Business Administration

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Munich

BayernLB
Munich

Dr Hans Schleicher
Deputy Secretary

Dr Ulrich Klein

Bavarian State Ministry for Economic Affairs

Under Secretary

and the Media, Energy and Technology

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Munich

Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich
Jakob Kreidl
until 3 March 2014
Chief District Administrator
Miesbach
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Board of Management (including allocation of responsibilities as at 1 March 2014)
Gerd Haeusler

Stephan Winkelmeier

until 31 March 2014

until 31 March 2014

CEO

COO

Markets

Operating Office

Corporate Center

MKB Bank Zrt.

Deutsche Kreditbank Aktiengesellschaft
Michael Bücker
Dr Johannes-Jörg Riegler

since 1 February 2013

since 1 March 2014

Corporates, Mittelstand & Financial Institutions

Designated CEO from 1 April 2014
Dr Markus Wiegelmann
Dr Edgar Zoller

since 1 January 2014

Deputy CEO

CFO

Real Estate & Savings Banks/Association

Financial Office2

Bayerische

Landesbodenkreditanstalt1

Human Resources

Nils Niermann
until 17 October 2013

Marcus Kramer
CRO

Jan-Christian Dreesen

Risk Office

until 31 January 2013

Restructuring Unit
Group Compliance
Banque LBLux S.A.

1 Dependent institution of the Bank.
2 Not including the preparation of the separate financial statements in accordance with HGB and the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS for financial year 2013, which remains the responsibility of Stephan
Winkelmeier.
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Related party disclosures

The BayernLB Group maintains business relationships with related parties. These include the Free
State of Bavaria and, as from 25 June 2013, the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks, Munich
(SVB), whose indirect stakes in BayernLB are 75 percent and 25 percent respectively, non-consolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. The members of B
 ayernLB’s Board of Management and Supervisory Board1 and their close family members, and companies controlled by these
parties or jointly controlled if these parties are members of their management bodies are also
deemed related parties.
The list of shareholdings gives an overview of BayernLB’s investees (see note 83).
With the exception of the guarantee agreement with the Free State of Bavaria (“Umbrella”),
business with related parties was transacted in the course of ordinary activities at standard
market conditions.
Relationships with the Free State of Bavaria
EUR million

2013

2012

Loans and advances

5,073

4,924

Assets held for trading

690

571

Financial investments

169

52

Liabilities

133

161

Liabilities held for trading

12

14

4,883

5,248

Contingent liabilities

3

3

Other commitments

965

965

Liabilities held in trust

The following were material relationships with companies controlled by the Free State of Bavaria,
or which it jointly controls or has significant influence:
EUR million
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Risk provisions
Assets held for trading
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers
Securitised liabilities
Liabilities held for trading
Assets held in trust

2013

2012

37

38

418

432

1

–

96

207

3,100

3,173

71

56

222

111

12

21

404

409

1 Members of the Board of Administration up to 30 June 2013.
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Relationships with the Association of Bavarian Savings Banks
2013

EUR million
Loans and advances

14

Assets held for trading

2

Liabilities

25

Liabilities held for trading

3

The following were material relationships with companies controlled by the SVB, or over which it
exercises joint control:
2013

EUR million
Loans and advances to banks

300

Liabilities to banks

2,462

Securitised liabilities

176

Relationships with investees
2013

2012

Loans and advances to banks
• Associates

723
723

1,311
1,311

Loans and advances to customers
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

572
207
115
249

707
240
159
307

Risk provisions
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

20
5
13
2

21
2
12
7

Assets held for trading
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

81
–
81

131
13
117

Financial investments
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

1,741
119
1,622

1,989
47
1,942

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

–
–
–

10
7
3

Other assets
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Associates

8
6
1

26
20
6

Liabilities to banks
• Associates

515
515

910
910

Liabilities to customers
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

237
205
7
26

209
1821
4
23

EUR million
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2013

2012

Liabilities held for trading
• Associates

13
13

24
24

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments
(hedge accounting)
• Associates

33
33

43
43

Provisions
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries

4
4

4
4

Liabilities of disposal groups
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries

33
33

–
–

Other liabilities
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries

7
7

–
–

Subordinated capital
• Associates

12
12

12
12

Contingent liabilities
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

14
5
8
–

18
6
10
3

Other commitments
• Non-consolidated subsidiaries
• Joint ventures
• Associates

50
20
8
22

21
9
10
3

EUR million

1 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

An expense of EUR 10 million (FY 2012: EUR 14 million) was recognised for non-recoverable or
doubtful receivables in the reporting year.
Relationships with other related parties
On the reporting date there were no relationships with other related parties (FY 2012:
EUR 18 million of receivables).
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Loans to members of the Board of Management and Supervisory Board of BayernLB
2013

2012

Members of the BayernLB Board of Management

–

–

Members of the Supervisory Board of BayernLB

–

1,110

EUR ’000

The table shows total loans and advances to/liabilities assumed for the members of the Board of
Management and Supervisory Board at the end of the reporting period.

Remunerations of members of BayernLB’s Board of Management and Supervisory Board
EUR ’000

2013

2012

Members of the BayernLB Board of Management

4,279

3,975

• Short-term benefits
• Post-employment benefits
– defined benefit plan costs1

3,038
1,242
1,242

3,047
927
9272

Members of the Supervisory Board of BayernLB

526

376

• Short-term benefits

526

376

5,432

4,444

–

2

Former members of the BayernLB Board of Management and their
surviving dependants
Former members of the BayernLB Supervisory Board and their
surviving dependants
Pension provisions established for members of the BayernLB
Board of Management
Pension provisions established for former members of the BayernLB
Board of Management and their surviving dependants

5,337

5,0152

84,927

82,9503

1 Post-employment benefits, which were reported separately, are reported from financial year 2013 under expenses for defined contribution
plans. The previous year’s figures were adjusted.
2 Adjusted as per IAS 8.42 (see note 2).
3 Adjusted as per IAS 8.22 and IAS 8.42 (see note 2).

With effect from 1 May 2009, the annual fixed salaries of the members of the Board of Management were reduced to EUR 500,000 in accordance with the Financial Market Stabilisation Act and
Financial Market Stabilisation Fund Ordinance.
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External auditor’s fees

The total fees for the external auditor for the financial year comprise:
2013

2012

Financial statements audit

3

4

Other certification and valuation services

1

–

Other services

1

1

Total

5

5

EUR million

(87)

Human resources

Average headcounts for the reporting year were:
2013

2012

Full-time employees (not including trainees)

7,832

8,760

• Female
• Male

4,028
3,804

4,495
4,265

Part-time employees (not including trainees)1

1,469

1,749

• Female
• Male

1,224
245

1,457
292

Trainees2

85

108

• Female
• Male

44
41

60
48

9,386

10,617

Total
1 Part-time headcount equated to 876 full-time employees (FY 2012: 1,013).
2 Including students on a work/study programme.
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Responsibility statement by the Board of Management
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable principles for financial
reporting, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial performance and financial position of the Group, and the consolidated management report contains a
fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group,
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected
development of the Group.
Munich, 18 March 2014
Bayerische Landesbank
The Board of Management
Gerd Haeusler    Dr Edgar Zoller
Marcus Kramer    Stephan Winkelmeier    Michael Bücker
Dr Markus Wiegelmann     Dr Johannes-Jörg Riegler
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Auditor’s Report
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Bayerische Landesbank, Anstalt
des öffentlichen Rechts, Munich (BayernLB), comprising the statement of comprehensive income
(including the income statement), the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity, the cash
flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements – and the Group management
report for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2013. The preparation of the consoli
dated financial statements and the Group management report in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the European Union (EU) and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant
to section 315a para. 1 HGB (German Commercial Code) and supplementary provisions of the
Bayerische Landesbank Act (Gesetz über die Bayerische Landesbank) and the Statutes (Satzung)
are the responsibility of the Board of Management of BayernLB. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group management report based on
our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with section 317 HGB
and German generally accepted accounting standards for the audit of financial statements promul
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting
the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the
Group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business
activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible
misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness
of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements and the Group management report are examined primarily on a
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in
consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and the significant estimates made
by the Board of Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations.
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In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the consolidated financial statements of Bayerische
Landesbank, Anstalt des öffentlichen Rechts (institution established under public law), Munich,
comply with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial
law pursuant to section 315a para. 1 HGB and the supplementary provisions of the Bayerische
Landesbank Act and the Statutes and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The Group management
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.
Munich, 18 March 2014
Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(Löffler)
German public auditor
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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German public auditor
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Committees and
advisory boards
Locations and
addresses
We would like to thank all our committees and advisory boards
for their dedicated support in financial year 2013.
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Board of Administration until 30 June 2013
Dr Markus Söder

Jakob Kreidl

Chairman

Chief District Administrator

State Minister

Miesbach

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance
Munich

Wolfgang Lazik
Deputy Secretary

Alexander Mettenheimer

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance

First Deputy Chairman

Munich

Former financier
Munich

Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Walter Strohmaier

Wacker Chemie GmbH

Second Deputy Chairman

Independent Consultant

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Professor Dr Christian Rödl

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Rödl & Partner GbR

Shareholder

Nuremberg

Managing Partner

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau

Martin Zeil
State Minister

Ralf Haase

Bavarian State Ministry of Economic Affairs,

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Infrastructure, Transport and Technology

BayernLB

Munich

Munich
Joachim Herrmann
State Minister
Bavarian State Ministry of the Interior
Munich
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Supervisory Board as from 1 July 2013
Michael Schneider

Wolfgang Lazik

Chairman

Deputy Secretary

since 4 July 2013

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Former Chairman of the

Regional Development and Regional Identity

Management Board of LfA

Munich

Germering
Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Walter Strohmaier

Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Deputy Chairman

Wacker Chemie GmbH

since 4 July 2013

Independent Consultant

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte
Straubing

Professor Dr Christian Rödl
Managing Partner

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Rödl & Partner GbR

until 31 October 2013

Nuremberg

Shareholder
Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH

Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph

Passau

Professor Emeritus at the
Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Ralf Haase

Faculty of Business Administration

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Munich

BayernLB
Munich

Dr Hans Schleicher
Deputy Secretary

Dr Ulrich Klein

Bavarian State Ministry for Economic Affairs

Under Secretary

and the Media, Energy and Technology

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Munich

Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich
Jakob Kreidl
until 3 March 2014
Chief District Administrator
Miesbach

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

281

General Meeting
Free State of Bavaria

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks

Dr Markus Söder

Theo Zellner

Chairman and Principal

Principal

State Minister

President

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks

Regional Development and Regional Identity

Munich

Munich
Dr Ivo Holzinger
Harald Hübner

First Deputy Principal

First Deputy Principal

Lord Mayor

Deputy Secretary

Memmingen

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,
Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich

Walter Pache
Second Deputy Principal
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Frieder Jooß

Sparkasse Günzburg-Krumbach

until 16 February 2014

Günzburg

Second Deputy Principal
Assistant Secretary
Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,
Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich
Dr Heiko Bauer
since 17 February 2014
Second Deputy Principal
Senior Government Councillor
Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,
Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich
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Audit Committee (reconstituted on 4 July 2013)
Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau

Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph

Chairman

Professor Emeritus at the

Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Wacker Chemie GmbH

Faculty of Business Administration

Independent Consultant

Munich

Munich
Dr Hans Schleicher
Professor Dr Christian Rödl

Deputy Secretary

Deputy Chairman

Bavarian State Ministry for Economic Affairs

Managing Partner

and the Media, Energy and Technology

Rödl & Partner GbR

Munich

Nuremberg
Jakob Kreidl
until 3 March 2014
Chief District Administrator
Miesbach

Risk Committee (reconstituted on 4 July 2013)
Michael Schneider

Ralf Haase

Chairman

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Former Chairman of the

BayernLB

Management Board of LfA

Munich

Germering
Dr Ulrich Klein
Walter Strohmaier

Under Secretary

Deputy Chairman

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Regional Development and Regional Identity

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte

Munich

Straubing
Dr Dr Axel Diekmann
until 31 October 2013
Shareholder
Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau
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BayernLabo Committee (constituted on 4 July 2013)
Wolfgang Lazik

Jakob Kreidl

Chairman

until 3 March 2014

Deputy Secretary

Chief District Administrator

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Miesbach

Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich

Dr Hans Schleicher
Deputy Secretary

Dr Ulrich Klein

Bavarian State Ministry for Economic Affairs

Deputy Chairman

and the Media, Energy and Technology

Under Secretary

Munich

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,
Regional Development and Regional Identity

Michael Schneider

Munich

since April 7 2014
Former Chairman of the

Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Management Board of LfA

until 31 October 2013

Germering

Shareholder
Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH
Passau

Nominating Committee (constituted on 4 July 2013)
Michael Schneider

Walter Strohmaier

Chairman

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Former Chairman of the

Sparkasse Niederbayern-Mitte

Management Board of LfA

Straubing

Germering
Dr Klaus von Lindeiner-Wildau
Wolfgang Lazik

Member of the Executive Board (retired)

Deputy Chairman

Wacker Chemie GmbH

Deputy Secretary

Independent Consultant

Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,

Munich

Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich
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Compensation Committee (constituted on 4 July 2013)
Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph

Ralf Haase

Chairman

Chairman of the General Staff Council

Professor Emeritus at the

BayernLB

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Munich

Faculty of Business Administration
Professor Dr Christian Rödl

Munich

Managing Partner
Dr Ulrich Klein

Rödl & Partner GbR

Deputy Chairman

Nuremberg

Under Secretary
Bavarian State Ministry of Finance,
Regional Development and Regional Identity
Munich

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board:
Remuneration for the members of the Supervisory Board was increased with effect from 1 July 2013 by way of
resolution passed by the General Meeting.
The decision by the General Meeting takes account of the new demands placed on the position of Supervisory
Board member and of the fact that the market rate for Supervisory Board members has gone up since the last
raise, which was in 2002.
The members of the Supervisory Board thus receive the following remuneration:
in EUR
Base salary
Committee salary:
(varies among the committees)

Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Member

80,000

60,000

40,000

10,000 to 15,000

7,500 to 11,250

5,000 to 7,500

The members of the Supervisory Board may also receive an additional, variable remuneration of up to 20% of
their base salary per business year. The General Meeting makes a decision each year as to the disbursement and
amount of the variable remuneration.
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Trustees
Herbert Scheidel

Klaus Puhr-Westerheide

since 1 January 2009

Second Deputy

Vice President of the State Office

since 1 July 2009

for Taxes (retired)

Senior Assistant Secretary (retired)

Norbert Schulz
First Deputy
since 1 November 1991
Senior Assistant Secretary (retired)

Savings Bank Advisory Council

286

Renate Braun

Winfried Nusser

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Passau

Kreis- und Stadtsparkasse Kaufbeuren

Passau

Kaufbeuren

Roland Schmautz

Thomas Orbig

since 1 April 2013

Savings Bank Director

Vice President

Member of the Board of Directors

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks

Vereinigte Sparkassen im Landkreis Weilheim i. OB

Munich

Weilheim

Roland Friedrich

Walter Pache

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Bad Kissingen

Sparkasse Günzburg-Krumbach

Bad Kissingen

Günzburg

Dr Rudolf Gingele

Dr Klaus-Jürgen Scherr

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Member of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Regensburg

Sparkasse Kulmbach-Kronach

Regensburg

Kulmbach

Hermann Krenn

Hans Wölfel

Savings Bank Director

Savings Bank Director

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Sparkasse Dachau

Sparkasse Fürth

Dachau

Fürth
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Economic Advisory Council
Dr Otto Beierl

Dr.-Ing. E.h. Martin Herrenknecht

Chairman of the Management Board

Chairman of the Board of Directors

LfA Förderbank Bayern

Herrenknecht AG

Munich

Schwanau-Allmannsweier

Dr Manfred Bode

Erwin Horak

Chairman of the Shareholders Council

President

Wegmann & Co.

Staatliche Lotterieverwaltung

Unternehmens-Holding KG

Munich

Munich
Hanswilli Jenke
Dr Dr Axel Diekmann

Managing Director

Shareholder

Haslberger Finanzdienstleistungs- und

Verlagsgruppe Passau GmbH

Beteiligungs GmbH

Passau

Freising

Klaus Dittrich

Dr Hermann Jung

Chairman of the Management

Member of the Group Board of Directors

Messe München GmbH

Voith AG

Munich

Heidenheim

Werner Frischholz

Daniel Just

until 31 December 2013

since 1 April 2013

Member of the Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Management

KRONES AG

Bayerische Versorgungskammer

Neutraubling

Munich

Dipl.-Ing. Peter Hamberger

Dr Michael Kerkloh

Managing Director

Chief Executive Officer

Hamberger Industriewerke GmbH

Flughafen München GmbH

Rosenheim

Munich

Josef Hasler

Dr.-Ing. Martin Komischke

since 1 June 2013

Chairman of the Group’s Management

Chief Executive Officer

Hoerbiger Holding AG

N-Ergie AG

Zug

Nuremberg
Dipl.-Kfm. Xaver Kroner
Andreas Helber

Director

Member of the Board of Management

Verband bayerischer Wohnungsunternehmen e.V.

BayWa AG

Munich

Munich
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Dr Ingo Luge

Professor Dr Wolfgang Plischke

Chairman of the Management

Member of the Board of Directors

E.ON Deutschland

Bayer AG

Essen

Leverkusen

Frank H. Lutz

Dr Matthias J. Rapp

until 28 February 2013

Member of the Management Board / CFO

Member of the Board of Directors

TÜV SÜD AG

MAN SE

Munich

Munich
Professor Dr Klaus Rauscher
Alexander Mettenheimer

Potsdam

Former financier
Munich

Markus Reif
Archepiscopal Financial Director

Dr Klaus N. Naeve

Archdiocese Munich and Freising

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Archepiscopal Diocesan Authorities

Schörghuber Stiftung & Co. Holding KG

Financial Department

Munich

Munich

Professor Dr Matthias Ottmann

Jürgen Reimer

Managing Partner

since 1 September 2013

Ottmann GmbH & Co. S üdhausbau KG

Member of the Management Board / CFO

Munich

Webasto SE
Stockdorf

Rainer Otto
Managing Director

Angelique Renkhoff-Mücke

Wirtgen Beteiligungs GmbH

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors

Windhagen

WAREMA Renkhoff SE
Marktheidenfeld

Lothar Panzer
until 31 January 2013

Andreas Renschler

Chairman of the Board of Management

Member of the Board of Directors

Bayerische Versorgungskammer

Daimler AG

Munich

Stuttgart

Dr Helmut Platzer

Hans Peter Ring

Chairman of the Board of Directors

until 31 January 2013

AOK Bayern – Die Gesundheitskasse

Chief Financial Officer

Munich

EADS N.V.
Ottobrunn

288

BayernLB . 2013 Annual Report and Accounts

278 Committees and advisory boards/Locations and addresses
280
281
282
283

Board of Administration
Supervisory Board
General Meeting
Audit Committee

283
284
285
285

Risk Committee
BayernLabo Committee
Nominating Committee
Compensation Committee

Randolf Rodenstock

Dieter Seehofer

Managing Partner

since 1 September 2013

Optische Werke G. Rodenstock GmbH & Co. KG

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Munich

Sparkasse Ingolstadt
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Ingolstadt
Professor Dr Christian Rödl
Managing Partner

Axel Strotbek

Rödl & Partner GbR

Member of the Board of Directors

Nuremberg

AUDI AG
Ingolstadt

Professor Dr Bernd Rudolph
Professor Emeritus at the

Christoph Thomas

Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Managing Partner

Faculty of Business Administration

HAMA GmbH & Co. KG

Munich

Monheim

Maria-Elisabeth Schaeffler

Dr Frank Walthes

until 11 February 2014

Chairman of the Board of Management

Shareholder

Versicherungskammer Bayern

INA-HOLDING SCHAEFFLER GmbH & Co. KG

Munich

Herzogenaurach
Dr Wolfgang Weiler
Dipl.-Kfm. Peter Scherkamp

Spokesman of the Board of Directors

General Manager

HUK-Coburg

Wittelsbacher Ausgleichsfonds

Coburg

Munich
Alexander Wiegand
Siegmund Schiminski

Managing Partner

until 31 August 2013

WIKA Alexander Wiegand GmbH & Co. KG

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Klingenberg

Sparkasse Bayreuth
Bayreuth

Dr Lorenz Zwingmann
Member of the Board of Directors

Dr Jörg Schneider

Knorr-Bremse AG

Member of the Board of Directors

Munich

Munich Re
Munich
Dipl.-Kfm. Dieter Schön
Managing Director
Schön-Klinik Verwaltung GmbH
Prien
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Locations and addresses
Germany

Foreign entities and branches

Head Office: Munich

London

BayernLB

BayernLB

Brienner Strasse 18

Bavaria House

80333 Munich

13/14 Appold Street

Tel +49 89 2171-01

London EC2A 2NB

Fax +49 89 2171-23579

United Kingdom

SWIFT BIC: BYLA DE MM

Tel +44 20 72 47 00 56

info@bayernlb.de

Fax +44 20 79 55 51 73

www.bayernlb.de

SWIFT BIC: BYLA GB 22
Info.london@bayernlb.co.uk

Nuremberg
BayernLB

Luxembourg

Lorenzer Platz 27

BayernLB

90402 Nuremberg

3, rue Jean Monnet

Tel +49 911 2359-0

2180 Luxembourg

Fax +49 911 2359-212

Luxembourg

SWIFT BIC: BYLA DE 77

Tel +352 43 3122-1

info@bayernlb.de

Fax +352 43 3122-4599

www.bayernlb.de

SWIFT BIC: BYLA LU LB
Direction.nlblb@lblux.lu

Düsseldorf
BayernLB

Milan

Cecilien-Palais

BayernLB

Cecilienallee 10

Via Cordusio, 2

40474 Düsseldorf

20123 Milan

Tel +49 211 92966-100

Italy

Fax +49 211 92966-190

Tel +39 02 86 39 01

info@bayernlb.de

Fax +39 02 86 42 16

www.bayernlb.de

SWIFT BIC: BYLA IT MM
info@bayernlb.de

BayernLabo
Brienner Strasse 22
80333 Munich
Tel +49 89 2171-08
Fax +49 89 2171-600388
info@bayernlabo.de
www.bayernlabo.de
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278 Committees and advisory boards/Locations and addresses
280
281
282
283

New York

Board of Administration
Supervisory Board
General Meeting
Audit Committee

283
284
285
285

Risk Committee
BayernLabo Committee
Nominating Committee
Compensation Committee

286
286
287
290

Trustees
Savings Bank Advisory Council
Economic Advisory Council
Locations and addresses

Subsidiaries

BayernLB
560 Lexington Avenue

Banque LBLux S.A.

New York, N.Y. 10022

3, rue Jean Monnet

USA

2180 Luxembourg

Tel +1 212 3 10-9800

Luxembourg

Fax +1 212 3 10-9822

Tel +352 42 434-1

SWIFT BIC: BYLA US 33

Fax +352 42 434-5099
SWIFT BIC: BYLA LU LL

Paris

bank@lblux.lu

BayernLB

www.lblux.lu

Succursale de Paris
203, rue du Faubourg Saint-Honoré

Deutsche Kreditbank

75380 Paris Cedex 08

Aktiengesellschaft

France

Taubenstrasse 7-9

Tel +33 1 44 21 14 00

10117 Berlin

Fax +33 1 44 21 14 44

Tel +49 30 120 300 00
Fax +49 30 120 300 01
SWIFT BIC: BYLADEM 1001

Representative office

info@dkb.de
www.dkb.de

Moscow
BayernLB

MKB Bank Zrt.

Bolshaya Ordynka 40, Building 4

Váci utca 38

Moscow 119017

1056 Budapest

Russia

Hungary

Tel +7 495 544 54 33

Tel +36 1 327 8600

Fax +7 495 544 54 34

Fax +36 1 327 8700

info@bayernlb.de

SWIFT BIC: MKKB HU HB
mkb@mkb.hu
www.mkb.hu
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Corporate profile

Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe in Bavaria
Sparkassen-Finanzgruppe
Market leader in Bavaria

BayernLB is one of the leading commercial banks for large and Mittelstand customers in Germany

Real Estate

and a strong, regionally focused corporate and real estate lender with a balanced risk profile.

BayernLB’s real estate business provides services and long-term financing for commercial real estate. In

As a member of the Sparkassen Finanzgruppe, BayernLB is a close partner of the savings banks

regional terms, the Real Estate division’s focus is on Germany and selectively serving German customers

in Bavaria, providing them with a wide range of products while also acting as central bank

abroad. Rounding out these target customers are international companies with a connection to Germany.

for the Association. Retail customers are mainly served by BayernLB’s Deutsche Kreditbank AG

In the commercial real estate area, products include financing for real estate assets and portfolios, project

(DKB) subsidiary.

developments and housing developers. In the area of managed real estate, the Bank provides financing

Large German and selected international companies with a German connection
BayernLB prides itself on its successful and long-term relationships with German and international

concepts primarily for hotels, logistics centres, hospitals, clinics and care homes for the elderly. The Real

Moreover, it works in close partnership with BayernLB’s real estate subsidiaries (Real I. S. AG, LBImmoWert,

with annual sales of at least EUR 1 billion which operate from their home market in Germany.

BayernImmo and BayernFM) to offer customers an even more comprehensive one-stop shop.

International companies with a significant connection to Germany are likewise served. The Bank’s

Public sector

financing. And when its customers do business abroad, they count on BayernLB’s recognised
expertise for all their needs, be it currency and interest rate hedging, traditional trade finance.
project and export finance, etc. In addition, BayernLB helps its customers to tap capital markets
for their financing needs, whether by traditional bonds or German Schuldschein note loans.

Middle-market (Mittelstand) companies
BayernLB is the bank for German Mittelstand companies, especially in the economic powerhouses
of Bavaria and North Rhine-Westphalia. Thanks to the high quality of its products and advisory
services, good personal business relationships and years of experience it has established a profile
as a reliable partner to these customers. With its extensive know-how, BayernLB helps Mittelstand companies export to new markets – every step of the way. BayernLB is also extremely well
positioned in the subsidised loan market. As a long-term partner, BayernLB offers products that
go far beyond traditional credit financing, tailoring them to the needs of its customers in the

of Bavaria and intensifying sales in close partnership with the Bavarian savings banks. It provides a wide range
The BayernLB Group stands out in this segment thanks to its long-standing experience and its expertise in
public-private partnership projects and the renewable energy sector. Liquidity management is another significant
service for these customers.

Retail customers
Thanks to its subsidiary Deutsche Kreditbank (DKB), “your bank on the web”, BayernLB already boasts around
2.7 million retail customers. And the number keeps growing. In addition to its online banking operations,
DKB is active in growing markets like environmental technology, health services and education & research.
Target customers also include business clients and customers from the infrastructure sector, particularly in
the eastern half of Germany.
BayernLB’s legal mandate to promote residential construction and urban development on a non-competitive
basis is conducted by BayernLabo. It will continually strengthen this position, thanks in part to opportunities
arising from the economic stimulus packages introduced in Germany.

whom it provides an extensive range of retail banking products and services.

are also long-standing and reliable co-owners of BayernLB, are linked together in a preferred

Non-Core Unit

tasks which would otherwise be too costly for each of them to do alone. It supplies them with
tailored products and services for both their own business and their end customers, to include
payment services, assistance in securities, investment and cross-border transactions, syndicated
and subsidised loans, and foreign notes and precious metals activities. For savings banks
outside Bavaria, BayernLB offers a range of products in selected product segments. One of the

Versicherungskammer Bayern

Total assets: EUR 182 billion

Premium volume: EUR 7.2 billion

Staff:
Bank: 3,418
Group: 8,568

Staff: 44,769
• Branches: 2,354
• Self-service branches: 392
• Advisory centres: 465

Staff: 6,730*
Investment portfolio: EUR 42.5 billion

Bayerische Landesbodenkreditanstalt

Customer loans: EUR 113 billion
Customer deposits: EUR 142 billion

Lending volume (proprietary and fiduciary business): EUR 25.0 billion
State subsidised business in 2013
(number of apartments and residences):
8,774
BayernLB Group companies include
• Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin
• BayernInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mhH, Munich
• Real I. S. AG, Munich
• MKB Bank Zrt., Budapest
as well as many other subsidiaries
which offer special services to
savings banks

BayernLB also serves retail customers indirectly through its partnership with the Bavarian savings banks, for

one of the key pillars of its business model. BayernLB and the Bavarian savings banks, which
partnership. The BayernLB Group acts as a central service provider for the savings banks, performing

Consolidated total assets:
EUR 255.6 billion

of customised financing and investment solutions to governments, local authorities and public institutions.

derivatives, payment services and leasing.

For BayernLB, the savings banks are both important customers and sales partners and thus form

71 savings banks

In its public-sector business, BayernLB focuses particularly on expanding its market share in its home market

areas of export and trade finance, documentary business, interest and currency management,

Savings banks

BayernLB

Estate division also arranges syndicated loans with the savings banks and other partners.

customers. On the domestic front, these include DAX, MDAX and family-owned companies

core competencies are traditional credit financing such as working capital, capex and trade

• Aggregate total assets (bank business): EUR 438 billion
• Aggregate regulatory capital (excl. BayernLB): EUR 18.6 billion
• Aggregate premium volume (insurance business): EUR 7.2 billion

Market share
• Approx. 40 % of SMEs
• Two-thirds of trade businesses
• 50 % of company start-ups
DekaBank
Share of Bavarian savings banks
organisation: 14.7 %
Consolidated total assets:
EUR 118.9 billion**

Germany’s largest public-sector
insurance provider
Market leader in Bavaria
and the Palatinate
Entities within the
Versicherungskammer
Bayern Group (VKB)
• Composite insurers
• Life insurers
• Health insurers
• Re-insurers

Landesbank Berlin
Share of Bavarian savings bank
organisation
incl. VKB share: 13.6 %
Deutsche Leasing
Share of Bavarian savings banks: 12.54 %
New business volume of Deutsche
Leasing Group: EUR 7.75 billion
Bayerische Landesbausparkasse
Portfolio of 2.1 million home loan
savings contracts with a volume of
EUR 60.2 billion

Following the conclusion of the EU state aid proceedings, BayernLB has now shifted its focus clearly onto its
core business. Core activities are being systematically segregated from the Bank’s non-core activities in order to

Sparkassen-Immobilien
Volume of business brokered:
EUR 2.02 billion

document even more clearly the performance of the new BayernLB. This involves combining all the remaining
loan and securities portfolios in the Restructuring Unit (RU) with the Bank’s available-for-sale equity stakes in
a new “Non-Core Unit” (NCU).

ways that BayernLB provides savings banks with added value is by supplementing their own

The strict demarcation of core from non-core business will also be reflected in the Bank’s financial reporting.

product lines. In addition, funding from the savings banks is an important source of refinancing

This will make it much easier to identify which of the BayernLB Group’s earnings and expenses are from its

for BayernLB and for strengthening the liquidity reserve fund.

core business and which are from the NCU.

Association of Bavarian Savings Banks
Association members: 71 Bavarian savings banks and their owners
* Not incl. external sales force
** As at: 30 Sep 2013
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Facts. Figures.

BayernLB Group
at a glance
Income statement (IFRS)
EUR million
Net interest income
Risk provisions in the credit business
Net interest income after risk provisions

80333 Munich

Change in %

1,907
– 459
1,448

0.7
42.5
– 12.6

289
271
– 27
74

260
299
3
3

11.0
– 9.3
–
>100

40
– 1,533
– 51
89
– 164
253

– 38
– 1,639
– 53
421
– 62
642

–
– 6.5
– 3.8
– 78.9
>100
– 60.6

Cost/income ratio (CIR)
Return on equity (RoE)

57.7 %
1.7 %

57.4 %
5.2 %

0.3 pp1
-3.5 pp1

EUR million

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

Total assets

255,601

286,864

– 10.9

Business volume

298,525

330,330

– 9.6

Credit volume

193,573

207,771

– 6.8

Total deposits

157,374

161,340

– 2.5

52,964

60,319

– 12.2

4,984

6,346

– 21.5

14,879

14,903

– 0.2

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

13.8
17.0
87.6

13.0
17.3
100.4

6.4
– 2.0
– 12.8

15.8 %
19.4 %
15.2 %

12.9 %
17.3 %
11.6 %

2.9 pp1
2.1 pp1
3.6 pp1

31 Dec 2013

31 Dec 2012

Change in %

8,568

9,932

-13.7

Long-term

Short-term

Pfandbriefs2

A+

F1+

AAA

Baa1

Prime-2

Aaa

Balance sheet (IFRS)

Securitised liabilities
Subordinated capital
Equity

Banking supervisory ratios under the German Banking Act (KWG)
Core capital
Own funds
Risk positions under the Solvency Ordinance

Brienner Strasse 18

1 Jan-31 Dec 2012

1,919
– 653
1,266

Net commission income
Gains or losses on fair value measurement
Gains or losses on hedge accounting
Gains or losses on financial investments
Income from interests in companies
measured at equity
Administrative expenses
Expenses for bank levies
Other income and expenses
Gains or losses on restructuring
Profit before taxes

EUR million

Bayerische Landesbank

1 Jan-31 Dec 2013

Core capital ratio
Own funds ratio (overall ratio)
Core tier 1 ratio (according to EBA)

Employees

www.bayernlb.com
Number of employees

Current ratings
Fitch Ratings
Moody’s Investors Service
1 Percentage points
2 Applies to public-sector Pfandbriefs and mortgage Pfandbriefs

